The 12th EFLM Continuous Postgraduate Course in Clinical Chemistry

Under the Auspices of IFCC

NEW TRENDS IN CLASSIFICATION, MONITORING AND MANAGEMENT OF GASTROINTESTINAL DISEASES

Handbook

Edited by

Prof. Elizabeta Topić, Ph.D. Dr. Ian Watson, Ph.D. Evgenija Homšak, MSc Jasna Leniček Krleža, Ph.D.

Organizers

Croatian Society of Medical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine Slovenian Association for Clinical Chemistry European Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine

Dubrovnik, November 10-11, 2012

A CIP catalog record for this book is available at the National and University Library in Zagreb under 822401 ISNB: 978-953-176-593-0

Reviews:

Prof. Gabor Kovacs, Ph.D. Prof. Slavica Dodig, Ph.D.

The organizers would like to thank

ABBOT LABORATORIES ROCHE DIAGNOSTICS BECKMAN COULTER, INC. MEDILAB JADRAN-GALENSKI LABORATORIJ d.d. ROYAL MEĐUGENERACIJSKA SOLIDARNOST d.d. MINISTARSTVO ZNANOSTI, OBRAZOVANJA I SPORTA

for their generous assistance and sponsorship to the Conference

Table of contents

1.	CLASSIFICATION AND EPIDEMIOLOGY OF GASTROINTESTINAL DISEASES Marko Duvnjak, Lucija Virović-Jukić, Marija Gomerčić-Palčić, Sanja Stojsavljević	1				
2.	THE ROLE AND IMPORTANCE OF SCREENING IN GASTROINTESTINAL DISEASES Petr Kocna					
3.	GUIDELINES ON COLORECTAL CANCER SCREENING Michael Neumaier					
4.	MOLECULAR DIAGNOSTIC TESTS FOR SCREENING AND MONITORING OF COLORECTAL CANCER Michael Neumaier					
5.	WHAT IS THE ROLE OF EGFR AND RAS PATHWAY IN COLON CANCER Sanja Kapitanović, Tamara Čačev					
6.	SCREENING AND CONFIRMATION OF MALABSORPTION Zdislava Vaníčková, Petr Kocna, Tomáš Zima					
7.	NEW TRENDS IN THE CLASSIFICATION AND DIAGNOSIS OF EATING DISORDERS Janet Treasure, Ertimiss Eshkevari, Valentina Cardi					
8.	REFEEDING SYNDROME: WHAT DOES IT REALLY MEAN? Jasna Leniček Krleža	57				
9.	BOWELS CONTROL BRAIN: GUT HORMONES AND OBESITY Gavin Bewick					
10.	PRENATAL AND NEWBORN SCREENING OF CYSTIC FIBROSIS Dragica Radojković					
11.	SEROLOGICAL DIAGNOSIS OF CELIAC DISEASE IN THE NEW DIAGNOSTIC CRITERIA Zrinjka Mišak					
12.	CHRONIC PANCREATIC INSUFFICIENCY IN CHILDREN: ETIOLOGY, CLINICAL PRESENTATION AND DIAGNOSIS Oleg Jadrešin					
13.	IMMUNOLOGIC MARKERS OF INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASES Andrea Tešija Kuna					
14.	LABORATORY FINDINGS AND CLINICAL INDICES AS INDICATORS FOR ENDOSCOPIC REMISSION IN LUMINAL CROHN'S DISEASE Clas-Göran af Björkesten	123				

page

Editorial

The 12th EFLM (former EFCC) Continuous Postgraduate Course in Clinical Chemistry: New Trends in Classification, Diagnosis and Management of Gastrointestinal Diseases

The Croatian Society of Medical Biochemists and Slovenian Association for Clinical Chemistry, together with the European Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (EFLM), organized in 2012 the 12th postgraduate weekend course entitled 'New Trends in Classification, Diagnosis and Management of Gastrointestinal diseases (GID)'. The Course is an advance study course in the frame of the Inter-University Centre (IUC) studies Dubrovnik promoting continuing postgraduate education of professionals also in clinical chemistry and laboratory medicine. The diploma of the IUC is recognized world wide. The Course is held under the auspices of Internal Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (IFCC).

In this book the state-of-the-art on gastrointestinal classification and epidemiology as well as new approach to diagnosis and management of GID is presented by well-known experts. These renowned experts in different fields have tried to cover the clinical and laboratory aspects of gastrointestinal diseases with the accent to gastrointestinal nutrition-related disease, gastrointestinal disease in children, chronic gastrointestinal diseases and gastrointestinal oncology.

Integrated knowledge of the authors and the material prepared by these experts is intended to provide updated information of supreme quality to the reader interested in the field. The book contains two articles published in the Journal Biochemia Medica by generous permission of the Editor-in-Chief and Publisher of the journal.

Elizabeta Topić Zagreb, November 2012

1. CLASSIFICATION AND EPIDEMIOLOGY OF GASTROINTESTINAL DISEASES

Marko Duvnjak, Lucija Virović-Jukić, Marija Gomerčić- Palčić,

Sanja Stojsavljević

1.1 INTRODUCTION

The gastrointestinal tract literally denotes stomach and intestine, but the term is usually used to describe the alimentary tract, which includes all organs from the mouth to the anus, with the main function of intake, processing and absorption of food. In an adult male, the gastrointestinal (GI) tract is 5 meters (20 ft) long, or up to 9 meters (30 ft) without the effect of muscle tone, and consists of the upper and lower GI tracts, with the border being set at the ligament of Treitz in the duodenum. The esophagus, stomach, small and large intestine are the main focus of gastroenterology. The digestive system is a broader term that includes other (accessory) organs involved in the digestion of food – the liver, the gallbladder, bile ducts and the pancreas.

The classification of GI diseases usually follows the anatomical distribution, so we usually consider every organ as an entity with a number of diseases of different etiology, i.e. inflammatory or autoimmune disorders, motility disorders, infectious diseases or tumors. Certain diseases are usually confined to and specific to an organ, such as peptic ulcer disease for the stomach and duodenum, or cirrhosis for the liver. The most common disorders of the digestive system will be reviewed here.

1.2 ESOPHAGUS

Esophageal hiatal hernia can be congenital, but is usually acquired. It is present when the stomach wall, at its junction with the esophagus, is dislocated 2 cm or more above the diaphragmatic hiatus. Radiologic surveys from Western countries found high prevalence of hiatal hernia (12%-69%, depending on age), as compared with the very low prevalence in Africa and Asia (1%-5%). Although the hiatal hernia itself rarely causes symptoms directly, it is the anatomic companion of all the major complications of gastroesophageal reflux.

Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) is one of the major acid peptic diseases. According to the Montreal definition and classification, GERD is a condition which develops when the reflux of stomach contents causes troublesome symptoms and/or complications (1). Symptoms and signs of tissue injury can be present within the esophagus, oropharynx, larynx and respiratory tract, the later representing the extraesophageal manifestations of GERD. The prevalence of the disease differs depending on whether the analysis is based on symptoms or signs of disease. Approximately 20–40% of the adult population in Western countries suffers from heartburn and/or regurgitation, the characteristic symptoms of GERD (2), and over 45% of those who consult their physician in these regions because of reflux symptoms may have reflux esophagitis (3). Based on the presence of weekly reflux symptoms, the population prevalence of GERD has been reported to be 10–20% in Western countries and typically below 5% in Asia (4). The diagnosis is usually established by the presence of either recurrent symptoms (heartburn and/or regurgitation) or altered epithelial morphology, usually

visualized endoscopically or histologically. Although GERD is rarely a cause of death, it is associated with considerable morbidity as a result of its propensity to produce complications such as Barrett esophagus (8-20%), esophageal ulceration (5%), stricture formation (4-20%) and gastrointestinal hemorrhage (<1%). Barrett esophagus is defined as the presence of a simple columnar epithelium lining the lower esophagus and replacing the damaged stratified squamous epithelium. It was once considered an uncommon condition, but estimates of its frequency at autopsy (1/57 to 1/105 cases), on general endoscopic surveys (1/100 cases) and on endoscopic surveys in GERD patients (10/100 to 15/100 cases), indicate that it is not uncommon. It is principally a disorder of white men, with prevalence increasing with age, paralleling that of reflux esophagitis. The significance of Barrett esophagus lies in the 30- to 125-fold increased risk for the development of esophageal adenocarcinoma compared to the general population.

The two most common esophageal malignancies are squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma. Other epithelial tumors, benign (squamous papilloma, adenoma) and malignant (adenosquamous carcinoma, adenoid cystic carcinoma, neuroendocrine tumors, melanoma, etc.), and nonepithelial benign (leiomyoma, hemangioma, lymphangioma, fibroma, lipoma, etc.) and malignant (leiomyosarcoma, rhabdosarcoma, metastatic carcinoma, lymphoma, etc.) are rare. Representing the most common form of esophageal malignancy worldwide, esophageal squamous cell carcinoma is one of the leading causes of cancer mortality in men. Its incidence varies greatly according to geographic location, and globally ranges from 2.5 to 5.0 for men and 1.5 to 2.5 for women per 100 000 population. However, there are some high incidence regions, where rates may exceed 100 per 100 000 population, which include northern China, India, northern Iran, areas around Caspian Sea and the Transkei area of South Africa. The geographical variation in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma strongly hints at the contribution of environmental factors, although the genetic basis has also started to be elucidated. On the other hand, esophageal adenocarcinoma affects mostly Caucasians, with a male-female predominance of 3-5,5 : 1. The incidence typically begins to increase after the age of 40 years, and rises with each decade. The annual ageadjusted incidence rates of adenocarcinoma of the esophagus and gastric cardia in Caucasian men is 1.3 and 2.8 per 100.000, respectively. Once considered rare disease, the incidence of esophageal adenocarcinoma (and adenocarcinoma of the gastric cardia) has increased at a rate of 4% to 10% annually in different regions of the United States. This rapid rate of increase in the incidence is greater than that of any other cancer, but the reason for this increase is unknown. However, Barrett esophagus is recognized as an important precursor to esophageal adenocarcinoma. The incidence of adenocarcinoma arising in Barrett esophagus varies from 1 cancer per 55 patient years to 1 cancer per 441 patient years, or about 500 cases per 100.000, a figure greater than that for esophageal squamous cell carcinoma in high-risk areas of the world. Unfortunately, both esophageal cancers usually present themselves at advanced stages, when therapeutic options are limited. The overall 5-year survival rates are approximately 5% for squamous cell carcinoma and 7% for adenocarcinoma.

Achalasia is the most easily recognized motor disorder of the esophagus, characterized by failure of the lower esophageal sphincter to relax completely with swallowing, and aperistalsis in the smooth muscle esophagus. It is a rare disease in the Europe and the United States with an estimated incidence of 1/100 000 population per year and prevalence from 7.1 to 13.4/100 000, and is even rarer in Africa. Other peristaltic disorders include diffuse esophageal spasm, nutcracker esophagus, hypertensive lower esophageal sphincter and nonspecific esophageal motor disorders.

Primary esophageal infections are rare in an otherwise normal person in whom no permissive factor is present. In this setting, the most common pathogens are herpes simplex virus and

Candida species. Bacterial infections are rare and found almost exclusively in patients with hematologic malignancies and severe granulocytopenia. Mycobacterial involvement is uncommon, and protozoal infections occur almost exclusively in patients with AIDS. Unusual causes of esophagitis include corrosive agents, drugs and radiation. Esophagus can be affected by a number of systemic and dermatologic diseases, such as sarcoidosis, Crohn's disease, pemphigus vulgaris, and pehmphigoid and epidermolysis bullosa dystrophica.

1.3 STOMACH AND DUODENUM

Although the duodenum is anatomically part of the small intestine, it's pathology is closely related to the stomach, and they are sometimes referred to as the gastroduodenum.

Peptic ulcer disease (or acid peptic disorders) represents one of the most common pathologies in the GI tract with an enormous impact on the cost of health care. Data from the United States show that approximately 500 000 new cases and 4 million recurrences of gastric and duodenal ulcer occur every year, with the direct and indirect costs being estimated at 5-10 billion dollars each. The data for the incidence and prevalence are not very accurate, but some studies show the prevalence of active gastric and duodenal ulcer in the United States is approximately 1.8%, while the lifetime prevalence of peptic ulcer ranges from approximately 11-14% in men and 8-11% in women. Japanese male office workers older than 40 years of age have a 4.3% prevalence of duodenal ulcer, while in the Norwegian population between 20 and 49 years of age the annual incidence of duodenal ulcer was approximately 2 in 1000 men and 0.9 in 1000 women, with similar annual rates for gastric ulcer in both sexes. Two major epidemiologic observations have dramatically changed the manner in which we approach peptic ulcer disease. First is the landmark association of peptic ulcer disease with Helicobacter pylori infection, which leads us to consider the peptic ulcer as an infectious disease that needs to be treated with antibiotics. Second is the clear relationship between mucosal damage and ingestion of nonsteroid antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) which instituted the need for preventive measures. Still, the mortality rates for duodenal and gastric ulcers decreased only modestly from 1976 to 1986, with gastric ulcer having higher mortality rate than duodenal ulcer. Surveys in the United States and Europe have documented a substantial increase in hospitalizations of elderly patients for ulcer-related complications (bleeding and perforation). The incidence of duodenal ulcer peaked between 1950 and 1970, decreased gradually until 1980, and stabilized thereafter. During the past 30 years, the death rates, surgical rates, and physician visits for ulcer has decreased by more than 50%, primarily because of decreased rates of ulcers among men.

Gastritis and gastropathy represent common problems in everyday practice. Gastritis, meaning inflammation of the gastric mucosa, can be caused by infectious agents (H. pylori being the principal causative agent), drugs, and autoimmune and hypersensitivity reactions. Gastropathy, as an epithelial/endothelial damage and regeneration, is caused by drugs (e.g. NSAIDs, alcohol), as well as by bile reflux, stress, hypovolemia, and chronic congestion. In western societies, gastritis is uncommon in childhood but increases in frequency with increasing age, reaching a prevalence of 50-60% by 50 years of age.

Although a dramatic decrease in the incidence of stomach cancer has been observed worldwide over the past 30-50 years, it is still considered the second most frequent cancer worldwide, accounting for approximately 9.9% of cancers. The distribution of the disease throughout the population is not uniform. It has predilection for men, occurring up to twice more frequently than in women. Its incidence increases with age, and shows great variation in the relative incidence through different geographical regions, with Japan, Costa Rica and San

Marino having the highest incidence (more than 8-10-fold higher compared to some other parts of the world). The stomach is a major site of cancer incidence in portions of Central and Eastern Europe, the former Soviet Union, Chile and China. Migrants from high- to low-incidence nations maintain ther susceptibility to gastric cancer, while the risk for their offspring approximates that of the new homeland. These finding suggest that an environmental exposure, probably beginning early in life, is related to the development of gastric cancer, with dietary carcinogens considered the most likely factors. Helicobacter pylori infection may also play a role.

Primary gastric lymphomas comprise less than 5% of all gastric malignancies, but make up the largest group after adenocarcinoma. Other tumors (carcinoid, lipomas, gastrointestinal stromal cell tumors) are rare. Gastric polyps are uncommon, occurring in less than 1% of autopsies or other surveys. They are almost always asymptomatic, but are of interest primarily because of their risk as potentially premalignant lesions.

Functional (or nonulcerous) dyspepsia is one of the most prevalent syndromes evaluated by gastroenterologists and is characterized by nonspecific upper abdominal symptoms in the absence of demonstrable organic disease. Several subtypes of functional dyspepsia have been defined, and disturbances of gastric and small intestinal motor activity are common in this entity (7). More serious disorders of gastric emptying include diabetic gastroparesis, postoperative, radiation-induced, and idiopathic and rarely other forms of gastroparesis.

1.4 INTESTINE

Since most of the intestinal disease are affecting simultaneously small and large bowel their classification and epidemiological characteristics will be reviewed as a one entity and ones who are organ specified will be elaborated separately. Absorption is a process that is carried on only in intestine therefore its impairment will be presented here.

Malabsorption refers to impaired absorption of nutrients (fat, protein, carbohydrate, vitamins and minerals) that are result of congenital defects in transport through small intestinal epithelium (primary) or in most of the cases loss of large viable part of a small intestine epithelium (secondary). It can be global when all the nutrients are deficient or isolated with impaired absorption of specific nutrient. Variety of disease can cause this syndrome and most common are gastric diseases (autoimmune gastritis, gastric resections), pancreatic insufficiency (chronic pancreatitis, cystic fibrosis, eg), obstructive biliary diseases, intestinal diseases (celiac and inflammatory bowel disease), short bowel syndrome and others. Clinical manifestations are diverse due to multifactorial etiology and consequent diverse nutrient malabsorption, but it is most commonly presented with diarrhea and weight loss. True prevalence is unknown because most of the patients are undiagnosed and the suspicion is made in late stage when patients need parenetral nutrition.

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs), comprised of ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD), are characterized by chronic inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract in genetically susceptible individuals exposed to certain environmental risk factors. Crohn's disease is characterized by transmural inflammation with skip lesions that can involve any segment of the GI tract from the mouth to the anus, and UC is determined by mucosal inflammation of colon. Ten to fifteen percent of patients cannot be classified into either type of disease and they are labeled as indeterminate colitis. Three mechanisms are involved in pathogenesis of IBD genetic predisposition, dysregulated immune response and an altered response to gut microorganisms. In favor of genetic predisposition says that first-degree relatives have a 5 to 20 fold increased risk of developing IBD and a child of a parent with

IBD has a 5% risk. In the United States, it is estimated that 2 million people have IBD, with an incidence of 70-150 cases per 100 000, prevalence of 396 cases per 100 000 annually (7). Although IBD can occur in any age two peaks exists, with the vast majority of new diagnoses made in people aged 15-40 years and smaller peak in patients aged 55-65 years. Ethnic and racial difference exists, so the incidence of IBD is lower in black and Hispanic populations compared to whites. Developed countries, colder-climate regions are areas of higher incidence of IBD. The highest prevalence of IBD worldwide was reported in Canada (20.2 per 100 000) and Europe, whereas Asia had the lowest prevalence. Nowadays incidence of IBD is increasing in Asian people, especially among first-generation children due to their emigration to western countries indicating a big role of environmental factors. Earlier, the incidence of Crohn's disease was several times lower than the one of UC but nowadays the difference is lower due to increasement of number of patients with CD and stable number of UC. The prevalence of CD in the United States is approximately 7 cases per 100 000 and of UC 35-100 cases per 100 000. Both have a bimodal distribution of age onset. In CD patients the first peak, in larger proportion of the patients, occurs between age 15 and 30 years, and the second peak occurs between age 60 and 80 years. In UC first peak is also in majority of the patients, at 15-25 years and a second one at 55-65 years. They are both more common in whites and in female gender. The lowest recorded rates of new cases of CD appear to be in South Africa and Latin America. One of the most adverse complications of IBD is toxic megacolon accounting approximately 1 to 5%.

Celiac sprue, also known as celiac disease or gluten-sensitive enteropathy, is intolerance to gliadin, the fraction of gluten, which is found in wheat, rye, and barley (9). Intrafamilial occurrence is frequent especially in first-degree relatives, approximately 10%. Now, estimations are that 1% of population, approximately 6 million people, is affected. The highest prevalence of celiac sprue 1 in 100 persons is in Ireland and Finland. The incidence of celiac sprue is increasing among certain populations in Africa, Asia (India), and the Middle East. Its incidence is slightly higher in females than in males and the age distribution has two peaks; first at 8-12 months, when gluten ingestion in infants begin, and the second in the third to fourth decade.

Infectious diarrheal diseases are increased in last two decades representing one of the five leading cause of death in general population, especially in developing countries where is the second cause of death in children. According to the duration of disease we can divide diarrhea into two groups: chronic and acute. Most cases of acute diarrhea are self-limited and are caused by bacteria (salmonella, campylobacter, shigella, enterotoxigenic E. coli, C. difficile, and others), viruses (rotavirus, adenoviruses, norovirus, and others), and protozoa (cryptosporidium, giardia, entamoeba, and others). Prevalence is impossible to establish because most of the patients do not seek medical help neither do physicians perform tests to affirm the pathogen. Prolonged bacterial infections of intestine usually occur in patients who recently traveled, ones with HIV infection, and after use of antibiotics. Bacterial usually responsible for chronic diarrhea are C. difficile, Aeromonas, Plesiomonas, Campylobacter, Giardia, Amebae, Cryptosporidium, Whipple's disease, and Cyclospora and others.

The diagnosis of small bowel tumors is often at a late state due to their variety in clinical manifestation and rarity. As of any origin, tumors of small bowel can be both malignant (adenocarcinoma, carcinoid, lymphoma, and sarcomas) and benign (adenoma, leiomyoma, lipoma). Small bowel tumors account for only 3 percent of all gastrointestinal tract neoplasm, but their age-adjusted incidence has risen from 1-3 per 100 000 to 14.8 per 100 000. Three major types of benign small bowel adenomas exist: villous, tubular, and Brunner's gland adenomas. Villous adenomas carry a significant potential for malignant transformation with the predilection in duodenum around the papilla (Ampulla of Vater). Patients with

adenocarcinoma of small intestine have an increased risk of large bowel adenocarcinomas and vice versa implying similar genetic and environmental factors involved in carcinogenesis. Males are somewhat more affected (male to female ratio of 1.5:1) and age at diagnosis depends on a type of tumor. Heritable cancer syndromes are associated with adenocarcinoma of both the large and small bowel, including hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC), familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP), and Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Patients with adenocarcinoma and carcinoid are slightly older (67 to 68) compared to ones with sarcoma and lymphoma (60 to 62). Incidence of adenocarcinoma decreases throughout small intestine and carcinoid arises with predominant site in ileum (10). Patients with Crohn's disease are exception with predominant location of the adenocarcinoma in terminal ileum. Carcinoids represent approximately 40 percent of primary small intestinal malignancies. They have been reported in patients from 20 to 80 years old. The most common is a gastrinoma of the duodenum, which is defined by the associated clinical syndrome of excess gastrin secretion (Zollinger-Ellison syndrome). Gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs) are most common in jejunum and ileum and account 10 percent of small bowel neoplasms.

Benign tumors of the large bowel can be divided on non-neoplastic (hyperplastic, mucosal, inflammatory psuedopolyps and submucosal) and neoplastic (serrated, hamartomatous and adenomatous) polyps. Most common non-neoplastic polyps are hyperplastic polyps that are usually small and their exact prevalence is not established because these are found usually accidental. In colonic examinations of asymptomatic patients over age 50 years, prevalence is 10%, but on sygmoidoscopy is 28%. Hyperplastic polyps predominate in rectum and sigmoid. Adenomatous polyps are divided into three groups based on histological characteristics (tubular, vilous and tubulovillosus), size and degree of dyplasia (mild, moderate, and severe). Tubular adenomas are small and exhibit mild dysplasia, and the most common of adenomatous polyps, account for 80 to 86%. Tubulovillous account for 8 to 16% and villous adenomas for 3 to 16% of adenomatous polyps. In countries with high prevalence of colon cancer adenomas tend to be larger with age. The prevalence of adenomatous polyps is determinate by four major factors; inherited risk, age, gender and positive family history. In population with high risk, such as Japan, prevalence is 30 to 40% and in low risk population account for 12%. Due to screening programs prevalence of adenomatous polyps have arisen, so in patients aged 50 years prevalence ranges from 24 to 47 % with predominance in males (1.5 is a relative risk). Race isn't likely to be independent factor.

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer in males and second in females. They evolve due to progression of premalignant lesion of colon (adenomas). In 2003, WHO reported an impressive number of 940 000 persons being diagnosed with CRC in general population and 492 000 died from it. Risk factor include heredity, environmental exposures (smoking, obesity and sedentary habits), and inflammatory syndromes (ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease) affecting gastrointestinal tract. Seventy percent of cases arise in the colon. The highest incidence rates are in Australia and New Zealand, Europe and North America, and the lowest rates are found in in Africa and South-Central Asia (11). Incidence is territory depended therefore, in developed country is stable, in United States has declined and in Eastern Asia and Europe has risen. CRC incidence increases significantly after age of 40 years. Incidence is 25 % higher in men than in females and 20 % higher in blacks than in whites. Incidence has declined about 2 to 3 percent per year most likely as a consequence of good screening programs and also a shift toward right-sided cancers has been observed. The 5-year survival rate of CRC accounts 61 %.

Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) is the most commonly diagnosed gastrointestinal characterized by chronic abdominal pain and altered bowel habits in the absence of any organic cause. Prevalence in North America and in Europe is similar around 11 %. Although

it can affect people of every age, gender and race it is more often diagnosed in young patients especially females (12). It is a functional disorder, commonly causing mild to moderate symptoms and therefore only 15 percent seek medical attention. Prevalence is hard to estimate because large number of patients is undiagnosed. The severity of a problem indicates the fact that 25 to 50% referrals to gastroenterologist are due to IBS symptoms is the second highest cause of work absenteeism.

Small intestine diverticula are multiple saclike mucosal herniation that bulge outward through weak spots of intestine and are five times more common in duodenum than in the rest of the small intestine. They are usually incidenatalomas so the true prevalence is unknown. Due to pathopathology logically their incidence arises with age therefore, 65 % patients are older than 85 years at the time of diagnosis. Although diverticula of colon are commonly left-sided in Asian people 75 % of cases are right-sided. Diverticulitis, an inflammation of the diverticula, is considered to be disease of elderly no meter of the gender. It is estimated that 65% older than 85 years have diverticula. Diverticulitis is characterized by recurrence (20-25% recurrence rate) and evolution of fistulas and adhesions. Studies has shown that patients with more diverticula have more often the inflammation; in 15-20 % of those. Since lifestyle and dietary modifications are one of the reasons for occurrence of diverticula and subsequent inflammation logically is more prevalent in Western countries.

Appendicitis is an inflammation of the inner lining of the appendix and is one of the most common causes of acute abdomen usually ending by urgent surgical procedure. It affects 7 % of the US population with incidence 233 per 100 000 (13). It is greater in Western countries and in men (male to female ratio 1.4:1). In pediatric population occurs more likely in 6-10 years because of lymphoid hyperplasia and later in the 10 to 19 year-old age group.

1.5 LIVER

There are many causes of liver diseases, from hereditary, infectious, autoimmune, malignant to drug induced that represent with a different pattern, but all can be categorized either as hepatocellular od cholestatic (obstructive). In cholestatic diseases (such as primary biliary cirrhosis, drug induced diseases, and malignant obstructions) predominate the features of inhibition of bile flow, and in hepatocellular (such as viral hepatits and alcoholic liver disease) predominate the features of liver injury, inflammation and necrosis. Disorders that are associated with hereditary defects in bilirubin metabolism are Crigler-Najjar syndrome, Gilbert's syndrome, Dubin-Johnson sydnrome, Rotor sydnrome, benign recurrent intrahepatic cholestasis and progressive familial intrahepatic cholestasis. Hepatitis, an inflammation of the liver parenchyma may result from various causes, both infectious (viral, bacterial, fungal, and parasitic organisms) and noninfectious (alcohol, drugs, autoimmune diseases, and metabolic diseases).

Acute viral hepatitis is a systemic infection that predominately affects the liver and is caused by many different viruses but in the majority of cases is caused by hepatitis virus A, B and C virus. Although all viruses have an acute form, in the clinical setting more important is the incidence and prevalence of the chronic hepatitis. Approximately 90-95% of neonates with acute hepatitis B (HBV) infection and 5% of adults with acute infection develop chronic HBV infection. According to the World Health Organization, HBV is the 10th leading cause of death worldwide (14). Around 350 million people have a chronic infection with hepatitis C virus (HCV), and about 20% of them will eventually develop HCV-related cirrhosis or hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). HCV represents the most frequent cause of parenteral non-A, non-B (NANB) hepatitis worldwide. Its global prevalence in nations around the world is about 0.5-2%. The highest rates of prevalence are found in patients with hemophilia and in intravenous drug users. Hepatitis D virus is found as a coinfeciton in 5% of the HBsAg positive, and hepatitis E is mostly present in nonurban settings and mostly in children. Prognosis of the viral hepatitis depends on the causative virus. Patients with chronic C and B infection have a risk of developing cirrhosis and eventually HCC.

More than 900 drugs and medications in general have been reported to cause liver injury, and drugs account for 20-40% of all instances of fulminate hepatic failure. Approximately 75% of the idiosyncratic drug reactions result in liver transplantation or death. The prognosis of the disease progression is highly variable depending on the patient's presentation and stage of liver damage.

Autoimmune hepatitis is a chronic disease of unknown cause, characterized by continuing hepatocellular inflammation and necrosis and tends to progress to cirrhosis. The diagnosis is based on present immune serum markers, liver specific and non liver specific autoantibodies and is often associated with other autoimmune diseases. The prevalence of autoimmune hepatitis is estimated to be 0.1-1.2 cases per 100,000 individuals in Western Europe. The reported prevalence of autoimmune hepatitis in Europe ranges from 11.6-16.9 cases per 100,000 persons. Autoimmune hepatitis accounts for about 3% of liver transplantations in Europe. Women are often more affected that men (in 80% of cases), and the disease has a bimodal age distribution with the first peak at 10-20 years of age and a second at 45-70. Approximately 50% of affected are younger than 20. Young age at presentation, type II autoimmune hepatitis, coagulopathy and severe initial histologic activity are factors associated with a worse prognosis, but in the end the prognosis depends primarily on the severity of liver inflammation.

Patients with alcoholic liver disease (ALD) can be divided into ones that have alcoholic fatty liver, alcoholic hepatitis, and alcohol related cirrhosis (15). Women develop more severe ALD more quickly and at lower doses of alcohol than men do. The prevalence of alcoholic hepatitis was found to be approximately 25-30%, although the true prevalence is unknown because patients with milder forms can be asymptomatic or never seek medical attention. The long-term prognosis of individuals with alcoholic hepatitis depends heavily on whether patients have established cirrhosis and whether they continue to drink, patients who have had a major complication of cirrhosis have a 5-year survival of less than 50%. Alcoholic hepatitis now represents a leading indication for liver transplantation (16).

Primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC) is a chronic and progressive cholestatic disease of the liver. The etiology is unknown, although it is presumed to be autoimmune in nature. Epidemiology has not been studied systematically, it is reported to be more prevalent in the Northern countries with a prevalence ranging from 2.2 - 24 cases per 100,000. About 70-90% of patients are women in their middle age with a mean of 39 years, but men are more likely to develop hepatocellular carcinoma.

Metabolic diseases that affect the liver are hepatic steatosis and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, storage diseases such as Wilson's disease, hemochromatosis, alpha-1 antitripsin deficiency and others. Fatty liver represents the accumulation of fat in the liver cells (17). In some patients, fatty liver may be accompanied by hepatic inflammation and liver cell death (steatohepatitis). Steatosis affects approximately 25-35% of the general population and NASH has been detected in 1.2-9% of patients undergoing routine liver biopsy (18). NAFLD is found in more than 80% of patients who are obese. Fatty liver occurs in all age groups and it has been found across all races, but NAFLD is most common in whites. Fibrosis or cirrhosis in the liver is present in 15-50% of patients with NASH. Approximately 30% of patients with fibrosis develop cirrhosis after 10 years.

Wilson disease is a rare autosomal recessive inherited disorder of copper metabolism. The condition is characterized by excessive deposition of copper in the liver, brain, and other tissues (19). The incidence of Wilson disease is 10-30 per million cases. The peak of the disease is in the age group from 5 to 40, although the disorder has been detected in children younger than 3 years and in adults older than 70 years (20). The major complications in patients with untreated Wilson disease are those associated with acute liver failure, chronic hepatic dysfunction with either portal hypertension or hepatocellular carcinoma.

Hemochromatosis is the most common genetic disorder of humans and it involves accumulation of abnormal amounts of iron due to inappropriate absorption from the intestine (21). Although genetic mutations for hemochromatosis are common, clinical manifestation are present in 40-50% of carriers.

Cirrhosis represents the final common histologic pathway for a wide variety of chronic liver diseases. Cirrhosis is defined histologically as a diffuse hepatic process characterized by fibrosis and the conversion of normal liver architecture into structurally abnormal nodules. The progression of liver injury to cirrhosis may occur over weeks to years. Cirrhosis is the ninth leading cause of death in the United States and is responsible for 1.2% of all US deaths. Many patients die from the disease in their fifth or sixth decade of life. Complications of liver cirrhosis include hepatic fibrosis and subsequently portal hypertension, ascites, hepatorenal syndrome, hepatic encophalopathy, manifestations related to the chronic disease that caused the cirrhosis, hematologic manifestation, hepatopulmonary syndrome and in the end hepatocelular and cholangiocarcinoma.

Simple cysts, multiple *cysts* arising in the setting of polycystic liver disease (PCLD), parasitic or hydatid (echinococcal) cysts, cystic tumors, and abscesses represent the cystic lesions of liver. The liver cysts have been estimated to occur in 5% of the population, and only 10-15% of these patients have symptoms that bring the cyst to clinical attention.

Tumors of the liver can be divided into benign and malignant carcinomas of the liver. Hepatocellular adenomas or hepatic adenomas are rare and benign tumors. They are mostly found in women in their third and fourth decade and are often associated with the use of contraceptive pills and estrogens in general (22). Focal nodular hyperplasia (FNH) is the second most common tumor of the liver (23). It occurs predominately in women, and it is often incidentally found in the ultrasound procedure (24). Hemangioma is the most common benign tumor affecting the liver; they are composed of atypical or irregular blood vessels (25). Women are affected more that men in a ratio of 4-6:1, they can occur at all ages, but are mostly diagnosed in the age between 30 and 50. The reported incidence rate of hepatic hemangiomas is approximately 2%, and the prevalence ranges from 0,5% to 7%.

Hepatocellular carcinoma is with 500 000 people affected at present the third leading cause of cancer deaths and it usually arises in the setting of a cirrhotic liver. The incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma is highest in eastern countries and Africa, where there is an endemic high prevalence of hepatitis B and hepatitis C. There has been noted worldwide that the incidence is twice as great in the developing nations in comparison to those developed, globally ranges of incidence is 7 to 17 per 100 000 in men and 2 to 6 per 100 000 in women. Over the past 20 years incidence has doubled, what can be associated with the epidemic of hepatitis C and alcoholic liver disease which subsequently results in more severe chronic liver disease. The mortality rate, following the incidence rate has similarly increased from 2.8 to 4.7 per 100,000 populations over the past 5 year (26). Metastatic tumors of the liver are common and are at least 20 times greater in incidence in comparison to hepatocellular carcinoma. They are found in 30-50% of autopsys of patients with malignant diseases. All

tumors except those primarily in the brain can metastasize in the liver. Most common are those of the gastrointestinal tract, lung, breast and melanomas.

1.6 THE GALLBLADDER AND BILE DUCTS

Cholelithiasis is the medical term for gallstone disease. Gallstones are concretions that form in the biliary tract, usually in the gallbladder. Migration of a a gallstone into the opening of the cystic duct may block the outflow of bile during gallbladder contraction and this can result in a characteristic type of pain known as a billiary colic. Cystic duct obstruction which persists for a couple of hours can lead to acute gallbladder inflammation, also known as acute cholecystitis. Choledocholithiasis is a term that refers to the presence of one or more gallstones in the common bile duct and this usually occurs when a gallstone passes from the gallbladder into the common bile duct and remains there. If the stagnation of the bile pertains the bile can get infected and bacteria can spread up the ductal system and cause inflammation of the bile duct called cholangitis. If gallstones are present for a longer period of time the irritation of the gallbladder wall can produce chronic cholecystitis and fibrosis that can be a trigger for formation of gallbladder cancer- cholangiocarcinoma.

In the United States, about 20 million people (10-20% of adults) have gallstones. In Europe prevalence of gallstones is highest in people in northern countries (27). It is approximated that every year 1-3% of people develop gallstones and about 1-3% become symptomatic. Each year, around 500,000 people develop symptoms or complications of gallstones that require surgical therapy. Women in their reproductive period are 2-3 times more likely to develop cholesterol gallstones than men, what is related to the estrogen levels (28). Risk of developing gallstones increases with age. Regarding mortality, gallstone disease is responsible for about 10,000 deaths per year in the United States and about 70% are attributable to acute gallstone complications.

Approximately 10-15% of patients will have an associated choledocholithiasis. Complications that are associated with this state are obstructive jaundice, acute pancreatitis and cholangitis. Cholangitis has a significant mortality and morbidity, especially if left untreated, with mortality rates that vary from 13-88%.

Acute cholecystitis is in 90% of cases associated with stones in the cystic duct (calculous cholecystitis), and the other 10% of cases represent acalculous cholecystitis (29). Risk factors for cholecystitis are similar to those for cholelithiasis and include increasing age, female sex, obesity or rapid weight loss, drugs, and pregnancy. Acalculous cholecystitis is related to biliary stasis, major surgery, severe trauma, sepsis, long-term total parenteral nutrition (TPN), and prolonged fasting. Aproximately one third of patients who have cholelithiasis will develop in some point of time acute cholecystitis. Complications of acute cholecystitis include emphysematous cholecystitis, empyema and hydrops of the gallbladder, gangrene, perforation, fistula formation and gallstone ileus.

Chronic cholecystitis, as mentioned, represents a chronic inflammation of the gallbladder usually in the setting of choleithiasis. Under the term porcelain gallbladder we presume calcium salt deposition within walls of a chronically inflamed gallbladder, a state which is connected with a high percentage of carcinoma of the gallbladder.

Primary sclerosing cholangitis is a chronic liver disease characterized by a progressive course of cholestasis with inflammation and fibrosis of the intrahepatic and extrahepatic bile ducts. The disease is believed to be caused by an autoimmune reaction and can lead to

cirrhosis of the liver. Disease is in most cases associated with inflammatory bowel disease, mainly ulcerose colitis, and is often complicated by the development of cholangiocarcinoma. Prevalence is estimated to be 6.3 cases per 100,000, although Scandinavian countries report a somewhat higher rate. Approximately 70% of patients with PSC are men, with a mean age of diagnosis around 40 years.

Cancers of the biliary tract include cholangiocarcinoma, cancer of ampulla of Vater and gallbladder cancer. All subtypes are rare and have an overall poor prognosis). About 20% arise from the extrahepatic biliary tract and 20% arise from the ampulla of Vater. Gallbladder cancer is the fifth most common gastrointestinal cancer in the United States and the most common hepatobiliary cancer. It accounts for 46% of the biliary tract (30). Gallbladder cancer incidence increases with age and is more common in women. Most patients have regional disease or distant metastases at presentation. Therefore, the prognosis of gallbladder disease is poor, with 5-year survival rates of 15-20% (31).

Cholangiocarcinomas originate in the liver and extrahepatic bile ducts (32). They are divided 3 regions: intrahepatic, extrahepatic (perihilar) also known as Klatskin tumors, which are the most common, and distal extrahepatic. More than 95% of these tumors are ductal adenocarcinomas; many patients present with unresectable or metastatic disease. Incidence in most Western countries ranges from 2- 6 cases per 100,000 people per year. Females are more affected that men, and the prevalence is the highest in the population of 60-70 years of age.

1.7 PANCREAS

Acute pancreatitis is an inflammatory condition of the pancreas characterized clinically by abdominal pain and elevated levels of pancreatic enzymes in the blood (33). The reported annual incidence of acute pancreatitis ranges from 4.9 to 35 per 100,000 populations. The incidence of acute pancreatitis is increasing in many European and Scandinavian countries due to increased alcohol consumption and better diagnostic capability (34). Although the pathogenesis of acute pancreatitis is not fully understood, a number of conditions predispose to acute pancreatitis such as gallstones, billiary sludge and microlithiasis as well as other causes of mechanical ampulary obstruction, alcohol, hypertriglyceridemia, hypercalcemia, drugs, infections and toxins, trauma, pregnancy, anatomical variation of pancreas, hereditary pancreatitis cases. In a systematic review of studies of acute pancreatitis, overall mortality was approximately 5 percent, 3 percent, and 17 percent in all cases of acute pancreatitis, interstitial, and necrotizing pancreatitis, respectively (35).

Chronic pancreatitis (CP) is a syndrome that contrasts with acute pancreatitis although the two conditions can overlap. It involves progressive and irreversible inflammatory changes in the pancreas that result in permanent structural damage, which leads to destruction of exocrine (acinar cell) and endocrine (islet of Langerhas) tissue (36). Recurrent episodes of acute pancreatitis may lead to chronic pancreatitis over time. Based on autopsy studies, the prevalence of chronic pancreatitis ranges from 0.04% to 5% but this can be misleading since not all patients have had symptoms during life (37). The incidence of CP ranges from 1.6 to 23 cases per 100,000 per year worldwide. The gradual rise in incidence observed in some countries may be attributed to an increasing alcohol consumption and earlier diagnosis. Observing the etiology of chronic pancreatitis the majority of cases are due to alcohol abuse, genetic causes such as mutations in the cystic fibrosis gene, hereditary pancreatitis, ductal obstruction, trauma, pseudocysts, stones, tumors, possibly pancreas divisum, tropical

pancreatitis, systemic disease such as systemic lupus erythematosus, hypertriglyceridemia, autoimmune pancreatitis and there is idiopathic pancreatitis. Although before it was estimated that in the Western countries alcohol is the cause of 70% to 90% of all cases of chronic pancreatitis new cohort studies have reported that these numbers were a bit overestimated and that it accounts for about 45 % of cases (38). Alcohol seems to be the most common etiology in men (about 59 percent of cases) and the least common etiology in women (28 percent). In women, both nonalcoholic and idiopathic etiologies were therefore more common (37 and 35 percent, respectively). There are a number of complications associated with CP that involve maldigestion, steatorrhea, diabetes mellitus, pancreatic pseudocys, uncomplicated and associated with inflammation, abscess, necrosis or bleeding, common bile duct obstruction, duodenal obstruction, pancreatic fistula, dysmotility and in the end cancer.

We can divide the **non endocrine pancreatic tumors** in three major groups: pancreatic cancer, cystic pancreatic neoplasms and other non endocrine pancreatic tumors. Pancreatic cancer has a high lethality, worldwide, pancreatic cancer is the eighth leading cause of cancer deaths in men and the ninth in women (39). The incidence of pancreatic cancer has been increasing since the 1930s, and since 1973 is more or less unchanged at 8,8 per 100,000 with a male to female ratio of 1,3:1. The disease is rare before the age of 45, but the incidence rises sharply thereafter (40). Factors that are associated with the increased incidence of pancreatic cancer are hereditary, other inherited factors that don't involve largely known inherited syndromes and environmental factors. Disease is associated with a bad prognosis (41). Cystic tumors of the pancreas are relatively uncommon, accounting for only 1% of pancreatic neoplasms. They include mucinous cystic neoplasms, serous cystadenoma, intraductal papillary mucinous tumors and rarely others (42).

The overall prevalence of **pancreatic endocrine tumors** is relatively low, with an overall annual incidence in the United States of 3-10 cases per million persons (43). Neoplasms of the endocrine pancreas can be divided into functional, which are more frequent and nonfunctional varieties. They can be associated with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN 1) or characterized as a sporadic form. Insulinoma, gastrinoma, Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, VIP-oma, Verner-Morrison syndrome, WDHA (watery diarrhea, hypokalemia, aklorhydria), glucagonoma, somatostatinoma, carcinoid tumors and other functional tumors represent this group of tumors, with insulinomas and gastrinomas accounting for the majority of cases. They are more frequent in women with an age mean of 30 to 50 years. Tumors that develop in the setting of MEN-1 can occur in the younger age, most commonly 10-30 years. Nonfunctional tumors account for 14-48% of all recognized neoplasms of the endocrine pancreas (44).

LITERATURE:

- 1. Vakil N, van Zanten SV, Kahrilas P, Dent J, Jones R; Global Consensus Group. The Montreal definition and classification of gastroesophageal reflux disease: a global evidence-based consensus. Am J Gastroenterol 2006;101(8):1900-20.
- 2. Spechler S. Epidemiology and natural history of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease. Digestion 1992;51(Suppl 1):24–9.
- 3. Malfertheiner P, Hallerback B. Clinical manifestations and complications of gastroesophageal reflux disease. Int J Clin Pract 2005;59:346–55.
- 4. Dent J, El-Serag HB, Wallander MA, Johansson S. Epidemiology of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease: a systematic review. Gut 2005;54:710–17.
- 5. Cameron AJ, Ott BJ, Payne WS. The incidence of adenocarcinoma in columnar-lined (Barrett's) esophagus. N Engl J Med 1985;313(14):857-9.

- 6. Hameeteman W, Tytgat GNJ, Houthoff HJ, Van Den Tweel JG. Barrett's esophagus: development of dysplasia and adenocarcinoma. Gastroenterology 1989;96:1249-56.
- 7. Venerito M, Kandulski A, Malfertheiner P. Functional (nonulcer) dyspepsia. In: Dyspepsia in clinical practice. Duvnjak M (ed), Springer New York, 2011: 43-53.
- 8. Molodecky NA, Soon IS, Rabi DM, Ghali WA, Ferris M, Chernoff G, et al. Increasing incidence and prevalence of the inflammatory bowel diseases with time, based on systematic review. Gastroenterology 2012;142(1):46-54.
- 9. Green PH, Cellier C. Celiac disease. N Engl J Med 2007;357(17):1731-43.
- 10. Bilimoria KY, Bentrem DJ, Wayne JD, Ko CY, Bennett CL, Talamonti MS. Small bowel cancer in the United States: changes in epidemiology, treatment, and survival over the last 20 years. Ann Surg 2009;249(1):63-71.
- 11. Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 2011;61(2):69-90.
- 12. Saito YA, Schoenfeld P, Locke GR 3rd. The epidemiology of irritable bowel syndrome in North America: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol 2002;97(8):1910-5.
- 13. Addiss DG, Shaffer N, Fowler BS, Tauxe RV. The epidemiology of appendicitis and appendectomy in the United States. Am J Epidemiol 1990;132(5):910-25.
- 14. Lavanchy D. Hepatitis B virus epidemiology, disease burden, treatment, and current and emerging prevention and control measures. J Viral Hepat 2004;11(2):97-107.
- 15. Mueller S, Millonig G, Seitz HK. Alcoholic liver disease and hepatitis C: a frequently underestimated combination. World J Gastroenterol 2009;15(28):3462-7.
- 16. Mookerjee RP, Malaki M, Davies NA, Hodges SJ, Dalton RN, Turner C et al. Increasing dimethylarginine levels are associated with adverse clinical outcome in severe alcoholic hepatitis. Hepatology 2007;45:62-71.
- 17. Guy CD, Suzuki A, Zdanowicz M, Abdelmalek MF, Burchette J, Unalp A, et al. Hedgehog pathway activation parallels histologic severity of injury and fibrosis in human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 2012;55(6):1711-21.
- 18. Bhala N, Angulo P, van der Poorten D, Lee E, Hui JM, Saracco G, et al. The natural history of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease with advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis: an international collaborative study. Hepatology 2011;54(4):1208-16.
- 19. Schilsky ML. Wilson disease: Current status and the future. Biochimie 2009; 91(10):1278-81.
- 20. Roberts EA, Schilsky ML; American Association for Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD). Diagnosis and treatment of Wilson disease: an update. Hepatology 2008;47(6):2089-111.
- 21. Ajioka RS, Kushner JP. Clinical consequences of iron overload in hemochromatosis homozygotes. Blood 2003;101(9):3351-3.
- 22. Edmonson HA. Tumors of the liver and biliary tract. Fascicle 25. In: Atlas of Tumor Pathology. Washington, DC: Armed Forces Institute of Pathology; 1958.
- 23. Craig JR, Peters RL, Edmondson HA, Omata M. Fibrolamellar carcinoma of the liver: a tumor of adolescents and young adults with distinctive clinico-pathologic features. Cancer 1980;46(2):372-9.
- 24. Nguyen BN, Fléjou JF, Terris B, Belghiti J, Degott C. Focal nodular hyperplasia of the liver: a comprehensive pathologic study of 305 lesions and recognition of new histologic forms. Am J Surg Pathol 1999;23(12):1441-54.
- 25. Dickie B, Dasgupta R, Nair R, Alonso MH, Ryckman FC, Tiao GM et al. Spectrum of hepatic hemangiomas: management and outcome. J Pediatr Surg 2009;44(1):125-33.
- 26. Seeff LB. Introduction: The burden of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology 2004;127(Suppl 1):S1-4.
- 27. Halldestam I, Kullman E, Borch K. Incidence of and potential risk factors for gallstone disease in a general population sample. Br J Surg 2009;96(11):1315-22.
- 28. Wang HH, Liu M, Clegg DJ, Portincasa P, Wang DQ. New insights into the molecular mechanisms underlying effects of estrogen on cholesterol gallstone formation. Biochim Biophys Acta 2009;1791(11):1037-47.
- 29. Huffman JL, Schenker S. Acute acalculous cholecystitis a review. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 8(1):15-22.

- 30. National Cancer Institute. Cancer Statistics. SEER Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results. Available at <u>http://seer.cancer.gov/</u>. Accessed on 20th October 2012.
- 31. Schottenfeld D and Fraumeni J. Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention. 3rd. Oxford University Press; 2006:787-800.
- 32. Douglass HO, Tepper J, Leichman L. Neoplasms of the extrahepatic bile ducts. In: Holland JF, et al, eds. Cancer Medicine. Vol 2. Philadelphia, Pa: Lea & Febiger. 1993:1455-62.
- 33. Sarles H. Revised classification of pancreatitis--Marseille 1984. Dig Dis Sci 1985; 30:573-4.
- 34. Vege SS, Yadav D, Chari ST. Pancreatitis. In: GI Epidemiology, 1st ed, Talley NJ, Locke GR, Saito YA (Eds), Blackwell Publishing, Malden, MA 2007.
- 35. Banks PA, Freeman ML, Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2379-400.
- 36. Steer ML, Waxman I, Freedman S. Chronic pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 1995; 332:1482-90.
- 37. Olsen TS: The incidence and clinical relevance of chronic inflamation in the pancreas in autopsy material. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scan 1978;86(a):361-5.
- 38. Coté GA, Yadav D, Slivka A, et al. Alcohol and smoking as risk factors in an epidemiology study of patients with chronic pancreatitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;9(3):266-73.
- 39. Global cancer statistics.Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61(2):69-90.
- 40. Ries LA, Eisner MP, Kosary CL, Hankey BF, Miller BA, Clegg LX et al. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1973-1996. National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD 2000. Available at: <u>http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1973_1996/</u>. Accessed on 27th October 2012.
- 41. Furukawa H, Okada S, Saisho H, Ariyama J, Karasawa E, Nakaizumi A et al. Clinicopathologic features of small pancreatic adenocarcinoma. A collective study. Cancer 1996;78:986–90.
- 42. Feldman M, Friedman LS, Sleisenger MH. Pancreatic cancer, cystic pancreatic neoplasms and other non endocrine pancreatic tumors. In: Gastrointestinal and liver disaeases. 7 th edition. Saunders Philadelphia 2002;pp 979-83.
- 43. Buchanan KD, Johnston CF, O'Hare MM, Ardill JE, Shaw C, Collins JS et al. Neuroendocrine tumors. A European view. Am J Med 1986;81(6B):14-22.
- 44. Phan GQ, Yeo CJ, Hruban RH, Lillemoe KD, Pitt HA, Cameron JL et al. Surgical experience with pancreatic and peripancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: review of 125 patients. J Gastrointest Surg 1998;2(5):472-82.

2. THE ROLE AND IMPORTANCE OF SCREENING TESTS IN GASTROINTESTINAL DISEASES

Petr Kocna

2.1 INTRODUCTION

This paper 'has been prepared as proceeding for the 12th EFLM Continuous Postgraduate Course on Gastrointestinal Diseases. We summarize the general overview about screening, their benefits and rules (1-3) and main aspects for laboratory methods (Table 2.1) used as screening tests in gastrointestinal diseases, published in last years, as well as our experiences in the Czech Republic.

Table 2.1 Recommended laboratory methods for screening in gastroenterology.

Gastrointestinal disease	Recommended screening test						
Worldwide used screening							
Colorectal cancer	quantitative immunochemical Hb in stool						
Celiac disease	IgG, tTGA and IgG DGP plasma antibodies						
Evaluated new screening							
Chronic atrophic gastritis Helicobacter pylori infection	plasma pepsinogen I/II ratio Helicobacter pylori antigen in stool						
Inflammatory bowel disease	calprotectin in stool						

 $\label{eq:logend: Hb-haemoglobin; IgG-imunoglobulin class G; tTGA-imunoglobulin A antibodies to tissue transglutaminase; IgG DGP-imunoglobulin G antibodies to deamidated gliadin peptide.$

2.2 COLORECTAL CANCER

Colorectal cancer (CRCA) is the second most frequent malignant disease in Europe. Every year, 412 000 people are diagnosed with this condition, and 207 000 patients die of it (4) and estimated to cause 49 920 deaths in the U.S. in 2009 (5).

The pathogenesis of CRCA ordinarily occurs in a staged progression from normal mucosa, to adenoma, and finally carcinoma over a period of approximately 7–10 years (6). This sequenced progression over time provides an excellent opportunity for the utilization of screening tests for early detection of CRCA, with the goal of reducing cancer deaths by removal of pre-malignant adenomas and early localized cancer prior to onset of more advanced stages, and CRCA screening reduces mortality from colorectal cancer.

The introduction of national population-wide screening programs is a priority for the healthcare policy of individual states, and this is also being addressed at the highest level by European Union (EU) administrators. A screening program of one sort or another has been implemented in 19 of 27 European countries. The most frequently applied method is testing stool for occult bleeding (faecal occult blood test, FOBT). In the Czech Republic we started

CRCA screening programs in 1994 (7), and population-based, national screening with FOBT was started in 2002. The involvement of GPs has been found to improve patient compliance with bowel cancer screening (8).

The first level of FOBTs were guaiac based, gFOBT methods., which is still used in many countries as traditional methods of screening with high significance of Evidence-based-medicine, and recommended as one of many faecal screening methods by American College of Physicians (9). 20-years experiences with gFOBT were published recently in the UK (10). Guaiac methods are not specific for human haemoglobin. The gFOBT test is based on the oxidation of guaiac impregnated on the card) by hydrogen peroxide catalyzed by the peroxidase activity of haemoglobin. This oxidative reaction could as well occur with any peroxidase found in faeces (eg. plant peroxidases) or by certain chemicals (eg. vitamin C). The sensitivity of gFOBT for colorectal cancer is lower then 30% and these methods of FOBT will be changed in most of countries to immunological FIT.

The second level of FOBTs were immunochemical based, iFOBT (FIT) methods uses an antibody against human globin - the protein part of haemoglobin. The iFOBT are specific for human, haemoglobin, and are more sensitive than the gFOBT methods (11). Immunochemical-qualitative methods have very different accuracy and sensitivity in range 29-72% (12), use different sampling devices and different stability of haemoglobin extract in sampling buffer. Additional biochemical markers, haptoglobin and transferrin are used as a second detected analyte in these qualitative iFOBT tests, to increase screening accuracy (13,14).

The third level of FOBTs is now quantitative methods of faecal haemoglobin determination with automated analysers - qiFOBT. These modern methods increase accuracy to 90 - 95%, enabling setting to country-specific optimal cut-off and most important to be controlled by the External Quality Assurance Services (EQAS) programs. The European Group on Tumour Markers recommends use of a quantitative iFOBT with an adjustable cut-off point to all new centres undertaking FOBT for colorectal neoplasia (15), and organized faecal immunochemical test screening has been associated with an increase in annually detected CRC (16).

Three available analytical systems for quantitative FOBT test (Magstream HT, OC-Sensor/DIANA, FOB Gold/SENTiFOB) were compared for their accuracy, analytical sensitivity, and sample stability as well for sample mailing by tested subjects (17-20). Quantitative FOBT has found to be superior in compliance and colorectal cancer detection, compared with guaiac FOBTs as well with flexible sigmoidoscopy (21).

Diagnostic yield improves with collection of 2 samples of qiFOBT (22,23), increasing as well screening cost. Cost-effectiveness analysis of quantitative immunochemical test for colorectal cancer screening has been in high details described by Dutch working groups (24,25) publishing recently the optimal cut-off for qiFOBT to be 50 ug Hb/g. The pilot study with OC-Sensor qiFOBT recommends 50ng Hb/ml as optimal cut-off value for the screening in the Czech Republic (26).

Fecal immunochemical test results may be expressed as the haemoglobin concentration in the sampling device buffer and, sometimes, albeit rarely, as the haemoglobin concentration per mass of faeces. The current lack of consistency in units for reporting haemoglobin concentration is particularly problematic because apparently similar haemoglobin concentrations obtained with different devices can lead to very different clinical interpretations suggesting a proposal to standardize reporting units for qiFOBT (27,28).

Stool-based DNA testing for colorectal cancer is becoming a favored alternative to existing DNA screening tests. The basis for sDNA screening is the identification of genetic alterations in the initiation of a sequenced progression from adenoma to carcinoma, such as mutations in APC, K-ras, DCC, and p53 (29-32). Proteomics in combination with other techniques is rapidly being developed and there could be such a promising route for the diagnosis of early colorectal cancers (33). Hypermethylation of the plasma septin-9 gene shows promise as a nonstool-based screening tool (34,35). Blood-based biomarkers do not seem to be an alternative to FOBT-based CRC screening, but could be used in combination with iFOBT to increase colorectal screening accuracy (36-38). Tumour pyruvate kinase M2 (tumour M2-PK) is a key enzyme in the altered metabolism of tumor tissue. In cancer, it is known to be present in high concentrations in malignant tissue, plasma and other body fluids (39,40). Plasma and faecal levels of M2-PK could be used as other tumour markers better as prognostic marker, and it's not recommended for screening, its diagnostic efficiency was similar to that of gFOBT (41).

2.3 CELIAC DISEASE

Celiac disease (CD) is a common chronic small-bowel disorder of autoimmune origin occurring in both children and adults, and is one of the most commonly underdiagnosed diseases in general practice with incidence 1:100. This disease is genetically determined, has a strong HLA association with DQ2 (DQA1*0501/DQB1*02), and gliadin peptides derived from wheat gluten were identified as precipitating factors (42,43).

Screening strategies and diagnostic algorithms for the detection of CD, especially concerning serological markers, are included in research priorities of European Working Group on Serological Screening for Celiac Disease. The specificity and sensitivity of serological markers were reported in numerous studies for individual antibodies, ranging from 31% to 100%, and there no one marker could be neither 100% specific or 100% sensitive, and that a combination are able to detect all 100% celiac cases (44-7). The diagnostic accuracy of serology for CD has progressively increased in the last few years. IgA antibodies to tissue transglutaminase (tTGA) have been suggested as the first level test owing to their high sensitivity but accuracy could be confirmed by IgA endomysium antibodies (EmA), IgG tTGA should be performed in cases with a concomitant IgA deficiency, and IgA AGA is indicated for children under 2 year of age. A new antibody strategy designed for CD screening is therefore based on the combination of IgA tTG and IgG DGP (48). The new definition of celiac disease as well new ESPGHAN (European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition) guidelines modifies the screening rules. TG2A levels exceeding 10 times the cut-off and confirmed in an independent blood sample by EmA testing are the first requirement for a celiac diagnosis without duodenal biopsy in symptomatic children (49,50).

Celiac disease has a prevalence of nearly 1% in the US and Europe, diagnosed cases of celiac disease only has a prevalence of about 0.27% or even less. The risk of celiac disease in various autoimmune diseases is approximately 5% - 10% (51,52). There is increased risk of complications in untreated celiac disease patients, which include malignancy and severe malabsorption. The early diagnosis of celiac disease and subsequent adherence to a gluten-free diet may prevent the development of other autoimmune diseases and decreases risk of mortality.

Mass screening for celiac disease (CD) as a public health intervention is controversial (53). The main argument against screening is adherence to the gluten-free diet, which might be low

in screen-detected patients, even in symptomatic patients (46). In contrast to the general population, screening in high-prevalence groups may prove to have a favorable cost-benefit ratio. The guidelines for targeted screening for celiac disease in the Czech Republic has been defined in the Bulletin of the Ministry of Health of Czech Republic in February 2011 indicating this high-prevalence subjects (Table 2.2). Recently new way in celiac screening started in 2011 in Italian primary schoolchildren with salivary anti-transglutaminase autoantibodies (54).

Associated symptoms and signs	Associated diseases and syndromes
Dermatitis herpetiformis	Type 1 diabetes
Osteoporosis, unexplained fractures	Autoimmune thyroiditis
Chronic diarrhoea with abdominal distension	Autoimmune liver disease
Anemia	Systemic lupus erythematosus
Chronic fatigue syndrome	Primary biliary cirrhosis
Polyneuropathy	Primary sclerosing cholangitis
Cerebellar ataxia, epilepsy	Sjögren syndrome
Spontaneous abortion and fetal growth retardation	Alopecia areata
Growth retardation, pubertal delay	IgA nephropathy
Involuntary weight loss	IgA deficiency
Unexplained anaemia (iron, folic acid)	
Dental enamel hypoplasia	
Recurrent aphthous stomatitis	
Hypertransaminasemia	

2.4 CHRONIC ATROPHIC GASTRITIS

Chronic atrophic gastritis (CAG) is an inflammatory condition characterized by the loss of gastric glandular structures, which are replaced by connective tissue (non-metaplastic atrophy) or by glandular structures inappropriate for location (metaplastic atrophy). Diagnosis and screening of CAG with stomach-specific plasma biomarkers could help as well with prevention of gastric carcinoma. Invasive gastric carcinoma are preceded by a cascade of precancerous lesions, multifocal atrophic gastritis (MAG) and intestinal metaplasia. It is accepted that a multistep process initiating from Helicobacter pylori-related chronic inflammation of the gastric mucosa progresses to CAG, intestinal metaplasia, dysplasia and, finally, leads to the development of gastric cancer (55,56). The diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection are now simple, easy with high sensitivity and specificity 92-98%, using both UBT (Urea Breath Test) and stool antigen tests (57,58).

Parallel assays of PGI, of the PGI/II ratio, and of amidated gastrin-17 comprise an exact and validated set or panel of biomarkers that reflect the degree of mucosal inflammation, the extent and grade of atrophic gastritis in the stomach, and the capacity of the existing mucosa to secrete acid and gastrin-17 (59,60). The sensitivity and specificity of these biomarker test panel (commercial test panel (GastroPanel, Finland) were 71-83% and 95-98%, respectively (61). High prevalence, more then 3%, of advanced atrophic corpus gastritis (ACG) among Finnish adult volunteers without specific complaints was diagnosed last year (62).

2.5 INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE

Differentiating patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) from patients without intestinal pathology, in particular those with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), poses a diagnostic challenge. Current guidelines suggest performing invasive endoscopy with histological sampling for further diagnosis. There is, consequently, a need for a reliable, noninvasive, simple, and cheap test that could provide objective evidence of whether the underlying disease is organic or functional. Measuring calprotectin, a neutrophilic protein, in faeces has been proposed as a surrogate marker of intestinal inflammation. Calprotectin values have been shown to reliably differentiate between IBD and non-organic disease in symptomatic patients and, when elevated, warrant early endoscopic investigation to rule out IBD and other organic pathologies (63-5). On the other hand, the use of faecal calprotectin as a screening test substantially could reduce the number of invasive measurements necessary in the diagnostic work-up of patients with suspected IBD (63), in adults, using faecal calprotectin as a screening test in suspected IBD to decide upon the need for endoscopy would result in a 67% reduction of patients requiring endoscopy (66). Calprotectin, lactoferrin, M2-pyruvate kinase, and other faecal markers could help us in differential diagnostics as well in screening of large bowel disease, colorectal cancer and IBD.

LITERATURE:

- 1. Holland WW, Stewart S, Masseria C. Screening in Europe-Policy Brief. European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies, WHO European Centre for Health Policy 2006;1–72.
- 2. Thorner RM, Remein QR. Principles and Procedures in the Evaluation of Screening for Disease. Public Health Monograph 67, Washington, Public Health Service.1961.
- Wilson JMG, Jungner G. Principles and Practice of Screening for Disease. Geneva, World Health Organization 1968. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/86/4/07-050112bp.pdf</u>, Accessed on 20th October 2012.
- 4. Zavoral M, Suchanek S, Zavada F, Dusek L, Muzik J, Seifert B et al. Colorectal cancer screening in Europe. World J Gastroenterol 2009;15(47):5907-15.
- 5. Miller S, Steele S. Novel Molecular Screening Approaches in Colorectal Cancer. Journal of Surgical Oncology 2012;105:459-67.
- 6. Wong JL, Hawkins NJ, Ward RL. Colorectal cancer: A model for epigenetic tumorigenesis. Gut 2007;56:140-8.
- Fric P, Zavoral M, Dvorakova H, Zoubek V, Roth Z. An adapted program of colorectal cancer screening - 7 years experience and cost-benefit analysis. Hepato-gastroenterology 1994;41:413-16.
- Damery S, Smith S, Clements A, Holder R, Nichols L, Draper H et al. Evaluating the effectiveness of GP endorsement on increasing participation in the NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme in England: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials 2012;13:18. Available at: <u>http://www.trialsjournal.com/content/13/1/18</u>, Accessed on 20th October 2012.
- 9. Qaseem A, Denberg TD, Hopkins RH, Humphrey LL, Levine J, Sweet DE et al. Screening for colorectal cancer: a guidance statement from the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med 2012;156(5):378-86.
- Scholefield JH, Moss SM, Mangham CM, Whynes DK, Hardcastle JD. Nottingham trial of faecal occult blood testing for colorectal cancer: a 20-year follow-up. Gut 2012;61(7):1036-40.

- 11. Rabeneck L, Rumble RB, Thompson F, Mills M, Oleschuk C, Whibley A et al. Fecal immunochemical tests compared with guaiac fecal occult blood tests for population-based colorectal cancer screening. Can J Gastroenterol 2012;26(3):131-47.
- 12. Brenner H, Haug U, Hundt S. Inter-test agreement and quantitative cross-validation of immunochromatographical fecal occult blood tests. Int J Cancer 2010;127(7):1643-9.
- 13. Sheng JQ, Li SR, Wu ZT, Xia CH, Wu X, Chen J et al. Transferrin dipstick as a potential novel test for colon cancer screening: a comparative study with immuno fecal occult blood test. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2009;18(8):2182-5.
- 14. Chalkias A, Nikotian G, Koutsovasilis A, Bramis J, Manouras A, Mystrioti D et al. Patients with colorectal cancer are characterized by increased concentration of fecal hb-hp complex, myeloperoxidase, and secretory IgA. Am J Clin Oncol 2011;34(6):561-6.
- 15. Duffy MJ, van Rossum LG, van Turenhout ST, Malminiemi O, Sturgeon C, Lamerz R et al. Use of faecal markers in screening for colorectal neoplasia: a European group on tumor markers position paper. Int J Cancer 2011;128(1):3-11.
- 16. Levin TR, Jamieson L, Burley DA, Reyes J, Oehrli M, Caldwell C. Organized colorectal cancer screening in integrated health care systems. Epidemiol Rev 2011;33(1):101-10.
- 17. Park DI, Ryu S, Kim YH, Lee SH, Lee CK, Eun CS et al. Comparison of guaiac-based and quantitative immunochemical fecal occult blood testing in a population at average risk undergoing colorectal cancer screening. Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105(9):2017-25.
- Guittet L, Guillaume E, Levillain R, Beley P, Tichet J, Lantieri O et al. Analytical comparison of three quantitative immunochemical fecal occult blood tests for colorectal cancer screening. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2011;20(7):1492-501.
- 19. Omata F, Shintani A, Isozaki M, Masuda K, Fujita Y, Fukui T. Diagnostic performance of quantitative fecal immunochemical test and multivariate prediction model for colorectal neoplasms in asymptomatic individuals. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011;23(11):1036-41.
- 20. Park MJ, Choi KS, Lee YK, Jun JK, Lee HY. A comparison of qualitative and quantitative fecal immunochemical tests in the Korean national colorectal cancer screening program. Scand J Gastroenterol 2012;47(4):461-6.
- 21. Hol L, van Leerdam ME, van Ballegooijen M, van Vuuren AJ, van Dekken H, Reijerink JC at al. Screening for colorectal cancer: randomised trial comparing guaiac-based and immunochemical faecal occult blood testing and flexible sigmoidoscopy. Gut 2010;59(1):62-8.
- 22. van Roon AH, Wilschut JA, Hol L, van Ballegooijen M, Reijerink JC, Mannetje H et al. Diagnostic yield improves with collection of 2 samples in fecal immunochemical test screening without affecting attendance. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011;9(4):333-9.
- 23. Goede SL, van Roon AH, Reijerink JC, van Vuuren AJ, Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, Habbema JD et al. Cost-effectiveness of one versus two sample faecal immunochemical testing for colorectal cancer screening. Gut 2012; doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301917, Available at: http://gut.bmj.com/content/early/2012/04/04/gutjnl-2011-301917, Accessed on 20th October 2012.
- 24. Wilschut JA, Hol L, Dekker E, Jansen JB, Van Leerdam ME, Lansdorp-Vogelaar I et al. Costeffectiveness analysis of a quantitative immunochemical test for colorectal cancer screening. Gastroenterology 2011;141(5):1648-55.
- 25. van Rossum LG, van Rijn AF, Verbeek AL, van Oijen MG, Laheij RJ, Fockens P et al. Colorectal cancer screening comparing no screening, immunochemical and guaiac fecal occult blood tests: a cost-effectiveness analysis. Int J Cancer 2011;128(8):1908-17.
- 26. Kovarova JT, Zavoral M, Zima T, Zak A, Kocna P, Kohout P at al. Improvements in colorectal cancer screening programmes quantitative immunochemical faecal occult blood testing how to set the cut-off for a particular population. Biomed Papers 2012; 156(2):143-50.
- 27. Fraser CG, Allison JE, Halloran SP, Young GP. A Proposal to Standardize Reporting Units for Fecal Immunochemical Tests for Hemoglobin. J Natl Cancer Inst 2012; 104 (11):810-4.
- 28. Allison JE, Fraser CG, Halloran SP, Young GP. Comparing fecal immunochemical tests: improved standardization is needed. Gastroenterology 2012;142(3):422-4.

- 29. Zauber AG, Levin TR, Jaffe CC, Galen BA, Ransohoff DF, Brown ML. Implications of new colorectal cancer screening technologies for primary care practice. Med Care 2008;46:138–46.
- 30. Li BS, Wang XY, Xu AG, Ma FL, Ma QY, Li Z et al. High-Resolution Melting Assay (HRMA) is a Simple and Sensitive Stool-Based DNA Test for the Detection of Mutations in Colorectal Neoplasms. Clin Colorectal Cancer 2012; Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clcc.2012.04.001</u>, Accessed on 20th October 2012.
- 31. Ahlquist DA, Zou H, Domanico M, Mahoney DW, Yab TC, Taylor WR et al. Next-generation stool DNA test accurately detects colorectal cancer and large adenomas. Gastroenterology 2012;142(2):248-56.
- 32. Miller S, Steele S. Novel molecular screening approaches in colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2012;105(5):459-67.
- 33. Jin X, Lin M, Zhang H, Han Y, He Y, Zhang Q et al. Serum biomarkers of colorectal cancer with AU and NP20 chips including a diagnosis model. Hepatogastroenterology 2012;59(113):124-9.
- 34. Warren JD, Xiong W, Bunker AM, Vaughn CP, Furtado LV, Roberts WL et al. Septin 9 methylated DNA is a sensitive and specific blood test for colorectal cancer. BMC Med 2011;9:133.
- 35. Ahlquist DA, Taylor WR, Mahoney DW, Zou H, Domanico M, Thibodeau SN et al. The stool DNA test is more accurate than the plasma septin 9 test in detecting colorectal neoplasia. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012;10(3):272-77.
- 36. Tao S, Haug U, Kuhn K, Brenner H. Comparison and combination of blood-based inflammatory markers with faecal occult blood tests for non-invasive colorectal cancer screening. Br J Cancer 2012;106(8):1424-30.
- 37. Newton KF, Newman W, Hill J. Review of biomarkers in colorectal cancer. Colorectal Dis 2012;14(1):3-17.
- 38. Lumachi F, Marino F, Orlando R, Chiara GB, Basso SM. Simultaneous multianalyte immunoassay measurement of five serum tumor markers in the detection of colorectal cancer. Anticancer Res 2012;32(3):985-8.
- Pox C. Colon cancer screening: which non-invasive filter tests? Dig Dis 2011;29 (Supp1):56-9.
- 40. Fatela-Cantillo D, Fernandez-Suarez A, Moreno MA, Gutierrez JJ, Iglesias JM. Prognostic value of plasmatic tumor M2 pyruvate kinase and carcinoembryonic antigen in the survival of colorectal cancer patients. Tumour Biol 2012;33(3):825-32.
- 41. Li R, Liu J, Xue H, Huang G. Diagnostic value of fecal tumor M2-pyruvate kinase for CRC screening: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cancer. 2012; 131(8):1837-45.
- 42. Mubarak A, Houwen RH, Wolters VM. Celiac disease: an overview from pathophysiology to treatment. Minerva Pediatr 2012;64(3):271-87.
- 43. Kocna P, Vaníčková Z, Perušičová J, Dvořák M. Tissue Transglutaminase-Serology Markers for Coeliac Disease. Clin Chem Lab Med 2002; 40(5):485-92.
- 44. Volta U, Fabbri A, Parisi C, Piscaglia M, Caio G, Tovoli F et al. Old and new serological tests for celiac disease screening. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010;4(1):31-35.
- 45. Giersiepen K, Lelgemann M, Stuhldreher N, Ronfani L, Husby S, Koletzko S et al. ESPGHAN Working Group on Coeliac Disease Diagnosis. Accuracy of diagnostic antibody tests for coeliac disease in children: summary of an evidence report. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2012;54(2):229-41.
- 46. Lewis NR, Scott BB. Meta-analysis: deamidated gliadin peptide antibody and tissue transglutaminase antibody compared as screening tests for coeliac disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010;31(1):73-81.
- 47. Aggarwal S, Lebwohl B, Green PH. Screening for celiac disease in average-risk and high-risk populations. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2012;5(1):37-47.
- 48. Volta U, Fabbri A, Parisi C, Piscaglia M, Caio G, Tovoli F et al. Old and new serological tests for celiac disease screening. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010;4(1):31-5.
- 49. Husby S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabó IR, Mearin ML, Phillips A, Shamir R at al. European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition guidelines for the diagnosis of coeliac disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2012;54(1):136-60.

- 50. Kneepkens CM, von Blomberg BM. Clinical practice: Coeliac disease. Eur J Pediatr 2012; 171(7):1011–21.
- 51. Jiskra J, Límanová Z, Vaníčková Z, Kocna P. IgA and IgG Antigliadin, IgA Anti-tissue Transglutaminase and Antiendomysial Antibodies in Patients with Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases and Their Relationship to Thyroidal Replacement Therapy. Physiol Res 2003;52:79-88.
- 52. Vančíková Z, Chlumecký V, Sokol D, Horáková D, Hamšíková E, Fučíková T et al. The Serologic Screening for Celiac Disease in the General Population (Blood Donors) and in Some High-Risk Groups of Adults (Patients with Autoimmune Diseases, Osteoporosis and Infertility) in the Czech Republic. Folia Microbiol 2002;47(6):753-8.
- 53. Rosén A, Emmelin M, Carlsson A, Hammarroth S, Karlsson E, Ivarsson A. Mass screening for celiac disease from the perspective of newly diagnosed adolescents and their parents: a mixed-method study. BMC Public Health 2011;11:822. Available at: <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/11/822</u>, Accessed on 20th October 2012.
- 54. Bonamico M, Nenna R, Montuori M, Luparia RP, Turchetti A, Mennini M at al. First salivary screening of celiac disease by detection of anti-transglutaminase autoantibody radioimmunoassay in 5000 Italian primary schoolchildren. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2011;52(1):17-20.
- 55. Correa P, Piazuelo MB. The gastric precancerous cascade. J Dig Dis 2012;13(1):2-9.
- 56. Vannella L, Lahner E, Annibale B. Risk for gastric neoplasias in patients with chronic atrophic gastritis: A critical reappraisal. World J Gastroenterol 2012;18(12):1279-85.
- 57. Ricci C, Holton J, Vaira D. Diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori: invasive and non-invasive tests. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2007;21(2): 299-313.
- 58. Mégraud F. The most important diagnostic modalities for Helicobacter pylori, now and in the future. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012;9 (Suppl 1): S13-5.
- 59. Agréus L, Kuipers EJ, Kupcinskas L, Malfertheiner P, Di Mario F, Leja M et al. Rationale in diagnosis and screening of atrophic gastritis with stomach-specific plasma biomarkers. Scand J Gastroenterol 2012;47(2):136-47.
- 60. Leja M, Kupcinskas L, Funka K, Sudraba A, Jonaitis L, Ivanauskas A et al. The validity of a biomarker method for indirect detection of gastric mucosal atrophy versus standard histopathology. Dig Dis Sci 2009;54(11):2377-84.
- 61. Väänänen H, Vauhkonen M, Helske T, Kääriäinen I, Rasmussen M, Tunturi-Hihnala H et al. Non-endoscopic diagnosis of atrophic gastritis with a blood test. Correlation between gastric histology and serum levels of gastrin-17 and pepsinogen I: a multicentre study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2003;15:885-91.
- 62. Telaranta-Keerie A, Kara R, Paloheimo L, Härkönen M, Sipponen P. Prevalence of undiagnosed advanced atrophic corpus gastritis in Finland: an observational study among 4,256 volunteers without specific complaints. Scand J Gastroenterol 2010;45(9):1036-41.
- 63. Mindemark M, Larsson A. Ruling out IBD: Estimation of the possible economic effects of pre-endoscopic screening with F-calprotectin. Clin Biochem 2012;45(7-8):552-5.
- 64. Burri E, Beglinger C. Faecal calprotectin a useful tool in the management of inflammatory bowel disease. Swiss Med Wkly 2012;142:w13557.
- 65. van Rheenen PF, Van de Vijver E, Fidler V. Faecal calprotectin for screening of patients with suspected inflammatory bowel disease: diagnostic meta-analysis. BMJ 2010;341:c3369.
- 66. Burri E, Beglinger C. Faecal calprotectin in the diagnosis of inflammatory bowel disease. Biochem Med 2011;21(3):245-25.

3. GUIDELINES ON COLORECTAL CANCER SCREENING

Michael Neumaier

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Epidemiologically, colorectal cancer (CRC) is a leading cause in cancer mortality worldwide and, with 608.000 annual deaths, accounts for approximately 10% of all worldwide cancer casualties (1). Approximately 3.000 new CRC cases are diagnosed in Croatia every year. Of those, around 1.900 patients will die in the course of progression of the disease (2). A comprehensive national screening effort has been undertaken between 2007 and 2011. This has shown the potential to optimize prevention and early detection for the reduction of morbidity and mortality of CRC.

Guidelines are consensus instruments written by expert panels to optimize disease management based on clinical and scientific evidence. As colon tumours (and CRC) are considered to be highly curable diseases if diagnosed early, practice guidelines emphasize screening matters. There are a number of updated guidelines from various national medical societies used for decision making in screening (3-11): National Academy of Clinical Biochemistry (NACB) Laboratory Practice Guidelines on the use of tumour markers (biomarkers) in CRC based on published reports (3). In these, the use of screening markers is recommended in accordance with guidelines of other organisations. The German S3 Guideline is an extensive and current document (featuring 795 references), and its updated version has been published in 2010 (4). Very recently, the international colorectal cancer screening programs. The data presented by Benson et al (5) cover 35 eligible programs from 24 countries and present extensive information on the status of CRC screening on an international basis.

3.2 LABORATORY SCREENING FOR CRC

The screening aspects that are addressed here do not refer to recommended clinical procedures (colonoscopy, CAT scan etc.), but the laboratory methods only. There are three methodologies for laboratory screening for CRC dealt with in various guidelines: i) stool tests: fecal occult blood tests (FOBT) using different routine methods and stool DNA test for tumour mutations (sDNA), ii) concentrations of tumor-associated antigens (tumour markers) in the serum and iii) genetic predisposition testing for predictive medicine.

3.2.1 The fecal occult blood test (FOBT) in stool is the oldest method to screen for CRC. The classical guaiac (also referred to as gFOBT) colour test measuring pseudoperoxidase activity of heme has been shown to reduce mortality. There are several variants to the method, brands and protocols, in part differing significantly in their diagnostic sensitivities (see 5 and 6). While it is accepted that immunochemical variants (iFOBT) detecting human globin are more sensitive than gFOBT, this better performance is still a matter of some debate requiring studies and comparing test procedures. The National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) recommends taking three successive stool testings during a prescribed diet (7).

In recent years, nucleic acids testing has been proposed for CRC screening in stool. Specifically, targets often mutated in CRC (*kras, APC, p53, BAT-26*) have been evaluated

using sensitive PCR methods. Amplification methods yield significantly higher sensitivities and specificities, but are more complex to perform and more expensive. Direct comparison between FOBT and sDNA has been carried out some years ago (8). Most guidelines recommend using sDNA testing as an option. Finally, epigenetic markers designed to detect tumour methylation signatures in peripheral blood have been proposed recently, but have not found their way into recommendations so far.

All guidelines recommend being aware of harmful side effects as result of positive screening tests like psychological anxiety, complications during colonoscopy or the possibility of overdiagnosis. However, in the light of the natural course and progression of CRC, over-diagnosis is far less problematic as compared to other very slowly growing cancers with very high prevalence like prostate cancer. Guideline specifically warn of false negative results, while it must be said that due to low sensitivities and specificities and low prevalence, the negative predictive value can be calculated as being very high indicating that a healthy (i.e. asymptomatic and unsuspicious of disease) individual with a negative result has a greater than 95% chance of indeed being healthy.

	ASCO * (9)	EGTM (10)	NACB (3)	ESMO (11)	NCCN (7)	ACS (12)
FOBT		yes	yes		yes	yes
CEA screening	no	no	no			
CEA prognosis	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	
CEA follow-up	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	
CEA monitoring	yes	yes	yes	no	no	
FAP	yes			yes	yes	
MSI HNPCC	yes		yes	yes	yes yes	

Table 3.1Guidelines on colorectal cancer screening.

Legend: *ASCO - American Society of Clinical Oncology; EGTM - European Group on Tumor Markers; NACB - National Academy of Clinical Biochemistry; ESMO - European Society of Medical Oncology; NCCN - National Comprehensive Cancer Network; ACS - American Cancer Society; FOBT - fecal occult blood tests; CEA - Carcinoembryonic Antigen; FAP - Familial adenomatous polyposis; MSI - microsatellite instability; HNPCC - hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer.

3.2.2 The Carcinoembryonic Antigen (CEA) is the most prominent tumour marker used for diagnosis of CRC. It cannot be used for the screening of healthy individuals, as low sensitivity and low specificity leads to a high number of false positive results due to very low positive predictive values. Among other factors, CEA may be used for planning of surgical treatment. Patients with increased CEA serum concentrations should be evaluated for progressed disease or metastasis. Preoperative CEA concentrations are no decision criterion for adjuvant chemotherapy. Postoperative measurements of CEA should be done quarterly for at least 3 years. In patients with advanced CRC, CEA should be determined regularly. Increases indicate progressive disease or distant metastasis, particularly to the liver, depending on the amplitudes of the rising concentrations. Other serum markers possess an even lower performance and should not be used for routine diagnosis let alone for screening.

3.3.3 Aside from screening for somatic mutations, the genetic testing for CRC predisposition, i.e. monogenic traits or familial CRC background is recommended in the

context of human genetic counselling and should only be done in context with careful assessment of the family history. Mainly, defects from the *wnt*-signalling pathway (*APC*, *CTNNB*) for FAP or the DNA mismatch repair pathway (microsatellite instability; MSI) for HNPCC are suitable targets. Taken together, only a small number of markers can be used, although many candidates have been proposed over the years.

LITERATURE:

- 1. World Helth Organization. Media center: Cancer. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs297/en/</u>, Accessed on 15th October 2012.
- Katičić M, Antoljak N, Kujundžić M, Stamenić V, Skoko Poljak D, Kramarić D et al. Results of national colorectal cancer screening program in Croatia (2007-2011). World J Gastroenterol 2012;18(32):4300-7.
- 3. Sturgeon CM, Duffy MJ, Stenman UH, Lilja H, Brünner N, Chan DW et al. National Academy of Clinical Biochemistry laboratory medicine practice guidelines for use of tumor markers in testicular, prostate, colorectal, breast, and ovarian cancers. Clin Chem 2008;54(12):e11-79.
- 4. Schmiegel W, Pox C, Reinacher-Schick A, et al. S3 Guidelines for Colorectal Carcinoma. Z Gastroenterol 2010;48:65–136.
- 5. Benson VS, Atkin WS, Green J, Nadel MR, Patnick J, Smith RA et al. Towards standardizing and reporting colorectal cancer screening indicators on an international level: the International Colorectal Cancer Screening Network (ICRCSN). Int J Cancer 2012;130:2961–73.
- 6. Levin B, Lieberman DA, McFarland B, Smith RA, Brooks D, Andrews KS et al. Screening and surveillance for the early detection of colorectal cancer and adenomatous polyps, 2008: a joint guideline from the American Cancer Society, the US Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer, and the American College of Radiology. CA Cancer J Clin 2008;58(3):130–60.
- NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. Colorectal cancer screening. Version1. Available at: <u>http://www.nccn.org/physician_gls?PDF/colorectal_screening.pdf</u>, Accessed on 15th October 2012.
- 8. Imperiale TF, Ransohoff DF, Itzkowitz SH, Turnbull BA, Ross ME. Fecal DNA versus fecal occult blood for colorectal-cancer screening in an average-risk population. N Engl J Med 2004;351:2704-14.
- Desch CE, Benson AB 3rd, Somerfield MR, Flynn PJ, Krause C, Loprinzi CL, Minsky BD, Pfister DG, Virgo KS, Petrelli NJ; American Society of Clinical Oncology. Colorectal cancer surveillance: 2005 update of an American Society of Clinical Oncology practice guideline. J Clin Oncol 2005;23(33):8512-9.
- 10. Duffy MJ, van Dalen A, Haglund C, Hansson L, Holinski-Feder E, Klapdor R et al. Tumour markers in colorectal cancer: European Group on Tumour Markers (EGTM) guidelines for clinical use. Eur J Cancer 2007;43:1348-60.
- 11. Labianca R, Nordlinger B, Beretta GD, Brouquet A, Cervantes A; ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Primary colon cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, adjuvant treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2010;21 Suppl 5:v70-7.
- 12. Smith RA, Cokkinides V, Eyre HJ. American Cancer Society guidelines for the early detection of cancer, 2006. CA Cancer J Clin 2006;56:11-25.

26

•

4. NEW MOLECULAR DIAGNOSTIC TESTS FOR SCREENING AND MONITORING OF COLORECTAL CANCER

Michael Neumaier

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Malignant tumours regularly show a multitude of genetic and epigenetic defects and vary considerably even within given tumour entities. While they can be clinically and phenotypically very similar, they often show considerable differences at the cell or cell cluster level. This heterogeneity is believed to be the result of constant selective pressure acting on the malignant cells in context with therapeutic response or resistance. The resulting divergence of the genetic and epigenetic make-up in a tumour is the basis of biomarker-driven diagnostics either using markers with high prevalence or individual defects in the sense of "personalized medicine". Importantly, biological differences are now increasingly characterized as to their pathobiochemical importance and form the basis of molecular classifications that impact on the choice of therapeutic regimens.

Epidemiologically, colorectal cancer (CRC) is a leading cause in cancer mortality worldwide and, with 608,000 annual deaths, accounts for approximately 10% of all worldwide cancer casualties (1). In Croatia, approximately 3,000 new CRC cases are diagnosed every year with around 1,900 patients dying of the disease (2). A comprehensive national screening effort has been undertaken between 2007 and 2011. This revealed a relatively low return rate for fecal occult blood tests (17.1%) with some significant differences between the 20 Croatian counties. 6.9% of the FOB tests (n=12477) were returned positive, and subsequent colonoscopies were performed on 66% of the participants (n=8541). These revealed CRC in 5.5% (n=472) and adenomatous polyps in 39% (n=3329). Within Europe, Croatian citizens have a relatively high incidence to contract and die of the disease placing emphasis on better compliance with screening programs and the need to improve early diagnosis.

4.2 MOLECULAR TESTING FOR COLORECTAL CANCER (CRC)

It is firmly established that CRC develops from normal colon epithelium through a distinct accumulation of successive, ordered genetic and epigenetic alterations, a process termed "multistep carcinogenesis". Today these alterations can easily be identified in tumour material and also peripheral blood specimens of patients.

Most CRC are spontaneous in their occurrence, but their genetics closely resembles the defects found in rare hereditary CRC syndromes suggesting that these defects are critical for tumour development and progress in general. A major question for today's diagnostics and ist future development is, whether or not we will be able to identify genetic tumour predisposition reliably enough for prediction and prevention of full-fledged CRC.

Genetic predisposition factors for CRC show different modes of inheritance and penetrance. Firstly, monogenic defects act with high penetrance in the carriers i.e. between 70-100% will develop the cancer during early lifetimes. For example, in 2-5% and <1% of the cases, monogenic defects cause hereditary CRC termed Hereditary Non-Polypous Colorectal Cancer (HNPCC) or "Familial Adenomatous Polyposis coli" (FAP) syndromes, respectively. HNPCC is caused by defects in the DNA mismatch repair system and will lead to microsatellite instable (MSI) cancer. In contrast, the FAP is caused by defects in the *wnt*-signalling pathway (most often due to mutations in the *APC* gene) and will lead to chromosomally instable (CIN) polypous cancers. Furthermore, biallelic loss of the *MYH* gene function leads to *MHY*-associated polyposis and CRC with 100% of the carriers bearing a malignant tumour by the age of 60. Conversely, one third of the polypous CRC patients without APC defects will carry biallelic *MHY* defects. Finally, there are inherited colon tumor syndromes like the Peutz-Jeghers' disease (*LBK1* defects), juvenile polyposis (*SMAD4*, *BMPR1A* defects) or Cowden's disease (potentially *PTEN* defects) that show a CRC risk between 10-60%.

Next to these high penetrance gene defects of monogenic hereditary disease, there is a less defined bigger number of CRC genes with intermediate or low penetrance. Altogether, it is assumed that up to 35% of all CRC possess a familial genetic component identified by linkage and association studies. Many of these candidate genes still require confirmation, as their functional relevance is not understood in the disease process. Also, there are clear indications that risk alleles of intermediate or low penetrance will substantially increase the cancer risk, when accumulating in an individual. For example, recent studies independently confirm that the increasing numbers of low penetrance genes raise the CRC risk in these families significantly (3,4). While possessing 10 risk alleles was found to carry the risk of the general population, additional alleles led to substantiate risk increase by 2-5 folds. It was judged that the 10 strongest loci accounted for approximately 10% of the familial CRC risks.

Approximately 20 years ago, epigenetic silencing of gene expression by DNA hypermethylation has first been implicated in carcinogenesis of the colon and has since then been increasingly appreciated as a mechanism for very early tumour lesions. Today, it is very clear how epigenetic silencing of gene lead to the failure of tumour suppressor functions like DNA repair, leading to genetic defects in their wake that eventually cause malignant transition of the colon mucosa cells. Hypermethylation of CpG dinucleotides is a robust and stable DNA modification that can easily be tested for in DNA previously treated with high concentration of sodium-bisulfite.

COMMENT: Genetic data clearly show that different routes must be taken for the molecular diagnostics of CRC depending on individual risk. Inherited CRC requires the analysis of very few, but usually large tumour suppressor genes. In contrast, low penetrance genes are important for the polygenic risk and require analysis by larger numbers. Since a functional role often cannot be deduced, interpretation of the results will relay on bioinformatics classification algorithms to identify their significance. It can be expected that technologies like next-generation sequencing (NGS) will increase the number of potential defects reported. Epigenetics testing will become an increasingly important area of CRC diagnostics, as it allows identifying early tumour forms of not yet malignant phenotype. Epigenetic markers are comparably stable and can be tested for in the peripheral blood and other biomaterials.

4.3 MOLECULAR SCREENING AND EARLY DIAGNOSIS OF CRC

There have been numerous attempts at using molecular techniques for an advanced diagnosis in screening programs. They have met with mixed success so far. The detection of *k-ras* mutated DNA in stool samples has been performed with different techniques including Digital Melting Analysis, single base extension or allele-specific PCR and results in an increase in diagnostic sensitivity over the classical Guajak-Test for fecal occult blood (FOB) (6,7). However, these tests are expensive, require sophisticated protocols and equipment and thus have not been adapted widely.

A first test has been introduced recently allowing the analysis of *SEPT9* methylation in the peripheral blood as a means of early diagnosis of CRC. While this marker shows some sensitivity and specificity, it has all the limitations of classical serum tumour markers like CEA or CA19-9. However, it proved the point that tumour-associated methylation patterns can be revealed from circulating DNA. More recently, Lind and colleagues have screened methylation markers in order to establish a multiparametric assay for colorectal tumour development. They finally resorted to 6 markers that, when simultaneously determined, showed a combined AUC of 0.976 in the detection of adenomas and carcinomas from peripheral blood specimens (5).

COMMENT: epigenetic screening is an interesting new test modality for the detection of early tumour forms. It does not differentiate well between adenomas and CRC. However, since adenomas are precancerous lesions and discussing the low compliance (of age groups at risk) with colonoscopy programs, their early determination may help to identify colon tumours in a not yet malignant stage. Multiparametric analysis appears to be more robust to inter-individual tumour behaviour than a single marker like SEPT9.

4.4 STRATIFICATION FOR THERAPY AND DETECTION OF RELAPSE

EGFR is an important receptor conveying growth and differentiation signals to the tumour cells. Blocking this signal by using monoclonal antibodies like Cetuximab and Panitumumab is a therapy recommended for advanced CRC. Kras and braf are signal transduction molecules involved in forwarding the EFGR signal to the nucleus. Mutations of these molecules lead to an EGFR-independent downstream activation of tumour-associated growth. Antibody treatment will therefore have no therapeutic effect (8). Due to the high costs of these biologicals and their unwanted side effects, genetic testing of the kras and braf status is now mandatory to stratify patients. As 65% of the CRC with kras wildtype are resistant to EGFR-blockade, the search for additional biomarkers for stratification continues (9,10,11). Detection of CRC progression and metastasis should be an important actionable health information. Accordingly, the molecular detection of circulating tumour cells, circulating tumour DNAs or microRNAs have been evaluated starting in the early 1990s. In a recent extensive metaanalysis starting with 1864 papers, the clinical utility of various test formats including also a large body of immunochemical methods has been evaluated (12,13). Finally using 36 appropriate studies, the authors come to the conclusion that circulating tumour cells are valid targets. In an attempt to use NGS for tumour profiling and the detection of minimal residual disease, Forshew et al. have reported a special method allowing a highly sensitive targeted resequencing of a gene panel from patient plasma (14).

4.5 PERSONALIZED MOLECULAR TESTING

A promising area of molecular testing in CRC relates to grading of the tumour. The Onctype Dx or the Coloprint panels test mRNA-expression in array formats. A number of studies are on their way, but preliminary reports suggest that molecular risks for progression-free survival and metastasis can be assessed with these tests (15,16). Presently, these approaches can be seen more as means of stratification than personalized diagnostics. However, for the future we may extrapolate individual therapeutic options based on molecular profiling.

Recent additions to the diagnostic arsenal of personalized diagnostics are reports that use

NGS as an even more powerful technology to characterize individual tumour biomarkers for personalized diagnostic use. Specifically, Leary et al. have used NGS to identify the position of tumour-specific chromosomal translocation from CRC tissue. Using this information, the authors have devised patient-specific PCR tests to monitor free circulating DNA in the plasma (17).

4.6 SHORT CATALOGUE OF MOLECULAR DIAGNOSTIC TARGETS

APC: Adenomatus Polyposis Coli. Downstream Regulator of Wnt signalling pathway; gate keeper defects lead to familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP, <1% of all CRC). Chromosomally instable phenotype.

MUTYH: Mutation of the Y Homologue; MYH-associated attenuated polyposis; the MUTY protein is involved in DNA excision base repair

hMLH1, hMSH2, hMSH6, PMS2; human Mutation L Homologue 1, human Mutation S Homologue 2 & 6. Central genes of the DNA mismatch repair system. Highly penetrant genetic defects; responsible for the hereditary non-polypous colorectal cancer (HNPCC, Lynch-Syndrom; 2-5% of all CRC). Microsatellite-instable phenotype.

SEPT9; early methylation marker in the plasma; positive predictive value is low in screening situations. Being evaluated as stratification tool for colonoscopy programs.

KRAS: mutations of the kirsten-ras Protooncogen lead to activation of the ras/raf/MAP kinase pathway; important stratification marker for CRC antibody therapy.

BRAF: v-Raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homologue B1; a Serin/Threonin protein kinase influencing cell division and differentiation as part of the *kras* pathway. *Braf* mutations exclude *kras* mutations within the same tumour.

Epigenetic risk panel: **CNRIP1, INA, BEX1, FBN1** und **SNCA** are genes of different functions, whose acitivity is diminished or lost in >90% of the CRC, but in <5% of the normal mucosat.

Expression arrays: OncoType Dx Colon CancerTM measures mRNA expression levels in 7 CRC-associated genes (*BGN, INHBA, FAP, MK167, MYBL2, MYC, GADD45B*) and 5 internal control genes. Expression profiling is used for grading and to the risk for relapse and prognosis during follow-up. The test is exclusively available at Genomic Health Inc., Redwood, CA, USA

LITERATURE:

- 1. World Helth Organization. Media center: Cancer. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs297/en/</u>, Accessed on 15th October 2012.
- Katičić M, Antoljak N, Kujundžić M, Stamenić V, Skoko Poljak D, Kramarić D et al. Results of national colorectal cancer screening program in Croatia (2007-2011). World J Gastroenterol 2012;18(32):4300-7.
- 3. Niittymäki I, Kaasinen E, Tuupanen S, Karhu A, Järvinen H, Mecklin JP et al. Lowpenetrance susceptibility variants in familial colorectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2010;19(6):1478-83..
- 4. Tomlinson IPM, Dunlop M, Campbell H, Zanke B, Gallinger S, Hudson T et al. COGENT (COlorectal cancer GENeTics): an international consortium to study the role of polymorphic variation on the risk of colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 2010;102 (2):447-54.

- 5. Lind GE, Danielsen SA, Ahlquist T, Merok MA, Andresen K, Skotheim RI, et al. Identification of an epigenetic biomarker panel with high sensitivity and specificity for colorectal cancer and adenomas. Mol Cancer 2011;10:85. Available at: <u>http://www.molecular-cancer.com/content/10/1/85</u>, Accessed on 15th October 2012.
- 6. Ahlquist DA, Sargent DJ, Loprinzi CL, et al. Stool DNA and occult blood testing for screen detection of colorectal neoplasia. Ann Intern Med 2008;149:441–50.
- 7. Zou H, Taylor WR, Harrington JJ, Hussain FTN, Cao X, Loprinzi CL et al. High Detection Rates of Colorectal Neoplasia by Stool DNA Testing With a Novel Digital Melt Curve Assay. Gastroenterology 2009;136:459-70.
- 8. Di Nicolantonio F, Martini M, Molinari F, Sartore-Bianchi A, Arena S, Saletti P et al. Wildtype BRAF is required for response to panitumumab or cetuximab in metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 2008;26(35):5705-12.
- 9. Bardelli A, Siena S. Molecular mechanisms of resistance to cetuximab and panitumumab in colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(7):1254-61.
- 10. De Roock W, Claes B, Bernasconi D, De Schutter J, Biesmans B, Fountzilas G et al. Effects of KRAS, BRAF, NRAS, and PIK3CA mutations on the efficacy of cetuximab plus chemotherapy in chemotherapy-refractory metastatic colorectal cancer: a retrospective consortium analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(8):753-62.
- 11. Tie J, Lipton L, Desai J, Gibbs P, Jorissen RN, Christie M et al. KRAS mutation is associated with lung metastasis in patients with curatively resected colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(5):1122-30.
- 12. Salazar R, Roepman P, Capella G, Moreno V, Simon I, Dreezen C et al. Gene Expression Signature to Improve Prognosis Prediction of Stage II and III Colorectal Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:17-24.
- 13. Rahbari NN, Aigner M, Thorlund K, Mollberg N, Motschall E, Jensen K et al. Meta-analysis shows that detection of circulating tumor cells indicates poor prognosis in patients with colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology 2010;138:1714–26.
- 14. Forshew T, Murtaza M, Parkinson C,Gale D, Tsui DWY, Kaper F, Dawson SJ et al. Noninvasive Identification and Monitoring of Cancer Mutations by Targeted Deep Sequencing of Plasma DNA. Sci Transl Med 2012; 4(136):136ra68.
- 15. Clark-Langone KM, Sangli C, Krishnakumar J, Watson D. Translating tumor biology into personalized treatment planning: analytical performance characteristics of the Onco*type* DX[®] Colon Cancer Assay. BMC Cancer 2010;10:691. Available at: <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2407/10/691</u>. Accessed on 20th October 2012.
- Webber EM, Lin JS, Evelyn P Whitlock. Oncotype DX tumor gene expression profiling in stage II colon cancer. Application: prognostic, risk prediction. PLoS Curr. 2010 Sep 2;2. pii: RRN1177. Available at:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2940137/. Accessed on 20th October 2012.

 Leary RJ, Kinde I, Diehl F, Schmidt K, Clouser C, Duncanet C al. Development of personalized tumor biomarkers 2010;2(20):20ra14. Available at: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2858564/</u>. Accessed on 20th October 2012.
5. WHAT IS THE ROLE OF EGFR AND *RAS* PATHWAY IN COLON CANCER?

Sanja Kapitanović, Tamara Čačev

5.1 INTRODUCTION

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is one of the most common cancers and one of the leading causes of cancer related death in the Western world (1). Of all human cancers, the molecular genetic alterations in colorectal cancer are best understood. The disease arises from the accumulation of mutations in oncogenes, tumor supressor genes and MMR genes during progression from normal colon epithelium to adenoma and metastatic carcinoma (2).

Colorectal cancer represents the third most diagnosed cancer in both men and women. The majority of colon cancers (75%) are sporadic and only 25% of the patients have a family history of CRC. However, only 5-6% of CRC arise from inherited mutation high penetrant colorectal genes while the remaining of the familial form are the result from interactions between less penetrant genes and environment. (3,4).

The development of colorectal cancer is a multistep process caused by progressive accumulation of genetic and epigenetic changes that cause activation of oncogenes and/or inactivation of tumor supressor genes. The earliest trigger is the mutation of the *APC* (adenomatous polyposis coli) gene. Mutations in oncogenes (*KRAS*) and other tumor suppressor genes (*SMAD4*, *TP53*) drive tumor towards malignancy and metastasis. Alongside with gene mutations, deregulated expression of oncogenes and/or tumor suppressor genes can also occur as a consequence of epigenetic modifications of their promoters (3-7).

Improved understanding of genetic events that underline tumor development, progression and metastasis may contribute to new strategies for prevention, screening, diagnosis as well as for therapy. Survival of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer has improved over the past several decades, due to the development of new combinations of standard chemotherapy such as 5-fluorouracil, irinotecan, and oxaliplatin, as well as to the introduction of new targeted therapies. Among the available targeted therapies are two monoclonal antibodies that target the epidermal growth gactor receptor (EGFR), cetuximab and panitumumab, which have clearly demonstrated efficacy in the treatment of metastatic CRC (8,9).

Individual patient response to therapy could be very diverse, even if their disease seems similar when evaluating clinicopathological parameters. Many drugs commonly used in clinical practice show interindividual variations in efficacy, dose requirements as well as the presence of side-effects. There is increasing evidence that treatment response is dependent on the genetic background of the individuals as well as on the molecular-genetic changes in the tumor itself. The study of the genetic determinants influencing interindividual differences in drug response is known as pharmacogenetics. Knowledge about the influence of polymorphisms and mutations on drug response can be used to identify, through pretreatment genetic screening, the patients with the best chance of responding to a specific drug and those at greater risk to develope an adverse drug reaction (10,11).

In recent years the focus in this field has shifted towards the development of targeted therapies and the use of molecular analyses to identify patients most likely to respond to these therapies. The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) has become an important target of cancer therapy. For instance, the anti-epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) monoclonal

antibodies panitumumab and cetuximab have been shown to be effective therapies for metastatic colorectal cancer, but, as with most cancer therapies, not all patients derive clinical benefit from these treatments (12). Cetuximab (Erbitux®, Merck KgaA, Darmstadt, Germany) ia a chimeric mouse/human antibody targeted against the extracellular domain of the EGFR. Binding of cetuximab to the receptor prevents ligand binding, induces receptor internalization and causes a direct inhibition of the receptor tyrosine kinase activity (13,14). This in turn blocks downstream signal transduction via the PI3K/AKT and RASRAF/MAPK pathways inducing pro-apoptotic mechanisms and inhibiting cellular proliferation, angiogenesis and metastasis (15,16). As an IgG1 antibody cetuximab may also induce antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC). However, the clinical relevance of ADCC with regard to antitumor efficacy is likely to be rather low (14). Panitumumab (Vectibix, Amgen Thousand Oaks, CA, USA) is a fully human antibody which is also directed against the EGFR but being an IgG2 monoclonal antibody lacks ADCC activity (13). There has recently been an increase of interest in the relevance of several biomarkers for the selection of patients who will benefit from EGFR-targeted therapies for the treatment of colorectal cancer. Genetic analyses showed that the presence of mutations in the gene KRAS can predict lack of response and resistence to panitumumab and cetuximab in patients with metastatic CRC (13).

5.2 EGFR PATHWAY

The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is a 170 kDa transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor that is present in most epithelial tissues. It plays an important role in cell growth and function controlling several signaling pathways. EGFR also represents an important target for cancer treatment because its activation stimulates key processes involved in tumor growth and progression, including proliferation, angiogenesis, invasion, metastasis, and drug sensitivity. It is a member of the human epidermal growth factor receptor erbB/HER family of cell surface receptors tyrosine kinases, which consists of four structurally related proteins: EGFR (also called HER1/erbB1), erbB2 (HER2/neu), erbB3 (HER3) and erbB4 (HER4)(17,18). The EGFR transmembrane protein is composed of three domains: an extracellular ligand binding domain, a lipophilic transmembrane domain, and an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain. Apart from erbB2, specific ligands have been identified for each of the erbB receptors. Among these, the epidermal growth factor (EGF) and the transforming growth factor alfa (TGF α) selectively bind to the EGFR (8,12,13).

In normal cells, the EGFR signaling cascade begins with ligand activation of EGFR. Ligand binding induces conformational change and dimerization of the receptor with formation of homodimers and heterodimers, which leads to the activation of tyrosine kinase. The intracellular tyrosine kinase residues then become autophosphorylated, inducing activation of multiple signal transduction pathways including the RAS-RAF mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK), phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), Akt and phospholipase C pathways. All together, these EGFR induced signaling pathways control gene transcription, cell cycle progression, cell proliferation and survival, adhesion, angiogenesis, migration, and invasion (19).

Signaling through the EGFR pathway is a complex process that requires tight regulation. The first level of complexity is encountered at the receptor level, where are shared and lateral signaling occurs between members of the erbB family. Then there are positive and negative feedback loops built into the pathways and differential activation of transcription factors, depending upon the cell type. When this system, due to molecular genetic changes becomes unregulated it can contribute to malignant transformation and tumor progression through

increased cell proliferation, prolonged survival, angiogenesis, anti-apoptosis, invasion and metastasis (20-22).

Based on importance of the EGFR axis in colorectal cancer, drugs that interfere with various functional domains of the receptor have been developed as it is already mentioned before. Currently, two anti-EGFR monoclonal antibodies have been approved in several countries for the treatment of colorectal cancer, cetuximab and panitumumab. Both antibodies have been shown to reduce the risk of tumor progression and to improve overall survival, progression-free survival and quality of life in patients with colorectal cancer refractory to standard chemotherapy (19,23,24).

Overexpression as well as mutations of *EGFR* are found in a range of solid tumor types and have been linked to poorer outcomes. Since the EGFR is primary target of monoclonal antibodies such as cetuximab or panitumumab, it is reasonable to evaluate the predictive potential of EGFR protein expression with regard to sensitivity towards these drugs. Analyses performed by immunohistochemistry (IHC) indicate and EGFR protein expression in 60-80% of colorectal tumors. However only a small proportion of IHC positive tumors also show *EGFR* gene amplification (25) Clinical analyses have also consistently reported no correlation between the EGFR overexpression detected by IHC and response to anti-EGFR therapy (13).

Mutations of the *EGFR* gene have been reported in non small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and were linked to the clinical efficacy of tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as gefinitib. It appears, however, that *EGFR* gene mutations are rare events in colorectal cancer and have no clinical relevance with regard to the activity of anti-EGFR therapy (20,26).

5.3 KRAS AND THE EGFR PATHWAY

The *KRAS* gene encodes a 21 kDa guanosine 5'-triphosphate (GTP) binding protein at the begining of the MAPK signaling pathway, downstream of tyrosine kinase receptors including EGFR, in a complex signaling cascade involved in the development and progression of cancer. Somatic *KRAS* mutations are found in many cancers, including 40-60% of colorectal cancers, as well as in tubular and villous adenomas. The identification of *KRAS* mutations in almost 50% of adenomas suggests that this is an early event in CRC carcinogenesis. Up to 90% of activating mutations of the *KRAS* gene are detected in codons 12 and 13, but less frequently also in codon 61 and 146. With regard to codon 12/13 mutations only, 70% of mutations occur in codon 12 and 30% in codon 13 (8,27,28).

KRAS mutations, most commonly codon 12/13 missense mutations, lead to constitutive activation of the KRAS protein by abrogating GTPase activity. Because KRAS is the downstream effector of EGFR, mutations in the *KRAS* gene lead to an independent activation of the downstream signal transduction system, and that tumors with activating *KRAS* mutations do not benefit from anti-EGFR therapies. This unreguated downstream signaling as a result of *KRAS* mutation will not be blocked by antibodies that target the EGFR receptor. Not predicitve for outcome with standard chemotherapy, *KRAS* mutation status is a strong predicitive marker of resistance to EGFR targeted therapy in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *KRAS* mutations strongly predict a lack of response to anti-EGFR monoclonal antibodies cetuximab and panitumumab (29). Unfortunately at least 60% of patients with wild type KRAS gene will still not respond to anti-EGFR therapies, highlighting the need for additional biomarkers to help separate responders from nonresponders (29,30).

The *BRAF* gene encodes a serine-threonine protein kinase that is downstream of KRAS in the MAPK signaling pathway and mutations in these two genes are mutually exclusive. *BRAF* mutations occur in 5-22% of all colorectal cancers, and in 40-52% of CRC with microsatellite

instability (31,32). The most frequently reported *BRAF* mutation ia a valine-to-glutamine amino acid (V600E) substitution. Unlike *KRAS* mutations, *BRAF* mutations have an impact on prognosis and survival. Patients with a *BRAF* mutation in a microsatellite-stable CRC have significantly poorer survival than those without the mutation, but the *BRAF* status does not affect survival of patients with microsatellite-unstable tumors. *BRAF* status also predicts response to anti-EGFR tharapy. Of metastatic CRC that are found to be *KRAS* wild type at codon 12/13, 5-15% can harbour *BRAF* mutations and show resistence to anti-EGFR tharapy (20).

Analysis for mutations in both genes could identify as many as 40% of patients who have no chance of responding to this class of drugs. Retrospective studies suggest that concomitant detection of *KRAS* and *BRAF* mutations, combined with detection of mutations in two other genes (*PIK3CA* and *PTEN*), can identify up to 70% of patients who are unlikely to respond to anti-EGFR therapies (30).

The *PIK3CA* gene encodes phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), a key signal transducer in the PI3K-AKT pathway. Mutations in *PIK3CA* occur in 14-18% of CRC, and most mutations involve hotspots in exon 9 and 20 (7,20). There is a strong association between *PIK3CA* exon 9 mutations and *KRAS* mutations. As a prognostic marker, *PIK3CA* mutations are associated with shorter survival, but this effect may be limited to patients with *KRAS* wild-type tumors. As a predicitve marker, only *PIK3CA* exon 20 mutations appear to be associated with worse outcome after cetuximab therapy (33).

The *PTEN* gene encodes a protein tyrosine phosphatase enzyme (PTEN) that acts as a tumor supressor protein, dephosphorylates phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5 triphosphate (PIP3) and thereby inhibits PI3K function. Loss of PTEN results in constitutive activation of the PI3K-AKT pathway. *PTEN* mutations and loss of heterozygosity (LOH) at the *PTEN* locus have been reported in 13-18% and 17-19% of colon cancers, respectively. PTEN protein inactivation may also be a negative predictor of response to anti-EGFR therapy (20,34).

Mutations involving the EGFR axis (KRAS, BRAF, PIK3CA, PTEN) can cause its constant activation and result in continous activation of the downstream RAS, MAPK or PI3K pathways leading to uncontrolled cell proliferation, regardless of wheather the EGFR is activated or pharmacologically blocked. Such activation enhances transcription of various oncogenes, including *MYC*, *CREB*, and the gene for nuclear factor kappa B (*NF* κ B) (12,18,35) (Figure 5.1).

5.4 CONCLUSION

The EGFR signaling pathway is a complex and tightly regulated signaling network that is involved in growth, proliferation, and survival of normal cells. When this network becomes unregulated it can lead to growth, proliferation, survival and metastasis of neoplastic cells. Alterations within the EGFR signaling cascade, such as gene mutations in its downstream regulators, have been shown to contribute to colorectal carcinogenesis, but are also predictive biomarkers of anti-EGFR therapy (12,20,36).

As more biomarkers will be identified and validated predicting testing will be used more extensively in clinical decision making. Optimization of tools to predict the risk for developing cancer, to diagnose a disease at an early stage, to give a prognosis, and predict treatment response in patients, is of huge importance to the patient itself, as well as to the health professionals.



Figure 5.1 Mediator of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling and anti-EGFR antibodies. EGFR forms a homodimer after ligand activation, which results in autophosphorylation/activation of the intracellular kinase domain and a cascade of downstream signaling. Monoclonal antibodies used to treat patients with metastatic colorectal cancer including cetuximab and panitumumab bind to the extracellular domain of EGFR and inhibit signaling in some patients. Activating mutation that confer resistance to these drugs occur in *KRAS* (40%), *BRAF* (10%), *PIK3CA* (15%) and *PTEN* (25%) gene.

LITERATURE:

- 1. Kinzler, KW, Vogelstein B. Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. Cell 1996; 87: 159-70.
- 2. Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. Cancer genes and the pathways they control. Nat Med 2004;10:789-99.
- Migliore L, Migheli F, Spisni R, Coppede F. Genetics, cytogenetics and epigenetics of colorectal cancer. J Biomed Biotech 2011;Article ID 792362. Available at: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3070260/</u>. Accessed on 20th October 2012.
- 4. Jasperson KW, Tuohy TM, Neklason DW, Burt RW. Hereditary and familial colon cancer. Gastroenterology 2010;138:2044-58.
- 5. Fearon ER, Vogelstein B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 1990;61:759-67.
- 6. Berg M, Soreide K. Genetic and epigenetic traits as biomerkers in colorectal cancer. Int J Mol Sci 2011;12:9426-39.
- 7. Pritchard CC, Grady WM. Colorectal cancer molecular biology moves into clinical practice. Gut 2011;60:116-29.
- 8. Tol J, Punt CJA. Monoclonal antibodies in the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: a review. Clin Therapeut 2010;32:437-53.
- 9. Wang HL, Lopategui J, Amin MB, Patterson SD. KRAS mutation testing in human cancers: the pathologist's role in the era of personalized medicine. Adv Anat Pathol 2010;17:23-32.
- 10. Roses AD. Pharmacogenetics and the practice of medicine. Nature 2000; 405: 857-65.
- 11. Yalcin S. The increasing role of pharmacogenetics in the treatment of gastrointestinal cancers. Gastrointest Cancer Res 2009;3:197-203.
- 12. Siena S, Sartore-Bianchi A, Di Nicolantonio F, Balfour J, Bardelli A. Biomarkers predicting clinical outcome of epidermal growth factor receptor-targeted therapy in metastatic colorectal cancer. JNCI 2009;101:1308-12.
- 13. Heinemann V, Stintzing S, Kirchner T, Boeck S, Jung A. Clinical relevance of EGFR- and KRAS-status in colorectal cancer patients treated with monoclonal antibodies directed against the EGFR. Cancer Treatment Rev 2009;35:262-71.

- 14. Mendelsohn J, Baselga J. Status of epidermal growth factor receptor antagonists in the biology and treatment of cancer. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:2787-99.
- 15. Hynes NE, Lane HA. ERBB receptors and cancer: the complexicity of targeted inhibitors. Nat Rev Cancer 2005;5:341-54.
- 16. Baselga J, Arteaga CL. Critical update and emerging trends in epidermal growth factor receptor targeting in cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:2445-59.
- 17. Salomon DS, Brandt R, Ciardiello F, Normanno N. Epidermal growth factor-related peptides and their receptors in human malignancies. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 1995;19:183-232.
- 18. Yarden Y, Sliwkowski MX. Untagling the ErbB signalling network. Nat Rev Med Cell Biol 2001;2:127-37.
- 19. Van Krieken JHJM, Jung A, Kirchner T, Carneiro F, Seruca R, Bosman FT et al. KRAS mutation testing for predicting response to anti-EGFR tharapy for colorectal carcinoma: proposal for an European quality assurance program. Virchows Arch 2008;453:417-31.
- Krasinskas AM. EGFR signaling in colorectal carcinoma. Pathol Res Int 2011; Article ID 932932. Available at: <u>http://www.hindawi.com/journals/pri/2011/932932/</u>. Accessed on 20th October 2012.
- 21. Mitsudomi T, Yatabe Y. Epidermal growth factor receptor in relation to tumor development: EGFR gene and cancer. FASEB J 2010;277:301-8.
- 22. Spano JP, Fagard R, Soria JC, Rixe O, Khayat D, Milano G. Epidermal growth factor receptor signaling in colorectal cancer: preclinical dana and therapeutic perspectives. Ann Oncol 2005;16:189-94.
- 23. Ciardiello F, Tortora G. EGFR ntagonsts in cancer treatment. N Engl J Med 2008;358:1160-74.
- 24. Rocha-Lima CM, Soares HP, Raez LE, Singal R. EGFR targeting of solid tumors. Cancer control 2007;14:295-304.
- 25. Goldstein NS, Armin M. Epidermal growth factor receptor immunohistochemical reactivity in patients with American Joint Committee on cancer stage IV colon adenocarcinoma: implications for a standardized scoring system. Cancer 2001;92:1331-46.
- 26. Barber TD, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW, Velculescu VE. Somatic mutations of EGFR in colorectal cancers and glioblastomas. N Engl J Med 2004;351:2883.
- 27. Saridaki Z, Georgoulias V, Souglakos J. mechanisms of resistance to anti-EGFR monoclonal antibody treatment in metastatic colorectal cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2010;16:1177-87.
- 28. Lievre A, Bachet JB, Le Corre D, Boige V, landi B, Emile JF et al. KRAS mutation status is predictive of response to cetuximab therapy in colorectal cancer. Cancer Res 2006;66:3992-5.
- 29. Karapetis CS et al. K-ras mutations and benefit from cetuximab in advanced colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 2008;359:1757-65.
- 30. Pappou EP, Ahuja N. The role of oncogenes in gastrointestinal cancer. Gastrointest Cancer Rev 2010;Suppl 1:S2-S15.
- 31. Garnett MJ, Marais R. Guilty as charged: B-RAF is a human oncogene. Cancer Cell 2004;6:313-9.
- 32. Rajagopalan H, Bardelli A, Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Velculescu VE. RAF/RAS oncogenes and mismatch-repair status. Nature 2002; 418: article 934.
- 33. De Roock W, Claes B, Bernasconi D, De Schutter J, Biesmans B, Fountzilas G et al. Effects of KRAS, BRAF, NRAS, and PIK3CA mutations on the efficacy of cetuximab plus chemotherapy in chemotherpy-refractory metastatic colorectal cancer: a retrospective consortium analysis. Lancet Oncol 2010;11:753-62.
- 34. Wilson PM, LaBonte MJ, Lenz HJ. Molecular markers in the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. Cancer J 2010;16:262-72.
- 35. Scaltriti M, Baselga J. The epidermal growth factor receptor pathway: a model for targeted therapy. Clin Cancer Res 2006;12:5268-72.
- 36. Soulieres D, Greer W, Magliocco AM, Huntsman D, Young S, Tsao MS et al. KRAS mutation testing in the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer with anti-EGFR therapies. Curr Oncol 2010;17:S31-S40.

6. SCREENING AND CONFIRMATION OF MALABSORPTION

Zdislava Vaníčková, Petr Kocna, Tomáš Zima

6.1 INTRODUCTION

6.1.1 DEFINITION OF MALABSORPTION

Malabsorption is a failure of normal absorption of nutrients and micronutrients regarding transport, digestion or absorption of nutrients in the gut. It differs from malnutrition, which is an inadequate food intake (1,2). Malabsorption can be generalized, affecting absorption of a range of nutrients, or specific, where the absorption of only a single nutrient is impaired. Principially three mechanisms are involved in pathophysiology of malabsorption: premucosal (luminal), mucosal and postmucosal (postabsorptive). Premucosal mechanisms lead to maldigestion, mucosal and postmucosal mechanism lead to real malabsorption (1,3,4).

6.1.2 CLINICAL SYMPTOMS

Main clinical symptoms are weight loss, abdominal pain, chronic diarrhea, bloating, steatorrhea, anemia, osteopathies and neuropathies. If the process affecting absorption is mild, malabsorption may stay clinically silent, as it is compensated by bigger food intake. In more severe cases it presents by one or more signs and symptoms of the malabsorptive state. Fat malabsorption usually presents by diarrhea, steatorrhea, weight loss, reduced triceps skin-fold

Tests to seek evidence of malabsorption	Tests for course of malabsorption		
Global tests Blood count Mean erythrocyte corpuscular volume Mean erythrocyte corpuscular hemoglobin Serum iron Serum ferritin Serum cobalamin Serum and red blood cell folate Prothrombin time Plasma proteins Serum electrolytes Liver enzymes Thyroid stimulating hormone	Infection markersC-reactive proteinErythrocyte sedimentation rateImmunoglobulinsStool bacteriology/parazitology testsCeliac diseaseanti-tissue transglutaminaseanti-deamidated-gliadin antibodiesBeta caroteneCarbohydrate malabsorptionHydrogen breath tests13C substrate labeled breath tests		
Occult bleeding quantitative test in stool	Fat malabsorption 72-hour faecal fat collection Pancreatic elastase I in stool ¹³ C substrate labeled breath tests Protein malabsorption		
	Alpha1-antitrypsin clearance in stool Bowel permeability tests		

 Table 6.1 Basic laboratory tests for investigation of malabsorption

thickness, fat soluble vitamin deficiences (night blindness, dry eyes, osteomalacia and prolonged prothrombin time). Protein loss brings edema, reduced mid-arm muscle circumference, reduced creatin and creatinine: height ratio. Iron deficiency presents by glossitis, angular stomatitis and pallor; group B vitamins deficiency shows glossitis, magenta tongue, pellagra and peripheral neuropathy (1,3-7).

Major diseases involved in malabsorption are: celiac disease, Crohn's disease, lactose intolerance, small bowel lymphomas and intestinal infections, gastric and liver diseases, chronic pancreatitis, systemic diseases and neuroendocrine tumors.

Diagnosis is based on physical examination, physical history, imaging methods; routine and special laboratory tests (Table 6.1). The use of scoring systems like MUST (malnutrition universal screening tool) is advisable (4,8,9). MUST scoring system uses patient's height, weight, recent unplanned weight loss, considering effect of acute disease, to determine malabsorption risk and to manage it if present.

6.2 LABORATORY TESTS FOR MALABSORPTION

Laboratory tests can be divided according to biological material from which they are performed: blood (serum, plasma), stool and breath samples, while latter two can be assessed non-invasively and are suitable even for children and good for screening. From those pancreatic elastase I in stool is widely used to assess severity of exocrine pancreatic dysfunction and hydrogen breath tests to show suspected monosacharides and disacharides intolerance. Breath tests are summarized in Table 6.2 (10-13). In general hydrogen breath tests and ¹³C-labeled substrate breath tests can be performed. For carbohydrate malassimilation both types can be used employing lactose, fructose, sorbitol, saccharose, D-xylose and starch. Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth can be objectified by glucose, lactulose, inulin and lactoseureide as substrates are used. ¹³C-labeled substrates are of great importance in exocrine pancreatic function assessment: ¹³C-labeled substrates are of great importance in exocrine pancreatic function assessment: ¹³C-mixed triglycerides, ¹³C-triolein and other substrates are widely used. Permeability tests are sometimes performed (14,15).

Hydrogen breath tests substrates	¹³ C-breath tests substrates					
Carbohydrate malabsorption						
Lactose	¹³ C-lactose					
Fructose	¹³ C-fructose					
Sorbitol	¹³ C-starch					
Saccharose	¹³ C-saccharose					
D-xylose						
Fat malabso	orption					
	¹³ C-mixed triglycerides ¹³ C-triolein					
Small intestinal bacte	erial overgrowth					
Glucose	¹³ C-D-xylose					
Lactulose	¹³ C-glycocholate					
Orocaecal transit tim	ne measurement					
Lactulose	¹³ C-lactoseureide ¹³					
Inulin						

 Table 6.2
 Breath tests used in malabsorption screening and diagnosis.

6.3 NORMAL BOWEL PHYSIOLOGY

Normal absorption relies on multiple processes, some starting as soon as food is seen, smelt and tasted. Chewing starts the physical transformation of food and secretions from the salivary glands, stomach, pancreas, liver and intestine dissolve components of the meal and lubricate its passage. Coordinated muscle function is needed to swallow the bolus, gastric motility is crucial for mixing food in the stomach and emptying the semi-liquid chyme into duodenum. Intestinal peristalsis propels and mixes nutrients during digestion and absorption. These processes are controlled by nerves and hormones (16,17). Reabsorption of secreted water, electrolytes and bile acids takes place in the distal intestine. Bacterial action releases some further nutrients that can be absorbed in the colon (4).

For adequate digestion exocrine secretion of enzymes is essential. Digestive enzymes are also present on brush-border apical membrane and cytoplasm of the enterocyte. Main enzymes involved in digestion of macronutrients are shown in Table 6.3 (4,18,19).

Proteolytic enzymes are produced as inactive precursors and intestinal brush-border enterokinase activates trypsinogen to trypsin, which then activates other pancreatic proteases. Important non-enzymatic secretions are hydrochloric acid from the stomach (stomach enzymes better work at lower pH) and bicarbonate present in pancreatic juice and bile (intestinal enzymes prefer alkali pH). Bile acids and phospholipids from the liver form micelles with ingested lipids and improve their absorption.

Site	Carbohydrates	Proteins	Lipids
Salivary glands	Salivary amylase		
Stomach		Pepsins	Gastric lipase
Pancreas	Pancreatic amylase	Trypsin Chymotrypsin Elastase Carboxypeptidases	Lipase Colipase Phospholipase Cholesterol esterase
Intestine	Orocaecal transit Sucrase Lactase Maltase	Enterokinase Aminopeptidases Endopeptidases Oligopeptidases Dipeptidylpeptidase	

 Table 6.3
 Enzymatic digestion of macronutrients.

Water absorption is regulated by absorption of major electrolytes (sodium, chloride). Sodium is co-transported with many other nutrients (glucose, amino acids), in ileum and colon specific mechanisms of sodium and chloride ions absorption exist.

Carbohydrates are relatively easily digested. Monosacharides are absorbed in duodenum and upper jejunum rapidly. Sucrose is split by sucrase to glucose and fructose. Lactose, the milk sugar, is broken down by lactase to galactose and glucose. Starches are longer to digest and absorb, dietary fiber precedes through small intestine almost unchanged (4,20).

For protein digestion numerous enzymes are present in brush-border membrane; after full or partial digestion amino acids, dipeptides, tripeptides and oligopeptides are absorbed and further digestion proceeds in the enterocyte cytoplasm (4,21).

Triglycerides and phospholipids are not completely digested but absorbed as monoglycerides and lysophospholipids together with free fatty acids. Cholesterol esters are digested to cholesterol and fatty acids. Inside the enterocyte are re-esterified and apolipoproteins synthesis takes place. These are incorporated into chylomicrons and very low-density lipoproteins and secreted at the basolateral enterocyte membrane (4,22).

Minerals, vitamins and other micronutrients usually have specific absorptive transport mechanisms. Iron and calcium are more soluble in acidic conditions and are absorbed in proximal intestine. Cobalamin has to be bond with stomach intrinsic factor and has limited region of absorption in the terminal ileum (23-25). Conjugated bile acids are reabsorbed (26).

6.4 GENERALIZED MALABSORPTION VERSUS SPECIFIC MALABSORPTION STATES

6.4.1 GENERALIZED MALABSORPTION

Generalized malabsorption commonly results from small intestine diseases, but pancreatic diseases and other organ diseases can be involved. Major intestinal findings are summarized in Table 6.4.

Condition	Mechanisms
Short bowel syndrome	Loss of absorptive area Loss of digestive enzymes
	Rapid transit
Celiac disease	Reduced absorptive area due to villous atrophy Reduced enterocyte digestive enzymes
	Impaired intestinal hormonal secretion
Crohn's disease	Loss of functioning intestinal area
	Bypassed gut Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth
Lactose intolerance	Normal genetic non-persistence of lactase Secondary forms from mucosal injury
Bile acid malabsorption	Secondary to impaired bile acids reabsorption Overproduction in primary bile acids diarrhea
Infections	Reduced brush border enzymes Metabolic effects on enzyme and nutrients Villous atrophy, lymphangiectasia

Table 6.4	Mechanisms of intestinal malabsorption.
	meenumbring of meesting manageorphon.

Short bowel syndrome

Short bowel syndrome occurs when there is insufficient functioning bowel to meet individual's needs for macronutrients, salt and water from an ordinary diet, without artificial supplementation. This usually occurs when less than 200 cm of functioning bowel remains. The most common causes in children are congenital disorders and volvulus resulting in small bowel resection, in adults these are Crohn's disease and mesenteric vascular occlusion (1,4).

Coeliac disease

Celiac disease is chronic autoimmune condition in genetically susceptible individuals triggered by dietary gluten. There is a wide scale of disease severity: from clinically silent to severe malabsorption. Concomitant anemia and osteoporosis are usual, small intestine lymphomas and adenocarcinomas are rare. Association with other autoimmune diseases like

type 1 diabetes mellitus (27) and autoimmune thyreopathies is described (28). Diagnostically anti-tissue transglutaminase (IgG tTGA) and anti deamidated-gliadin (IgG DGP) plasma antibodies are recommended, and small bowel biopsy is performed.

Crohn's disease

Crohn's disease is a chronic inflammatory bowel disease that can affect any part of digestive tract; small bowel is involved in 70% of cases. Genetic susceptibility plays an important role. Major features in pathogenesis are gut microflora, mucosal permeability and host immunity. Malnutrition in Crohn's disease is multifactorial: anorexia, increased energy expenditure and reduced intestinal absorption. In patients with extensive small bowel involvement, picture similar to short bowel syndrome occurs, both macro- and micronutrients being malabsorbed together with imbalances in water and electrolyte metabolism. Terminal ileum is involved often; therefore cobalamin and bile acids are malabsorbed.

Laboratory tests include routine tests and special antibodies determination: pANCA (perinuclear anti-neutrophil antipody) and ASCA (anti-Saccharomyces cervisiae antipody). Colonoscopy and imaging methods are being involved (4,6,29).

Whipple's disease

Whipple's disease is a systemic disease caused by Gram-positive bacterium Tropheryma whipplei. Except of bowel disease affects joints, nervous and cardiovascular systems. Due to blocked lymphatics mostly postabsorptive malabsorption is present. Diagnosis is based on typical histological findings in small bowel biopsy: lamina propria populated by periodic acid-Schiff-positive foamy macrofages, PCR analysis is available (1).

Other infectious causes

Acute or chronic infection underlies many cases of malabsorption in developing world; similar conditions may affect travelers to such countries.

Acute tropical sprue follows acute (mostly viral) infections; chronic tropical sprue is probably associated with chronic bacterial infection of the upper gastrointestinal tract. Generalized malabsorption is often combined with specific folate malabsorption; diagnosis is made upon histology in small bowel biopsy.

Giardiasis is caused by upper small intestine colonization by trophozoite Giardia lamblia. Once established infestation by these leaf shaped microorganisms covering intestinal mucosa causes malabsorption by barrier effect, down regulation of brush-border enzymes is also present. Diagnosis is made from histological and microbiological observation in small bowel biopsy sample (1).

6.4.2 CARBOHYDRATE MALABSORPTION

Lactose intolerance

Lactose intolerance is most common type of malabsorption in Europe. Mucosal lactase concentrations are highest at birth and are essential for the absorption of energy from milk monosacharides. Lactase levels decrease following weaning during childhood in most populations (lactase non-persistance) resulting in intolerance of dairy products. Congenital defects are rare, secondary deficiency accompanies mucosal injury – like in celiac disease, giardiasis and radiation therapy. Undigested lactose reaches the colon where it is metabolized by bacteria, producing hydrogen, methane, and short chain fatty acids – this leads to symptoms of bloating, cramping and diarrhea. Diagnosis is based upon clinical findings,

exposition tests, hydrogen breath test, rapid test from biopsy and histology of small bowel sample (20,30-38).

Fructose intolerance

In general, fructose is less well absorbed than glucose and galactose. Malabsorption can be explained by low-capacity of carrier mediated facilitated diffusion, consumption of fructose without glucose and amino acids present in the same meal. In diagnosis, exposition and hydrogen breath tests are generally used (13,20,39).

6.4.3 FAT MALABSORPTION

Fat digestion and absorption is complex process with many organs involved, but chronic exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and lack of bile acids together with short bowel syndrome are the major causes of fat malabsorption. Tests available to uncover fat malabsorption are 72-hour fecal fat collection and fecal fat assessment (in Europe almost not used due to low compliance of patients and laboratories) and pancreatic elastase I in stool determination.

6.4.4 PROTEIN MALABSORPTION AND PROTEIN LOSING ENTEROPATHY

Protein losing enteropathies leading to protein malabsorption are rather the syndrome than single disease itself. Patient presents by hypoproteinemia and edemas in the absence of proteinuria, defects in protein synthesis or protein malnutrition. According to the type of mucosal alteration protein loosing enteropathy can be classified into three groups:

Mucosal ulceration occurs in ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease, gastrointestinal carcinomas or peptic ulcer. *Non-ulcerated mucosa with evidence of altered permeability* is represented by celiac and Whipple's diseases and colagenous colitis. *Lymphatic dysfunction* presents either primary lymphatic disease or secondary to partial lymphatic obstruction.

Laboratory diagnosis is performed using alph1-antitrypsin clearance test from stool or tests using radio-labeled proteins (Gordon's test) (40).

6.4.5 MALABSORPTION OF SPECIFIC NUTRIENTS

Iron

Malabsorption is just one of the causes of iron deficiency, others are dietary inadequacy and low bioavailability, increased demands (childhood) and increased looses (cow's milk enteropathy, menstruation, hook worm infection, bleeding from polyps and tumors, Crohn's diesease). Iron intestinal malabsorption itself usually accompanies protein energy malnutrition where mostly mucosal mechanism is involved (24).

Vitamins

Thiamine (vitamin B_1) malabsorption occurs in states with diarrhea, dysentery, tropical sprue, ulcerative colitis. In some food are present thermo-labile thiaminases (raw fish) and thermo-stabile polyhydroxyphenols (coffee, tea, red cabbage, blueberries, blackcurrants etc.) that can impede thiamine absorption.

Riboflavine (vitamin B_2) absorption is decreased by deficiency of bile salts in patients with cirrhosis or hepatitis; biliary absorption increases when vitamin is taken together with food. Alcohol ingestion interferes with the absorption of dietary riboflavin by inhibiting the hysrolysis of food flavins to riboflavins as well as inhibiting its active transport mechanisms.

Vitamin B_6 (pyridoxol, pyridoxine, pyridoxamin vitaminers) in food is present as vitaminers phosphate. Prior absorption it has to be dephosphorylated by means of a membrane-bound alkaline phosphatase present in intestinal brush border (23).

Cobalamin (vitamin B_{12}) in nature is synthetsized exclusively by microorganisms and is present in animal but not plant products. Food cobalamin is attached to proteins and heating, gastric pepsin and hydrochloric acid action makes is available for binding to R-protein, from which it is released in the jejunum by pancreatic proteases, cobalamin binds to intrinsinic factor and proceeds to ileum where the complex has specific receptor. Main causes leading to malabsorption are pancreatic insufficiency and disease of the ileal region (Crohn's disease, Whipple's disease) (23,25). Diagnostically Schilling's test or novel ¹³C labeled breath test can be performed (41).

Vitamin C is found almost exclusively in foods of plant origin. Gastrointestinal absorption of vitamin is fast and efficient, active carrier-mediated system has been described. With adequate intake malabsorptive states are extremely rare.

Fat soluble vitamins (A,D,E,K) are hydrophobic substances dissolved in the upper portion of gastrointestinal tract in the lipid phases and emulsions. Pancreatic lipase binds to the surface of fat droplets and catalyzes fat digestion; mixed micelles are formed, with the lipid core containing fat soluble vitamins. These micelles are small enough to gain close proximity to the microvillar surfaces of the intestinal mucosa and facilitating diffusion of fat soluble vitamins across enterocyte membrane. All fat soluble vitamins absorption can be affected by cholestasis, cystic fibrosis, chronic diarrhea, pancreatic insufficiency, Crohn's disease, small bowel resection, jejunal bypass and celiac disease (23).

Bile acids

Bile acids circulate in the neterohepatic circulation 4-6 times per day. Secondary malabsorption occurs when resected or diseased segment of terminal ileum reduces the proportion of reabsorbed bile acids, these then pass into the colon where they produce water and electrolyte secretion leading to diarrhea. When the pool of bile acids is significantly depleted, emulsification of fat in the small bowel is reduced, leading to fat malabsorption (4,40). Bile acids malabsorption can be investigated by selenium-75-homocholic acid taurine scans (26).

6.5 CONCLUSION

There are many diverse causes of malabsorption. Treatment depends on understanding mechanisms of malabsorption involved, identifying the cause by means of laboratory and imaging methods based tests and procedures and giving specific therapy where possible and available.

This artical is in the scope of the RVO-VFN64165/2012 and research programme of the Charles Unversity Prague PRVOUK-P25/LF1/2.

LITERATURE:

- 1. Hodgson HJF, Epstein O. Malabsorption. Medicine 2007;35(4):220-5.
- 2. Crocella L, Rocca R, Daperno M, Migliardi M, Pera A. Bowel malabsorption. Immunoanalyse et biologie specialisee 2008;23:224-9.
- 3. Ebert EC. Maldigestion and Malabsorption. Disease-a-Month 2001;47(2):47-68.

- 4. Nolan JD, Johnston IM, Walters JRF. Physiology of malabsorption Surgery 2012;30(6):268-74.
- 5. Hoffmann JC, Zeitz M. Small bowel disease in the elderly: diarrhea and malabsorption. Best Practice and Research Clinical Gastroenterology 2002;16(1):17-36.
- 6. Vaisman N, Dotan I, Halack A, Niv E. Malabsorption is a major contributor to underweight in Crohn's disease patients in remission. Nutrition 2006;22:855-9.
- 7. Ginsburg PM, Janefalkar P, Rubin DT, Ehrenpreis ED. Malabsorption Testing: A Review. Current Gastroenterology Reports 2000;2:370-7.
- 8. Lamb CA, Parr J, Lamb EIM, Warren MD. Adult malnutrition screening, prevalence and management in a United Kingdom hospital: cross-sectional study. British Journal of Nutrition 2009;102:571-5.
- 9. BAPEN. Malnutrition universal screening tool. Available at: <u>http://bapen.org.uk</u>, Accessed on 1 June 2012.
- 10. Braden B. Methods and Functions: Breath tests. Best Practice and Research Clinical Gastroenterology 2009;23:337-52.
- 11. Ritchie BK, Brewster DR, Davidson GP, Tran CD, McNeil Y, Hawkes JS, Butler RN. 13C-Sucrose Breath Test: Novel Use of a Noninvasive Biomarker of Environmental Gut Health. Pediatrics 2009;124:620-6.
- 12. Teitelbaum JE, Ubhrani D. Triple sugar screen breath hydrogen test for sugar intolerance in children with functional abdominal symptoms. Indian Journal of Gastroenterology 2010;29:196–200.
- 13. Rao SSC, Attaluri A, Anderson L, Stumbo P. The Ability of Normal Small Intestine to Absorb Fructose: Evaluation by Breath Testing. Clinical Gatroenterology and Hepatology 2007;5(8):959-63.
- 14. Hessels J, Snoeyink EJ, Platenkamp AJ, Voortman G, Steggink J, Eidhof HH. Assessment of intestinal permeability: enzymatic determination of urinary mannitol, raffinose, sucrose and lactose on Hitachi analyzer. Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine 2003;41:33-8.
- 15. Kohout P, Cerman J, Bratova M, Zadak Z. Small Bowel Permeability in Patients With Cytostatic Therapy. Nutrition 1999;15:546-9.
- 16. Cortina G, Smart CN, Farmer DG, Bhuta S, Treem WR, Hill ID Martin MG. Enteroendocrine cell dysgenesis and malabsorption, a histopathologic and immunohistochemical characterization. Human Pathology 2007;38:570-80.
- 17. Ohsie S, Gerney G, Gui D, Kahana D, Martin MG, Cortina G. A paucity of colonic enteroendocrine and/or enterochromaffin cells characterizes a subset of patients with chronic unexplained diarrhea/malabsorption. Human Pathology 2009;40:1006-14.
- 18. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, Thiesen A, Clandinin MT, Ropeleski M, Wild GE. Small Bowel Review–Normal Physiology Part1. Digestive Diseases and Sciences 2001; 46(12):2567-87.
- 19. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, Thiesen A, Clandinin MT, Ropeleski M, Wild GE. Small Bowel Review–Normal Physiology Part 2. Digestive Diseases and Sciences 2001; 46(12):2588-607.
- 20. Born P. The clinical impact of carbohydrate malabsorption. Arab Journal of Gastroenterology 2011;12:1-4.
- 21. Airinei G, Gaudichon C, Bos C, Bon C, Kapel N, Bejou B et al. Postprandial protein metabolism but not fecal test reveals protein malabsorption in patients with pancreatic exocrine insufficiency. Clinical Nutrition 2011;30:831-7.
- 22. Wouthuyzen-Bakker M, Bodewes FAJA, Verkade HJ. Persistant fat malabsorption in cystic fibrosis; lessons from patients and mice. Journal of Cystic Fibrosis 2011;10:150-8.
- 23. Basu TK. Intestinal absorption in health and disease: micronutrients. Best Practice and Research Clinical Gastroenterology 2003;17(6):957-79.
- 24. Pettit K, Rowley J, Brown N. Iron deficiency. Pediatrics and Child Health 2011; 21(8):339-43.
- 25. Carmel R. Malabsorption of food cobalamin. Bailliere's Clinical Haematology 1995;8(3):639-55.
- 26. Borghede MK, Schlutter JM, Agnholt JS, Christensen LA, Gormsen LC, Dahlerup JF. Bile acid malabsorption investigated by selenium-75-homocholic acid taurine (⁷⁵SeHCAT) scans: Causes and treatment responses to cholestryramine in 298 patients with chronic watery diarrhea. European Journal of Internal Medicine 2011;22:e137-e140.

- 27. Prázný M, Skrha J, Límanová Z, Vanícková Z, Hilgertová J, Prázná J et al. Screening for associated autoimmunity in type 1 diabetes mellitus with respect to diabetes control. Physiological Research 2005;54(1):41-8.
- 28. Jiskra J, Limanova Z, Vanickova Z, Kocna P. IgA and IgG antigliadin, IgA anti-tissue transglutaminase and antiendomysial antibodies in patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases and their relationship to thyroidal replacement therapy. Physiological Research 2003;52(1):79-88.
- 29. Forbes A, Goldesgeyme E, Paulon E. Nutrition in inflammatory bowel disease. Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition 2011;35:571-80.
- 30. Valois S, Rising R, Duro D, Cole C, Cedillo M, Lifshitz F. Carbohydrate malabsorption may increae daily energy requirements in infants. Nutrition 2003;19: 832-6.
- 31. Fernandez-Banarez F, Rosinach M, Esteve M, Forne M, Espinos JC, Viver JM. Sugar mamabsorption in functional abdominal bloating: A pilot study on long-term effect of dietary treatment. Clinical Nutrition 2006;25:824-31.
- 32. Castiglione F, Di Girolamo E, Ciacci C, Caporaso N, Pasquale L, Cozzolino A, Tortora R, Testa A, Rispo A. Lactose malabsorption: Clinical or breath test diagnosis. European e-Journal of Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism 2008;3:e316-e320.
- 33. Lomer MC, Parkes GC, Sanderson JD. Review article: lactose intolerance in clinical practice myths and realities. Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapy 2009;27:93-103.
- 34. Casellas F, Aparici A, Casaus M, Rodriguez P, Malagelada JR. Subjective perception of lactose intolerance does not always indicate lactose malabsorption. Clinical Gastroenterology and hepatology 2010;8:581-6.
- 35. Genetic test for lactase non-persistence and hydrogen breath test: Is genotype better than phenotype to diagnose lactose malabsorption? Digestive and Liver Disease 2009; 41:474-9.
- 36. Shaukat A, Levitt MD, Taylor BC, MacDonald R, Shamliyan TA, Kane RL, Wilt TJ. Systematic Review: Effective Management Strategies for Lactose Intolerance. Annals of Internal Medicine 2010;152:797-803.
- 37. Koetse HA, Vonk RJ, Gonera-De Jong GBC, Priebe MG, Antoine J-M, Stellaard F, Sauer PJJ. Low lactase activity in small-bowel biopsy specimen: Should dietary lactose intake be restricted in children with small intestinal mucosal damage? Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology 2006;41:37-41.
- 38. Jellema P, Schellevis FG, van der Windt DAWM, Kneepkens CMF, van der Horst HE. Lactose malabsorption and intolerance: a systematic review on the diagnostic value of gastrointestinal symptoms and self-reported milk intolerance. Quarterly Journal of Medicine 2010;103:555-72.
- 39. Shepherd SJ, Gibson PR. Fructose malabsorption and symptoms of irritable bowel syndrome: guidelines for effective dietary management. Journal of the Americal Dietetic Association 2006:106:1631-9.
- 40. Schulzke JD, Troger H, Amasheh M. Disorders of intestinal secretion and absorption. Best Practice and Research Clinical Gastroenterology 2009;23:395-440.
- 41. Wagner DA, Schatz R, Coston R, Curington C, Bolt D, Toskes PP. A new ¹³C breath test to detect vitamin B12 deficiency: a prevalent and poorly diagnosed health problem. Journal of Breath Research 2011;5 (4):046001. Available at:

http://iopscience.iop.org/1752-7163/5/4/046001/. Accessed on 20th October 2012.

7. NEW TRENDS IN THE CLASSIFICATION AND DIAGNOSIS OF EATING DISORDERS

Janet Treasure, Ertimiss Eshkevari, Valentina Cardi

7.1 INTRODUCTION

7.1.1, INTRODUCTION TO THE CONTROVERSIES IN SYSTEMS OF CATEGORISATION

The taxonomy of psychiatric disorders is under scrutiny as both the World Health Organisation International Classification of Diseases (WHO ICD) and the American Psychiatric Association Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) are being revised. There are questions as to whether this form of categorical approach remains appropriate for psychiatry in the twenty first century. Ideally a system of categorisation links causes and potential treatments. It is uncertain whether the current or proposed eating disorder categorisation fulfils this aim and captures scientifically valid and clinically distinct syndromes using the developing neuroscience information base (1,2).

7.1.2 LIMITATIONS OF THE CATEGORICAL APPROACH TO EATING DISORDERS

7.1.2.1 Eating Disorder Symptoms: fluctuations and migration between syndromes

There are also particular problems within the classification of eating disorders. Cultural changes in eating, exercise behaviours and food production, technology and distribution have led changes in body weight and meal patterns as evidenced by the increasing prevalence of obesity and abnormal eating behaviours (1-7). Both dietary restriction and binge eating (with or without compensatory strategies such as vomiting or excess exercise) can cause large fluctuations in weight and impact on social and emotional functioning. Symptoms such as these now present across a broader diagnostic spectrum than the classical presentation of eating disorders as anorexia nervosa (AN) or bulimia nervosa (BN). For example, abnormal eating patterns or attitudes are common in bipolar disease (8) or Aspergers (9).

Another problem with the categorical approach for eating disorders is that some of the symptoms and behaviours change within an individual over time. For example, it is common for AN to evolve into BN or binge eating disorder (BED)(2,3). Moreover over time people with BN develop addictions and people with BED develop obesity. Therefore, it is possible that an approach which includes underlying quantitative traits may be of more value for categorisation.

7.2 COMORBIDITY AND TRANSDIAGNOSTIC APPROACHES

In the period leading up to the changes in the DSM, a variety of suggestions were made relating to associations between eating disorders and other forms of psychopathology. For example, one idea was to consider AN within the obsessive compulsive disorders spectrum (10-12). An allied idea was that AN could be considered within the autistic spectrum of disorders (13,14). This concept has been revisited and it was concluded that a subgroup of patients may have autistic spectrum disorder neurodevelopmental traits, but that for the majority these occur as a secondary consequence of starvation (15). In addition it has been argued that eating disorders should be categorised within the anxiety set of disorders (16). Yet another proposition was to include obesity as an eating disorder. The idea for this was based

upon similarities in the neural circuits in obesity to those found in the addictions (17). However, a literature review was not supportive of this latter proposition (18). Nevertheless, there is increasing evidence to support the idea that binge eating may be a form of addictive behaviour (19-21). These ideas for a broader transdiagnostic categorisation would fit within a system that would use a dimensional approach to categorisation of eating disorders by registering shared underlying traits that are common to other categories of mental illness.

7.3 THE NOT OTHERWISE SPECIFIED CATEGORY

The fundamental premise of the validity of the categorical approach is clinical utility. Therefore the system has to be usable, reliable and predictive of the course, complications and treatment response. In the DSM IV there were three categories of eating disorders, AN, BN, and eating disorder not otherwise specified (EDNOS) (the latter included, binge eating disorder, purging disorder and night eating syndrome) and also a section of feeding disorders in children. A major problem with this system was that over 50% of the eating disordered population presenting for treatment fell into the EDNOS category. This problem with a lack of specificity meant that one of the aims of the next phase of categorisation in DSM 5 was to reduce the size of the non-specified category.

7.4 THE PROPOSED CHANGES INTO DSM5

The process of revising the DSM 5 categories involved commissioning 13 literature reviews published and freely available in a 2009 edition of the International Journal of Psychiatry. The preliminary recommendations were published in 2010 on the DSM 5 web site (www.dsm5.org). In order to reduce the size of the EDNOS category several changes have been proposed for eating disorders in DSM 5.

7.4.1 ANOREXIA NERVOSA (AN)

The criteria used to define AN have been changed so that they are clearer and more broadly applicable.

Criteria A: restriction of energy intake relative to requirements leading to a significantly low body weight in the context of age, sex, developmental trajectory, and physical health. Significantly low weight is a weight that is less than minimally normal, or, for children and adolescents, less than that minimally expected.

Criteria B: intense fear of gaining weight or becoming fat, or persistent behavior that interferes with weight gain, even though at a significantly low weight

Criteria C: disturbance in the way in which one's body weight or shape is experienced, undue influence of body shape or weight on self-evaluation, or persistent lack of recognition of the seriousness of current low body weight"

Criteria D: this criteria (the need for amenorrhoea) has been dropped.

7.4.2 BULIMIA NERVOSA (BN)

There has been very little change in the criteria for BN. The key change has been broadening criteria by reducing the requirement of two binges per week for diagnosis, to only one per week: "The binge eating and inappropriate behavior both occur, on average, at least once a

week for three months". The other change is that sub-typing into purging and non purging categories has been dropped.

7.4.3 BINGE EATING DISORDER

This category has been moved from the appendix into the main section. The duration and frequency of binges has been changed in order to produce parity with BN: "The binge eating occurs, on average, at least once a week for 3 months"

7.4.4 CHILDHOOD FEEDING DISORDERS

The childhood feeding disorders, such as pica and rumination disorders, are subsumed into the DSM5 feeding and eating disorders category. Avoidant/Restrictive Food Intake Disorder (ARFID) replaces feeding disorder of infancy and early childhood in order to provide more specificity.

7.4.5 FEEDING AND EATING CONDITIONS NOT ELSEWHERE CLASSIFIED (FEC-NEC)

Feeding and Eating Conditions Not Elsewhere Classified (FEC-NEC) will replace the term eating disorders not otherwise specified (EDNOS) and will contain the following subcategories.

- Atypical Anorexia Nervosa
- Sub threshold Bulimia Nervosa
- Sub threshold Binge Eating Disorder
- Purging Disorder
- Night Eating Syndrome

In summary the provisional recommendations for the DSM 5 Feeding and Eating disorders category will include the following categories:

- Pica
- Rumination Disorder
- Avoidant/Restrictive Food Intake Disorder
- Anorexia Nervosa
- Bulimia Nervosa
- Binge Eating Disorder
- FEC-NEC

7.4.6 ICD 11

The task force for updating the ICD form of classification is currently meeting. One aim is dissolve divisions between childhood and adult types of disorder and other aims include to ensure that different cultural presentations of illness are recognised. For example fear of obesity (laparophobia) is not a universal sign of AN and in other cultures the individual may present with subjective complaints of epigastric pain, gastritis, and bloating.

7.5 DIMENSIONAL APPROACHES TO CATEGORISATION

It has been argued that quantitative traits may be more useful than categorical taxons in psychiatry. One argument to support this approach is the high level of comorbidity for most disorders with personality and developmental disorders and other axis one disorders. Within the US the NIMH has launched the research domain RDoC project

(http://www.nimh.nih.gov/research-funding/rdoc/nimh-research-domain-criteria-rdoc.shtml).

This aims to move psychiatric diagnosis from the use of categories onto a system that reflects the organisation of neural circuits and their associated behaviours. An additional aim of this project is to improve translation of basic science into new treatments. This is an integrative approach with a dimensional approach to genetic, neural and behavioural features. It consists of a matrix of 5 domains of functioning (positive valence, negative, cognitive, social and arousal systems) with a variety of constructs within them and seven units of analysis: genes, molecules, cells, circuits, physiology, behavior and self report. This system at the moment is "work in progress" and expert workshops are being held to consolidate the ideas (Table 7.1).

Domains	Gene	Mol	Cell	Circuit	Physiology	Behaviour	Self Report	Comment
Positive Valence				+		+	+	Differences between binge & restriction
Negative Valence						+	+	State effects
Social				+		+	+	State effects
Cognition				+		+	+	Differences between binge & restriction
Arousal					+			

Table 7.1 A grid summarising Research Domain Criteria (NIMH) Eating Disorders.

7.5.1 APPLYING RESEARCH DOMAIN CRITERIA TO EATING DISORDERS.

In the following section we summarise the evidence for abnormalities within each construct citing systematic reviews wherever possible. The neuroscience literature in eating disorders is an area of rapid growth and the aim is not to synthesis all of the available literature but rather to explore what a dimensional framework might have to offer in terms of structuring research and clinical work.

7.5.2 POSITIVE VALENCE

A variety of constructs have been delineated within the positive valence domain. These include approach motivation in which there are sub categories such as reward, valuation, effort valuation/willingness to work, expectancy, action selection (preference based decision making). The following constructs describe the processes after reward consummation and include the initial response to reward attainment, the longer term response to reward attainments, followed by reward learning and habit formation.

Many of these constructs have been studied in eating disorders using self report, behaviour and neural circuit paradigms. A systematic review of this construct concluded mainly based on the self report literature that people with restrictive AN had reduced approach to reward whereas the opposite was the case for people with BN (22). Scanning paradigms suggest that people with BN may have greater activation to anticipation (approach motivation) to reward but less activation to consummation (taste) of the reward (23). However the response to food anticipation has been variable even in studies in the same group (24). The differentiation between the subsets of constructs with the positive valence domain may help synthesise the literature. It is probable that biological underpinning either over or loss of control of eating can be delineated.

7.5.3 NEGATIVE VALENCE

The constructs defined within the negative valence system include, acute threat (fear), potential harm (anxiety), sustained threat, frustrative non reward and loss. A systematic review of sensitivity to punishment and anxiety concluded mainly from self report data that this construct was relevant to all form of eating disorder (22). Indeed a shared conceptualisation of anxiety and eating disorders has been developed (16). Studies using behavioural paradigms suggest that there is vigilance to social threat (25-27) and less modulation by positive cues (28). Scanning paradigms have found anomalies only in cerebellar activation to standard images that elicit fear and disgust in the acute state (29) whereas no difference in the response to happy and sad faces was found after recovery from AN (30). Some of the anomalies within this system may be state rather than trait effects, and anxiety may be general or limited to weight, shape, food and interpersonal meanings.

7.5.4 SOCIAL PROCESSES IN EATING DISORDERS

The five fundamental elements of social processing as defined by the National Institute of Mental health NIMH Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) include theory of mind, social dominance, facial expression recognition, attachment and self regulation. A systematic review of the eating disorder literature suggests that there are both self-report and behavioural abnormalities in theory of mind and emotional recognition (31). Scanning studies also find anomalies (reduced amygdala and parietal activation) in the response to faces depicting social emotions such as anger in BN (32) and to a theory of mind task in people with a past history of AN (33). More work to understand this aspect of the psychopathology of eating disorders is needed.

7.5.5 COGNITIVE PROCESSING

The six cognitive constructs in the RDoC include attention, perception, working memory, declarative memory, language behaviour and effortful control. Not all of these are constructs have been studied within the eating disorders field whereas other constructs which are not in the system such as set shifting have been studied in detail. For example, self report, behavioural and neural activation to set shifting paradigms are impaired in people with eating disorders (34-36).

There may be differences in these constructs across the eating disorder spectrum. For example, adolescents with AN have demonstrated superior working memory performance (37) whereas people with obese binge eating have demonstrated limited performance (38). Moreover state effects occur as working memory is reduced in the presence of food cues (39,40). People who binge eat have less effortful control on both self-report and behavioural measures (41).

Weak central coherence (a tendency to prioritise detail over the bigger picture) might be considered to be a form of perceptual anomaly and is found particularly in AN (42).

Anomalies in attentional processes towards food and body image have been found in people with eating disorders (43-45). The pattern of cognitive anomalies varies across the eating disorders spectrum and within the illness state.

7.5.6 AROUSAL AND REGULATORY STATE

These constructs include both arousal and resting state regulation. Increased stress reactivity is found in eating disorders (46) and one conceptual model summarises the evidence for eating disorders to arise as a form of chronic stress reaction (47). The literature in this area has not been very active over the last decade but scanning studies of the resting state are in progress.

7.5.7 CONCLUSION TO DIMENSIONAL APPROACH

In table 1 the form of evidence across the constructs framed the proposed research domain criteria project (RDoC) in eating disorders is summarised. Many cells in this matrix are empty and studies which combine a variety of technologies such as genes/molecular paradigms with circuits are needed.

7.6 CONCLUSION IN SUMMERY

The standard categorical method for making a diagnosis for eating disorders is undergoing change. However, it is possible that cultural changes in food content and eating behaviour may foster a wider problematic relationship to food weight and shape, which may not be adequately captured by this type of approach. The dimensional approach holds promise. Over time it may be possible to populate the matrix proposed by the RDoC with more data. This dimensional approach may clarify the different forms that eating problems take, and explain how the disorder changes over time. This framework can structure research and may suggest ways to frame the clinical assessment and formulation and possibly tailor treatment.

LITERATURE:

- 1. Hudson JI, Hiripi E, Pope HG, Jr., Kessler RC. The prevalence and correlates of eating disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Biological psychiatry 2007;61(3):348-58..
- 2. Hay PJ, Mond J, Buttner P, Darby A. Eating disorder behaviors are increasing: findings from two sequential community surveys in South Australia. PloS one. 2008;3(2):e1541. Available at:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2212110/. Accessed on 20th October 2012.

- 3. Mond J, Hay P, Rodgers B, Owen C, Crosby R, Mitchell J. Use of extreme weight control behaviors with and without binge eating in a community sample: implications for the classification of bulimic-type eating disorders. The International journal of eating disorders 2006;39(4):294-302.
- 4. Wittchen HU, Jacobi F, Rehm J, Gustavsson A, Svensson M, Jonsson B, et al. The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. European neuropsychopharmacology : the journal of the European College of Neuropsychopharmacology 2011;21(9):655-79.
- 5. Preti A, Girolamo G, Vilagut G, Alonso J, Graaf R, Bruffaerts R, et al. The epidemiology of eating disorders in six European countries: results of the ESEMeD-WMH project. Journal of psychiatric research 2009;43(14):1125-32.
- Neumark-Sztainer D, Hannan PJ. Weight-related behaviors among adolescent girls and boys: results from a national survey. Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine 2000;154(6):569-77.
- 7. Neumark-Sztainer D, Wall M, Guo J, Story M, Haines J, Eisenberg M. Obesity, disordered eating, and eating disorders in a longitudinal study of adolescents: how do dieters fare 5 years later? Journal of the American Dietetic Association 2006;106(4):559-68.
- 8. McElroy SL, Frye MA, Hellemann G, Altshuler L, Leverich GS, Suppes T, et al. Prevalence and correlates of eating disorders in 875 patients with bipolar disorder. Journal of affective disorders 2011;128(3):191-8.
- 9. Kalyva E. Comparison of eating attitudes between adolescent girls with and without Asperger syndrome: daughters' and mothers' reports. Journal of autism and developmental disorders 2009;39(3):480-6.
- 10. Hollander E, Kim S, Braun A, Simeon D, Zohar J. Cross-cutting issues and future directions for the OCD spectrum. Psychiatry research 2009;170(1):3-6.

- 11. Hollander E, Kim S, Khanna S, Pallanti S. Obsessive-compulsive disorder and obsessive-compulsive spectrum disorders: diagnostic and dimensional issues. CNS spectrums 2007;12(2 Suppl 3):5-13.
- 12. Phillips KA, Stein DJ, Rauch SL, Hollander E, Fallon BA, Barsky A, et al. Should an obsessive-compulsive spectrum grouping of disorders be included in DSM-V? Depression and anxiety 2010;27(6):528-55.
- 13. Gillberg C. Are autism and anorexia nervosa related? The British journal of psychiatry: the journal of mental science 1983;142:428.
- 14. Gillberg CL. The Emanuel Miller Memorial Lecture 1991. Autism and autistic-like conditions: subclasses among disorders of empathy. Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines 1992;33(5):813-42.
- Treasure J. Coherence and other autistic spectrum traits and eating disorders: Building from mechanism to treatment. The Birgit Olsson lecture Nordic journal of psychiatry. 2012. Available at: http://informahealthcare.com/doi/abs/10.3109/08039488.2012.674554

http://informahealthcare.com/doi/abs/10.3109/08039488.2012.674554. Accessed on 20th October 2012.

- 16. Pallister E, Waller G. Anxiety in the eating disorders: understanding the overlap. Clinical psychology review 2008;28(3):366-86.
- 17. Volkow ND, O'Brien CP. Issues for DSM-V: should obesity be included as a brain disorder? The American journal of psychiatry 2007;164(5):708-10.
- 18. Marcus MD, Wildes JE. Obesity: is it a mental disorder? The International journal of eating disorders 2009;42(8):739-53.
- 19. Avena NM, Bocarsly ME. Dysregulation of brain reward systems in eating disorders: Neurochemical information from animal models of binge eating, bulimia nervosa, and anorexia nervosa Neuropharmacology 2011;63(1):87-96.
- 20. Corwin RL, Avena NM, Boggiano MM. Feeding and reward: perspectives from three rat models of binge eating. Physiology & behavior 2011;104(1):87-97.
- 21. Avena NM, Bocarsly ME, Hoebel BG, Gold MS. Overlaps in the nosology of substance abuse and overeating: the translational implications of "food addiction". Current drug abuse reviews 2011;4(3):133-9.
- 22. Harrison A, O'Brien N, Lopez C, Treasure J. Sensitivity to reward and punishment in eating disorders. Psychiatry research 2010;177(1-2):1-11.
- 23. Bohon C, Stice E. Negative affect and neural response to palatable food intake in bulimia nervosa. Appetite. 2012;58(3):964-70.
- 24. Bohon C, Stice E. Reward abnormalities among women with full and subthreshold bulimia nervosa: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. The International journal of eating disorders 2011;44(7):585-95.
- 25. Harrison A, Sullivan S, Tchanturia K, Treasure J. Emotion recognition and regulation in anorexia nervosa. Clinical psychology & psychotherapy 2009;16(4):348-56.
- 26. Harrison A, Sullivan S, Tchanturia K, Treasure J. Emotional functioning in eating disorders: attentional bias, emotion recognition and emotion regulation. Psychological medicine 2010;40(11):1887-97.
- 27. Cardi V, Matteo RD, Corfield F, Treasure J. Social reward and rejection sensitivity in eating disorders: An investigation of attentional bias and early experiences. The world journal of biological psychiatry: the official journal of the World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry. 2012. Available at:

http://informahealthcare.com/doi/full/10.3109/15622975.2012.665479. Accessed on 20th October 2012.

- 28. Friederich HC, Kumari V, Uher R, Riga M, Schmidt U, Campbell IC, et al. Differential motivational responses to food and pleasurable cues in anorexia and bulimia nervosa: a startle reflex paradigm. Psychological medicine 2006;36(9):1327-35..
- 29. Uher R, Murphy T, Brammer MJ, Dalgleish T, Phillips ML, Ng VW, et al. Medial prefrontal cortex activity associated with symptom provocation in eating disorders. The American journal of psychiatry 2004;161(7):1238-46.

- 30. Cowdrey FA, Park RJ, Harmer CJ, McCabe C. Increased neural processing of rewarding and aversive food stimuli in recovered anorexia nervosa. Biological psychiatry 2011;70(8):736-43.
- 31. Oldershaw A, Hambrook D, Stahl D, Tchanturia K, Treasure J, Schmidt U. The socioemotional processing stream in Anorexia Nervosa. Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews 2011;35(3):970-88.
- 32. Ashworth F, Pringle A, Norbury R, Harmer CJ, Cowen PJ, Cooper MJ. Neural response to angry and disgusted facial expressions in bulimia nervosa. Psychological medicine 2011;41(11):2375-84.
- 33. McAdams CJ, Krawczyk DC. Impaired neural processing of social attribution in anorexia nervosa. Psychiatry research 2011;194(1):54-63.
- 34. Roberts ME, Barthel FM, Lopez C, Tchanturia K, Treasure JL. Development and validation of the Detail and Flexibility Questionnaire (DFlex) in eating disorders. Eating behaviors 2011;12(3):168-74.
- 35. Roberts ME, Tchanturia K, Stahl D, Southgate L, Treasure J. A systematic review and metaanalysis of set-shifting ability in eating disorders. Psychological medicine 2007;37(8):1075-84.
- 36. Zastrow A, Kaiser S, Stippich C, Walther S, Herzog W, Tchanturia K, et al. Neural correlates of impaired cognitive-behavioral flexibility in anorexia nervosa. The American journal of psychiatry 2009;166(5):608-16.
- 37. Hatch A, Madden S, Kohn MR, Clarke S, Touyz S, Gordon E, et al. In first presentation adolescent anorexia nervosa, do cognitive markers of underweight status change with weight gain following a refeeding intervention? The International journal of eating disorders 2010;43(4):295-306.
- 38. Duchesne M, Mattos P, Appolinario JC, de Freitas SR, Coutinho G, Santos C, et al. Assessment of executive functions in obese individuals with binge eating disorder. Rev Bras Psiquiatr 2010;32(4):381-8.
- 39. Brooks SJ, O'Daly OG, Uher R, Schioth HB, Treasure J, Campbell IC. Subliminal food images compromise superior working memory performance in women with restricting anorexia nervosa. Consciousness and cognition 2012;21(2):751-63.
- 40. Dickson H, Brooks S, Uher R, Tchanturia K, Treasure J, Campbell IC. The inability to ignore: distractibility in women with restricting anorexia nervosa. Psychological medicine 2008;38(12):1741-8.
- 41. Claes L, Mitchell JE, Vandereycken W. Out of control? Inhibition processes in eating disorders from a personality and cognitive perspective. The International journal of eating disorders 2012;45(3):407-14.
- 42. Lopez C, Tchanturia K, Stahl D, Treasure J. Central coherence in eating disorders: a systematic review. Psychological medicine 2008;38(10):1393-404.
- 43. Brooks S, Prince A, Stahl D, Campbell IC, Treasure J. A systematic review and meta-analysis of cognitive bias to food stimuli in people with disordered eating behaviour. Clinical psychology review 2011;31(1):37-51.
- 44. Giel KE, Teufel M, Friederich HC, Hautzinger M, Enck P, Zipfel S. Processing of pictorial food stimuli in patients with eating disorders--a systematic review. The International journal of eating disorders 2011;44(2):105-17.
- 45. Dobson KS, Dozois DJ. Attentional biases in eating disorders: a meta-analytic review of Stroop performance. Clinical psychology review 2004;23(8):1001-22.
- 46. Lo Sauro C, Ravaldi C, Cabras PL, Faravelli C, Ricca V. Stress, hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis and eating disorders. Neuropsychobiology 2008;57(3):95-115.
- 47. Connan F, Campbell IC, Katzman M, Lightman SL, Treasure J. A neurodevelopmental model for anorexia nervosa Physiology & behavior 2003;79(1):13-24.

8. REFEEDING SYNDROME: WHAT DOES IT REALLY MEAN?

Jasna Leniček Krleža

8.1 INTRODUCTION

Refeeding Syndrome (RFS) is a set of clinical symptoms (heart, lung, liver, and kidney, neurological, metabolic and haematological) that occur as a result of fluid and electrolyte shifts in malnourished patients in response to an inappropriately high-calorie diet. This applies to any form of complementary foods after several hours of fasting. It includes enteral or parenteral nutrition, as well as uncontrolled and unlimited oral intake. Changes in fluids and electrolytes are caused by hormonal and metabolic changes that can cause severe complications and death. The main biochemical feature of refeeding syndrome is hypophosphataemia, although the syndrome is complex and may include a disruption in the balance of water and nitrate content, alterations in the metabolism of glucose, fat and protein, thiamine deficiency, hypokalaemia and hypomagnesaemia. These deficiencies vary from case to case. They depend on the severity of the health status of the organism (type and duration of primary disease), on the nutritional status or on the severity of the malnutrition of the organism which suffers from the amount of the retained energy, vitamins and minerals "reserve" as an effect. Their deficiency is visible by measuring their concentrations in the blood. In doing so, a deficiency in all minerals is not necessarily pronounced; all combinations are possible with various severity levels for each. Thus, the symptoms that occur as a consequence of this deficiency are unpredictable and can range from asymptomatic cases to the dysfunction of any of the vital organs; since is not treated (correction of electrolyte imbalances) they can cause a coma and death (1-5).

Over the last sixty years, since RFS was first clinically described and published, what we in fact call RFS has still not been clearly defined.

A clear international consensus has not been set on when we can truly say that RFS has been developed: is RFS just a laboratory diagnosis or a moment when clinical symptoms are presented. A laboratory diagnosis of RFS refers to moment when during the feeding of malnourished patients, the serum concentration of one or more major electrolytes (particularly phosphates) declined without any clinical symptoms (or without any clearly expressed symptoms), while the appearance of symptoms (disturbance in vital function), in laboratory findings implies electrolytes disturbance (primarily low phosphates)(6,7).

In a review of the published literature, we can find individual case reports or reports on series of cases, cohort studies and expert opinions. The level of evidence (LOE) of the published studies is III and IV. On this basis, in 2006 the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) claimed that the recognition and timely inclusion of compensatory mechanisms is essential to reduce, if not completely eliminate the morbidity and mortality associated with this phenomenon. Guidelines for the management of RFS in adults have been published. These guidelines define the criteria for risk and high risk patients (Table 8.1), as well as instructions for the compensation mechanisms if electrolyte deficits are presented. However, in medical practice, RFS still frequently occurs (2,4).

One or more of the following symptoms:	Two or more of following symptoms:			
 BMI less than 16 kg/m² unintentional weight loss greater than 15% within the last 3–6 months little or no nutritional intake for more than 10 days low levels of potassium, phosphate or magnesium prior feeding. 	 BMI less than 18.5 kg/m² unintentional weight loss greater than 10% within the last 3–6 months little or no nutritional intake for more than 4 days a history of alcohol abuse or drugs includin insulin, chemotherapy, antacids or diuretics 			

Table 8.1 High risk criteria for development refeeding syndrom.

Modifed from National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) guideline – Nutrition support in adults (2).

Legend: BMI - Body Mass Index

RFS is generally a term associated with marked malnutrition, primarily with anorexia. However, many clinical conditions represent a risk for RFS. There are three basic groups of patients that are at risk of developing RFS: (1) individuals with a low intake of nutrients, (2) individuals with an increased loss of nutrients, and (3) individuals with a reduced absorption. These groups include a wide range of individuals for whom various medical conditions as well as social, economic and psychological statuses that affect all age groups are responsible for malnutrition and risk (6,7).

8.2 THE INCIDENCE OF REFEEDING SYNDROME

The lack of a clear definition of RFS entails the lack of randomized controlled trials and published data on its frequency. Moreover, as was already mentioned, often mild symptoms frequently remain unrecognized, and low electrolytes are often associated with secondary diseases. For these reasons, the frequency of RFS remains unknown. According to a study by Camp and Allon, in 10197 hospitalized patients, the incidence of severe hypophosphatemia was 0.43% (8). The published results of studies on patients who were on total parenteral nutrition (TPP) revealed that 30% to 38% of patients who received phosphate had hypophosphatemia, as did 100% of patients who received no phosphates in the parenteral nutrition (9), while the frequency RFS in oncological patients was observed in more than 25% of patients (10).

8.3 THE PATHOPHYSIOLOGY AND CHARACTERISTICS OF REFEEDING SYNDROME

Under normal circumstances, the body uses glucose as a primary source of energy. This requires a continuous intake of carbohydrates. Two to three hours after the intake of carbohydrates, blood glucose becomes available and is retained as glycogen. The amount of glycogen is limited and provides a short-term source of energy to the body in situations where food intake fails. The body thus retains proteins that would not be used for energy purposes. Excessive food intake, that is, excessive energy intake, is stored by the body as fat, which represents the most important energy reserve in the human body (11).

In a short period of fasting (24 hours), glycogenolysis takes place in the liver and in muscles to compensate for glucose. After the glycogen is expended, the gluconeogenesis process begins. Amino acids from muscle protein and fatty acids from fatty tissues provide the organism glucose as an energy source through metabolic reconstruction. With gluconeogenesis pyruvate and lactate may also provide glucose. This initial fasting period marks increased protein degradation (11).

If fasting continues, the body will slow down and reduce its basal metabolism rate by about 20 to 25%. Most organs and tissues in these conditions switch to fatty acids as an energy source. The brain is the organ that primarily uses glucose, and can only partially switch to ketones as an energy source. By switching to fat as an energy source in the body, protein and muscle mass are maintained. The reduction of the proteolysis rate, an increased migration of fatty acids and formation of ketone is characteristic of this period. In addition, at this stage there is also a decrease in intracellular concentrations of minerals (electrolytes) and vitamins. Serum electrolyte concentrations usually remain normal because of intracellular space contraction, decreased renal excretion and withdrawal from storage in the body. Under these metabolic changes in mind, they are changes that mostly occur in thin or emaciated and malnourished people. However, they can also occur in overweight people who resort to starvation as a means to decrease their body weight (11).

During the supplemental feeding process, the increase in blood glucose leads to increased insulin secretion and decreased glucagon secretion. This hormonal shift results in the stimulation of the synthesis of glycogen, protein and fat. Minerals such as phosphor and magnesium, as well as cofactors such as thiamine, are necessary for these processes. Insulin stimulates the absorption of potassium and glucose into the cell, and magnesium and phosphates enter the cell. This leads to a reduction in serum concentrations of phosphates, potassium and magnesium which are already in deficit in the body. Clinical symptoms of refeeding syndrome occur as the result of a lack of these minerals and rapid changes in the basal metabolism rate (1,11).

Phosphor is the primary intracellular mineral. It is found in blood in the form of free and protein-binding inorganic phosphate. It is essential for many intracellular processes: it activates enzymes and messengers, stores energy in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), regulates the affinity of haemoglobin for oxygen and thus regulates the supply of oxygen to the tissues, participates in the regulation of acid-base balance, is an integral part of DNA, RNA and cellular membranes and is responsible for its integrity. The depletion of phosphor in the whole body occurs in the "refeeding" syndrome and insulin secretion leads to increased absorption and utilization of phosphate in the cell. This leads to a deficit of intracellular and extracellular phosphor. In these conditions, even slight decrease in serum phosphate levels can lead to a significant dysfunction of cellular processes that affects virtually every physiological system. Hypophosphatemia is a surrogate marker for RFS, but may be present before the feeding of undernourished patients with malnutrition, in diabetes, alcoholism, or in prolonged severe respiratory alkalosis and in vitally endangered patients. Moreover, antacids can also be a cause of hypophosphatemia. (12,13,14).

Potassium, the main intracellular cation, is also deficient in malnutrition, although its serum concentrations may remain normal. Starting anabolic processes leading to the absorption of potassium into the cell stimulated with insulin, which results in severe hypokaliemia, changes in electrochemical membrane potential, abnormal heart rhythm and heart failure. Hypokaliemia is probably the most common electrolyte deficit in clinical practice. The causes of hypokaliemia, besides in refeeding, are an increased loss of stool (diarrhea), an increased

loss of urine, metabolic alkalosis, or secondarily as a result of taking many drugs (diuretics, b-adrenergic agents, high-dose glucocorticoids, insulin)(12,14,15).

Magnesium, predominantly an intracellular cation, is an important cofactor in most enzyme systems, such as in those involved in oxidative phosphorylation and ATP production. It is essential to the structural integrity of DNA, RNA and ribosomes, it affects the membrane potential of cells and its deficiency can lead to changes in neuromuscular excitability and heart disorders. Besides in refeeding, where we find acute hypomagnesemia, the cause of reduced magnesium levels may be diarrhea, pancreatitis, malnutrition, alcoholism, metabolic acidosis, or secondarily as a result of therapy (amphotericin B, furosemide, aminoglycosides, cisplatin, cyclosporin). Hypomagnesemia can cause hypocalcemia and hypokalemia (K activator, the ATP-ase pump, and impairs the release of parathyroid hormones). It can also be falsely lowered in cases of significant hypoalbuminemia. The correction of a potassium deficiency along with magnesium values (the lower reference range or lower) is not possible without correcting the magnesium. (12,14,16).

Hypocalcemia is a sign of lower total serum calcium levels and is present relatively often in different states (sepsis, pancreatitis, trauma). Serum calcium concentrations return to normal values 5 to 6 days after recovery from an acute illness. The etiology of hypocalcemia is multi-factorial and not fully understood. However, the interpretation of findings of total serum calcium may be incorrect in situations where there is markedly reduced albumin, which is often found in malnourished patients. Under conditions in which the concentration of serum albumin is low, it is necessary to determine the ionized calcium level (12,17).

Thiamine deficiency is the most common vitamin deficiency that occurs as a re-alimentation complication. Thiamine is an essential cofactor of key enzymes in the metabolism of carbohydrates and synthesis of ATP. Its deficiency leads to Wernicke's encephalopathy (ataxia, ophthalmoplegia, confusion, hypothermia, coma) or Korsakoff's syndrome (amnesia, confabulation)(4,18).

Changes in carbohydrate metabolism lead to changes in **sodium and water balance**. The introduction of carbohydrates in the diet leads to a decrease in the renal excretion of water and sodium. If fluid intake is increased to maintain dieresis, this can lead to fluid overload, congestive heart failure and pulmonary edema (1,3).

An excessive intake of glucose can lead to **hyperglycaemia**, **osmotic diuresis and dehydration**. There can also be a stimulation of lipogenesis, which can lead to fatty changes in the liver, increased production of carbon dioxide, hypercapnia and respiratory failure (1).

Mutual hormonal and biochemical relations and the consequences that arise during feeding after starvation can be seen on Figure 8.1 (1).

During fasting, due to the reduced food intake and the minerals and vitamins in the body, there is a lack of them in the body. Nevertheless, through control mechanisms and their redistribution between compartments, concentrations of electrolytes in the blood are mainly normal. Baseline concentrations of electrolytes were measured before refeeding; this is why they are not a true reflection of the state of the organism. Reduced basal electrolyte concentration values can be found when due to other disturbances compensatory mechanisms are no longer sufficient. The principle of complementary foods in such cases requires a specific approach, but is basically clear.



Figure 8.1 Consequences of the major metabolic and biochemical changes in the refeeding syndrome. Modified from Boateng (1).

8.4 LABORATORY MONITORING

During the supplemental feeding of malnourished patients, laboratory monitoring are an integral part of NICE guidelines and come in the form of protocols. The protocols include biochemical tests along with the dynamics of definition and also note explanations and interpretations. These protocols were developed by a group of professionals (Guideline Development Group, GDP) on the basis of good practice point (GPP) and as a recommendation for the best practice based on experience (LOE 3 or 4) and/or formal consensus (2,3). According to this protocol, laboratory monitoring includes:

Sodium, potassium, urea and creatinine measurement for the assessment of renal functions as well as the status of water, Na and K. The interpretation of results includes insight on therapies and fluid balance.

After the initial values, the dynamics of determination include monitoring once a day until the results are stable, and then 1 to 2 times a week. The determined of K and Na in the urine can be of use when tracking and replenishing electrolytes that are lost gastrointestinally is necessary.

Glucose measurement for monitoring glycaemia and due to possible resistance to glucose, which is not a rare occurrence.

After the initial value, values need to be determined twice a day or more if necessary, until the results are stable; then they are to be determined once a week.

Magnesium and phosphates in the body are often depleted despite initial values that are often within the reference range.

After the initial values are determined, once a day during the first week (there is risk of developing refeeding syndrome), then 2 to 3 times a week until the values are stable, then once a week.

Liver function tests including **International Normalised Ratio** (**INR**): deviation of normal values is common, although the reasons can be complex and should be interpreted taking this into consideration. Deviation in laboratory tests could be a result of parenteral nutrition, sepsis or other disorders.

The initial values are determined, then again twice a week until values are stable, then once a week.

Calcium and albumin: a possible presence of hypo and hyperkalemia. Albumins are not a measure of the status of protein, rather a measure of malnutrition or disease. It is necessary to correct serum calcium levels because of albumin.

The initial values are determined, then again once a week.

C-reactive protein (CRP) is necessary to assess the presence of acute phase reaction. The CRP value is important in interpreting, but can also be helpful in assessing the results of other parameters (proteins, trace elements, vitamins).

The initial values are determined; then again 2 to 3 a week until results are stable.

Zinc (Zn) and copper (Cu), trace elements, are often lacking in malnutrition, even when the loss is increased. When interpreting the results it should be borne in mind that the acute phase (an elevated CRP level) can be reflected in a reduced Zn level and an increased Cu level.

The initial values are determined, then, depending on the results, again every 2 to 4 weeks.

A selenium (Se) deficiency is found in severe disease and sepsis, but also in long-term nutrition support. The acute phase lowers Se values.

Is determined only when a deficiency is suspected, and further determinations depend on the initial one.

Complete blood count (CBC) and MCV: Anaemia due to iron deficiency or folic acid is common in malnourished patients. Sepsis significantly affects the results of the CBC.

The initial values are determined; then again 1 to 2 times a week until results are stable, then once a week.

Iron (Fe) and ferritin. Iron deficiency is common in long-term parenteral nutrition. When interpreting the results, the acute phase reaction should be paid close attention to, when the Fe is reduced and ferritin elevated.

The initial values are determined, then again every 3 to 6 months.

Folate, B12: Serum folate/B12 sufficient, with full blood count. The initial values are determined, then again every 2 to 4 weeks.

Manganese and 25-OH vitamin D. These tests are rarely needed, unless there is cause for concern (2,3).

8.5 REFEEDING SYNDROME FROM A LABORATORY PERSPECTIVE

RFS is a complication that arises during the supplemental feeding of malnourished patients. The dynamics of laboratory monitoring of these patients according to the protocols of published guidelines (NICE, 2006) (2) allows the identification of the development RFS before the onset of symptoms and with the correction of the deficiency symptoms are prevented from being developed. In this respect, RFS is a laboratory diagnosis. This understanding includes laboratory professionals in and commits them to the team that treats and cares for such patients. What can a laboratory expert do in this regard? What is important for good laboratory monitoring? How can laboratory specialist help a physician in interpreting the laboratory test results?

From a laboratory perspective, the most important feature of RFS is the rapid and uncertain change in the concentration of glucose and electrolytes in serum, which depends on the applied therapeutic procedure. These treatments are generally not known to the laboratory professional, and neither is the weight of the underlying disease, which may or may not be present.

Standardized methods of determination, standardized complete pre-analytical procedures and analytical phases of laboratory work, as well as the implementation of quality control are the basic requirement for good laboratory practices (according to ISO 15189). Laboratory errors were thus reduced to a minimum. The interpretation of the laboratory test results is part of the post-analytical phase, and it is common to both biochemists and clinicians.

In medical practice, most often the obtained laboratory tests results are compared with the reference values that are determined by the age and sex of patients. This is the so-called longitudinal evaluation of laboratory test results. The usefulness of such assessments in laboratory monitoring may be calculated through an index of individuality (II) for each analyte. It represents the ratio of inter-individual (CVI) and intra-individual variability (CVintra). The smaller the ratio (II), the more pronounced the individuality of each analyte is, and hence the usefulness of the reference interval lessens (19,20).

Laboratory monitoring is used to monitor the effects of therapeutic procedures on the health status of patients. This means that the assessment of laboratory test results is relevant to the comparison of the obtained values to the preceding results. The slightest differences between two obtained concentrations in the required medical reports that could be linked to actual changes in the patient's medical status are referred to as critical differences, or "reference change values" (RCV). The usefulness of this estimate is far greater because it involves biological (intra-individual) and analytical variation. The formula and method of calculating the RCV according to Ricos and colleagues can be found in literature (19). The database containing biological and analytical variations is continually updated and is available on the website (21). Ricos and colleagues calculated the RCV values for 216 analytes (22), while Table 8.2 shows the RCV values for laboratory tests that are used in the daily laboratory monitoring of RFS. The RCV values were calculated from changes in healthy subjects, and were present at a 95% probability level, provided that the CVA < CVI (approximately CVA CVI x = 0.5). RCV values in diseased states in individual analytes were significantly higher, although studies have shown that RVC in diseased and healthy states do not significantly

change (20,22,23). However, in clinical terms, this is not significant because it is better to register the change, and then to decide that this is clinically unimportant, rather than to ignore the change in the patient's condition. Furthermore, the analytical imprecision of the (CVA) is replaced by the desired analytical quality specifications that is based on biological variation (CVI 0.5). Of course, a prerequisite for this is the daily implementation of internal quality control on the laboratory's analytical phase to achieve the desirable specifications for imprecision, inaccuracy and allowable total error (21). For the proper interpretation of the laboratory test results, knowledge of the possible interferences is also necessary. It is particularly important to reduce the impact of all the factors from the preanalytical phase on the results (potential errors in blood tests, transport conditions, separation, sample storage)(20,23). This is done by introducing clear and precise protocols in and outside of the laboratory, and is based on guidelines published by the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) and the World Health Organization (WHO) (24,25). Furthermore, the effects of the most common interferences (drugs), or states in which the analytes can be altered.

The determination of the initial or basic values of all laboratory parameters provided by the working diagnosis is of great importance. These are values that are determined prior to any therapeutic or diagnostic procedure.

The longitudinal assessment of the initial laboratory tests allows a series of therapeutic procedures. It also presents a comparative value along with the value of the next scheduled laboratory monitoring point.

Analyte	CV _I (%)	CV _{INTRA} (%)	Index of individuality (II) (CV _I /CV _{intra})	CV _A Desirable (%)	$\begin{array}{c} RCV_{95\%} \\ Desirable \\ specification \\ (CV_A \sim 0.5 CV_I)(\%) \end{array}$
Phosphate	8.5	9.4	0.90	4.3	26.3
Potassium	4.8	5.6	0.86	2.4	14.9
Magnesium	3.6	6.4	0.56	1.8	11.2
Calcium	1.9	2.8	0.68	1.0	5.9
Calcium ionized	1.7	1.9	0.89	0.9	5.3
Sodium	0.7	1.0	0.7	0.4	2.2
Glucose	4.9	6.1	0.80	2.5	15.2

Table 8.2Biological (intra- and interindividual) variation, analytical variation, index of individuality
and reference change values for analytes in daily monitoring of refeeding syndrome.

Legend: CV_I intra-individual coefficient of variation; CV_{INTRA} : inter-individual coefficient of variation; CV_A : desirable coefficient of analytical variation; $RCV_{95\%}$: reference change values at a 95% probability level.

8.6 CONCLUSION

Key points:

- 1. RFS is a pathophysiologically well-described condition, and with respects of the protocols of laboratory monitoring in published guidelines (NICE, 2006) it has become a laboratory diagnosis.
- 2. The RCV value in laboratory monitoring should be an aid in interpreting differences in serial laboratory test results from individuals.

- 3. The introduction of the RVC in the laboratory reports the value of the reference range would most certainly help the clinician in making medical decisions.
- 4. This requires good and organized policies implementation to control the quality of the laboratory work.

LITERATURE:

- 1. Boateng A, Sriram K, Meguid M, Crook M. Refeeding syndrome: treatment considerations based on collective analysis of literature case reports. Nutrition 2010; 26(2):156-67.
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Clinical Guideline 32. Nutrition support in adults: oral nutrition support, enteral tube feeding and parenteral nutrition. 2006. Avliable at: <u>http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/live/10978/29979/29979.pdf</u> Access on 10th July 2012.
- 3. National Collaborating Centre for Acute Care, February 2006. Nutrition support in adults Oral nutrition support, enteral tube feeding and parenteral nutrition. National Collaborating Centre for Acute Care, London. Available at:<u>http://www.rcseng.ac.uk</u>. Access on 10th July 2012.
- 4. Mehanna HM, Moledina J, Travis J. Refeeding syndrome: What it is, and how to prevent and treat it. BMJ 2008;336:1495–98.
- 5. Machado JD, Suen VM, Chueire FB, Marchini JF, Marchini JS. Refeeding syndrome, an undiagnosed and forgotten potentially fatal condition. BMJ Case Rep. 2009: bcr07.2008.0521. Available at:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3028379/. Accessed on July 17th 2012.

- 6. Stanga Z, Brunner A, Leuenberger M, Grimble RF, Shenkin A, Allison SP, Lobo DN. Nutrition in clinical practice the refeeding syndrome: illustrative cases and guidelines for prevention and treatment. Eur J Clin Nutr 2008;62: 687–94.
- Khan LUR, Ahmed J, Khan S, MacFie J. Refeeding Syndrome: A Literature Review. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2011. doi:10.1155/2011/410971. Available at: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2945646/</u> Accessed on July 17th 2012.
- Camp MA, Allon M. Severe hypophosphatemia in hospitalised patients. Mineral & Electrolyte Metabolism 1990;16:365-8.
- 9. Afzal NA, Addai S, Fagbemi A, Murch S, Thomson M, Heuschel R. Refeeding syndrome with enteral nutrition in children:a case report, literature review and clinical guidelines. Clin Nutr 2002;21(6):515–20.
- 10. Gonzalez AG, Fajardo-Rodriguez A, Gonzalez-Figueroa E. The incidence of the refeeding syndrome in cancer patients who receive artificial nutritional treatment (Abstract). Nutr Hosp 1996;11:98.
- 11. Berg JM, Tymoczko JL, Stryer L. Biochemistry. 5th edition. New York: W H Freeman; 2002.
- 12. Dickerson RN. Guidelines for the Intravenous Management of Hypophosphatemia, Hypomagnesemia, Hypokalemia, and Hypocalcemia. Hosp Pharm 2001;36(11):1201–8.
- Levi M, Popovtzer M. Disorders of Phosphate Balance. In: Schrier RW, Berl T, Bonventre JV, eds. Atlas of Diseases of the Kidney (1), Current Medicine, Philadelphia PA; 1999. P.7.1–7.14.
- Mehanna H, Nankivell PC, Moledina J, Travis J. Refeeding syndrome awareness, prevention and managemen. Head Neck Oncol 2009;1:4. Available at: http://www.headandneckoncology.org/content/1/1/4. Accessed on Mart 18, 2012.
- 15. Gennari FJ. Hypokalemia. N Engl J Med 1998;339:451–8.
- 16. Dacey MJ. Hypomagnesemic disorders.Crit Care Clin 2001;17:155–73.
- 17. Carlstedt F, Lind L. Hypocalcemic syndromes. Crit Care Clin 2001;17:139–53.
- Fattal-Valevski A. Thiamine (Vitamin B1). J Evid Based Complementary Altern Med 2011;16:12-20. Available at: <u>http://chp.sagepub.com/content/16/1/12</u>. Accessed on July 17th 2012.
- 19. Ricós C, Perich C, Minchinela J, Alvarez V, Simon M, Biosca C, et al. Application of biological variation a review. Biochem Med 2009;19:250-9.

- 20. Fraser CG. The utility of population-based reference values. In: Biological Variation: From Principles to Practice. Washington: AACC Press; 2001;91-117.
- 21. Ricos C, Alvarez V, Cava F, Garcia-Lario JV, Hernandez A, Jimenez CV, at al. Minimum Specifications for Total Error, Imprecision, and Bias, derived from intra- and inter-individual biologic variation. The 2012 update. Available at: <u>http://www.westgard.com/minimum-biodatabase1.htm</u>. Accessed on 30th June 2012.
- 22. Ricós C, Cava F, García-Lario JV, Hernández A, Iglesias N, Jimenez CV et al. The reference change value: a proposal to interpret laboratory reports in serial testing based on biological variation. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2004;64:175-84.
- 23. Fraser CG. Changes in serial result. In: Biological Variation: From Principles to Practice. Washington: AACC Press; 2001; 67-91.
- 24. WHO guidelines on drawing blood: best practices in phlebothomy. Printed by the WHO Document Production Servis, Geneva, Switzerland, 2010. Available at: <u>http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2010/9789241599221_eng.pdf</u>. Accessed on July 16th 2012.
- 25. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI): Procedures for the Collection of Diagnostic Blood Specimens by Venipuncture Sixth Edition (H3-A6) November 2007; Avaliable at: <u>http://www.clsi.org/source/orders/free/h3-a6.pdf.</u> Accessed on July_16th 2012. Accessed on July 16th 2012.

This article is published by permision of Editor in chief and Publisher of Biochemia Medica, the journal of Croatian Society of Medical Biochemists.

Review

Bowels control brain: gut hormones and obesity

Gavin A. Bewick

Section of Investigative Medicine, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom

Corresponding author: g.bewick@imperial.ac.uk

Abstract

Peptide hormones are released from the gastrointestinal tract in response to nutrients and communicate information regarding the current state of energy balance to the brain. These hormones regulate appetite, energy expenditure and glucose homeostasis. They can act either *via* the circulation at target peripheral tissues, by activation of the vagus nerve or by acting on key brain regions implicated in energy homeostasis such as the hypothalamus and brainstem. This review gives an overview of the main gut hormones implicated in the regulation of food intake and how some of these are being targeted to develop anti obesity treatments.

Key words: peptide YY (PYY); glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1); glucagon; ghrelin; bariatric surgery; obesity

Received: June 01, 2012

Accepted: September 11, 2012

Introduction

Obesity is one of the greatest health care challenges of our time. Currently there are estimated to be 2 billion adults who are overweight worldwide (body mass index 25-30 kg/m²) and a further 500 million are obese (BMI greater than 30 kg/m²). Being overweight or obese carries an increased risk type 2 diabetes, ischaemic heart disease, stroke and cancer, and carries an increased risk of both all cause, and cause-specific mortality (1,2). This has prompted a concerted effort to identify effective novel treatments for obesity. The role of peripheral hormones and the gut/brain axis in the regulation of appetite has become a hot topic in recent years, owing to the growing global obesity crisis. Of particular interest has been the potential of these peripheral signals to provide novel targets for developing anti-obesity therapies. The focus of this review is to provide a synopsis of the gut-brain cross talk involved in the regulation of food intake.

Neuroendocrine control of appetite

The hypothalamus and the brainstem are the main central nervous system regions responsible

for the regulation of energy homeostasis. Although it is important to remember these regions are not solely responsible. Both the hypothalamus and the brainstem receive peripheral neural and hormonal signals that relay information regarding energy availability, both acutely i.e. nutritional state and long term availability i.e. adiposity (3). Neural afferents and hormonal signals from the periphery are integrated with higher brain centre signals (e.g. relaying reward drive and mood) to regulate appetite and control energy expenditure (4) (Figure 1).

The arcuate nucleus (ARC) of the hypothalamus is believed to play a crucial role in the regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis. The ARC contains two populations of neurons with opposing effects on food intake (5). Orexigenic neurons (i.e. those stimulating appetite) express neuropeptide Y (NPY) and Agouti-related protein (AgRP) (6-8). Whilst anorexigenic neurons (i.e. those inhibiting appetite) in the ARC express alpha-melanocyte-stimulating hormone (alpha-MSH) derived from pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC), and cocaineand amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART) (9).

The ARC is adjacent to the median eminence, a 'circumventricular organ' with fenestrated capil-

Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97 283



FIGURE 1. Gut-brain axis: regulation of food intake.

Nutrients created by the digestion of food are proposed to activate G-protein coupled receptors on the luminal side of enetroendocrine cells e.g. the L-cell. This stimulates the release of gut hormones which may influence food intake at three sites: the vagus nerve, brainstem and hypothalamus. Within the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus two neuronal populations are thought to be critical conduits through which peripheral signals are integrated to alter the drive to eat, the orexigenic NPY/AgRP neurons and the anorexigenic POMC neurons. Further connections between hypothalamic nuclei and higher brain centres may exist which control the hedonic aspects of food ingestion.

ARC - arcuate nucleus; AgRP - agouti related peptide; GLP-1 - glucagon like peptide-1; NPY - neuropeptide Y; POMC – propiomelanocortin; PVN - paraventricular nucleus; PYY - peptide YY.

laries and hence an incomplete blood-brain barrier (10). Circulating hormones are able to pass across the median eminence and influence the activity of the ARC neurons directly. Gut hormones are released from the gastrointestinal tract on a meal to meal basis and signal short term nutrient availability to the ARC. Other circulating factors such as insulin and leptin (a circulating peptide released from adipose tissue) relay information about long-term energy stores and adiposity (11). Thus the ARC has been described as a conduit through which the body can balance its energy requirements to maintain weight.

Additionally short term availability of nutrients is signalled by gastrointestinal vagal afferents. Following a meal the vagus is activated by both mechanoreceptors and chemoreceptors. The resultant neural signals converge in the nucleus of the tractus solitarius (NTS) within the brainstem.

Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97

These signal are then fed forward Neuronal from the NTS to the hypothalamus. Circulating factors such as gut hormones are also thought to act at the NTS, which like the ARC is adjacent to a circumventricular organ, the 'area postrema' (AP). For example, ablation of both the AP and another circumventricular organ, the subfornical organ (SFO), has been shown to delay the anorectic action of the gut hormone peptide tyrosine tyrosine (PYY) (12). Gut hormones also alter the activity of the ascending vagal pathways from the gut to the brainstem (13).

Hence, the hypothalamic ARC orexigenic and anorexigenic neurons are influenced by numerous neural and hormonal inputs. These ARC neurons in turn project to a number of extra-hypothalamic and intra-hypothalamic regions, including in particular the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN), where some of the important efferent pathways regulating energy expenditure arise.
Enteroendocrine cells of the gastrointestinal tract

There are at least 15 different types of enteroendocrine cells diffusely distributed throughout the gastrointestinal epithelium (14). These cells produce and release a variety of hormones and signalling molecules, which together constitute the largest endocrine organ in the body (14,15). Chemosensing of gut luminal contents by the enteroendocrine GI cells plays a critical role in the control of functions such as digestion, pancreatic secretion, food intake, and metabolic regulation. Evidence that endocrine cells can directly sense luminal contents has been demonstrated in PYY and glucagon like peptide -1 (GLP-1) expressing L cells. Both human and rodent L cells express receptors previously identified in the oral epithelium for detecting sweet (T1R2 and T1R3) and bitter sensation (T2R), as well as amino acids (T1R1 and T1R3) (16,17). Additionally, the gustducin G protein which is associated with these taste receptors has been identified in L cells (16,17). Activation of these receptors is thought to lead to increased intracellular calcium and release of gastrointestinal peptides from enteroendocrine cells (17). The presence of the sweet taste receptor subunit T1R3 and gustducin may also underlie a luminal glucose sensing mechanism, since activation of these receptors mediates the postprandial release of GLP-1 from intestinal L cells (16).

Fatty acids derived from digestion of dietary fats appear to be sensed *via* separate mechanisms. The short-chain fatty acid receptors GPR43 and GPR41 are expressed in PYY-containing enteroendocrine L cells (18,19). Short chain fatty acids have been shown to increase both PYY and GLP-1 secretion in rats when delivered directly into the colon (20,21). GPR119 is another G protein coupled receptor found in intestinal endocrine cells as well as pancreatic beta cells (22). Administration of oleoylethanolamide (OEA), an endogenous long chain fatty acid derivative, and other GPR119 agonists increases GLP-1 secretion, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* in rodents (22,23).

The enteroendocrine L cells therefore have the capacity to integrate complex nutrient sensing in the gut and to respond appropriately by releasing gut hormones. In addition to chemical stimulation, the endocrine cells of the gut also respond to neural and physical stimulation of the cell by releasing peptide containing granules at the basolateral side of the cell. These peptides can have an endocrine role, a local paracrine role, and/or activate receptors present on nerves innervating the GI mucosa (24).

Gut hormones regulating food intake

The gastrointestinal tract releases more than 20 different regulatory peptide hormones that influence a number of physiological processes (25). The release of gut hormones such as PYY, GLP-1, and oxyntomodulin (OXM) is stimulated by distension of the stomach, production of nutrients from the digestion of food, and by neuronal signals (26,27).

Gut hormones are believed to contribute to the short-term feelings of satiety and hunger (28). These peptides are thought to reduce food intake by decreasing hypothalamic orexigenic signalling and increasing anorectic signalling (13,29). These peptides also mediate inhibitory feedback mechanisms on intestinal transit, contributing to prolonged gastric distension, and increased satiety between meals (30,31). These combined CNS effects and 'intestinal brake' mechanisms facilitate the control of food intake and postprandial transit through the gastrointestinal tract and thereby the immediate availability of energy. Below the focus of the review will concentrate on 5 of the most studied gut hormones which have been shown to control food intake and body weight and which are being actively pursued as anti-obesity targets.

Peptide tyrosine tyrosine (PYY)

PYY belongs to the 'PP-fold' family of proteins like NPY and pancreatic polypeptide (PP). These peptides are 36 amino acids in length and share a common tertiary structural motif known as the PP-fold. C-terminal amidation of these proteins is a necessary requirement for biological activity. PYY exists endogenously in two forms: PYY₁₋₃₆ and PYY₃₋₃₆ (32). The enzymatic cleavage of secreted

PYY₁₋₃₆ at the amino terminal by the cell surface enzyme dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPP-IV) gives rise to PYY₃₋₃₆ (33), which is the predominant form of circulating PYY immunoreactivity. PYY₁₋₃₆ and PYY₃₋₃₆ exert their effects through the neuropeptide Y family of receptors (34). PYY₁₋₃₆ binds with similar affinity to all of the Y receptors, however PYY₃₋₃₆ is a selective high affinity agonist at the Y, receptor subtype (Y₂R) (35). The Y₂R is thought to be the receptor responsible for mediating the reduction of food intake by PYY. It is an auto-inhibitory pre-synaptic receptor found on NPY neurons within the ARC (36), and deficiency of the Y₂R abolishes the anorectic effects of PYY (29). Furthermore, the anorectic effects of PYY₃₋₃₆ are attenuated by Y₂R antagonists (37). PYY₃₋₃₆ is therefore thought to reduce food intake through activation of the Y,R.

Low levels of PYY are detected in enteroendocrine cells in the stomach, and levels increase distally along the small and large intestine, reaching their highest levels in cells in the colon and rectum (26). Endogenous circulating concentrations of PYY are lowest in the fasting state, and rise post-prandially in proportion to caloric intake (26). Plasma levels of PYY rise within 30 minutes of a meal, and in humans, circulating levels plateau at 1-2 hours postprandially, remaining elevated for up to 6 hours (38). Protein rich meals cause the greatest increase in PYY levels compared to other macronutrients (39,40). Peripheral administration of PYY₃₋₃₆ reduces food intake and weight gain in rodents (29,41-43). Intravenous administration of PYY inhibits food intake in humans and unlike leptin is equally effective in normal and obese subjects (44).

The anorectic effects of PYY₃₋₃₆ appear to be mediated centrally via the ARC, as peripheral administration of PYY₃₋₃₆ increases c-fos expression in this hypothalamic nucleus (29). Peripheral administration has been reported to decrease expression and release of NPY whilst activating POMC neurons (29). However, others have reported PYY₃₋₃₆ inhibits POMC neurons via postsynaptic Y₂R (45). Moreover, POMC knockout mice maintain their acute anorectic response to peripherally administered PYY₃₋₃₆, suggesting that POMC is not critical to the inhibitory effects of PYY₃₋₃₆ on feeding (46).



A vagal brainstem mediated pathway may also be involved since PYY is expressed by the neurones of the myenteric plexus and the Y_2R receptor is expressed by the vagus nerve (47). Furthermore the anorectic effect of PYY₃₋₃₆ on both food intake (47,48), and ARC activation of feeding neurons, are abolished following bilateral sub-diaphragmatic total truncal vagotomy or following transection of the brainstem–hypothalamic pathway in rodents (48).

Interestingly, it has recently been shown that acute effects of gastrointestinal bypass surgery on body weight are lost in *Pyy*KO mice (49), and that wildtype mice losing weight after gastrointestinal bypass surgery exhibit increased colonic *Pyy* expression and circulating fasting PYY levels (49). Suggesting PYY plays a key role in mediating the early weight loss that occurs following gastrointestinal bypass surgery.

The effects of PYY₃₋₃₆ on satiety and central control of appetite are clear. Most are mediated via anorectic neuronal populations in the ARC, but vagal/ brainstem-mediated pathways and peripheral effects of PYY on gastric emptying and intestinal motility may also play a part. High plasma concentrations of PYY result in nausea, but the importance of PYY₃₋₃₆ at physiological levels in the regulation of energy intake make it a prime focus for new obesity therapies, targeted either at PYY itself, or against the Y₂ receptor.

Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)

GLP-1 is a 30 amino acid peptide produced from the cleavage of preproglucagon (50). The two bioactive forms of GLP-1, GLP-1₇₋₃₇ and GLP-1₇₋₃₆ amide, are released into the circulation from L cells of the gastrointestinal tract in response to an oral glucose load (51). Physiologically, GLP-1 is an important incretin, augmenting glucose-dependent insulin release (52). In addition, GLP-1 inhibits the secretion of glucagon, thereby inhibiting endogenous glucose production (53). The net effect is to reduce blood glucose following a meal. GLP-1 also delays gastric emptying (54), and increases satiety (55,56).

Like PYY, GLP-1 has been shown to act centrally at hypothalamic nuclei known to be implicated in

the control of appetite including the ARC, PVN and supraoptic nucleus (57). Both acute peripheral and central administration of GLP-1 reduce food intake in rats (58,59) and chronic administration of GLP-1 reduces weight gain (55). The intravenous administration of GLP-1 to normal and obese humans decreases food intake in a dose dependent manner (60) as well as reducing gastric emptying (61,62). These effects are thought to be mediated through vagal and brainstem pathways since peripheral administration of GLP-1 activates neurons within the brainstem in rats (63). Furthermore, this increase in neuronal activity, and the anorectic effects of GLP-1, are abolished following vagotomy in rodents (48,63). More recently, functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) has confirmed the activation of the VMH and PVN following peripheral administration of GLP-1 (64).

GLP-1 is rapidly degraded in the circulation by DPP-IV, making native GLP-1 unsuitable for therapeutic use. Longer acting GLP-1 mimetics have been developed (65). Exendin-4 is a naturally occurring GLP-1 mimetic isolated from the venom of Heloderma suspectum, a lizard native to several southwestern American states (66). A truncated form of this peptide, exendin 9-39, acts as a competitive antagonist at the GLP-1 receptor. Acute intracerebroventricular administration of exendin 9–39 increases food intake and chronic administration increases body weight in rats (55,59). Suggesting endogenous peripheral GLP-1 may physiologically reduce appetite and food intake. However, GLP-1 receptor knockout mice do not have altered food intake or body weight (67). This may be because developmental changes compensate for the lack of GLP-1 signalling, or may reflect that GLP-1 has a more important physiological role in controlling blood glucose than in regulating food intake.

The discovery of exendin-4 has led to the development of a synthetic version, exenatide. Exenatide has a much longer *in vivo* half-life than native GLP-1, stimulates insulin release, suppresses glucagon and lowers blood glucose. It is the first incretin mimetic approved for the treatment of type 2 diabetes (68). Exenatide has also been shown to reduce body weight in treated diabetics in phase III clinical trials (69-71). The weight loss associated with exenatide is considered a significant advantage as many anti-diabetic treatments are commonly associated with weight gain. Nausea is a relatively common side effect of Exenatide treatment. However, it does not seem to be intrinsically linked to the effects on appetite (3). Whilst GLP-1 has been developed as a treatment for diabetes due to its incretin properties, the observed effects of GLP-1 on satiety and weight loss are a valuable secondary effect. Indeed recent data suggests liraglutide may be useful for the treatment of obesity, causing sustained weight loss over 2 years but with a 50% rate of nausea and vomiting in the 3.0 mg/day group in the first year (72). The newest long acting analogues of GLP-1, exenatide-LAR (Amylin Pharmaceuticals, FDA approved January 2012), taspoglutide (Ipsen and Roche) and Albiglutide (GlaxoSmithKline), have been shown to effectively control glucose and to reduce weight. These agents allow for less-frequent dosing schedules, improved glycemic control throughout the day, and improved treatment satisfaction compared to some available agents (73). It remains to be seen whether these drugs perform well enough in specific weight loss paradigms such that they could be used as anti-obesity agents.

Oxyntomodulin (OXM)

OXM, like GLP-1, is also a product of the preproglucagon precursor molecule. It is a 37 amino acid peptide released post-prandially from L cells in proportion to caloric intake (27). OXM delays gastric emptying and reduces gastric acid secretion (74), and has been shown acutely to decrease food intake and in the longer term to decrease weight gain in rodents (75,76). In addition, chronic administration of OXM produces greater weight loss compared to pair-fed controls, suggesting an increase in energy expenditure may also help to reduce body weight (77). OXM has been shown to reduce food intake in normal weight human volunteers when administered intravenously or subcutaneously (78). Given preprandially to obese subjects it reduces both food intake and body weight (79). As in rats, there is evidence that OXM may also increase energy expenditure in humans (80).

> Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97 287

Although OXM has some agonist activity at the glucagon receptor, there is evidence that its anorectic effect is predominantly mediated via the GLP-1 receptor (75,81). The anorectic effects of OXM are abolished in GLP-1 receptor knockout mice (81) and in the presence of the GLP-1 receptor antagonist exendin 9-39 (76). OXM has a 50fold lower affinity for the GLP-1 receptor than GLP-1 itself, but despite this, it reduces food intake with similar potency (75). Furthermore, although the administration of exendin 9-39 directly into the ARC blocks the anorectic effects of OXM, it does not block those of GLP-1 (76). Therefore, it is possible that OXM may act via an as yet unidentified receptor. Studies using manganese-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging MRI (MEMRI) has shown that intraperitoneal administration of OXM produces a distinct pattern of neuronal activation compared to GLP-1 (82), implying that these two hormones act via different hypothalamic pathways.

Glucagon

Glucagon is a 29 amino acid peptide secreted from the α -cells of the pancreatic islets of Langerhans. It is a further product of preproglucagon cleavage alongside OXM and GLP-1. Glucagon is released into the portal vein in fasted states and also in response to exercise, and acts on the liver to promote hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis and maintain glycaemic balance (83-86).

Glucagon mediates its effects via the glucagon receptor, a 7-transmembrane G-protein coupled receptor which has a wide tissue distribution. It is expressed in the gut, adrenal glands, brain, heart, pancreas, spleen and in adipocytes, but is predominantly found in the liver and kidney (87).

As a potential treatment for obesity, glucagon has been shown to increase energy expenditure in rats, and also in humans during insulin deficiency (88). It also significantly reduces food intake, with a subjective reduction of appetite in man (89). Infusion of glucagon into the portal vein but not the inferior vena cava causes a reduction in meal size in rats (90).

Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97 288 Glucagon presents an interesting prospect in the treatment of obesity due to its effect on increasing energy expenditure, and increasing satiety. It has been demonstrated that the potentially unfavourable effect on glucose tolerance due to glucagon's actions on hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis is effectively counteracted by dual agonism at the glucagon and GLP-1 receptors (91,92). The data from these studies demonstrated highly effective weight loss in diet-induced obese mice whilst avoiding the hyperglycaemia that might be expected from agonism at the glucagon receptor.

Ghrelin

Ghrelin is a 28-amino acid acylated peptide secreted from the stomach. It was originally identified as an endogenous ligand for the 'growth hormone secretagogue' receptor (GHS-R) and is a growthhormone-releasing peptide (93).

Ghrelin is the only orexigenic gut hormone (94), causing an increase in food intake and weight gain in rodents following both peripheral and central administration (95-97). Intravenous administration of ghrelin has also been shown to stimulate gastric acid secretion and motility in rats (98). In normal subjects, ghrelin levels are highest in the fasted state (99), and levels are chronically higher in people with weight loss due to anorexia nervosa or dietary reduction (100-102). In contrast to other gut hormones, plasma ghrelin levels decrease after meals (100,103) and are low in obese subjects (102). Ghrelin concentrations are also reduced after gastric bypass surgery, and this may contribute to weight loss in such patients (101).

Ghrelin receptors are found in the ARC of the hypothalamus suggesting a central mode of action. Consistent with this *c-fos* expression is increased in the ARC after peripheral administration of ghrelin (104) and ablation of the ARC blocks ghrelin induced food intake (105). When given centrally, ghrelin also stimulates *c-fos* expression in other nuclei known to be involved in appetite control including the PVN, dorsomedial nucleus, and lateral hypothalamus as well as in the AP and NTS in the brainstem (95). Ghrelin and its receptor are both

expressed in vagal afferents in mice (106), and blockade of the gastric vagal afferent has been shown to abolish ghrelin-induced feeding, growth hormone secretion, and activation of NPY-producing and growth hormone-releasing hormone producing neurons in rats suggesting an additional mode of action (107).

Diet induced obesity is associated with a blunting of ghrelin's orexigenic effect. There has therefore been recent interest in the interaction between the ghrelin system and macronutrients. High fat feeding has been shown to render NPY/AgRP neurones relatively ghrelin resistant (108), and diets high in fat have been shown to directly inhibit the hyperphagic effect of ghrelin (109,110). These data have significant implications for developing anti-obesity treatments targeting the ghrelin system and suggest success of these approaches could depend on the fat content of the diet the patient consumes. More recently, ghrelin has been shown to engage neurons in the ventral tegmental area of the brain and may provide a link between the gut and neuronal control of stress-induced eating of 'comfort foods' (111).

Other gut peptides

A number of other gut-derived peptides have been shown to reduce food intake. However, the physiological role of these peptides in the regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis remains unclear.

CCK is released post-prandially from the small intestine (3), and has also been shown to co-localise with PYY in L cells (112) Two types of CCK receptor have been identified in the CNS and peripheral tissues CCK1 and 2 (113). CCK is released post-prandially in response to saturated fat, long-chain fatty acids, amino acids and small peptides that would normally result from protein digestion (114,115). CCK release and signalling via the CCK-1 receptors in response to these long chain fatty acids mediates stimulation of PYY release and inhibition of ghrelin (an orexigenic gut hormone) in human subjects (116).

The effects of CCK on appetite are well documented. Peripheral administration of CCK in rodents results in a dose dependant reduction in food intake, decreasing both meal size and duration (117). CCK administration is also associated with an increase in postprandial satiety behaviours such as increased grooming and decreased locomotor activity (117). In humans, intravenous administration of physiological doses of CCK reduces food intake and increases the perception of fullness (118). Unfortunately, the therapeutic potential of CCK as a treatment for obesity is limited by nausea and tachyphylaxis of the anorectic effects associated with chronic administration (119).

PP is an amidated 36-amino acid peptide and belongs to the 'PP fold' family of peptides. It is released post-prandially under vagal control by pancreatic islet PP cells (120-122). PP binds to all the members of the Y receptor family, but has the highest affinity for the Y_4 receptor subtype (123). The effects of PP are likely to be mediated by both the hypothalamus and brainstem (124). PP is comparable to other anorectic intestinal peptides such as PYY, being secreted in proportion to caloric intake. Circulating levels rise after meals and remain elevated for up to 6 hours post-prandially (120). Intraperitoneal injection of PP acutely reduces food intake in fasted mice (124), an effect that remains apparent for 24 hours after injection. Furthermore, chronic administration of PP over 6 days in *ob/ob* mice significantly reduces body weight gain and improves glucose profile (124). Intravenous infusion of PP at doses that achieve normal postprandial plasma concentrations reduces appetite in lean humans and inhibition of food intake persists for 24 hours after infusion (125). PP has also been shown to reduce food intake at lower infusion rates (126). Furthermore, pancreatic polypeptide has been shown to reduce food intake in patients with obesity secondary to Prader-Willi syndrome (127). Additionally, PP has also been implicated in energy homeostasis, with exogenous administration of PP causing an increase in oxygen consumption (124), thus implying that part of the effect of PP on body weight may be due to increased energy expenditure. It has also been shown to increase spontaneous locomotor activity in mice (128). These data have lead to a concerted effort to develop long acting PP analogues, which have completed Phase I trials (129).

> Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97 289

NT was first isolated from hypothalamic tissue, but is widely distributed throughout the central nervous system. However, the majority of NT is found within enteroendocrine cells of the GI tract (130). NT regulates a number of digestive processes, including gastrointestinal motility, and pancreatic and biliary secretion (131). It also has trophic effects on the pancreas and small intestine (132,133). Plasma levels of NT increase after a meal, with intraluminal fat being the most potent stimulus (134). Peripheral administration of neurotensin decreases food intake and grooming behaviour in rats only at large doses (135). Therefore at physiological levels, neurotensin is unlikely to play a major role in appetite regulation. Although neurotensin acutely reduces food intake when administered centrally in rats or peripherally in mice, chronic administration to mice has no significant effect on food intake or body weight (136). The lack of chronic effects on body weight suggests that NT is unlikely to be useful as a treatment for obesity.

Intracerebroventricular injection of glucagon-like peptide-2 (GLP-2) into rats inhibits food intake. In contrast, GLP-2 administered peripherally does not inhibit food intake in rodents or humans (137,138). GLP-2 appears to play a more important physiological role as an intestinal growth factor (138).

Amylin is a peptide co-secreted with insulin by pancreatic beta cells. Injection of amylin or amylin agonist has been shown to reduce food intake in a number of species, including humans (139-143). The amylin receptor agonist pramlintide has been shown to cause weight loss in diabetic humans (141,143).

Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) has been shown to reduce appetite, in addition to its wellcharacterized effects on the cardiovascular system and gastrointestinal motility and secretion. Intracerebroventricular administration of VIP has been shown to cause a potent short-lived decrease in food intake and an increase in activity and energy expenditure in rats. Treatment of hypothalamic explants with VIP stimulated the release of the anorexigenic peptide α -MSH (144). These studies suggest a possible endogenous role for VIP in the hypothalamic control of energy homeostasis.

Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97 290

Gut hormones and the treatment of obesity

Lifestyle and dietary modification alone are inadequate for the successful treatment of the majority of obese individuals. However, despite an increasingly high demand for intervention, the field of obesity therapeutics has limited options to offer these patients. The history of obesity pharmacotherapy is littered with examples of drugs withdrawn from the market due to adverse effects outweighing the beneficial effects of weight loss. Recent examples include Sibutramine, a norepinephrine and serotonin reuptake inhibitor, and Rimonabant, which is a cannabinoid-1 receptor blocker. Sibutramine was withdrawn after it was found to increase heart rate and blood pressure in some subjects, and was associated with an increased risk of stroke and non-fatal myocardial infarction in patients with pre-existing cardiovascular conditions (145), whilst Rimonabant was withdrawn amidst concerns regarding adverse psychiatric events (146). The only currently licensed product in the UK is Orlistat, a pancreatic lipase inhibitor which prevents fat absorption and confers a modest weight loss of 2.9 kg more than placebo over the course of a year (147).

The only obesity treatment that has been shown to confer long-term, sustained weight loss and a decrease in overall mortality is bariatric surgical intervention (148,149). Several surgical procedures are available to achieve weight loss. Gastric banding restricts the amount of food that can be comfortably ingested and increases the satiating effect of food (150). A more efficient reduction in appetite and weight loss is seen with surgical procedures that involve gastrointestinal bypass, such as Roux-en-Y Gastric bypass (RYGB) (148,149,151). Weight loss is normally associated with reduced plasma levels of the adipocyte-derived anorectic hormone leptin, causing increased hunger (152). However, following RYGB, despite significant reductions in body weight and leptin levels, appetite is markedly reduced (151). It has now been demonstrated that RYGB is more effective than either standard or intensive medical therapy in achieving glycaemic control and remission in patients with Type 2 diabetes (T2DM) (153,154). These seminal studies raise the question as to whether bariatric surgery could become a more important treatment for T2DM than medical therapy. Indeed, in a recent positional paper the International Diabetes Federation supported the selective use of various bariatric procedures for obese individuals with medically resistant T2DM (155). However, significant questions remain, not least is how long do these effects last? But also include when is the best time for surgical intervention? Does bariatric surgery work for everyone? What are the surgical/ risk benefits in moderately obese patients? This list is by no means exhaustive. Given RYGB requires major surgery, which has inherent risk and is expensive, there is considerable effort aimed at determining how RYGB and other surgeries induce

sustained weight loss and resolution of T2DM.

Of particular interest has been the suggestion that RYGB ameliorates coexistent type 2 diabetes mellitus before substantial weight loss has occurred and more rapidly than gastric banding. The differences between gastric banding and RYGB may be due to alterations in the anorectic and incretin gut hormone profile that is seen following RYGB, but not following gastric banding (156,157). Experimental evidence suggests that these anorectic gut hormones may mediate the effects of RYGB on appetite and body weight (157,158). Post-prandial PYY and GLP-1 levels begin to rise as early as 2 days following gastric bypass in humans (158), and secretory products of enteroendocrine L-cells, including PYY and GLP-1 remain elevated two years after bypass surgery (159). Inhibiting gut hormone release with somatostatin analogue octreotide increases the food intake after gastric bypass surgery but not following gastric banding (158), further suggesting that these hormones play a critical role. In rodent models of bariatric surgery increases in circulating GLP-1 (160) and PYY and a reduction in ghrelin (49), have been implicated in mediating the beneficial effects of these surgeries. Determining the mechanisms behind the sustained reduction in appetite may identify pathways that can be targeted by anti-obesity agents. To this end there has been recent concerted effort to mimic the rise in gut hormones following gut bypass by either the development of peptide based analogues or by the design of small molecule drugs which target nutrient sensing receptors on the enteroendocrine L-cell.

Long acting versions of PYY and OXM are being actively pursued by the pharmaceutical industry, such as Pfizer's OAP-189, we await the dissemination of data from ongoing trials. In addition Given that gut hormones are co-released one logical approach would be the development of combination therapies. Indeed data suggests that co-administration of gut hormones can have additive effects on food intake inhibition, for example PYY + GLP-1 (161) or PYY + OXM (162). Such combination approaches may prove more effective than individual administration. Very recently the development of chimeric agonists has emerged as a novel form of combination therapy (91,92). GLP-1/glucagon co-agonists combine the appetite suppressive effects of GLP-1 and glucagon with the energy expenditure promoting effects of glucagon. Whilst at the same time GLP-1's insulinotropic effects inhibit the detrimental hyperglycaemic effects of glucagon. Marcadia Ltd., now a subsidiary of Roche, first reported the beneficial effects of this approach and their compound is now undergoing clinical trials. In addition, Zealand Pharma is also developing a similar compound, ZP-2929, in partnership with Boehringer Mannheim. Time will tell if the promising pre-clinical data translates in to clinical benefit (163).

Considerable energy has also been directed toward the development of gut hormone secretagogues. The most well characterised class being agonists of GPR119. These compounds have been shown to release both GLP-1 and PYY (22). Their anti-diabetic effects are well defined: stimulation of GLP-1 and a direct insulinotropic action (22,164). It is less clear if these compounds will be effective as anti-obesity agents, but some agonists have been shown to significantly reduce food intake, for example PSN632408 (165). GPR119 is currently the only target for which synthetic modulators stimulate both incretin and insulin release. This highly beneficial profile has generated great industry interest with at least 9 companies actively working in this area. Initial clinical trials have been

Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97

successful with respect to the anti-diabetic indication (166,167).

Conclusion

Obesity has emerged as a major global healthcare challenge. The significant mortality and morbidity associated with obesity has inspired a vast amount of research directed towards developing safe and efficacious weight-loss agents. The beneficial effects of centrally acting weight-loss agents have been negated by their potentially hazardous effects on mood, reward, dependence and autonomic tone. Gut hormones, as outlined in this article, play an important role in the homeostatic control of food intake and offer an alternative to centrally acting drugs. We believe that in time these

References

- Whitlock G, Lewington S, Sherliker P, Clarke R, Emberson J, Halsey J, et al. Body-mass index and cause-specific mortality in 900 000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. Lancet 2009;373:1083-96.
- Zheng W, McLerran DF, Rolland B, Zhang X, Inoue M, Matsuo K, et al. Association between body-mass index and risk of death in more than 1 million Asians. N Engl J Med 2011;364:719-29.
- Murphy KG, Dhillo WS, Bloom SR. Gut peptides in the regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis. Endocr Rev 2006; 27:719-27.
- Schwartz MW, Woods SC, Porte D Jr, Seeley RJ, Baskin DG. Central nervous system control of food intake. Nature 2000;404:661-71.
- Chaudhri OB, Field BC, Bloom SR. Gastrointestinal satiety signals. J Obes (Lond) 2008; 32(Suppl 7):S28-31.
- Bewick GA, Gardiner JV, Dhillo WS, Kent AS, White NE, Webster Z, et al. Postembryonic ablation of AgRP neurons in mice leads to a lean, hypophagic phenotype. FASEB J 2005;19:1680-2.
- Broberger C, Johansen J, Johansson C, Schalling M, Hökfelt T. The neuropeptide Y/agouti gene-related protein (AGRP) brain circuitry in normal, anorectic, and monosodium glutamate-treated mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:15043-8.
- Hahn TM, Breininger JF, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW. Coexpression of Agrp and NPY in fasting-activated hypothalamic neurons. Nat Neurosci 1998;1:271-2.
- Elias CF, Lee C, Kelly J, Aschkenasi C, Ahima RS, Couceyro PR, et al. Leptin activates hypothalamic CART neurons projecting to the spinal cord. Neuron 1998;21:1375-85.

Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97

292

approaches will develop clinically useful compounds which will offer a real answer to the ever growing burden of obesity.

Acknowledgements

Investigative Medicine is funded by the MRC, BB-SRC, NIHR, an Integrative Mammalian Biology (IMB) Capacity Building Award, an FP7- HEALTH-2009- 241592 EuroCHIP grant and by the NIHR Imperial Biomedical Research Centre Funding Scheme. GAB is funded by an NIHR Career Development Fellowship.

Potential conflict of interest

None declared.

- Peruzzo B, Pastor FE, Blázquez JL, Schöbitz K, Peláez B, Amat P, et al. A second look at the barriers of the medial basal hypothalamus. Exp Brain Res 2000;132:10-26.
- Porte D Jr, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW. Leptin and insulin action in the central nervous system. Nutr Rev 2002;60:S20-9; discussion S68-84, 85-7.
- Baraboi ED, Michel C, Smith P, Thibaudeau K, Ferguson AV, Richard D. Effects of albumin-conjugated PYY on food intake: the respective roles of the circumventricular organs and vagus nerve. Eur J Neurosci 2010;32:826-39.
- Jobst EE, Enriori PJ, Cowley MA. The electrophysiology of feeding circuits. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2004;15:488-99.
- Sjolund K, Sanden G, Hakanson R, Sundler F. Endocrine cells in human intestine: an immunocytochemical study. Gastroenterology 1983;85:1120-30.
- Cheng H, Leblond CP. Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main epithelial cell types in the mouse small intestine. V. Unitarian Theory of the origin of the four epithelial cell types. Am J Anat 1974;141:537-61.
- Jang HJ, Kokrashvili Z, Theodorakis MJ, Carlson OD, Kim BJ, Zhou J, et al. Gut-expressed gustducin and taste receptors regulate secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104:15069-74.
- Rozengurt N, Wu SV, Chen MC, Huang C, Sternini C, Rozengurt E. Colocalization of the alpha-subunit of gustducin with PYY and GLP-1 in L cells of human colon. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2006;291:G792-802.
- Karaki S, Mitsui R, Hayashi H, Kato I, Sugiya H, Iwanaga T, Furness JB, Kuwahara A. Short-chain fatty acid receptor, GPR43, is expressed by enteroendocrine cells and mucosal mast cells in rat intestine. Cell Tissue Res 2006;324:353-60.

- Tazoe H, Otomo Y, Karaki S, Kato I, Fukami Y, Terasaki M, et al. Expression of short-chain fatty acid receptor GPR41 in the human colon 2. Biomed Res 2009;30:149-56.
- Cherbut C, Ferrier L, Rozé C, Anini Y, Blottière H, Lecannu G, Galmiche JP. Short-chain fatty acids modify colonic motility through nerves and polypeptide YY release in the rat. Am J Physiol 1998;275:G1415-22.
- Fu-Cheng X, Anini Y, Chariot J, Voisin T, Galmiche JP, Rozé C. Peptide YY release after intraduodenal, intraileal, and intracolonic administration of nutrients in rats. Pflugers Arch 1995;431:66-75.
- Chu ZL, Carroll C, Alfonso J, Gutierrez V, He H, Lucman A, et al. A role for intestinal endocrine cell-expressed g protein-coupled receptor 119 in glycemic control by enhancing glucagon-like Peptide-1 and glucose-dependent insulinotropic Peptide release. Endocrinology 2008;149:2038-47.
- Lauffer LM, lakoubov R, Brubaker PL. GPR119 is essential for oleoylethanolamide-induced glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion from the intestinal enteroendocrine L-cell. Diabetes 2009;58:1058-66.
- Cummings DE, Overduin J. Gastrointestinal regulation of food intake. J Clin Invest 2007;117:13-23.
- 25. Murphy KG, Bloom SR. Gut hormones and the regulation of energy homeostasis. Nature 2006;444:854-9.
- Adrian TE, Ferri GL, Bacarese-Hamilton AJ, Fuessl HS, Polak JM, Bloom SR. Human distribution and release of a putative new gut hormone, peptide YY. Gastroenterology 1985;89:1070-77.
- Le Quellec A, Kervran A, Blache P, Ciurana AJ, Bataille D. Oxyntomodulin-like immunoreactivity: diurnal profile of a new potential enterogastrone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1992;74:1405-9.
- Badman MK, Flier JS. The gut and energy balance: visceral allies in the obesity wars. Science 2005;307:1909-14.
- Batterham RL, Cowley MA, Small CJ, Herzog H, Cohen MA, Dakin CL, et al. Gut hormone PYY(3-36) physiologically inhibits food intake. Nature 2002;418:650-4.
- Lin HC, Zhao XT, Wang L, Wong H. Fat-induced ileal brake in the dog depends on peptide YY. Gastroenterology 1996;110:1491-5.
- Wen J, Phillips SF, Sarr MG, Kost LJ, Holst JJ. PYY and GLP-1 contribute to feedback inhibition from the canine ileum and colon. Am J Physiol 1995;269:G945-52.
- Grandt D, Schimiczek M, Beglinger C, Layer P, Goebell H, Eysselein VE, et al. Two molecular forms of peptide YY (PYY) are abundant in human blood: characterization of a radioimmunoassay recognizing PYY 1-36 and PYY 3-36. Regul Pept 1994;51:151-9.
- Medeiros MD, Turner AJ. Processing and metabolism of peptide-YY: pivotal roles of dipeptidylpeptidase-IV, aminopeptidase-P, and endopeptidase-24.11. Endocrinology 1994;134:2088-94.
- Larhammar D. Structural diversity of receptors for neuropeptide Y, peptide YY and pancreatic polypeptide. Regul Pept 1996;65:165-74.

- Grandt D, Teyssen S, Schimiczek M, Reeve JR Jr, Feth F, Rascher W, et al. Novel generation of hormone receptor specificity by amino terminal processing of peptide YY. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1992;186:1299-306.
- Broberger C, Landry M, Wong H, Walsh JN, Hökfelt T. Subtypes Y1 and Y2 of the neuropeptide Y receptor are respectively expressed in pro-opiomelanocortin- and neuropeptide-Y-containing neurons of the rat hypothalamic arcuate nucleus. Neuroendocrinology 1997;66:393-408.
- 37. Abbott CR, Small CJ, Kennedy AR, Neary NM, Sajedi A, Ghatei MA, et al. Blockade of the neuropeptide Y Y2 receptor with the specific antagonist BIIE0246 attenuates the effect of endogenous and exogenous peptide YY(3-36) on food intake. Brain Res 2005;1043:139-44.
- Batterham RL, Bloom SR. The gut hormone peptide YY regulates appetite. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2003;994:162-8.
- Batterham RL, Heffron H, Kapoor S, Chivers JE, Chandarana K, Herzog H, et al. Critical role for peptide YY in proteinmediated satiation and body-weight regulation. Cell Metab 2006;4:223-33.
- Pedersen-Bjergaard U, Host U, Kelbaek H, Schifter S, Rehfeld JF, Faber J, et al. Influence of meal composition on postprandial peripheral plasma concentrations of vasoactive peptides in man. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1996;56:497-503.
- Challis BG, Pinnock SB, Coll AP, Carter RN, Dickson SL, O'Rahilly S. Acute effects of PYY3-36 on food intake and hypothalamic neuropeptide expression in the mouse. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003;311:915-9.
- Chelikani PK, Haver AC, Reidelberger RD. Intravenous infusion of peptide YY(3-36) potently inhibits food intake in rats. Endocrinology 2005;146:879-88.
- Vrang N, Madsen AN, Tang-Christensen M, Hansen G, Larsen PJ. PYY(3-36) reduces food intake and body weight and improves insulin sensitivity in rodent models of dietinduced obesity. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2006;291:R367-75.
- Batterham RL, Cohen MA, Ellis SM, Le Roux CW, Withers DJ, Frost GS, et al. Inhibition of food intake in obese subjects by peptide YY3-36. N Engl J Med 2003;349:941-8.
- Ghamari-Langroudi M, Colmers WF, Cone RD. PYY3-36 inhibits the action potential firing activity of POMC neurons of arcuate nucleus through postsynaptic Y2 receptors. Cell Metab2005;2:191-9.
- 46. Challis BG, Coll AP, Yeo GS, Pinnock SB, Dickson SL, Thresher RR, et al. Mice lacking pro-opiomelanocortin are sensitive to high-fat feeding but respond normally to the acute anorectic effects of peptide-YY3-36. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004;101:4695-700.
- Koda S, Date Y, Murakami N, Shimbara T, Hanada T, Toshinai K, et al. The role of the vagal nerve in peripheral PYY3-36-induced feeding reduction in rats. Endocrinology 2005;146:2369-75.
- 48. Abbott CR, Monteiro M, Small CJ, Sajedi A, Smith KL, Parkinson JR, et al. The inhibitory effects of peripheral administration of peptide YY(3-36) and glucagon-like peptide-1 on food intake are attenuated by ablation of the

Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97

vagal-brainstem-hypothalamic pathway. Brain Res 2005;1044:127-31.

- Chandarana K, Gelegen C, Karra E, Choudhury AI, Drew ME, Fauveau V, et al. Diet and gastrointestinal bypassinduced weight loss: the roles of ghrelin and peptide YY. Diabetes 2011;60:810-8.
- Dhanvantari S, Seidah NG, Brubaker PL. Role of prohormone convertases in the tissue-specific processing of proglucagon. Mol Endocrinol 1996;10:342-55.
- Herrmann C, Göke R, Richter G, Fehmann HC, Arnold R, Göke B. Glucagon-like peptide-1 and glucose-dependent insulin-releasing polypeptide plasma levels in response to nutrients. Digestion 1995;56:117-26.
- MacDonald PE, El-Kholy W, Riedel MJ, Salapatek AM, Light PE, Wheeler MB. The multiple actions of GLP-1 on the process of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. Diabetes 2002;51(Suppl 3):S434-42.
- Willms B, Werner J, Holst JJ, Orskov C, Creutzfeldt W, Nauck MA. Gastric emptying, glucose responses, and insulin secretion after a liquid test meal: effects of exogenous glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)-(7-36) amide in type 2 (noninsulin-dependent) diabetic patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1996;81:327-32.
- Schirra J, Nicolaus M, Roggel R, Katschinski M, Storr M, Woerle HJ, et al. Endogenous glucagon-like peptide 1 controls endocrine pancreatic secretion and antro-pyloro-duodenal motility in humans. Gut 2006;55:243-51.
- Meeran K, O'Shea D, Edwards CM, Turton MD, Heath MM, Gunn I, et al. Repeated intracerebroventricular administration of glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36) amide or exendin-(9-39) alters body weight in the rat. Endocrinology 1999;140:244-50.
- Punjabi M, Arnold M, Geary N, Langhans W, Pacheco-López G. Peripheral glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and satiation. Physiol Behav 2011;105:71-6.
- Shughrue PJ, Lane MV, Merchenthaler I. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor (GLP1-R) mRNA in the rat hypothalamus. Endocrinology 1996;137:5159-62.
- Tang-Christensen M, Vrang N, Larsen PJ. Glucagon-like peptide containing pathways in the regulation of feeding behaviour. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2001;25(Suppl 5):S42-7.
- Turton MD, O'Shea D, Gunn I, Beak SA, Edwards CM, Meeran K, et al. A role for glucagon-like peptide-1 in the central regulation of feeding. Nature 1996;379:69-72.
- Verdich C, Flint A, Gutzwiller JP, Näslund E, Beglinger C, Hellström PM, et al. A meta-analysis of the effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36) amide on ad libitum energy intake in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86:4382-9.
- Näslund E, Bogefors J, Skogar S, Grybäck P, Jacobsson H, Holst JJ, et al. GLP-1 slows solid gastric emptying and inhibits insulin, glucagon, and PYY release in humans. Am J Physiol 1999;277:R910-6.
- Nauck MA, Niedereichholz U, Ettler R, Holst JJ, Orskov C, Ritzel R, et al. Glucagon-like peptide 1 inhibition of gastric emptying outweighs its insulinotropic effects in healthy humans. Am J Physiol 1997;273:E981-8.

Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97

294

 Imeryüz N, Yeğen BC, Bozkurt A, Coşkun T, Villanueva-Peñacarrillo ML, Ulusoy NB. Glucagon-like peptide-1 inhibits gastric emptying via vagal afferent-mediated central mechanisms. Am J Physiol 1997;273:G920-7.

Gut hormones and obesity

- 64. Parkinson JR, Chaudhri OB, Kuo YT, Field BC, Herlihy AH, Dhillo WS, et al. Differential patterns of neuronal activation in the brainstem and hypothalamus following peripheral injection of GLP-1, oxyntomodulin and lithium chloride in mice detected by manganese-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging (MEMRI). Neuroimage 2009;44:1022-31.
- Joy SV, Rodgers PT, Scates AC. Incretin mimetics as emerging treatments for type 2 diabetes. Ann Pharmacother 2005;39:110-8.
- 66. Eng J, Kleinman WA, Singh L, Singh G, Raufman JP. Isolation and characterization of exendin-4, an exendin-3 analogue, from Heloderma suspectum venom. Further evidence for an exendin receptor on dispersed acini from guinea pig pancreas. J Biol Chem 1992;267:7402-5.
- Drucker DJ. The biology of incretin hormones. Cell Metab 2006;3:153-65.
- Drucker DJ, Nauck MA. The incretin system: glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists and dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes. Lancet 2006;368:1696-705.
- Buse JB, Henry RR, Han J, Kim DD, Fineman MS, Baron AD, et al. Effects of exenatide (exendin-4) on glycemic control over 30 weeks in sulfonylurea-treated patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004;27:2628-35.
- DeFronzo RA, Ratner RE, Han J, Kim DD, Fineman MS, Baron AD. Effects of exenatide (exendin-4) on glycemic control and weight over 30 weeks in metformin-treated patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005;28:1092-100.
- Kendall DM, Riddle MC, Rosenstock J, Zhuang D, Kim DD, Fineman MS, Baron AD. Effects of exenatide (exendin-4) on glycemic control over 30 weeks in patients with type 2 diabetes treated with metformin and a sulfonylurea. Diabetes Care 2005;28:1083-91.
- Astrup A, Carraro R, Finer N, Harper A, Kunesova M, Lean ME, et al. Safety, tolerability and sustained weight loss over 2 years with the once-daily human GLP-1 analog, liraglutide. Int J Obes (Lond) 2012;36:843-54.
- Tzefos M, Harris K, Brackett A. Clinical efficacy and safety of once-weekly glucagon-like peptide-1 agonists in development for treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus in adults. Ann Pharmacother 2012;46:68-78.
- Schjoldager B, Mortensen PE, Myhre J, Christiansen J, Holst JJ. Oxyntomodulin from distal gut. Role in regulation of gastric and pancreatic functions. Dig Dis Sci 1989;34:1411-9.
- Dakin CL, Gunn I, Small CJ, Edwards CM, Hay DL, Smith DM, et al. Oxyntomodulin inhibits food intake in the rat. Endocrinology 2001;142:4244-50.
- Dakin CL, Small CJ, Batterham RL, Neary NM, Cohen MA, Patterson M, et al. Peripheral oxyntomodulin reduces food intake and body weight gain in rats. Endocrinology 2004;145:2687-95.

- Dakin CL, Small CJ, Park AJ, Seth A, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR. Repeated ICV administration of oxyntomodulin causes a greater reduction in body weight gain than in pair-fed rats. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2002;283:E1173-7.
- Cohen MA, Ellis SM, Le Roux CW, Batterham RL, Park A, Patterson M, et al. Oxyntomodulin suppresses appetite and reduces food intake in humans. J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab 2003;88:4696-701.
- Wynne K, Park AJ, Small CJ, Patterson M, Ellis SM, Murphy KG, et al. Subcutaneous oxyntomodulin reduces body weight in overweight and obese subjects: a double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Diabetes 2005;54:2390-5.
- Wynne K, Park AJ, Small CJ, Meeran K, Ghatei MA, Frost GS, Bloom SR. Oxyntomodulin increases energy expenditure in addition to decreasing energy intake in overweight and obese humans: a randomised controlled trial. Int J Obes (Lond) 2006;30:1729-36.
- Baggio LL, Huang Q, Brown TJ, Drucker DJ. Oxyntomodulin and glucagon-like peptide-1 differentially regulate murine food intake and energy expenditure. Gastroenterology 2004;127:546-58.
- Chaudhri OB, Parkinson JR, Kuo YT, Druce MR, Herlihy AH, Bell JD et al. Differential hypothalamic neuronal activation following peripheral injection of GLP-1 and oxyntomodulin in mice detected by manganese-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;350:298-306.
- Striffler J, Cardell EL, Cardell RR Jr. Effects of glucagon on hepatic glycogen and smooth endoplasmic reticulum. Am J Anat 1981;160:363-79.
- Studer RK, Snowdowne KW, Borle AB. Regulation of hepatic glycogenolysis by glucagon in male and female rats. Role of cAMP and Ca2+ and interactions between epinephrine and glucagon. J Biol Chem 1984;259:3596-604.
- Stevenson RW, Steiner KE, Davis MA, Hendrick GK, Williams PE, Lacy WW et al. Similar dose responsiveness of hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis to glucagon in vivo. Diabetes 1987;36:382-9.
- Wasserman DH, Spalding JA, Bracy D, Lacy DB, Cherrington AD. Exercise-induced rise in glucagon and ketogenesis during prolonged muscular work. Diabetes 1989;38:799-807.
- Svoboda M, Tastenoy M, Vertongen P, Robberecht P. Relative quantitative analysis of glucagon receptor mRNA in rat tissues. Mol Cell Endocrinol 1994;105:131-7.
- Nair KS. Hyperglucagonemia increases resting metabolic rate in man during insulin deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1987;64:896-901.
- Schulman JL, Carleton JL, Whitney G, Whitehorn JC. Effect of glucagon on food intake and body weight in man. J Appl Physiol 1957;11:419-21.
- Geary N, Le Sauter J, Noh U. Glucagon acts in the liver to control spontaneous meal size in rats. Am J Physiol 1993;264:R116-22.
- Pocai A, Carrington PE, Adams JR, Wright M, Eiermann G, Zhu L et al. Glucagon-like peptide 1/glucagon receptor dual agonism reverses obesity in mice. Diabetes 2009;58:2258-66.

- Day JW, Ottaway N, Patterson JT, Gelfanov V, Smiley D, Gidda J et al. A new glucagon and GLP-1 co-agonist eliminates obesity in rodents. Nat Chem Biol 2009;5:749-57.
- Kojima M, Hosoda H, Date Y, Nakazato M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K. Ghrelin is a growth-hormone-releasing acylated peptide from stomach.. Nature 1999;402:656-60.
- Bewick GA, Kent A, Campbell D, Patterson M, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR, Gardiner JV. Mice with hyperghrelinemia are hyperphagic and glucose intolerant and have reduced leptin sensitivity. Diabetes 2009;58:840-6.
- Lawrence CB, Snape AC, Baudoin FM, Luckman SM. Acute central ghrelin and GH secretagogues induce feeding and activate brain appetite centers. Endocrinology 2002;143:155-62.
- Tschöp M, Smiley DL, Heiman ML. Ghrelin induces adiposity in rodents. Nature 2000;407:908-13.
- Wren AM, Small CJ, Ward HL, Murphy KG, Dakin CL, Taheri S et al. The novel hypothalamic peptide ghrelin stimulates food intake and growth hormone secretion. Endocrinology 2000;141:4325-8.
- Masuda Y, Tanaka T, Inomata N, Ohnuma N, Tanaka S, Itoh Z et al. Ghrelin stimulates gastric acid secretion and motility in rats. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000;276:905-8.
- Toshinai K, Mondal MS, Nakazato M, Date Y, Murakami N, Kojima M et al. Upregulation of Ghrelin expression in the stomach upon fasting, insulin-induced hypoglycemia, and leptin administration. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2001;281:1220-5.
- 100. Ariyasu H, Takaya K, Tagami T, Ogawa Y, Hosoda K, Akamizu T et al. Stomach is a major source of circulating ghrelin, and feeding state determines plasma ghrelin-like immunoreactivity levels in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86:4753-8.
- Cummings DE, Weigle DS, Frayo RS, Breen PA, Ma MK, Dellinger EP, Purnell JQ. Plasma ghrelin levels after dietinduced weight loss or gastric bypass surgery. N Engl J Med 2002;346:1623-30.
- Shiiya T, Nakazato M, Mizuta M, Date Y, Mondal MS, Tanaka M et al. Plasma ghrelin levels in lean and obese humans and the effect of glucose on ghrelin secretion. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002;87:240-4.
- Tschöp M, Wawarta R, Riepl RL, Friedrich S, Bidlingmaier M, Landgraf R, Folwaczny C. Post-prandial decrease of circulating human ghrelin levels. J Endocrinol Invest 2001;24:RC19-21.
- Hewson AK, Dickson SL. Systemic administration of ghrelin induces Fos and Egr-1 proteins in the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus of fasted and fed rats. J Neuroendocrinol 2000;12:1047-9.
- Tamura H, Kamegai J, Shimizu T, Ishii S, Sugihara H, Oikawa S. Ghrelin stimulates GH but not food intake in arcuate nucleus ablated rats. Endocrinology 2002;143:3268-75.
- Page AJ, Slattery JA, Milte C, Laker R, O'Donnell T, Dorian C et al. Ghrelin selectively reduces mechanosensitivity of upper gastrointestinal vagal afferents. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2007292:G1376-84.

Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97 295

- 107. Date Y, Murakami N, Toshinai K, Matsukura S, Niijima A, Matsuo H et al. The role of the gastric afferent vagal nerve in ghrelin-induced feeding and growth hormone secretion in rats. Gastroenterology 2002;123:1120-8.
- Briggs DI, Enriori PJ, Lemus MB, Cowley MA, Andrews ZB. Diet-induced obesity causes ghrelin resistance in arcuate NPY/AgRP neurons. Endocrinology 2010;151:4745-55.
- Gardiner JV, Campbell D, Patterson M, Kent A, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR, Bewick GA. The hyperphagic effect of ghrelin is inhibited in mice by a diet high in fat. Gastroenterology 2010;138:2468-76.
- Perez-Tilve D, Heppner K, Kirchner H, Lockie SH, Woods SC, Smiley DL et al. Ghrelin-induced adiposity is independent of orexigenic effects. FASEB J 2011;25:2814-22.
- Chuang JC, Perello M, Sakata I, Osborne-Lawrence S, Savitt JM, Lutter M, Zigman JM. Ghrelin mediates stress-induced food-reward behavior in mice. J Clin Invest 2011;121:2684-92.
- Roth KA, Kim S, Gordon JI. Immunocytochemical studies suggest two pathways for enteroendocrine cell differentiation in the colon. Am J Physiol 1992;263:G174-80.
- Moran TH, Robinson PH, Goldrich MS, McHugh PR. Two brain cholecystokinin receptors: implications for behavioral actions. Brain Res 1986;362:175-9.
- Liddle RA, Goldfine ID, Rosen MS, Taplitz RA, Williams JA. Cholecystokinin bioactivity in human plasma. Molecular forms, responses to feeding, and relationship to gallbladder contraction. J Clin Invest 1985;75:1144-52.
- Rehfeld JF, Bungaard JR, Friis-Hansen L, Goetze JP. On the tissue-specific processing of procholecystokinin in the brain and gut--a short review. J Physiol Pharmacol 2003;54 Suppl 4:73-9.
- Degen L, Drewe J, Piccoli F, Gräni K, Oesch S, Bunea R et al. Effect of CCK-1 receptor blockade on ghrelin and PYY secretion in men. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2007;292:R1391-9.
- Antin J, Gibbs J, Holt J, Young RC, Smith GP. Cholecystokinin elicits the complete behavioral sequence of satiety in rats. J Comp Physiol Psychol 1975;89:784-90.
- Lieverse RJ, Jansen JB, Masclee AA, Lamers CB. Satiety effects of a physiological dose of cholecystokinin in humans. Gut 1995;36:176-9.
- Covasa M, Marcuson JK, Ritter RC. Diminished satiation in rats exposed to elevated levels of endogenous or exogenous cholecystokinin. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2001;280:R331-7.
- Adrian TE, Bloom SR, Bryant MG, Polak JM, Heitz PH, Barnes AJ. Distribution and release of human pancreatic polypeptide. Gut 1976;17:940-44.
- Larsson LI, Sundler F, Håkanson R. Immunohistochemical localization of human pancreatic polypeptide (HPP) to a population of islet cells. Cell Tissue Res 1975;156:167-71.
- Schwartz TW, Holst JJ, Fahrenkrug J, Jensen SL, Nielsen OV, Rehfeld JF et al. Vagal, cholinergic regulation of pancreatic polypeptide secretion. J Clin Invest 1978;61:781-9.

Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97

296

- 123. Michel MC, Beck-Sickinger A, Cox H, Doods HN, Herzog H, Larhammar D et al. XVI. International Union of Pharmacology recommendations for the nomenclature of neuropeptide Y, peptide YY, and pancreatic polypeptide receptors. Pharmacol Rev. 1998;50:143-50.
- Asakawa A, Inui A, Yuzuriha H, Ueno N, Katsuura G, Fujimiya M et al. Characterization of the effects of pancreatic polypeptide in the regulation of energy balance. Gastroenterology 2003;1241325-36.
- 125. Batterham RL, Le Roux CW, Cohen MA, Park AJ, Ellis SM, Patterson M et al. Pancreatic polypeptide reduces appetite and food intake in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:3989-92.
- Jesudason DR, Monteiro MP, McGowan BM, Neary NM, Park AJ, Philippou E et al. Low-dose pancreatic polypeptide inhibits food intake in man. Br J Nutr 2007;97:426-9.
- Berntson GG, Zipf WB, O'Dorisio TM, Hoffman JA, Chance RE. Pancreatic polypeptide infusions reduce food intake in Prader-Willi syndrome. Peptides 1993;14:497-503.
- Liu YL, Semjonous NM, Murphy KG, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR. The effects of pancreatic polypeptide on locomotor activity and food intake in mice. Int J Obes (Lond) 2008;32:1712-5.
- 129. Tan TM, Field BC, Minnion JS, Cuenco-Shillito J, Chambers ES, Zac-Varghese S et al. Pharmacokinetics, adverse effects and tolerability of a novel analogue of human pancreatic polypeptide, PP 1420. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2012;73:232-9.
- Carraway R, Leeman SE. Characterization of radioimmunoassayable neurotensin in the rat. Its differential distribution in the central nervous system, small intestine, and stomach. J Biol Chem 1976;251:7045-52.
- Kitabgi P. Prohormone convertases differentially process pro-neurotensin/neuromedin N in tissues and cell lines. J Mol Med (Berl) 2006;84:628-34.
- Feurle GE, Müller B, Rix E. Neurotensin induces hyperplasia of the pancreas and growth of the gastric antrum in rats. Gut 1987;28 Suppl:19-23.
- Wood JG, Hoang HD, Bussjaeger LJ, Solomon TE. Neurotensin stimulates growth of small intestine in rats. Am J Physiol 1988;255:G813-7.
- Rosell S, Rökaeus A. The effect of ingestion of amino acids, glucose and fat on circulating neurotensin-like immunoreactivity (NTLI) in man. Acta Physiol Scand 1979;107:263-67.
- Sandoval SL, Kulkosky PJ. Effects of peripheral neurotensin on behavior of the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1992;41:385-90.
- Cooke JH, Patterson M, Patel SR, Smith KL, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR, Murphy KG. Peripheral and central administration of xenin and neurotensin suppress food intake in rodents. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2009;17:1135-43.
- 137. Schmidt PT, Näslund E, Grybäck P, Jacobsson H, Hartmann B, Holst JJ, Hellström PM. Peripheral administration of GLP-2 to humans has no effect on gastric emptying or satiety. Regul Pept 2003;116:21-5.

- Scott RB, Kirk D, MacNaughton WK, Meddings JB. GLP-2 augments the adaptive response to massive intestinal resection in rat. Am J Physiol 1998;275:G911-21.
- Chance WT, Balasubramaniam A, Stallion A, Fischer JE. Anorexia following the systemic injection of amylin. Brain Res 1993;607:185-8.
- Lutz TA, Del Prete E, Scharrer E. Reduction of food intake in rats by intraperitoneal injection of low doses of amylin. Physiol Behav 1994;55:891-5.
- 141. Ratner R, Whitehouse F, Fineman MS, Strobel S, Shen L, Maggs DG, et al. Adjunctive therapy with pramlintide lowers HbA1c without concomitant weight gain and increased risk of severe hypoglycemia in patients with type 1 diabetes approaching glycemic targets. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 2005;113:199-204.
- Rushing PA, Hagan MM, Seeley RJ, Lutz TA, Woods SC. Amylin: a novel action in the brain to reduce body weight. Endocrinology 2000;141:850-3.
- 143. Whitehouse F, Kruger DF, Fineman M, Shen L, Ruggles JA, Maggs DG, et al. A randomized study and open-label extension evaluating the long-term efficacy of pramlintide as an adjunct to insulin therapy in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2002;25:724-30.
- Ghourab S, Beale KE, Semjonous NM, Simpson KA, Martin NM, Ghatei MA, et al. Intracerebroventricular administration of vasoactive intestinal peptide inhibits food intake. Regul Pept 2011;172:8-15.
- James WP, Caterson ID, Coutinho W, Finer N, Van Gaal LF, Maggioni AP, et al. Effect of sibutramine on cardiovascular outcomes in overweight and obese subjects. N Engl J Med 2010;363:905-17.
- Christensen R, Kristensen PK, Bartels EM, Bliddal H, Astrup A. Efficacy and safety of the weight-loss drug rimonabant: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet 2007;370:1706-13.
- Rucker D, Padwal R, Li SK, Curioni C, Lau DC. Long term pharmacotherapy for obesity and overweight: updated meta-analysis. BMJ 2007;335:1194-9.
- Adams TD, Gress RE, Smith SC, Halverson RC, Simper SC, Rosamond WD, et al. Long-term mortality after gastric bypass surgery. N Engl J Med 2007;357:753-61.
- Sjöström L, Narbro K, Sjöström CD, Karason K, Larsson B, Wedel H, et al. Effects of bariatric surgery on mortality in Swedish obese subjects. N Engl J Med 2007;357:741-52.
- Dixon AF, Dixon JB, O'Brien PE. Laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding induces prolonged satiety: a randomized blind crossover study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005;90:813-9.
- Kenler HA, Brolin RE, Cody RP. Changes in eating behavior after horizontal gastroplasty and Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Am J Clin Nutr 1990;52:87-92.
- Chan JL, Heist K, DePaoli AM, Veldhuis JD, Mantzoros CS. The role of falling leptin levels in the neuroendocrine and metabolic adaptation to short-term starvation in healthy men. J Clin Invest 2003;111:1409-21.
- Mingrone G, Panunzi S, De Gaetano A, Guidone C, Iaconelli A, Leccesi L, et al. Bariatric surgery versus conven-

tional medical therapy for type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2012;366:1577-85.

- 154. Schauer PR, Kashyap SR, Wolski K, Brethauer SA, Kirwan JP, Pothier CE, et al. Bariatric surgery versus intensive medical therapy in obese patients with diabetes. N Engl J Med 2012;366:1567-76.
- 155. Bariatric Surgical and Procedural Interventions in the Treatment of Obese Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. In IDF position statment. International Diabetes Federation 2011.
- Kellum JM, Kuemmerle JF, O'Dorisio TM, Rayford P, Martin D, Engle K, et al. Gastrointestinal hormone responses to meals before and after gastric bypass and vertical banded gastroplasty. Ann Surg 1990;211:763-70; discussion 770-1.
- 157. le Roux CW, Aylwin SJ, Batterham RL, Borg CM, Coyle F, Prasad V, et al. Gut hormone profiles following bariatric surgery favor an anorectic state, facilitate weight loss, and improve metabolic parameters. AnnSurg 2006;243:108-14.
- Ie Roux CW, Welbourn R, Werling M, Osborne A, Kokkinos A, Laurenius A, et al. Gut hormones as mediators of appetite and weight loss after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Ann Surg 2007;246:780-5.
- 159. le Roux CW, Borg C, Wallis K, Vincent RP, Bueter M, Goodlad R, et al. Gut hypertrophy after gastric bypass is associated with increased glucagon-like peptide 2 and intestinal crypt cell proliferation. Ann Surg 2010;252:50-6.
- Chambers AP, Jessen L, Ryan KK, Sisley S, Wilson-Pérez HE, Stefater MA, et al. Weight-independent changes in blood glucose homeostasis after gastric bypass or vertical sleeve gastrectomy in rats. Gastroenterology 2011;141:950-8.
- Neary NM, Small CJ, Druce MR, Park AJ, Ellis SM, Semjonous NM, et al. Peptide YY3-36 and glucagon-like peptide-17-36 inhibit food intake additively 2. Endocrinology 2005;146:5120-7.
- 162. Field BC, Wren AM, Peters V, Baynes KC, Martin NM, Patterson M, et al. PYY3-36 and oxyntomodulin can be additive in their effect on food intake in overweight and obese humans. Diabetes 2010;59:1635-9.
- 163. Daugaard JR, Meier E, Riber D, Bæk CÆ, Larsen K. S. The new dual Glucagon-GLP-1 Agonist ZP2929 improves glycemic control and reduces body weight in murine models of obesity and type 2 Diabetes. Poster at ADA, Orlando June 2010.
- Chu ZL, Jones RM, He H, Carroll C, Gutierrez V, Lucman A, et al. A role for beta-cell-expressed G protein-coupled receptor 119 in glycemic control by enhancing glucose-dependent insulin release. Endocrinology 2007;148:2601-9.
- 165. Overton HA, Babbs AJ, Doel SM, Fyfe MC, Gardner LS, Griffin G, et al. Deorphanization of a G protein-coupled receptor for oleoylethanolamide and its use in the discovery of small-molecule hypophagic agents. Cell Metab 2006;3:167-75.
- Jones RM, Leonard JN, Buzard DJ, Lehmann J. GPR119 agonists for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Expert Opin Ther Pat 2009;19:1339-59.
- Shah U, Kowalski TJ. GPR119 agonists for the potential treatment of type 2 diabetes and related metabolic disorders. Vitam Horm 2010;84:415-48.

Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):283-97 297

10. PRENATAL AND NEWBORN SCREENING OF CYSTIC FIBROSIS

Dragica Radojković

10.1 INTRODUCTION

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is the most common life-threatening autosomal recessive condition affecting 1 in 2500 newborns among Caucasians (1). Anderson was the first who described the disease as «cystic fibrosis of pancreas» (2). Twenty-five years later Di Saint'Agnese et al demonstrated that excessive salt loss occurs in the sweat of CF patients, which led to the use of sweat electrolyte measurements as a diagnostic tool (3). Cystic fibrosis is a progressive multisystem disease that primarily affects pulmonary, pancreatic and gastrointestinal systems. The major clinical characteristics of CF include pancreatic insufficiency and progressive lung disease, caused by thick and dehydrated airway mucus frequently infected with *Pseudomonas* and *Staphylococcus*, leading to respiratory failure and CF mortality. In addition, most adult males with CF are infertile due to congenital absence of vas deferens (CBAVD). Patients with CF may also suffer from intestinal obstruction (meconium ileus, distal intestinal obstruction syndrome), diabetes, liver disease, growth retardation, dehydration due to excessive salt loss in sweat, nasal polyps and chronic sinusitis (4,5).

Our knowledge of underlying pathophysiology and molecular basis of the CF has grown exponentially over the years, driving the development of effective therapies. Consequently, improved treatment has increased the life expectancy of CF patients from what was a fatal childhood condition to a present median survival of 36.8 years. Predicted median survival for current newborns is at least 50 years and over 55% of patients in UK are adults (6).

10.2 GENETICS OF CYSTIC FIBROSIS

10.2.1 CYSTIC FIBROSIS TRANSMEMBRANE CONDUCTANCE REGULATOR (CFTR)

The cystic fibrosis gene was identified in 1989 by tremendous effort involving combination of positional cloning, gene walking and jumping and candidate gene analysis. The gene comprises of 27 coding exons, spanning over 250kb on chromosome 7q31.2 and encodes mRNA of 6.5kb. The protein encoded by the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene is a chloride channel located in the apical membrane of exocrine epithelial cells and contains 1480 amino acids, with a calculated molecular weight of approximately 170kDa (7,8). The protein comprises of five domains: two membrane spanning domains (MSD1 and MSD2), each composed of six transmembrane segments (TM1 to TM12) that form the channel, two nucleotide binding domains (NBD1 and NBD2), capable of ATP hydrolysis and regulatory domain (R) which contains several phosphorylation sites. The CFTR belongs to ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter proteins and primarily finctions as ATP dependent chloride channel. In addition to this primary function, it also modifies the function and properties of other ion transporters including chloride, sodium and potassium channels and CI/HCO₃ exchanger. Moreover, it has an effect on water permeability, ATP transport and mucus secretion (9,10).

10.2.2 MOLECULAR BASIS OF CYSTIC FIBROSIS

Initial molecular genetic characterization of the CFTR gene in affected patients revealed the major CF mutation, a 3-bp deletion causing a loss of phenylalanine at position 508 of the protein, designated as F508del (previously termed Δ F508) (11). The F508del is the most common mutation that accounts for approximately two thirds of all CFTR alleles in patients with CF, with a decreasing prevalence from Northwest to Southeast Europe (12). The remaining third of alleles are substantially heterogeneous, with fewer than 20 mutations occurring at worldwide frequency of more than 0.1%, but some can reach high prevalence in selected populations. The majority of CFTR mutations have been associated with Europeanderived populations. To date more than 1900 sequence alterations have been identified in the CFTR gene and their listing is continuously updated within Cystic Fibrosis Genetic Analysis Consortium (CFGAC) (13). The different CFTR mutations can be divided into 5 major classes according to their effect on CFTR function: defective protein (class I), defective processing and maturation (class II), defective regulation (class III), defective conductance (class IV) and reduced function/synthesis (class V). When patients who are homozygous or compound heterozygous for a class I-III CFTR mutations are compared to patients who carry at least one class IV-V CFTR mutation, the latter group tends to have less severe disease. The correlation between genotype and phenotype in CF is variable. Keeping in mind that CF phenotype is affected by CFTR genotype, as well as other genetic (modifier genes) and environmental factors (smoking, malnutrition), the functional classification of CFTR mutations in 5 classes should be considered as a research tool rather than a predictor of clinical outcome in individual patients (14).

10.3 CLASSICAL DIAGNOSIS OF CYSTIC FIBROSIS

Diagnosis of classical CF is based on a combination of consistent clinical features and evidence of CFTR channel dysfunction. Laboratory criteria include a positive sweat test (chloride value above 60mmol/l), and/or presence of two CF-causing mutations (in trans), and/or abnormal values of electrophysiological measurements of nasal potential difference and rectal chloride transport (15,16).



Figure 10.1 Clinical settings for cystic fibrosis genetic testing.

The sweat test with chloride determination is still the gold standard for the confirmation of CF diagnosis (sweet stimulation by pilocarpine iontophoresis and sweet chloride determination using coulometric titration method). In the majority of the cases the diagnosis of CF is straight forward, based on typical clinical features and abnormal sweat chloride test that supports the clinical diagnosis. In such situations, genetic analysis is not strictly necessary, although it is valuable for the confirmation of the diagnosis and also to enable carrier testing and prenatal diagnosis within the family (17). Genetic testing for CF could be performed in different clinical settings as illustrated by Figure 10.1.

10.3.1 PRENATAL TESTING IN CYSTIC FIBROSIS

Prenatal diagnostics is very important in detection and prevention of genetic diseases. In the past 40 years, there has been a marked improvement in this field primarily trough introduction of chorionic villi sampling (CVS) in the first trimester of gestation, development of preimplantation diagnostics, diagnostics based on fetal DNA in the peripheral blood of the pregnant women and molecular diagnostics of hereditary diseases (18).

Regarding the severity of the disease as well as its frequency, CF is a genetic disorder for which prenatal testing is an ultimate demand. Prenatal diagnosis for pregnancy at risk 1:4 is currently performed routinely by genetic testing. When CF was recognized as a clinical entity in the 40s of the last century, the only way to control the risk of not having affected child was to restrain from reproduction. The turning point in the field of prenatal diagnostics of cystic fibrosis was the measurement of the microvillar intestinal enzyme level in amniotic fluid (19). Since 1985, when CF locus was assigned to chromosome 7, indirect molecular genetic testing for CF was introduced, and in 1986 Farral performed the first prenatal diagnosis of CF, in the first trimester of gestation, using linked DNA polymorphic markers (20). The knowledge of the strong association between the presence of mutated gene and certain haplotype further spread the use of prenatal testing in CF, which was additionally speeded up by the implementation of PCR methodology (21,22). The important improvement in prenatal diagnostics of CF was the cloning of CFTR gene and the detection of most common F508del mutation. That was particularly important in genetic counseling of high-risk families lacking the index case.

Presently, prenatal diagnostics mainly relies on DNA diagnostics and high-risk couples have several reproductive options: termination of affected pregnancy, in vitro fertilization and preimplantation diagnostics of cystic fibrosis. With the development of a wide range of novel technologies available nowadays, the laboratory can choose the method that best suits the diagnostic requirements: Allele-Specific Nucleotide (ASO), Oligonucleotide Ligation Assay (OLA), Amplification Refractory Mutation System (ARMS), Invader assay, Nanochip microarray, Denaturing Gradient Gel Electrophoresis (DGGE), Denaturing High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (DHPLC), Single Strand Conformation Polymorphism (SSCP) and DNA sequencing. Methods used for CFTR testing can be divided in two groups: those targeted at known mutations (testing DNA samples for the presence or absence of specific mutations) and scanning methods (screening for any deviation from the standard sequence). These also include searching for large unknown CFTR rearrangements by multiplex ligation dependent probe amplification (MLPA) or quantitative fluorescent multiplex PCR. Such rearrangements, which can escape detection using conventional PCR assays, are present in 2% of alleles in CF patients (23). The majority of the laboratories use the commercial assays that cover the panel of 24-32 mutations (16). The combined use of all currently available techniques cannot guarantee detection of two disease-causing mutations in trans in all patients; 1-5% of alleles remain undetermined in CF patients with classical form of the disease. Best practice guidelines for molecular genetic diagnosis of CF recommend the

organization of testing laboratories in two levels of expertise: "level 1" (screening) and "level 2" (reference) laboratories. Laboratories should be aware of the heterogeneity in the distribution of CFTR mutations in different populations that consequently results in lower sensitivity of the test in regions of Central, Southern and Eastern Europe (14,16).

Prenatal testing for CF should be performed on request, following genetic counseling. It can be offered to (1) parents of a patient with the established diagnosis of CF where both parental mutations have been identified, preferably before ongoing pregnancy in order to minimize the anxiety; (2) carrier couples identified through carrier screening and (3) carrier couples identified through investigations for fetal bowel anomalies. Prenatal testing could be performed in the first (CVS) or the second trimester (amniocentesis) of gestation. Search for maternal cell contamination of the fetal samples should be carried out by a panel of microsatellite markers.

Fetal bowel anomalies are most often observed during the ultrasound examinations in the second trimester of pregnancy. They can be due to CF or other disease conditions or may not be associated with disease. Diagnostic investigations should therefore include search for frequent CFTR mutations, fetal karyotyping and screening for viral infections (24). Cystic fibrosis is confirmed in 2.5-10% of hyperechogenic bowel cases (25-27). Although the overall risk of CF varies between studies, a large French collaborative study performed on 641 pregnancies presenting fetal bowel anomalies determined the risk of CF as 3% (28).

Some laboratories offer preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) to at-risk couples as an alternative to prenatal diagnosis. This procedure should be performed following the highest quality standards (29).

10.3.2 GENETIC SCREENING FOR CYSTIC FIBROSIS

Cystic fibrosis has been an obvious target for population screening ever since discovery of the CFTR gene. The reason for that is relatively high carrier frequency, especially in Caucasians (1 in 25-30). CF has recessive mode of inheritance, and most of the carriers have a negative family history and do not know that they are at risk of having an affected child.

Several pilot programs of various forms of population screening have been performed. Antenatal population based CF carrier screening has been carried out in Scotland, UK and USA. After 5 years of population screening in Scotland with 76% uptake, a decrease in the number of CF cases in pediatric population from 4.6 cases per year to 1.6 cases was observed. The report concluded that antenatal screening avoids the anxiety of newborn screening (NBS) and false-positive results. It also gives the opportunity to terminate any affected pregnancy and should be offered in the absence of pressure to proceed to prenatal diagnosis and pregnancy termination (30).

In USA, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) issued a recommendation to expand carrier testing to include couples seeking prenatal care or planning a pregnancy in which at least one person is Caucasian, and to make couples of other ethnicities aware of the existence of population screening for CF carrier status (31). In the following years, American College of Obstetricians and American Collage of Medical Genetics (ACMG) issued guidelines for implementation of CF carrier screening and laboratory standards for testing facilities (32). The ACMG also proposed a CFTR mutation panel for population-based carrier screening in USA (33).

As already mentioned, different models of CF carrier screening are available and they all have advantages and disadvantages. Preconception carrier screening is preferential to prenatal screening because it offers couples time to process their risk and the option to avoid

pregnancy if desired. However, it is recognized that the majority of the couples will be screened when the pregnancy is already under way (34). These couples are also more available to screening programs since they become part of the system of prenatal care. A high rate of unplanned pregnancies makes preconception screening unavailable to a significant proportion of target population.

The screening programs could be couple based or sequential. Couple based programs will only test if both members of the couple are available, and report the results and the risks in terms of the couple as a screening unit. Sequential screening usually begins with the female member of the couple, and test the male only if the female is a carrier. Generally speaking, sequential screening is preferred as it allows full disclosure of individual results, and it is possible to notify the extended family for additional carrier screening. On the other hand, full disclosure will identify couples with a minimally elevated risk (one individual tests positive and one tests negative), but provides no additional options for risk assessment or diagnosis (35). Couple screening will be performed only if both samples are available, which is not an option for pregnancies in which the male is unavailable and re-screening is required with each new partner. Brock evaluated both models and concluded that couple screening proved to be better theoretical model, as both members of the couple were needed to obtain information regarding the risk of CF in any pregnancy (36).

10.3.3 NEWBORN SCREENING FOR CYSTIC FIBROSIS

Newborn screening (NBS) has traditionally been performed to detect severe conditions that are, relatively prevalent, treatable, and for which a test exists and is measurable on a large scale and has been as an important and cost-effective health care provision since late 1960s (37).

The first NBS programs for CF were explored almost 40 years ago, and since than gradually established across USA, Oceania and Europe. In 2010, the number of European countries that perform NBS for CF as a national or regional service has increased to 14, while all states in US have started NBS for CF (38).

The first NBS test for CF was performed by measuring albumin content of meconium placed on filter paper, but it did not develop into widespread program and was replaced by the measurement of immunoreactive trypsin (IRT) introduced in 1979 in New Zealand (39). The test is performed on dried blood spots (Guthrie cards) already collected for other NBS tests such phenylketonuria and congenital hypothyroidism, and still represents the starting point for most CF NBS protocols. Later developments included incorporation of DNA testing from the bloodspots of newborns with elevated IRT, and recently the possibility of using pancreatitisassociated protein (PAP) (40).

The basis of IRT test is measurement of trypsinogen, a precursor for pancreatic enzyme. IRT level is usually persistently high in the blood of newborns with CF, even in cases with pancreatic sufficiency (41). This increase is the result of the pancreatic fibrosis in the majority of fetuses with CF that leads to a reflux of pancreatic enzymes into the circulation. The original method employed a radioimmunoassay with polyclonal antibodies, and was later replaced with enzymatic immunoassay with monoclonal antibodies, performed on ELISA plates, leading to increased sensitivity and shorter processing time (42).

All current CF NBS protocols relay on IRT as a primary test and on sweat test for confirming or excluding the diagnosis of CF. Intermediate tests are required to achieve an acceptable combination of sensitivity and specificity. The simplified algorithm for standard CF NBS procedure is shown in Figure 10.2. The choice of CF NBS protocol depends on various

factors, such as cost, collection time, ethnic mix of populations and variations in healthcare provision and resources.

10.3.4 SHORT DESCRIPTION OF PROTOCOL

Immunoreactive trypsinogen \rightarrow immunioreactive trypsinogen protocol (IRT/IRT) was initially adopted as two-stage IRT. It measures the IRT level on a a second blood spot collected at 10-28 days of life from newborns with high IRT at birth. If the second IRT is also high, the sweat test is performed for the definitive diagnosis of cystic fibrosis. The main limitation of this protocol is a need for additional blood spot. With the IRT/IRT protocol, approximately one in 200 children requires a second IRT which causes great anxiety in the parents (42). Approximately 95% of children with cystic fibrosis are detected with IRT/IRT protocol, but with a high percentage of false-positive results.



Figure 10.2 General CF NBS algorithm. The sweat test with chloride determination is still the gold standard for the confirmation of CF diagnosis (sweet stimulation by pilocarpine iontophoresis and sweet chloride determination using coulometric titration method).

Immunoreactive trypsinogen \rightarrow CFTR mutation analysis protocol (IRT/DNA) utilizes CFTR mutation analysis as a second test. Identification of the CFTR gene and the most frequent mutation, F508del, allowed performing efficient NBS with a single blood sample. IRT is measured in routine newborn screening samples. In the case of elevated IRT, testing for a panel of selected "CF causing" mutation is performed using DNA isolated from blood eluted from the same Guthrie card. Newborns carrying one or two mutations are referred for a sweat test. The main limitation of this approach is identification of healthy carriers The DNA testing should always be linked to genetic counseling in order to provide sufficient advice to the family and eventually offer testing to index' case relatives if they are within reproductive age. Australian group reported improved specificity of this combined protocol, fewer false-positives, and a 96% detection rate (43). The Wisconsin group reported an increase in diagnostic sensitivity up to 99% with the inclusion of the panel of 25 CFTR mutations (44). The program's costs were similar to those of other disorders included in NBS, such as phenylketonuria and congenital hypothyroidism (approximately 4US\$).

Immunoreactive trypsinogen \rightarrow CFTR mutation analysis \rightarrow Immunoreactive trypsinogen (IRT/DNA/IRT) protocol combines the first IRT test with DNA testing and a second blood spot for IRT when the child has a mutant allele. Infants with persistently elevated IRT are referred for a sweat test, while those with second IRT bellow the cut-off are considers as healthy carriers. For this program, a reduction of 92% in the number of recalls for the second IRT test, as compared to the IRT/IRT protocol, and a reduction of 80% in recalls for the sweat test were reported (45). There are also variations of this protocol, such as: IRT/IRT/CFTR mutation analysis or IRT/CFTR mutation analysis/CFTR scanning or IRT/CFTR sequencing.

Pancreatitis-associated protein (PAP) is a secretory protein produced by the pancreas under stress conditions and can be measured in dried blood spots, which makes it a good candidate for the use in CF NBS protocols (46). Its use has been suggested as a second test, without recollecting the blood spot, as an alternative to DNA test, which eliminates outsourcing genetic analysis and may decrease the costs. The sensitivity of IRT/PAP protocol appears to be similar to that of IRT/CFTR mutation analysis protocol, but specificity is lower (47). A combined IRT/PAP assay kit is being developed and pilot studies are in progress in several European countries (48-50).

Although CF screening has been available for nearly four decades, there are few nationwide programs, with the majority of programs implemented at the regional or local level. In 2003, six European countries and five states in USA employed some type of newborn CF screening programs. Some countries, such as Denmark, Germany and the Netherlands, performed pilot studies, but decided not to implement the program (51). In England, six centers performed screening, with coverage of 22% of newborns, which was followed by implementation of nationwide program in 2004. The first detailed report on CF NBS screening in Europe, was published in 2007, and based on the results of 26 centers from seven countries (52). These centers have performed CF neonatal screening for an average of ten years (varying from nine months to 31 years), screening 1.600.000 newborns/year and detecting some 400 cases/year. Median age at diagnosis is reported at 37 days. In 2010, the number of European countries performing CF NBS doubled, and in the USA, all 50 states implemented screening program (<u>http://genes-r-us.uthscsa.edu/</u>).

The increasing introduction of CF NBS programs in recent years follows the growing evidence of the benefits of CF NBS regarding nutritional, gastrointestinal and cognitive aspects (48, 53). Furthermore, early diagnosis by NBS allows genetic counseling for carrier parents and testing of family members. Conversely, there are also risks associated with CF NBS that include anxiety for false positive results, identification of carriers and inconclusive diagnostic results (48). On balance, however, the evidence favors screening for CF at birth. In 2003, the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) published guidelines for cystic fibrosis screening (54). The report concluded that CF screening is justified on grounds of evidence of moderate benefit and low risk of harm. The Consensus Conference organized in 2008 by European Cystic Fibrosis Society concluded that the available evidence supports CF screening with respect to clinical outcomes and health economics (48).

NBS programs have been associated with the reduced live birth prevalence of CF, attributable to the use of genetic counseling and prenatal diagnosis on subsequent pregnancies. Prenatal or

preconceptual population based carrier screening may also influence the prevalence in newborns. The New England NBS program reported a halving of homozygous F508del babies detected over a relatively short stretch of time (55), while a 40% drop in CF incidence in Brittany over a period of 35 years was observed (56).

10.4 CONCLUSION

Cystic fibrosis is diagnosed in a growing number of patients in the newborn period due to the increasing number of newborn screening programs. The benefit of early diagnosis in the newborn has been supported by randomized clinical trials, observational studies and the analyses of data from cystic fibrosis databases. CF NBS has beneficial effect on nutritional status, and coupled with early treatment limits lung damage in childhood, reduces the burden of care for families and may improve survival It The emphasis of health care system is on early diagnosis of CF and the provision of families with the opportunity to avoid the birth of additional affected children. Though CF alleles will always be present, current population based carrier screening and NBS may have a significant effect on the incidence of CF in the future.

LITERATURE:

- 1. Collins FS. Cystic fibrosis: molecular biology and therapeutic implications. Science 1992;256(5058):774-9.
- 2. Andersen DH. Cystic fibrosis of the pancreas and its relation to celiac disease. Am J Dis Child 1938;56:344.
- 3. Di Sant'Agnese PA, Darling RC, Perera GA, Shea E. Abnormal electrolyte composition of sweat in cystic fibrosis of the pancreas; clinical significance and relationship to the disease. Pediatrics 1953;12(5):549-63.
- Welsh MJ, Tsui LC, Boat TF, Beaudet AL. Cystic fibrosis. In: Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Sly WS, Valle D, eds. The Metabolic and Molecular Basis of Inherited Disease. New York: McGraw–Hill; 1995. p.3799–876.
- 5. Zielenski J. Genotype and phenotype in cystic fibrosis. Respiration 2000;67(2):117-33.
- 6. Sparbel KJ, Williams JK. Pregnancy as foreground in cystic fibrosis carrier testing decisions in primary care. Genet Test Mol Biomarkers 2009;13(1):133-42.
- Rommens JM, Iannuzzi MC, Kerem B, Drumm ML, Melmer G, Dean M, et al. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: chromosome walking and jumping. Science 1989;245(4922):1059-65.
- 8. Riordan JR, Rommens JM, Kerem B, Alon N, Rozmahel R, Grzelczak Z, et al. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: cloning and characterization of complementary DNA. Science 1989;245(4922):1066-73.
- 9. Sheppard DN, Welsh MJ. Structure and function of the CFTR chloride channel. Physiol Rev 1999;79(1 Suppl):S23-45.
- 10. Greger R, Schreiber R, Mall M, Wissner A, Hopf A, Briel M, et al. Cystic fibrosis and CFTR. Pflugers Arch 2001;443 Suppl 1:S3-7.
- 11. Kerem B, Rommens JM, Buchanan JA, Markiewicz D, Cox TK, Chakravarti A, et al. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: genetic analysis. Science 1989;245(4922):1073-80.
- 12. Bobadilla JL, Macek M Jr, Fine JP, Farrell PM. Cystic fibrosis: a worldwide analysis of CFTR mutations--correlation with incidence data and application to screening. Hum Mutat 2002;19(6):575-606.
- Cystic Fibrosis Mutation Database. Available at: www.genet.sickkids.on.ca/cftr. Accessed May 29th 2012.
- 14. Castellani C, Cuppens H, Macek M Jr, Cassiman JJ, Kerem E, Durie P, et al. Consensus on the use and interpretation of cystic fibrosis mutation analysis in clinical practice. J Cyst Fibros 2008;7(3):179-96.

- 15. Rosenstein BJ, Cutting GR. The diagnosis of cystic fibrosis: a consensus statement. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Consensus Panel. J Pediatr 1998;132(4):589-95.
- 16. Dequeker E, Stuhrmann M, Morris MA, Casals T, Castellani C, Claustres M, et al. Best practice guidelines for molecular genetic diagnosis of cystic fibrosis and CFTR-related disorders--updated European recommendations. Eur J Hum Genet 2009;17(1):51-65.
- 17. De Boeck K, Wilschanski M, Castellani C, Taylor C, Cuppens H, Dodge J, Sinaasappel M; Diagnostic Working Group. Cystic fibrosis: terminology and diagnostic algorithms. Thorax 2006;61(7):627-35.
- 18. Radojkovic D. Prenatal molecular diagnostics of cystic fibrosis. In: Molecular diagnostics of cystic fibrosis. Belgrade: Andrejevic Foundation; 1999. p. 101-4.
- 19. Brock DJ. A comparative study of microvillar enzyme activities in the prenatal diagnosis of cystic fibrosis. Prenat Diagn 1985;5(2):129-34.
- 20. Farrall M, Law HY, Rodeck CH, Warren R, Stanier P, Super M, et al. First-trimester prenatal diagnosis of cystic fibrosis with linked DNA probes. Lancet 1986;1(8495):1402-5.
- 21. Feldman GL, Williamson R, Beaudet AL, O'Brien WE. Prenatal diagnosis of cystic fibrosis by DNA amplification for detection of KM-19 polymorphism. Lancet 1988;2(8602):102.
- 22. Estivill X, McLean C, Nunes V, Casals T, Gallano P, Scambler P, et al. Isolation of a new DNA marker in linkage disequilibrium with cystic fibrosis, situated between J3.11 (D7S8) and IRP.Am J Hum Genet 1989;44(5):704-10.
- 23. Hantash FM, Redman JB, Starn K, Anderson B, Buller A, McGinniss MJ, et al. Novel and recurrent rearrangements in the CFTR gene: clinical and laboratory implications for cystic fibrosis screening. Hum Genet 2006;119(1-2):126-36.
- 24. Corteville JE, Gray DL, Langer JC. Bowel abnormalities in the fetus--correlation of prenatal ultrasonographic findings with outcome. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1996;175(3):724-9.
- 25. Penna L, Bower S. Hyperechogenic bowel in the second trimester fetus: a review. Prenat Diagn 2000;20(11):909-13.
- 26. Scotet V, De Braekeleer M, Audrezet MP, Quere I, Mercier B, Dugueperoux I, et al. Prenatal detection of cystic fibrosis by ultrasonography: a retrospective study of more than 346 000 pregnancies. J Med Genet 2002;39(6):443-8.
- 27. Ghose I, Mason GC, Martinez D, Harrison KL, Evans JA, Ferriman EL, et al. Hyperechogenic fetal bowel: a prospective analysis of sixty consecutive cases. BJOG 2000;107(3):426-9.
- 28. Muller F, Simon-Bouy B, Girodon E, Monnier N, Malinge MC, Serre JL; French Collaborative Group. Predicting the risk of cystic fibrosis with abnormal ultrasound signs of fetal bowel: results of a French molecular collaborative study based on 641 prospective cases. Am J Med Genet 2002;110(2):109-15.
- 29. Thornhill AR, deDie-Smulders CE, Geraedts JP, Harper JC, Harton GL, Lavery SA, et al. ESHRE PGD Consortium 'Best practice guidelines for clinical preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) and preimplantation genetic screening (PGS)'. Hum Reprod 2005;20(1):35-48.
- 30. Cunningham S, Marshall T. Influence of five years of antenatal screening on the paediatric cystic fibrosis population in one region. Arch Dis Child 1998;78(4):345-8.
- 31. Genetic testing for cystic fibrosis. National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference Statement on genetic testing for cystic fibrosis. Arch Intern Med 1999;159(14):1529-39.
- 32. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Committee on Genetics. ACOG Committee Opinion No. 486: Update on carrier screening for cystic fibrosis. Obstet Gynecol 2011;117(4):1028-31.
- 33. Watson MS, Cutting GR, Desnick RJ, Driscoll DA, Klinger K, Mennuti M, et al. Cystic fibrosis population carrier screening: 2004 revision of American College of Medical Genetics mutation panel. Genet Med 2004;6(5):387-91.
- 34. Grody WW. Cystic fibrosis: molecular diagnosis, population screening, and public policy. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1999;123(11):1041-6.
- 35. Bonham JR, Downing M, Dalton A. Screening for cystic fibrosis: the practice and the debate. Eur J Pediatr 2003;162 (Suppl 1):S42-5.

- 36. Brock DJ. Prenatal screening for cystic fibrosis: 5 years' experience reviewed. Lancet 1996;347(8995):148-50.
- 37. Dhondt JL. Neonatal screening: from the 'Guthrie age' to the 'genetic age'. J Inherit Metab Dis 2007;30(4):418-22.
- 38. Castellani C, Massie J. Emerging issues in cystic fibrosis newborn screening. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2010;16(6):584-90.
- 39. Prosser R, Owen H, Bull F, Parry B, Smerkinich J, Goodwin HA, Dathan J. Screening for cystic fibrosis by examination of meconium. Arch Dis Child 1974;49(8):597-601.
- 40. Seltzer WK, Accurso F, Fall MZ, VanRiper AJ, Descartes M, Huang Y, et al. Screening for cystic fibrosis: feasibility of molecular genetic analysis of dried blood specimens. Biochem Med Metab Biol 1991;46(1):105-9.
- 41. Farrell MH, Farrell PM. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis: ensuring more good than harm. J Pediatr 2003;143(6):707-12.
- 42. Wilcken B, Wiley V. Newborn screening methods for cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Respir Rev 2003;4(4):272-7.
- 43. Wilcken B, Wiley V, Sherry G, Bayliss U. Neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis: a comparison of two strategies for case detection in 1.2 million babies. J Pediatr 1995;127(6):965-70.
- 44. Rock MJ, Hoffman G, Laessig RH, Kopish GJ, Litsheim TJ, Farrell PM. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis in Wisconsin: nine-year experience with routine trypsinogen/DNA testing. J Pediatr 2005;147(Suppl 3):S73-7.
- 45. Pollitt RJ, Dalton A, Evans S, Hughes HN, Curtis D. Neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis in the Trent region (UK): two-stage immunoreactive trypsin screening compared with a three-stage protocol with DNA analysis as an intermediate step. J Med Screen 1997;4(1):23-8.
- 46. Sarles J, Barthellemy S, Ferec C, Iovanna J, Roussey M, Farriaux JP, et al. Blood concentrations of pancreatitis associated protein in neonates: relevance to neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 1999;80(2):F118-22.
- 47. Sarles J, Berthezene P, Le Louarn C, Somma C, Perini JM, Catheline M, et al. Combining immunoreactive trypsinogen and pancreatitis-associated protein assays, a method of newborn screening for cystic fibrosis that avoids DNA analysis. J Pediatr 2005; 147(3):302-5.
- 48. Castellani C, Southern KW, Brownlee K, Dankert Roelse J, Duff A, Farrell M, et al. European best practice guidelines for cystic fibrosis neonatal screening. J Cyst Fibros 2009;8(3):153-73.
- 49. Vernooij-van Langen AM, Loeber JG, Elvers B, Triepels RH, Gille J, Van der Ploeg C et al. Novel strategies in newborn screening for cystic fibrosis: a prospective controlled study. Txorax 2012; 67(4):289-95
- 50. Krulišová V, Balaščaková M, Skalická V, Piskáčková T, Holubová A, Paděrová J, Křenková P et al. Prospective and parallel assessments of cystic fibrosis newborn screening protocols in the Czech Republic: IRT/DNA/IRT versus IRT/PAP and IRT/PAP/DNA. Eur J Pediatr. 2012; 171(8):1223-9.
- 51. Southern KW, Littlewood JM. Newborn screening programmes for cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Respir Rev 2003; 4(4):299-305.
- 52. Southern KW, Munck A, Pollitt R, Travert G, Zanolla L, Dankert-Roelse J, Castellani C; ECFS CF Neonatal Screening Working Group. A survey of newborn screening for cystic fibrosis in Europe. J Cyst Fibros 2007;6(1):57-65.
- 53. Wilcken B, Gaskin K. More evidence to favour newborn screening for cystic fibrosis. Lancet 2007;369(9568):1146-7.
- 54. Grosse SD, Boyle CA, Botkin JR, Comeau AM, Kharrazi M, Rosenfeld M, Wilfond BS; CDC. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis: evaluation of benefits and risks and recommendations for state newborn screening programs. MMWR Recomm Rep 2004; 53(RR-13):1-36.
- 55. Hale JE, Parad RB, Comeau AM. Newborn screening showing decreasing incidence of cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(9):973-4.
- 56. Scotet V,Duguépéroux I, Saliou P, Rault G, Roussey M, Audrézet MP,Claude Férec C. Evidence for decline in the incidence of cystic fibrosis: a 35-year observational study in Brittany, France. ORJD 2012;7:14-21.

11. SEROLOGICAL DIAGNOSIS OF CELIAC DISEASE IN THE NEW DIAGNOSTIC CRITERIA

Zrinjka Mišak

11.1 INTRODUCTION

Celiac disease (CD) is an immune mediated systemic disorder elicited by gluten and related prolamines in genetically susceptible individuals (1,2). The term gluten indicates a broad group of prolamins (gliadins and glutenins) – water insoluble proteins found in wheat. Other prolamins showing similar immunogenic properties, also harmful to patients with CD, are found in rye (secalins) and barley (hordeins) (3).

In recent decades, our understanding of CD has improved considerably. It is nowadays widely accepted that CD is a common autoimmune-based disorder characterized by the presence of a variable combination of gluten dependent clinical manifestations, CD-specific antibodies, human leukocyte antigen (HLA) DQ2 and DQ8 haplotypes and enteropathy (1,2). Patients may present with a wide spectrum of symptoms, that may appear in infancy, childhood, adolescence or adulthood, or may be asymptomatic (1,2,4). Intestinal symptoms are common particularly in children diagnosed within the first two years of life (failure to thrive, chronic diarrhea, vomiting, abdominal distension, muscle wasting, anorexia and irritability). However, symptoms may also be mild and heterogeneous (e.g., short stature, infertility, hepatitis and liver failure, depression, and behavioral and neurological problems) or even absent (2,4-6). Also, some diseases, many with an autoimmune pathogenesis, are found with a higher than normal frequency in patients with CD, such as: type 1 diabetes, autoimmune thyroid diseases, Addison's disease, Sjögren's syndrome, autoimmune cholangitis, autoimmune hepatitis and primary biliary cirrhosis. Other associated conditions include selective IgA deficiency, Down's syndrome, Turner syndrome and Williams syndrome (2,5,7).

Traditionally, CD has been considered a fairly uncommon gastrointestinal disorder affecting mainly children, but, after the development of highly specific serological tests, recent screening studies have revealed the prevalence to be as high as 1-2% in the population, placing CD among the most common lifelong food-related disorders (4,5,8).

The disease etiology is multifactorial with very strong genetic influence (1). It is associated with major histocompatibility complex class II genes and the alleles encoding HLA-DQ2 and HLA-DQ8 that are major risk factors carried by almost all patients with CD. Individuals having neither DQ2 nor DQ8 are very unlikely to have CD and, therefore, the main role of HLA-DQ typing in the diagnosis of CD is to exclude the disease (1,2,5). However, 30–40% of healthy individuals also carry the DQ2 and DQ8 alleles, but the majority of these individuals never develop the disorder (2,5).

CD-specific antibodies comprise autoantibodies against transglutaminase type-2 (TG2, 'tissue' transglutaminase) including endomysial antibodies (EMA), and antibodies against deamidated forms of gliadin peptides (DGP) (1). A gluten free diet (GFD), currently the only lasting treatment for CD, improves or eliminates symptoms and normalizes the specific CD antibodies and histological findings (1,6). Early diagnosis and treatment with GFD can prevent severe, sometimes life-threatening complications (9,10).

This review gives an overview of the available tests for CD, including antibodies against gliadin, endomysium, tissue transglutaminase, and deamidated gliadin, and discusses their role in the diagnostic procedure.

11.2 ANTIGLIADIN ANTIBODIES

Among the first serum-based antibody tests applied in CD diagnostics are the antigliadin antibody (AGA) assays (5,8,11). The identification of AGA in patients with CD revolutionized the view of the disease, as it became evident that the measurement of these antibodies could allow an easier diagnosis of the disease, and a convenient follow-up by dietary change (7).

IgA-class antibodies have significantly better specificity compared with IgG-class antibodies, resulting in a higher accuracy. However, AGA levels can be elevated in some healthy individuals without celiac-type genetics or those suffering from gastrointestinal conditions other than CD. Indeed, the positive predictive value of AGA testing in most populations is less than 30% (5,7,8). On the other side, data suggest that AGA testing may still be useful in celiac children younger than 2 years of age (4). Lagerqvist et al. emphasised their high sensitivity found in Swedish children younger than 18 months and concluded that 17% of the children with CD in the youngest age group would have remained undiagnosed if IgA-antiTG2 had been used alone (12). However, this was not observed in a recent study performed by Foucher et al (13). According to the European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN) recommendations, these tests are no longer used as diagnostic aids because their sensitivities and specificities are fairly poor (1,5,11).

11.3 ENDOMYSIAL AUTOANTIBODY

The problems with the AGA tests were overcome by the advent of the gluten-dependent EMA tests (5). EMA binds to endomysium, the connective tissue around smooth muscle, producing a charateristic staining pattern that is visualised by indirect immunofluorescence. These tests use primate tissues as antigens and require microscopical evaluation that may be subject to interobserver variability (1,4,5,7,14). It is also labour intensive, and the availability of the substrates (monkey oesophagus, umbilicus) is limited (4,8,14). Despite of that, its high sensitivity and specificity in untreated CD have been repeatedly evidenced in a number of studies and it is currently considered as the reference standard of CD-specific antibody detection (1,4,14). However, even though a positive serum EMA has almost 100% specific association with CD, approximately 10-20% of patients with untreated CD remain EMA negative, making the test less sensitive, especially among children with CD under 2 years of age as well as in elderly patients suffering from more severe symptoms (14,15,16). Concerning children, studies showed that the specificity of EMA was nearly 100%, while the sensitivity was >90% (9). Burgin-Wolff et al. were the first to report that in children less than two years of age the sensitivity of EMA was significantly lower than in older children (80% vs 97%, p<0.008) while the specificity was 98% (17). More recently, similar results (sensitivity 89%) were reported by Wolters et al. (16). On the contrary, some authors did not observe any lack of antibody sensitivity in this age group (18, 19). Apart from the age of the patient, the other possible causes of antibody negative CD may be selective IgA deficiency, self-imposed GFD prior to testing or concomitant use of immunosuppressant drugs (14).

Nonetheless, EMA has the highest specificity and positive likelihood ratio for CD among currently available serology tools. It is more likely that CD is present if the EMA result is positive than if another CD antibody result is positive (1,9). Nevertheless, reports on EMA results should contain the specification of the investigated immunoglobulin class, the interpretation of the result (positive or negative), the cut-off dilution, the specification of the substrate tissue and, if possible, the information on the highest dilution still positive (1).

11.4 TISSUE TRANSGLUTAMINASE

In 1997, Dieterich et al. found that the endomysial antigen involved in the autoimmune response in CD was the enzyme tissue transglutaminase or Type 2 transglutaminase (tTG or TG2) (1, 4, 7, 20). TG2 occurs abundantly in the gut and functions as to deamidate proteins and peptides including gliadin or gliadin fragments leading to increased T cell reactivity in CD patients. Antibodies against TG2 bind in vivo to the patient's own TG2 expressed in the small bowel or in other tissues (e.g. liver, muscles, central nervous system) (1, 16, 21). Early assays were based on tTG derived from guinea pig liver, leading to false-positive results due to impurities in these preparations. Assays using human recombinant tTG showed improved accuracy, with higher sensitivity and similar specificity as compared with EMA, but being generally cheaper than EMA (8, 14). IgA and IgG class anti-TG2 antibodies can be detected in blood samples of patients by various immunoassays, but currently, TG2 Enzyme Linked ImmunoSorbent Assay (ELISA) tests are widely used. Weaknesses of the tTG test are that the accuracy of the assay varies between manufacturers and that different anti-TG2 test kits may have different measurement principles, calibrators and calculation modes meaning that the result and numerical values obtained cannot be directly compared. A large multicenter study demonstrated significant variability in sensitivity (69% to 93%) and specificity (96% to 100%) for the transglutaminase antibody among 20 participant laboratories. That supports the necessity of better standardization of the assays, so that all assays could be comparable from laboratory to laboratory (22).

Despite of these differences, many commercial anti-TG2 antibody tests have equally high sensitivity and specificity on the same blood samples (1,5,14).

According to two recent systematic reviews the pooled sensitivities of the human recombinant anti-TG2 tests have been 98% and 100% and specificities 98% and 97%, respectively. However, despite being a highly sensitive and specific markers of CD, both EMA and anti-TG2 alone are not good markers in younger children (<2 years) (4,23,24). The concordance rate of anti-TG2 and EMA tests is particularly high, although the specificity and positive predictive value of the EMA tests was higher in many studies (1,4,9,25). Therefore, IgA anti-TG2 could work better as an initial CD detection test, whereas the highly specific EMA test could be used as a confirmatory test to identify test positives as true patients with CD (4,8,9).

Several studies confirmed that high concentrations of anti-TG2 antibodies in serum predict villous atrophy better than low or borderline values (1,7,26-29). For those tests that use calibration curves to express antibody concentration, high specific CD antibody levels can be defined as those exceeding 10 times the upper limit of normal values (ULN) (1). A study in adults by Hill et al. reported that human-TG2 antigen–based serum anti-TG2 values always were associated with villous atrophy when they exceeded 10 times the ULN (27). Similar was found by both Dahlbom and Alessio (26,29). Recently published systematic review and meta-analysis of studies that enrolled mostly pediatric patients with suspected CD indicated that IgA-anti-TG2 and EMA were the best laboratory tests predicting CD (9).

As with EMA, TG2 antibodies may not be detected in the blood of all CD patients, although, TG2-specific antibodies may be present in small intestinal or other tissues of seronegative patients (1,16,21). Total IgA level should be determined with IgA anti-tTG to assess for selective IgA deficiency as this can result in false negative results (8). On the contrary, isolated positivity for anti-TG2, especially low levels, have been described in a number of conditions unrelated to CD, such as other autoimmune diseases, infections, tumours, myocardial damage, liver disorders and psoriasis (1,14). These antibodies are not associated with the EMA reaction which explains why EMA has higher reliability for the diagnosis of CD (1,5).

In addition to standard laboratory anti-TG2 assays, a tissue transglutaminase based point-ofcare, i.e., fingerstick test, is now available. The major limitations, however, are a lower sensitivity and specificity than with most ELISA-based assays, and being the semiquantitative test, there is no "titer" that can be followed over time. Moreover, the evaluation of rapid tests is less reliable if done by untrained persons or lay people (1,8). Therefore, POC tests can not substitute laboratory-based tests, especially not in the hands of inadequately trained readers (9).

Anti-TG2 antibodies can also be detected in saliva, but accuracy of available diagnostic tests is lower compared to serological tests (1).

11.5 DEAMIDATED GLIADIN PEPTIDES

CD antibodies can also be detected by the use of synthetic peptides corresponding to deamidated gliadin sequences (30). The rationale behind the test is based on the conversion of certain gluten peptides to deamidated peptides by the action of intestinal tissue transglutaminase (5,8,11). These peptides bind with high affinity to HLA DQ2 or DQ8 on celiac patients' antigen-presenting cells to potently stimulate the inflammatory T-cell response observed in the intestinal mucosa of patients with CD (8). The result is an antibody response to these deamidated gliadin peptides that displays a higher specificity for CD than antibodies to native gluten (AGAs) (4, 8). Both IgG and IgA tests are available (11).

Although tests for anti-DGP antibodies performed favourably and much better than antibodies against native gliadin their performance was inferior compared to anti-TG2 or EMA assays unless special patient characteristics are present (IgA deficiency, age below 2 years) (1,9,31). According to a recent meta-analysis DGP-AGA assays had pooled sensitivity and specificity of 88 and 94%, respectively (32). It seems that IgG antibodies against DGP is a very good tool for identifying CD in children younger than two years and in patients with IgA deficiency (1,8,9,11,33,34).

11.6 THE ROLE OF ANTIBODIES IN DIAGNOSTIC CRITERIA

The first diagnostic criteria for CD in children were proposed by ESPGHAN in 1969. According to these original criteria the diagnosis of CD was made upon the sequence of three biopsies if there was: 1. structurally abnormal jejunal mucosa when taking a diet containing gluten; 2. clear improvement of villous structure when taking a gluten free diet; 3. deterioration of the mucosa during the gluten challenge (35). The development of simple and reliable serological tests prepared the ground in 1980s for the revision of the diagnostic criteria. According to these, the diagnosis of CD is based on: 1. the typical histological finding of hyperplastic villous atrophy while the patient is eating adequate amounts of gluten; and 2. unequivocal and full clinical remission after withdrawal of gluten from the diet (36). In

2001, the first diagnostic criteria for CD in adults were published (37). According to all these, until recently, conventional diagnosis of CD required documentation of villous atrophy on intestinal biopsy (8). However, during the last decades evidence has accumulated on the diagnostic value of specific CD antibodies and HLA typing diagnostic purposes. As a result, in 2012, a working group within ESPGHAN published new evidence-based guidelines for the diagnosis of CD in children and adolescents. Two algorithms have been proposed. The first algorithm can be applied to children and adolescents with signs and symptoms suggestive of CD. The first step is to test for anti-TG2 IgA antibodies and for total IgA to exclude IgA deficiency. If anti-TG2 antibody testing is positive the patients should be referred to a paediatric gastroenterologist for further diagnostic work up. However, it is important to keep in mind that seronegativity in patients consuming gluten does not rule out the possibility of CD (5). Furthermore, autoantibody assays may vary greatly qualitatively from laboratory to laboratory (22, 38). However, in patients with positive anti-TG2 antibody levels at or higher than 10 times the ULN, there is an option to omit the biopsy. The patient is tested for EMA and HLA DQ2/DQ8 and if positive for both, the diagnosis of CD is confirmed. A gluten free diet is started and the patient is followed for improvement of symptoms and decline of antibodies (1). Omitting biopsies would reduce the burden of endoscopy and of general anaesthesia for the affected children, save costs, and avoid potential adverse effects of these procedures (9). Patients with positive anti-TG2 antibody levels lower than 10 times the ULN and asymptomatic children should undergo upper endoscopy with multiple biopsies (1).

If IgA class CD antibodies are negative in an IgA-competent patients, it is unlikely that CD is present. Further testing for CD is not recommended unless special medical circumstances (age below 2 years, restricted gluten consumption, severe symptoms, family predisposition or other predisposing disease, immunosuppressive medication) are present. However, in seronegative cases for anti-TG2, EMA and anti-DGP, but with severe symptoms and a strong clinical suspicion of CD small intestinal biopsies and HLA-DQ testing are recommended. If histology shows lesions compatible with CD and DQ2/DQ8 heterodimers are negative, CD is not likely and an enteropathy caused by a diagnosis other than CD should be considered. In these cases the diagnosis of CD can only be made after a positive challenge procedure with repeated biopsies.

On the contrary, when duodenal biopsies, taken during routine diagnostic work-up for gastrointestinal symptoms, disclose a histological pattern indicative of CD, antibody determinations and HLA-typing should be performed. In the absence of CD specific antibodies and/or HLA-DQ2/DQ8 heterodimers CD is unlikely and other causes of enteropathy should be considered.

The second algorithm in ESPGHAN diagnostic criteria should be applied to children and adolescents with no signs or symptoms suggestive of CD, who are investigated due to their increased risk for the disease (first degree relatives of CD patients or other immune-mediated or chromosomal diseases associated with CD). In this group of patients CD should always be diagnosed using duodenal biopsies (1).

11.7 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, serological tests have become invaluable in the identification and diagnosis of patients with CD. Yet, the diagnosis of CD depends on gluten-dependent symptoms, CD specific antibody levels, the presence of HLA DQ2 and/or DQ8 and characteristic histological changes (villous atrophy and crypt hyperplasia) in the duodenal biopsy. According to the recently published ESPGHAN guidelines, the duodenal biopsy can be omitted in the presence

of high antibody levels, symptoms and genetic predisposition. However, large, prospective studies are needed to further evaluate these guidelines and the role of serology.

LITERATURE:

- 1. Husby S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabó IR, Mearin ML, Phillips A, Shamir R, et al. European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition Guidelines for the Diagnosis of Coeliac Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2012;54:136-60.
- 2. Troncone R, Jabri B. Coeliac disease and gluten sensitivity. J Intern Med 2011;269:582-90.
- 3. Ludvigsson JF, Leffler DA, Bai JC, Biagi F, Fasano A, Green PH, et al. The Oslo definitions for coeliac disease and related terms. Gut 2012, Epub ahead of print
- 4. Lindfors K, Koskinen O, Kaukinen K. An update on the diagnostics of celiac disease. Int Rev Immunol 2011;30:185-96.
- 5. Caja S, Mäki M, Kaukinen K, Lindfors K. Antibodies in celiac disease: implications beyond diagnostics. Cell Mol Immunol 2011;8(2):103-9.
- 6. Garampazzi A, Rapa A, Mura S, Capelli A, Valori A, Boldorini R, et al. Clinical pattern of celiac disease is still changing. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2007;45:611-4.
- 7. Tommasini A, Not T, Ventura A. Ages of celiac disease: From changing environment to improved diagnostics. World J Gastroenterol 2011;17:3665-71.
- 8. Leffler DA, Schuppan D. Update on serologic testing in celiac disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105:2520-4.
- 9. Giersiepen K, Lelgemann M, Stuhldreher N, Ronfani L, Husby S, Koletzko S, et al. Accuracy of diagnostic antibody tests for coeliac disease in children: summary of an evidence report. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2012;54:229-41.
- 10. Armstrong MJ, Hegade VS, Robins G. Advances in coeliac disease. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2012;28:104-12.
- 11. Armstrong D, Don-Wauchope AC, Verdu EF. Testing for gluten-related disorders in clinical practice: The role of serology in managing the spectrum of gluten sensitivity. Can J Gastroenterol 2011;25:193-7.
- Lagerqvist C, Dahlbom I, Hansson T, Jidell E, Juto P, Olcén P, et al. Antigliadin immunoglobulin A best in finding celiac disease in children younger than 18 months of age. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2008;47:428-35.
- 13. Foucher B, Johanet C, Jégo-Desplat S, Sanmarco M, Dubucquoi S, Fily-Nalewajk S, et al. Are immunoglobulin A anti-gliadin antibodies helpful in diagnosing coeliac disease in children younger than 2 years? J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2012;54:110-2.
- 14. Evans KE, Sanders DS. What is the use of biopsy and antibodies in coeliac disease diagnosis? J Intern Med 2011;269:572-81.
- 15. Maglio M, Tosco A, Paparo F, Auricchio R, Granata V, Colicchio B, et al. Serum and intestinal celiac disease-associated antibodies in children with celiac disease younger than 2 years of age. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2010;50:43–8.
- Wolters VM, van de Nadort C, Gerritsen SA, et al. Is gluten challenge really necessary for the diagnosis of coeliac disease in children younger than age 2 years? J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2009;48:566–70.
- 17. Burgin-Wolf A, Gaze H, Hadziselimovic F, Huber H, Lentze MJ, Nusslé D, et al. Antigliadin and antiendomysium antibody determination for celiac disease. Arch Dis Child 1991;66:941-7
- 18. Hojsak I, Mozer-Glassberg Y, Segal Gilboa N, Weinberger R, Hartman C, Shamir R. Celiac disease screening assays for children younger than 3 years of age: the performance of three serological tests. Dig Dis Sci 2012;57:127-32.
- 19. Parizade M, Bujanover Y, Weiss B, Nachmias V, Shainberg B. Performance of Serology Assays for Diagnosing Celiac Disease in a Clinical Setting. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2009;16:1576–82.
- 20. Dieterich W, Ehnis T, Bauer M, Donner P, Volta U, Riecken EO, Schuppan D. Identification of tissue transglutaminase as the autoantigen of celiac disease. Nat Med 1997;3:797–801.

- 21. Hojsak I, Shamir R. Tissue transglutaminase antibodies in celiac disease: focus on the pediatric population. Drugs of Today 2012;47:683-91.
- 22. Li M, Yu L, Tiberti C, Bonamico M, Taki I, Miao D, et al. A report on the International Transglutaminase Autoantibody Workshop for Celiac Disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2009;104:154–63.
- Rostom A, Dube C, Cranney A, Saloojee N, Sy R, Garritty C, et al. The diagnostic accuracy of serologic tests for celiac disease: a systematic review. Gastroenterology 2005;128(Suppl 1):S38–S46.
- 24. Lewis NR, Scott BB. Systematic review: the use of serology to exclude or diagnose coeliac disease (a comparison of the endomysial and tissue transglutaminase antibody tests). Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006;24:47–54.
- 25. Kurppa K, Räsänen T, Collin P, Iltanen S, Huhtala H, Ashorn M. Endomysial antibodies predict celiac disease irrespective of the titers or clinical presentation. World J Gastroenterol 2012;18:2511-16.
- 26. Dahlbom I, Korponay-Szabo IR, Kovacs JB, Szalai Z, Maki M, Hansson T. Prediction of clinical and mucosal severity of coeliac disease and dermatitis herpetiformis by quantification of IgA/IgG serum antibodies to tissue transglutaminase. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2010;50:140–6.
- 27. Hill PG, Holmes GK. Coeliac disease: a biopsy is not always necessary for diagnosis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2008;27:572–7.
- 28. Vivas S, Ruiz de Morales JG, Riestra S, Arias L, Fuentes D, Alvarez N, et al. Duodenal biopsy may be avoided when high transglutaminase antibody titers are present. World J Gastroenterol 2009;15:4775-80.
- 29. Alessio MG, Tonutti E, Brusca I, Radice A, Licini L, Sonzogni A, et al. Correlation between IgA tissue transglutaminase antibody ratio and histological finding in celiac disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2012;55:44-9.
- Prause C, Ritter M, Probst C, Daehnrich C, Schlumberger W, Komorowski L, et al. Antibodies against deamidated gliadin as new and accurate biomarkers of childhood coeliac disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2009;49:52-8.
- 31. Olen O, Gudjónsdóttir AH, Browaldh L, Hessami M, Elvin K, Liedberg AS, et al. Antibodies Against Deamidated Gliadin Peptides and Tissue Transglutaminase for Diagnosis of Pediatric Celiac Disease - Diagnostic Performance and Cost in Clinical Practice. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2012; Available at:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/MPG.0b013e3182645c54, Accessed on 20th October 2012.

- 32. Lewis NR, Scott BB. Meta-analysis: deamidated gliadin peptide antibody and tissue transglutaminase antibody compared as screening tests for coeliac disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010;31:73–81.
- 33. Volta U, Granito A, Parisi C, Fabbri A, Fiorini E, Piscaglia M, et al. Deamidated gliadin peptide antibodies as a routine test for celiac disease. A prospective analysis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2010;44:186–90.
- 34. Mozo L, Gómez J, Escanlar E, Bousoño C, Gutiérrez C. Diagnostic value of anti-deamidated gliadin peptide IgG antibodies for celiac disease in children and IgA-deficient patients. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2012;55:50-5.
- 35. Meuwisse GW. Diagnostic criteria in coeliac disease. Acta Paediatr Scand 1970;59:461.
- 36. Report of Working Group of European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition. Revised criteria for diagnosis of coeliac disease. Arch Dis Child 1990;65:909-11.
- 37. When is a coeliac a coeliac? Report of aworking group of the United European Gastroenterology Week in Amsterdam, 2001. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2001;13:1123–8.
- 38. Rubio-Tapia A, Murray JA. Celiac disease. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2010;26(2):116-22.

12. CHRONIC PANCREATIC INSUFFICIENCY IN CHILDREN: ETIOLOGY, CLINICAL PRESENTATION AND DIAGNOSIS

Oleg Jadrešin

12.1 INTRODUCTION

Exocrine pancreatic insufficiency (PI) should be considered in all children presenting with malabsorption: failure to thrive, chronic diarrhea, hypoalbuminemia, or symptoms of trace vitamin and mineral deficiencies. Since pancreas has a large reserve capacity, more than 95% of the function of the pancreas must be lost before maldigestion develops. Therefore children can have a severe pancreatic problem without experiencing any problems with digestion. The exocrine pancreas is not fully developed at birth and all healthy infants show some degree of maldigestion of starch and fat. By two years of age pancreas matures and functions as an adult organ (1,2).

Although the PI may be caused by a variety of clinical conditions, majority of children have one of two inherited pancreatic disorders: cystic fibrosis (CF) or Shwachman-Diamond syndrome (SDS). CF is the most common inherited pancreatic disease of childhood and SDS is much less common (1). Chronic pancreatitis can cause exocrine insufficiency due to gradual loss of pancreatic function, but this happens more frequently in adults (3). Also, there are some very rare syndromes that should be considered when other clinical features are present. Johanson-Blizzard syndrome is an autosomal recessive disorder presenting with pancreatic exocrine dysfunction, deafness, hypothyroidism, microcephaly, abnormal hair pattern, nasal cartilage hypoplasia, and small or absent permanent teeth. Pearson's bone marrow syndrome is a mitochondrial disorder and presents with pancreatic insufficiency, sideroblastic anaemia, and hematopoietic precursor vacuolization. Selected enzyme deficiencies (lipase, colipase, trypsin, amylase, enterokinase) are extremely rare (1).

Malabsorption in PI results from inadequate secretion of approximately 25 enzymes and cofactors from the pancreatic acini and from insufficient bicarbonate secretion from the ductal epithelium. Without adequate bicarbonate secretion pancreatic lipase is also inactivated by gastric acid and bile salt micellization of dietary fat droplets is impaired. Therefore fat malabsorption is the most prominent clinical feature of PI. Protein maldigestion and malabsorption are also important but they are more commonly subclinical. Significant fat malabsorption does not occur until lipase or colipase secretion is below 1% of normal values (1,2).

This review will mostly deal with clinical features of the most frequent inherited disorders of pancreas: cystic fibrosis and Shwachman-Diamond syndrome.

12.2 CYSTIC FIBROSIS

Cistic fibrosis is the most common lethal genetic disease in the white population. The disease is caused by a mutation in a gene that encodes cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) protein, which is expressed in many epithelial cells and blood cells. CFTR functions mainly as a chloride channel but has also other functions, particularly in regulation of sodium and bicarbonate transport through membranes, regulation of ATP channels and regulation of intracellular vesicle transport. Life expectancy for patients with CF has increased from 31 years to 37 years over the past decade in US and even better prognosis for children being diagnosed today seem to be realistic (4,5).

The incidence of CF is most common in populations of northern European descent where the disease occurs in approximately 1 in 3000 births. The incidence varies from country to country and with ethnic background, from 1 in 2500 to 1 in 20000 (African Americans). The disease is uncommon in Africa and Asia (4,6).

12.2.1 GENETICS

CF is inherited in an autosomal recessive trait. More than 1600 CFTR mutations have been described so far, but the role of only part of them has been understood. Less than 10 mutations occur with frequency of more than 1% and the absence of phenyl alanine at position 508 (F508del, Phe508del, Δ F508) accounts for about two-thirds of mutated alleles in northern European and North American populations. In Europe the frequency of F508del mutation decreases towards the southeast. Testing for 40 most frequent mutation detects about 90% of affected persons in most populations. Frequency of CTFR gene mutations are lack of protein production (class I mutations), protein trafficking defect (class II), defective regulation without CFTR activation (class III), reduced transport of chloride (class IV), reduced production of normal CFTR (class V) and accelerated degradation of CFTR (class VI). Pancreatic insufficiency is closely associated with class I–III mutations. As a result of F508del mutation CFTR is misfolded and proteolytically degraded in the proteasome. Only small amounts of F508del CFTR reach the plasma membrane and have a reduced half life (4,5).

12.2.2 PATHOGENESIS

CFTR belongs to a family of transmembrane adenosine triphosphate (ATP) binding proteins. It functions primarily as a chloride channel in apical membranes but also regulates transmembrane transport of sodium and bicarbonates.

In a most widely accepted hypothesis, lack of CFTR activity will cause less chloride secretion in the extracellular space and less water transport into the epithelial surface layer. As CFTR also inhibits sodium absorption, loss of its activity causes excessive sodium (and water) absorption through the epithelial sodium channel (5,7,8).Consequent airway-surface-liquid depletion leads to ciliary collapse, loss of mucociliary clearance and bacterial lung infections (Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus, Burkholderia cepacia). Deficiency in bicarbonate secretion may lead to poor solubility and aggregation of luminal antibacterial mucins and low oxygen concentration may trigger P. aeruginosa to switch to mucoid cell types, resistant to host defences. However, colonisation of CF airways with these particular pathogens is not readily explained (5,9,10).

12.2.3 DIAGNOSIS

The diagnosis of cystic fibrosis should be considered in a child or an adult presenting with typical signs or symptoms such as:

a) chronic respiratory disease: bacterial infections typical for CF (S. aureus, P. aeruginosa, Burkholderia cepacia), chronic cough with sputum production, persistent infiltrates on chest radiographs, bronchiectasis, chronic sinuitis or nasal polyposis, clubbing of fingers and toe;b) gastrointestinal symptoms: meconium ileus, distal ileal obstruction syndrome, rectal

prolapse, malnutrition, chronic diarrhea and steatorrhea, hypoproteinaemia, vitamin deficiencies (exocrine pancreatic insufficiency), recurrent or chronic pancreatitis, chronic liver/biliary disease; c) salt loss syndrome and d) obstructive azoospermia (4).

According to the European and US diagnostic guidelines cystic fibrosis consists of specific clinical (phenotypic) characteristics in combination with biochemical or genetic markers of CFTR dysfunction (11,12). The sweat test is the most clinically useful way of diagnosing cystic fibrosis. The test should be done with pilocarpine iontophoresis and a quantitative determination of chloride concentration (13). A diagnosis of cystic fibrosis can be made in a presence of clinical features if the concentration of chloride in sweat is greater than 60 mmol/L or if it is in the intermediate range (30-59 mmol/L for infants less than 6 months of age, 40-59 mmol/L for older individuals), and two disease-causing CFTR mutations are identified (12,14). There are certain conditions that may cause false-positive result of the sweat test, such as atopic eczema, malnutrition, congenital adrenal hyperplasia, ectodermal dysplasia, Klinefelter's syndrome, nephrogenic diabetes insipidus, adrenal insufficiency, hypothyroidism and autonomic dysfunction. A clinician should also be aware of the possible false-negative result in case of a sample dilution, malnutrition, peripheral oedema, low sweatrate, hypoproteinaemia, dehydration or in presence of CFTR mutations with preserved sweat duct function. The test is not accurate in newborn children, or children with a body mass below 3 kg (4,15).

Measurement of nasal transepithelial potential difference may be helpful method in persons who do not meet classic diagnostic criteria but it is difficult to perform and is not available in all centres. Also, full sequence analysis will detect most CFTR mutations but it may also reveal polymorphisms and new mutations of unknown importance (4,11,12).

Persons with milder problems associated with CFTR dysfunction may have male infertility, recurrent pancreatitis, chronic sinuitis and biliary disease. They usually have borderline chloride concentrations and the term "CFTR-related diseases" should be used for this group of disorders (4,16).

Almost 40% of children with CF have sufficient pancreatic function at birth in contrast to 10-15% at the age of five. Presence of F508del mutation practically determinates pancreatic disease: 99% homozygotes and 70% double heterozygotes have pancreatic insufficiency (PI). Most of class I-III mutations have also PI as a consequence, and most of mild mutations pancreatic sufficiency (PS), even in a presence of one severe mutation (4,15,17). Symptoms of malabsorption (chronic diarrhea, steatorrhea, failure to thrive), malnutrition and fat-soluble vitamin deficiency (bleeding disorder, night blindness, anemia, neuropathy, rickets, osteopenia) characterize PI (4,15). PS patients mostly have a milder course of the disease, better pulmonary function and lower sweat chloride levels. Recurrent pancreatitis is a manifestation of CF only in PS patients (17).

Low serum albumin, prolonged prothrombin time and/or low serum levels of fat soluble vitamins are features of PI. All patients with CF should be tested for presence of PI. Determination of the coefficient of fat malabsorption (CFA) during 3 or 5 days (fat stool content in relation to a dietary fat recorded) is the most accurate indirect test of pancreatic function. CFA above 7% in children older than 6 months, and above 10-15% in children below 6 months are pathologic (4,15). Difficulties in performance of this test lead to development of other diagnostic methods. Repeated analysis of acid steatocrit (percentage of fat in a stool sample) is less sensitive but a more simple method. NMR method is a relatively new method for the estimation of fat content of the stool (18). Determination of fecal elastase -1 in a stool sample is a relatively simple immunoassay that has a high sensitivity and specificity in diagnosing severe PI. The test is not so accurate in mild or moderate PI.

Pancreatic elastase is resistant to proteolysis in the bowel and therapy with pancreatic enzymes does not affect the test results (19).

12.3 SHWACHMAN-DIAMOND SYNDROME

Shwachman-Diamond syndrome (SDS) is a multi-system disease with the affection of the bone marrow, pancreas, skeleton, and other organs. Bone marrow failure, pancreatic exocrine dysfunction and skeletal abnormalities are the major features but the liver, kidneys, teeth, brain, and immune system may also be affected (20-22). Patients are prone to development of myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and leukaemia. Estimated incidence is 1/76.000. Although SDS is an autosomal recessive disorder, the ratio of males to females is 1,7 to 1 (20). Approximately 90% of patients meeting clinical criteria for the diagnosis of SDS harbour mutations in the SBDS gene (Shwachman-Bodian-Diamond syndrome). SBDS maps to the 7q11 centromeric region of chromosome 7 (23,24). The SBDS gene is highly conserved throughout evolution and is widely expressed in human tissues (24). SBDS encodes a predicted protein of 28.8 kd, and functions in 60S large ribosomal subunit maturation and in mitotic spindle stabilization. Recent data suggest that it may also affect actin polymerization, vacuolar pH regulation, and DNA metabolism (25).

12.3.1 HEMATOLOGICAL MANIFESTATIONS

Neutropenia is the most common hematological abnormality, occurring in nearly all patients. It can be persistent or intermittent, and some patients may have defects in migration and chemotaxis of neutrophils. Up to 80% of the patients have also normochromic and normocytic (or macrocytic) anemia with low reticulocytes. Fetal hemoglobin may also be elevated. Thrombocytopenia or severe aplasia with pancytopenia may also occur. Bone marrow is usually hypoplastic with increased fat deposition but normal or increased cellularity have also been observed (20-22).

12.3.2 PANCREATIC DISEASE

SDS is characterized with variably severe exocrine pancreatic dysfunction. Pancreatic acini are replaced with fat and islets of Langerhans and ductal architecture are preserved. Pancreatic dysfunction is usually diagnosed within the first six months of life and in almost all other patients during the first year. While secretion of enzymes is severely decreased, ductular electrolyte and fluid secretion remains normal (20-22). Also, improvement in pancreatic function may be observed in later childhood and by 4 years of age almost 50% of patients may no longer require pancreatic enzyme supplements (26).

12.3.4 LIVER DISEASE

Hepatomegaly is common and elevated serum liver enzymes are seen in up to 75% of young children but tend to resolve with age (26,27).

12.3.5 GROWTH FAILURE

Growth failure with malnutrition is usual in the first year of life, due to inadequate nutrient intake, feeding difficulties, pancreatic insufficiency and recurrent infections (20). During the first year over half of patients have both height and weight below the 3rd percentile. After starting pancreatic enzyme supplementation most children show normal growth velocity, but
remain consistently below the 3^{rd} percentile for height and weight in half of patients (21,28,29).

12.3.6 BONE DISEASE

SDS-associated bone disease includes skeletal dysplasia and low-turnover osteoporosis. Children may have metaphyseal changes in the long bones and costochondral junctions and ess frequently other bone anomalies.

Delayed dentition of permanent teeth, dental dysplasia, increased risk of dental caries, and periodontal disease may also occur (20-22).

12.3.7 DIAGNOSIS

The clinical diagnosis is established by documenting exocrine pancreatic dysfunction and hematological abnormalities and excluding other causes of PI and bone marrow failure (cystic fibrosis, Pearson syndrome, cartilage hair hypoplasia and other inherited bone marrow failure syndromes such as dyskeratosis congenita)(20-22). Since indirect tests of pancreatic function may be normal despite a significant defect in pancreatic acinar function, serum pancreatic enzyme concentrations may serve as useful markers of the pancreatic phenotype in patients with SDS (20,21). Serum immunoreactive trypsinogen concentrations are low (<6 g/L) in patients with SDS and PI, and are usually above 6 g/L or normal in patients with PS patients (20,21,30). However, normal serum trypsinogen does not exclude impaired exocrine pancreatic function (20). Concentrations of fecal elastase less than 200 μ g/g are indicative of severe pancreatic dysfunction, while values below 100 μ g/g are suggestive of exocrine pancreatic insufficiency (20).

Hematologic work-up reveals intermittent or persistent neutropenia, or cytopenias of other blood cell lineages. Bone marrow aspiration and biopsy should include assessment of cellularity, iron stain and cytogenetics. Bone marrow cytogenetic finding of I(7q) or del(20q) is highly associated with SDS (20).

As the clinical diagnosis of SDS is usually difficult, it is advisable to test most or all suspected cases for mutations in the SBDS gene. About 10% of the SDS patients may be negative for mutations, and de novo SBDS mutations have been identified in some families (20,21).

LITERATURE:

- 1. Stormon MO, Durie PR. Pathophysiologic basis of exocrine pancreatic dysfunction in childhood. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2002;35(1):8-21.
- 2. Belamarich PF. Recognizing and diagnosing pancreatic insufficiency in infants. Pediatr in Rev 2002;23;69.
- 3. Nydegger A, Couper RT, Oliver MR. Childhood pancreatitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006;21(3):499-509.
- 4. O'Sullivan BP, Freedman SD. Cystic fibrosis.Lancet 2009;373(9678):1891-904.
- 5. Ratjen FA. Cystic fibrosis: pathogenesis and future treatment strategies. Respir Care 2009;54(5):595-605.
- 6. Walters S, Mehta A. Epidemiology of cystic fibrosis. In: Hodson M, Geddes DM, Bush A, eds. Cystic fibrosis, 3rd ed. London: Edward Arnold Ltd, 2007: 21–45.
- 7. Schwiebert EM, Morales MM, Devidas S, Egan ME, Guggino WB. Chloride channel and chloride conductance regulator domains of CFTR, the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95(5):2674-89.

- 8. Quinton PM. Chloride impermeability in cystic fibrosis. Nature 1983; 301(5899):421-422.
- 9. Matsui H, Grubb BR, Tarran R, Randell SH, Gatzy JT, Davis CW, Boucher RC. Evidence for periciliary liquid layer depletion, not abnormal ion composition, in the pathogenesis of cystic fibrosis airways disease. Cell 1998;95(7):1005-15.
- 10. Regnis JA, Robinson M, Bailey DL, Cook P, Hooper P, Chan HK, et al. Mucociliary clearance in patients with cystic fibrosis and in normal subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994;150(1):66-71.
- 11. De Boeck K, Wilschanski M, Castellani C, et al. Cystic fibrosis: terminology and diagnostic algorithms. Thorax 2006;61: 627–35.
- 12. Farrell PM, Rosenstein BJ, White TB, Accurso FJ, Castellani C, Cutting GR et al. Guidelines for diagnosis of cystic fibrosis in newborns through older adults: Cystic Fibrosis Foundation consensus report. J Pediatr 2008;153:S4–S14.
- 13. LeGrys VA, Yankaskas JR, Quittell LM, Marshall BC, Mogayzel PJ. Diagnostic sweat testing: the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation guidelines. J Pediatr 2007;151:85–9.
- 14. Mishra A, Greaves RF, Carlin J, et al. The diagnosis of cystic fibrosis by sweat test: agespecifi c reference intervals. J Pediatr 2008;153:758–63.
- Gaskin KJ. Cystic fibrosis. In: Kleinman RE, Sanderson IR, Goulet O, Sherman PM, Mieli-Vergani G, Shneider BL, eds. Walker 's Pediatric Gastrointestinal Disease. Hamilton, BC Decker Inc., 2008:1227-40.
- 16. Boyle MP. Nonclassic cystic fi brosis and CFTR-related diseases. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2003;9:498–503.
- 17. Walkoviak J, Lisowska A, Blaszczynski M. The changing face of the exocrine pancreas in cystic fibrosis: pancreatic sufficiency, pancreatitis and genotype. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008;20:157-60.
- Caras S, Boyd D, Zipfel L, Sander-Struckmeier S. Evaluation of stool collections to measure efficacy of PERT in subjects with exocrine pancreatic insufficiency. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2011;53(6):634-40.
- 19. Daftary A, Acton J, Heubi , Amin R. Fecal elastase-1: Utility in pancreatic function in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros 2006;5:71–6.
- 20. Dror Y, Donadieu J, Koglmeier J, Dodge J, Toiviainen-Salo S, Makitie O et al. Draft consensus guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of Shwachman-Diamond syndrome. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2011;1242:40-55.
- 21. Shimamura A. Shwachman-Diamond syndrome. Semin Hematol 2006;43(3):178-88.
- 22. Hall GW, Dale P, Dodge JA. Shwachman-Diamond syndrome: UK perspective. Arch Dis Child 2006;91(6):521-4.
- 23. Goobie S, Popovic M, Morrison J, Ellis L, Ginzberg H, Boocock GR, et al. Shwachman-Diamond syndrome with exocrine pancreatic dysfunction and bone marrow failure maps to the centromeric region of chromosome 7. Am J Hum Genet 2011;68:1048-54.
- 24. Boocock GR, Morrison JA, Popovic M, Richards N, Ellis L, Durie PR, et al. Mutations in SBDS are associated with Shwachman-Diamond syndrome. Nat Genet 2003;33:97-101.
- 25. Huang JN, Shimamura A. Clinical spectrum and molecular pathophysiology of Shwachman-Diamond syndrome. Curr Opin Hematol 2011;18:30-35.
- 26. Mack DR, Forstner GG, Wilschanski M, Freedman MH, Durie PR. Shwachman syndrome: Exocrine pancreatic dysfunction and variable phenotypic expression. Gastroenterology 1996;111:1593-602.
- 27. Cipolli M, D'Orazio C, Delmarco A, Marchesini C, Miano A, Mastella G. Shwachman's syndrome: Pathomorphosis and long-term outcome. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1999;29:265-272.
- 28. Ginzberg H, Shin J, Ellis L, Morrison J, Ip W, Dror Y, et al. Shwachman syndrome: Phenotypic manifestations of sibling sets and isolated cases in a large patient cohort are similar. J Pediatr 1999;135:81-8.
- 29. Mack DR. Shwachman-Diamond syndrome. J Pediatr 2002;141:164-5.
- 30. Ip WF, Dupuis A, Ellis L, Beharry S, Morrison J, Stormon MO et al. Serum pancreatic enzymes define the pancreatic phenotype in patients with Shwachman-Diamond syndrome. J Pediatr 2002;141:259-65.

This article is published by permision of Editor in chief and Publisher of Biochemia Medica, the journal of Croatian Society of Medical Biochemists.

Review

Serological markers of inflammatory bowel disease

Andrea Tešija Kuna

University Department of Chemistry, Medical School University Hospital Sestre Milosrdnice, Zagreb, Croatia

Corresponding author: andrea.kuna@gmail.com

Abstract

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a heterogeneous group of chronic inflammatory disorders of the gastrointestinal tract with two main distinguishable entities, Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). IBD-unclassified (IBD-U) is a diagnosis that covers the "grey" zone of diagnostic uncertainty between UC and CD. Current diagnosis of IBD relies on the clinical, endoscopic, radiological, histological and biochemical features, but this approach has shortcomings especially in cases of overlapping symptoms of CD and UC. The need for a diagnostic tool that would improve the conventional methods in IBD diagnosis directed the search towards potential immunological markers, since an aberrant immune response against microbial or endogenous antigens in a genetically susceptible host seems to be implicated in IBD pathogenesis. The spectrum of antibodies to different microbial antigens and autoantibodies associated with IBD is rapidly expanding. Most of these antibodies are associated with CD like anti-glycan antibodies: anti-Saccharomices cerevisiae (ASCA) and the recently described anti-laminaribioside (ALCA), anti-chitobioside (ACCA), anti-mannobioside (AMCA), anti-laminarin (anti-L) and anti-chitin (anti-C) antibodies; in addition to other antibodies that target microbial antigens: anti-outer membrane porin C (anti-OmpC), anti-Cbir1 flagellin and anti-l2 antibody. Also, autoantibodies targeting the exocrine pancreas (PAB) were shown to be highly specific for CD. In contrast, UC has been associated with anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibodies (pANCA) and antibodies against goblet cells (GAB). Current evidence suggests that serologic panels of multiple antibodies are useful in differential diagnosis of CD versus UC and can be a valuable aid in stratifying patients according to disease phenotype and risk of complications.

Key words: inflammatory bowel disease; colitis, ulcerative; Crohn disease; serological tests

Received: June 28, 2012

Accepted: September 18, 2012

Introduction

The term IBD refers to a chronic and relapsing inflammatory disorder of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) accompanied by abdominal pain, rectal bleeding and malabsorption. It comprises two major entities, ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD). Despite sharing similar clinical features, these diseases have significant clinical, endoscopic and histopathological differences (Table 1) (1-4).

Typically, IBD manifests between adolescence and the third decade of life, with approximately 10% of cases in individuals younger than 18 years (5). IBD diagnosis is based upon the coevaluation of clinical findings, endoscopic, radiological, histological and laboratory investigations with the main goal of excluding other conditions with similar presentations and defining the extent and severity of inflammation. In the majority of cases, endoscopic findings and histological examination of tissue biopsies provides a specific diagnosis of UC or CD (3,6-8). However, despite all available diagnostic methods, approximately 5 to 15% of patients with IBD affecting the colon are unclassifiable, as they present features of both conditions. Such patients are diagnosed with indeterminate colitis (IC) or IBD unclassified (IBDU), which is considered to be a temporary diagnosis since about 80% of these pa-

Biochemia Medica 2013;23(1):xxx-xxx

Feature	Crohn's disease	Ulcerative colitis		
Clinical features				
Diarrhea	Fairly common	Very common		
Rectal bleeding	Fairly common	Very common		
Sites of involevment				
lleum and colon (ileocolonic region)	50% of patients	Never		
lleum	30% of patients	Never		
Colon	20% of patients	Exclusively		
Upper parts of GIT	Infrequent	Never		
Endoscopic findings	Discontinuous lesions, cobblestoning, aphthous and linear ulcerations, strictures	Continous lesions, pseudopolyp		
Histologic findings	Transmural inflammation	Mucosal/submucosal inflammation		

 TABLE 1. The key features of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis.

tients will eventually be diagnosed with either UC or CD (2,9,10).

The growing body of evidence suggests that IBD evolved as a result of inappropriate and ongoing activation of the mucosal immune system driven by the commensal luminal microflora in a genetically susceptible host (2,4,11-14). The triggering factor for disturbance of the tightly regulated balance between immune tolerance and defensive inflammatory response to intestinal microbiota is yet to be discovered. The serological immune response in IBD patients, which includes antibodies against the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae (ASCA), Escherichia coli outer membrane porin C (Omp-C), flagelin (cBir1) and Pseudomonas fluorescens - associated sequence I-2 (I2), suggests that commensal flora or a dietary antigen is the triggering factor. On the other hand, the autoimmune concept has its base in the autoimmune extraintestinal manifestations of IBD (inflammation of the skin, eyes and joints), successful immunosupressive therapy and a variety of autoantibodies including antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (ANCA), antibodies against exocrine pancreas (PAB) or intestinal goblet cells (GAB) (15-17).

The objective of this review is to give an overview of the current knowledge of the serological markers in IBD with regard to their use in differentiating

х

IBD from other conditions with similar presentation, in differentiating UC from CD, in disease stratification and prediction and, finally, their response to therapeutic interventions in IBD.

Serologic markers of IBD

Generally, antibodies related to IBD encompasses two main groups: antibodies targeting microbial antigens and autoantibodies (Table 2.).

TABLE 2. Serological markers of IBD.

Antibodies to microbial antigens	Autoantibodies
Anti-glycan antibodies (ASCA, ACCA, ALCA, AMCA, Anti-L, Anti-C)	pANCA
Anti-OmpC	PAB
Anti-I2	GAB
Anti-Cbir1	

ASCA - Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibodies; ACCA antichitobioside carbohydrate antibodies; ALCA - antilaminaribioside carbohydrate antibodies; AMCA - anti-mannobioside carbohydrate antibodes; Anti-L - anti-laminarin antibodies; Anti-C - anti-chitin antibodies; Anti-U - antibody to outer membrane porin C; Anti-I2 - antibody to *Pseudomonas fluorescens* - associated sequence I2; Anti-Cbir1 - antibody to bacterial flagellin; pANCA anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies; PAB - antibodies against exocrine pancreas; GAB - antibodies to goblet cells.

Biochemia Medica 2013;23(1):xxx-xxx

These antibodies targets cell wall carbohydrate epitopes found in microbiota such as yeasts and bacteria (18,19). The most prominent member of this group of antibodies are anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibodies (ASCA). The major antigen targeted with ASCA antibodies is the 200 kDa phosphopeptidomannan (PPM), a cell wall mannan of the common baker's or brewer's yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. The greatest discrimination among patients with Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, and controls was obtained with the Su1 strain of S. cerevisiae used in beer brewing and mannotetraose was identified as the most important polysaccharide epitope within PPM (16,20). Regarding the widespread distribution of oligomannosides, three theories have been presented in an attempt to explain the mannose-induced immunological response. The first theory assumed that ASCA antibodies originate from immunization by dietary yeasts or yeasts that colonize the digestive tract, as a consequence of increased exposure of yeast antigens to immune reactive cells due to increased intestinal permeability (20-23). The second theory considers the epitopes shared by other microorganisms (Mycobacterium species), and the third presupposes structural homologies between S. cerevisiae oligomannosides and oligomannosides expressed on human glycoconjugates as autoantigens or neoautoantigens (20,24). ASCA was shown to have a high specificity for CD, and both IgA and IgG antibodies are formed. Methods used for the detection of these antibodies are indirect immunofluorescence (IIF) using smears of Saccharomyces cerevisiae or standardized enzyme linked immunosorbent (ELISA) assays with an antigen derived from disrupted or boiled S. cerevisiae and phosphopeptidomannan purified from the cell wall (gASCA assay) coated on microtiter plates (25-30).

In an attempt to identify novel antibodies associated with inflammatory bowel disease, Dotan *et al.* (18) profiled sugar-binding antibodies from the serum of patients with diagnosed CD or UC using glycan array technology and ELISA. The newly identified antibodies were antilaminaribioside carbohydrate IgG antibodies (ALCA), antichitobioside carbohydrate IgA antibodies (ACCA) and anti-mannobioside carbohydrate IgG antibodes (AMCA) (18,31,32). Laminaribioside is a building block of the glucose-based glycan laminarin, while chitobioside is a building block of the N-acetyl-glucosamine-based glycan chitin. Both laminaribioside and chitobioside, as well as mannose and mannan, are components of the cell walls of microorganisms such as bacteria, fungi and yeast and are capable of stimulating the immune system, specifically innate immunity (33). The most recently discovered members of the anti-glycan family of antibodies in IBD were anti-laminarin (anti-L) IgA antibodies and anti-chitin (anti-C) IgA antibodies (34). Similarly to ASCA, these antibodies have proven to be specific for CD, though with significantly lower sensitivity.

Antibody to outer membrane porin (anti-OmpC)

OmpC is an outer membrane porin C isolated from *Escherichia coli*. Originally, this protein was identified as a pANCA cross-reactive antigen using the library of colonic bacteria (35). The ELISA assay demonstrated an excessive secretion of IgA anti-OmpC antibodies in CD patients (36,37).

Antibody to Pseudomonas fluorescens - associated sequence I2 (anti-I2)

In 2000, the novel DNA sequence (I2) with homology to the ptxR and tetR bacterial transcription factor family was isolated from CD colonic lesional mucosa, suggesting that the microorganism expressing the I2 gene product may be related to CD pathogenesis (38). This bacterial sequence has been shown to derive from *Pseudomonas fluorescens* (39). An ELISA assay showed frequent immunoglobulin A seroreactivity in CD as opposed to UC or other inflammatory enteric diseases and healthy individuals (37,38).

Antibody to bacterial flagellin CBir1 (anti-CBir1)

Among bacterial antigens, flagellin is an interesting candidate to play a role in mucosal immune responses because it is a common bacterial antigen present on most motile bacteria in the gut and is highly antigenic. Multiple strains of colitic mice had elevated serum anti-flagellin IgG2a responses, and flagellin CBir1 has been identified as an immunodominant colitogenic antigen. In line with this, it has high anti-CBir1 IgG reactivity in human CD patient sera, as detected with the ELISA assay, and only minor reactivity in the sera of patients with UC or other inflammatory GIT diseases. CBir1 flagellin is most closely related to the flagellins of bacteria in the genera *Butyrivibrio, Rosburia, Thermotoga*, and *Clostridium* and fall within the *Clostridium* subphylum XIVa cluster of Gram-positive bacteria (40).

Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (ANCA)

ANCAs are classically associated with small-vessel systemic vasculitis such as Wegener granulomatosis, Churg-Strauss syndrome, microscopic polyangiitis and its renal-limited variant (pauci-immune necrotizing and crescentic glomerulonephritis), where their measurement is used in the purposes of diagnosis, prognosis and in monitoring of inflammatory activity (41). In vasculitis, this heterogenous family of antibodies targets different proteins, mainly located in the azurophilic granules of neutrophils and in lysosomes of monocytes. According to the International Consensus Statement (41), ANCAs are screened by indirect immunofluorescence (IIF) on normal peripheral blood neutrophils where two main types of fluorescence pattern are obtained: cytoplasmic granular with accentuation between nuclear lobes (cAN-CA) and fine homogenous, diffuse rim-like staining of the perinuclear cytoplasm (or rim-accentuated fluorescence of the nuclei) designated as the pAN-CA pattern. The major ANCA antigen targets in inflammatory vasculitides are proteinase-3, mainly displaying cANCA pattern and myeloperoxidase associated with the pANCA pattern (41-43).

The distinct subset of ANCA associated with UC was first reported in 1990 (44,45). The pattern of staining on IIF exhibited broad inhomogeneous rim-like staining of the nuclear periphery, different from classical pANCA and was designated as atypical p-ANCA. Various target antigens of atypical pANCA have been intensively studied in IBD patients. These studies included proteins located in the granules of the neutrophils and monocytes such as: serine proteases cathepsin G and elastase, hydrolase β -glucuronidase, iron-binding protein

lactoferrin and the natural antibiotic bactericidal permeability increasing protein (BPI); cytoplasmic proteins such as α -enolase and catalase; proteins distributed in the cytoplasm and nuclei of eukaryotic cells: high-mobility group of non-histone chromosomal proteins (HMG-1 and HMG-2), and finally proteins located in the nuclei, such as histone H1 (25,27). Overall, most studies supported the conclusion that IBD-associated ANCA specific antigens are not located within neutrophil granulas but rather within the nuclei. The immunoelectron microscopy finding of UC-associated pANCA reactivity localized over chromatin concentrated toward the periphery of the nuclei supports this thesis (46). However, UC sera did not react with double-stranded DNA. Vidrich et al. (47) demonstrated the loss of the UC-related pANCA staining pattern after digestion of substrate cells with DNAse, suggesting that the epitope recognized by this subset of antibodies is a protein-DNA complex or that the presence of intact DNA is necessary to maintain the integrity of the epitope. It is likely that the target antigen for UC-related atypical pANCA is a complex conformational epitope which comprises the previously reported nuclear proteins histone H1, HMG-1 and HMG-2. Since the target antigen for UC-associated pANCA is yet unrecognized, sensitive and specific solid-phase methods cannot be developed, and therefore IIF on normal peripheral blood neutrophils is still the most commonly employed method in use. Detection of DNase I - sensitive pANCA antibody is more specific for UC in differentiation from similar pANCA patterns in autoimmune liver diseases. Recently, lactoferrin was suggested as a major pANCA target in UC but it has to be bound to DNA to present epitope relevant for the reaction with the autoantibodies. Use of the lactoferrin reconstituted (LFR) granulocytes (granulocytes stripped of pANCA targets and then reconstituted with human lactoferrin) as a substrate in addition to standard ethanol-fixed granulocytes raised the sensitivity of the IIF assay from 71.8% to 87.2% (48).

Antibodies against exocrine pancreas (PAB)

These antibodies were first described in 1987 by Stöcker *et al.* (49) who tested sera of patients with

Biochemia Medica 2013;23(1):xxx-xxx

CD and UC for autoantibodies by the IIF method using 19 different human tissues as antigenic substrates. They demonstrated that autoantibodies against exocrine pancreas (PAB) were found almost exclusively in CD patients (although with rather low sensitivity) and suggested that this specific autoantigen is a component of normal pancreatic juice. In the IIF assay on sections of human or primate pancreatic tissue, PAB antibodies stain different structures of the exocrine pancreas and are divided into two subtypes accordingly: subtype I with a typical, extracellular, drop-like staining pattern in the acinar lumen of pancreatic tissue sections, and subtype II with speckled staining of the cytoplasm of pancreatic acinar cells (50). Recently, the major zymogen granule membrane glycoprotein (GP2), a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored protein of the pancreatic acinar cells was identified as the autoantigen of PAB in CD (51). Upon hormonal or neuronal stimulation of the pancreas, GP2 is transported to the apical compartment of acinar cells, from which it is released, together with zymogens, into the pancreatic duct. The two obtained fluorescence patterns of PAB on pancreatic tissue are consistent with the localization of GP2. In addition to pancreatic acinar cells, M cell-specific expression of GP2 in humans and mice was also seen among the intestinal epithelium (52,53) The characteristic of the M-cells as specialized epithelial cells of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues (Peyer's patches) is their role in the transport of antigens from the lumen to the cells of the immune system (54). It was found that the GP2 expressed on M cells serves as an uptake receptor for a subset of commensal and pathogenic bacteria (53). Bearing in mind that Peyers patches are abundant in the distal part of the ileum, the predominant site of inflammatory onset in CD, Roggenbuck et al. (51) demonstrated GP2 expression at mRNA and protein levels in colon biopsies from patients with CD at a significantly higher level than in UC colon biopsies. This observation supports the hypothesis of a direct involvement of anti-GP2 in CD pathophysiology, rather than being merely an epiphenomenon as an antibody targeting non-intestinal antigen.

Antibodies to goblet cells (GAB)

Intestinal epithelial cells represent a physical barrier against the excessive entry of bacteria and other antigens from the intestinal lumen into the circulation. Goblet cells, as specialized intestinal epithelial cells, regulate the production of mucus and factors that contribute to epithelial repair and regulation of inflammation (4). GAB have been detected primarily in adult UC patients with prevalence varying from 15% to 46.6% while in CD patients observed prevalence of GAB showed even wider range from 1.4% to 33% (15,49,55,56). Obtained differences in GAB prevalence are likely attributed to methodological differences, such as the use of different origin of antigenic substrate for IIF: human or monkey intestinal tissue, rarely rat jejunum or human colonic cancer cell line HT29-18-N2. which differentiates into intestinal goblet cells. Tissue substrates are associated with problematic reproducibility due to the natural fluctuations of tissue quality. The next sources of variability in the obtained results lie in the evaluation of fluorescence patterns on IIF. Beside the IIF test, the ELISA assay using the HT29-18-N2 cell line assay is also in use for GAB detection (55).

Clinical usefulness of serological investigation of IBD

The main concerns regarding clinical usefulness of serological markers in IBD refers to: a) their efficiency in distinguishing IBD from other diseases with similar clinical presentation and in distinguishing subtypes of IBD (ulcerative colitis from Crohn's disease), b) their prognostic value in stratifying disease phenotypes, and c) monitoring disease activity and reflecting the response to therapeutic intervention.

Serological investigation for IBD diagnostic purposes

Use of serological markers in distinguishing IBD from other non-IBD gastrointestinal diseases

Currently, diagnosis of IBD is based on a combination of clinical, radiological, endoscopic and histological studies and, in most cases, the diagnosis can be made with high certainty. Assessment of the currently known IBD-associated antibodies has not surpassed the diagnostic accuracy of the previously mentioned conventional methods, mainly due to their limited sensitivity (Table 3) (15,19,26,27, 29,33,55,56-59).

A positive test result for any individual antibody, even those with highest sensitivity like pANCA or ASCA, only modestly influences the pretest/posttest probability in distinguishing IBD from other GIT disorders with similar clinical presentation, while a negative test result has no clinical value. Although most studies have confirmed the high specificity of IBD-associated antibodies (75–99%), caution should be taken in considering the control groups of non-IBD GIT disorders that mainly included irritable bowel syndrome, infectious colitis or functional gut disorders (26). Namely, ASCA that was considered as a highly CD-specific antibody was observed in 30% to even 59% of patients with celiac disease prior introducing the gluten-free diet. ASCA antibodies were more often of the IgG class and were, unlike the ASCA-IgA, insensitive to gluten withdrawal (60,61). Another highly CD-specific antibody, PAB, showed a frequency of 22.3% in celiac patients at diagnosis (more often IgA class), and positivity demonstrated a tendency to be lower in patients on a strict gluten-free diet (56). This observation suggests that the presence of ASCA or PAB may be a marker for increased permeability of the small bowel and autoimmunity instead of a specific IBD (CD) marker.

Therefore, at the present, assessment of serological markers are not suitable for screening for IBD in patients with gastrointestinal symptoms, but rather as assistance in cases of a diagnostic dilemma.

The variation in the prevalence of individual serological markers across studies could be explained by differences in the methods used. For example, pANCA have been determined with standardized IIF on ethanol fixed neutrophils from healthy donors, or with fixed granulocytes ELISA, or using ELISA followed with IIF for ANCA-ELISA positive samples. Some studies were performed with IIF including the step with DNase I digestion of neutrophils. Variation in the sensitivity of pANCA as-

Antibody	Immunoglobulin	Prevalence (%)					
	class	CD	UC	other GIT disorders	Healthy		
ASCA	IgA and/or IgG	29–71	0–29	0–23 (37.9)*	0–16		
ACCA	IgA	8–25	5–7 3–20		0.5–12		
ALCA	lgG	17.7–27	3–8 9		2		
AMCA	lgG	12–28	7 8		9		
Anti-L	lgA	11–26	3–7	3–7 23			
Anti-C	IgA	10-25	2–10	2–10 11			
Anti-OmpC	lgA	24–55	2–24	4 5–11			
Anti-I2	IgA	38-60	2–10	19	5–15		
Anti-Cbir1	lgG	50-56	<6	14	8		
PAB	IgA and IgG	26-39	0–22.7 0–11.5 (22.3)*		0-8		
GAB	IgA and IgG	1.4–33	15.4–46.6 0–9.3		0		
pANCA	IgG	2-38	24-85	8	0-8		

 TABLE 3. Prevalence of individual serological markers in patients with IBD, non-IBD GIT disorders and healthy individuals (15,19,26, 27,29,33,55-59).

* prevalence in active celiac disease. CD - Crohn's disease; UC - ulcerative colitis; ASCA - Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibodies; ACCA antichitobioside carbohydrate antibodies; ALCA - antilaminaribioside carbohydrate antibodies; AMCA - anti-mannobioside carbohydrate antibodes; Anti-L - anti-laminarin antibodies; Anti-C - anti-chitin antibodies; Anti-OmpC - antibody to outer membrane porin C; Anti-I2 - antibody to *Pseudomonas fluorescens* - associated sequence I2; Anti-Cbir1 - antibody to bacterial flagellin; PAB - antibodies against exocrine pancreas; GAB - antibodies to goblet cells; pANCA - anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies.

Biochemia Medica 2013;23(1):xxx-xxx

says from 0–63% in UC samples across five different laboratories suggests that these assays obviously do not detect the same spectrum of antigens (28). Also, considerable lack of agreement exists within the same methodology due to differences in antigen preparation and quality, cut-off values based on the receiver operating curve, differences in evaluation of fluorescence patterns for IIF methods, cut-off titer or the origin of the substrate used for IIF.

Distinguishing CD from UC

The heterogeneity within the IBD group of disorders influences the clinical presentation with overlapping symptoms of CD and UC. In up to 15% of cases, no differentiation into a particular IBD subtype can be made, giving rise to a diagnosis of IBD-unclassified (IBD-U) or previously known as indetermined colitis (IC). Differentiation into either of the IBD subtypes in the early phase of the disease has an influence on the tailoring of drug therapy. According to retrospective database analysis of 250 children diagnosed with IBD, IBD-U appears to have a higher prevalence among paediatric patients (up to 29.6%) and is associated with early disease onset and rapidly progresses to pancolitis (62). In the same study, 66.2% patients maintained their diagnosis of IBD-U after a mean follow-up of 7 years, which favours the hypothesis of some investigators that IBD-U is a unique disease phenotype within the IBD group, with more a extensive disease, more severe clinical course and higher rate of complications. Paediatric IBD patients comprise a particular population in whom non-invasive testing is desirable and who would benefit the most from the early proper therapeutic approach. As the specificity of serological markers exceeds their sensitivity, serological profiles can be useful in the differentiation of IBD subtypes (62,63).

Most of the data pertaining to the usefulness of serological markers in distinguishing CD from UC refer to the ASCA and pANCA antibodies, while fewer data are available for other anti-glycan antibodies, anti-I2, anti-Omp-C, anti-Cbir1, PAB or GAB. Overall, ASCA has the best combined sensitivity and specificity for CD and pANCA for UC. Most other investigated serological markers are specific for CD, with the exception of GAB. Table 4. summarizes the data on diagnostic accuracy of individual and combined antibodies in the differential diagnosis of of CD and UC (10,15,26-30,56,64-66).

The general opinion is that combined testing instead of individual antibodies is more useful in obtaining a differential diagnosis of CD versus UC. Profile ASCA+/pANCA- increases specificity and positive predictive value (PPV) for diagnosis of CD comparing to ASCA+ as isolated result. In the same manner, the reverse profile pANCA+/ASCA- was shown to have a higher specificity and PPV for diagnosis of UC than pANCA+ alone (26-30). Profile pANCA-/ASCA- was found to have a strong positive correlation with IBD-U diagnosis. Prospective study of IBD-U patients revealed that half of the patients had pANCA-/ASCA- seroprofile and the vast majority of them did not change the initial diagnosis after 6 years. Therefore, pANCA-/ASCAseems to be the serological marker closely associated with IBD-U as a separate disease entity (30,63).

Recent study assessed the reactivity of seven antiglycan antibodies in a large cohort of 818 IBD patients, including gASCA IgA and IgG (gASCA is an improved ASCA assay based on immobilized purified mannan polysaccharide), ACCA, ALCA, AMCA, anti-L and anti-C (34). Within the CD patient population, 73% were positive for \geq 1 anti-glycan antibody. All anti-glycan markers were specific for CD and were significantly more prevalent in CD than in UC. The most efficient discrimination between CD and UC was achieved by the addition of anti-L and anti-C to gASCA/pANCA panel while adding of anti-L to the same panel improved differentiation of colonic CD from UC.

Diagnostic accuracy for CD *versus* UC of the gASCA and ALCA antibodies was find out to be similar between adult and paediatric IBD cohorts, while discrepancies were found for AMCA and ACCA. In paediatric population, both serologic markers showed significantly higher specificity, while AMCA showed significantly lower sensitivity compared to adults (33).

The importance of combined testing was pointed out by the finding that about one third of ASCA negative CD patients may be positive for at least

Diagnosis	Antibody	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	PPV	NPV
	ASCA +	37–72	82–100	87–95	36-68
	pANCA -	52	91	85	65
	ACCA	9–21	84-97	78-87	24–52
	ALCA	15–26	92-96	78–90	25-53
	AMCA	AMCA 12–28		65-92	25-52
	Anti-C	Anti-C 10–25		87-88	29–39
CD	Anti-L	18–26	93-97	90–91	30-40
	Anti-OmpC	20-55	81-88	83	25
	Anti-I2	42	76	NR	NR
	PAB	22-46	77–100	69–100	48–75
	ASCA+/pANCA-	46-64	92-99	86-97	44-82
	PAB+/ANCA-	22-42	98–100	87–100	48–74
	PAB+/ASCA+/pANCA-	16-34	97–100	100	66–72
UC	pANCA	50-71	75–98	74–95	49-84
	pANCA+/ASCA-	42–58	81–100	93–100	43
	GAB	12*-46	98	75–93	70–74
	pANCA or GAB+/PAB-	82	98	96	89

 TABLE 4. Diagnostic accuracy of individual serological markers and their combinations in differential diagnosis of CD and UC (10,15,26-30,56,64-66).

* in pediatric population. PPV - positive predictive value; NPV - negative predictive value; ASCA - Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibodies; pANCA - anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies; ACCA - antichitobioside carbohydrate antibodies; ALCA - antilaminaribioside carbohydrate antibodies; AMCA - anti-mannobioside carbohydrate antibodes; Anti-C - anti-chitin antibodies; Anti-L - anti-laminarin antibodies, Anti-OmpC - antibody to outer membrane porin C; Anti-I2 - antibody to *Pseudomonas fluorescens* - associated sequence I2, PAB - antibodies against exocrine pancreas; GAB - antibodies to goblet cells; NR - not reported.

one of the previously mentioned anti-glycan antibodies (67).

Similarly, anti-CBir1 were positive in about half of ASCA-negative adult CD patients while the addition of the anti-CBir1 assay to the ASCA, pANCA and anti-OmpC panel halved the number of serologically negative paediatric CD patients (68,69).

PAB was confirmed as a highly specific marker of CD in several studies, but with low sensitivity (15,29,65). Therefore, the use of PAB in combination with pANCA and ASCA was suggested, particularly in the differentiation between isolated colonic CD and UC where the clinical difficulty lies in the differentiation between CD and UC. In another study, authors concluded that PAB detection could be useful only in clinically highly suspected patients without circulating ASCA, since they found PAB positivity in 14% of CD patients that were neg-

Biochemia Medica 2013;23(1):xxx-xxx

ative for ASCA (29). Several studies, however, showed lower specificity of PAB in distinguishing CD from UC both in adult and paediatric patients (56,63,66). In majority of reports, GAB was confirmed as high-

ly specific serological marker in distinguishing UC from CD, but due to the low sensitivity (especially in paediatric population, 12%) it is poorly usable in differential diagnosis of IBD subtypes, both in adults and children (15,56,65,66,70).

However, in a recent study by Homsak *et al.* (15), the combination of positive pANCA or GAB with negative PAB managed to detect the majority of UC patients.

In summary, testing for isolated antibody is of limited value in differential diagnosis of IBD subtypes, while the combined testing of several antibodies (serologic panels) significantly improves specificity

х

and PPV for certain IBD subtype. Furthermore, widening panel of antibodies can also improve the sensitivity. However, result of serological testing is not decisive but is an adjunctive tool in patients in whom all other clinical features does not allow a distinction between CD and UC.

Use of serological testing in disease phenotype stratification

The heterogenic nature of both CD and UC is reflected in the different phenotypes of the disease, according to location, clinical course and activity or behaviour patterns, and response to treatment within each IBD subtype. An ability to stratify IBD subtypes by the risk for disease progression and complications would most certainly improve overall disease outcomes through an early decision of the most appropriate treatment option available. In addition to contributing to an improved IBD diagnosis, there is mounting evidence of a link between serum immune reactivity and specific clinical phenotypes in IBD.

In CD, disease extent can evolve with time from a non-stricturing, non-fistulizing, inflammatory phenotype to a more severe stricturing (fibrostenotic) or penetrating (with internal fistulae, fistulizing) phenotype (71). Numerous studies have examined the presence of different IBD-related antibodies and disease behaviour (9,19,26,64,68,69,72-80). Positive association of the most of the anti-microbial, especially anti-glycan antibodies with more complicated CD phenotype and a higher frequency of Crohn's disease-related abdominal surgery has been consistently demonstrated (Table 5). It is important to emphasize that this association becomes stronger with increasing diversity (multiple antibodies) and magnitude (higher titers) of the serologic response.

Table 5. Association of serological markers with CD phenotype.

Antibody	CD phenotype characteristics	Reference 9, 19, 26, 64, 72–76, 79, 80	
ASCA (ASCA+/pANCA-)	disease located in small bowell (or ileocolonic) stricturing and/or penetrating higher risk for IBD-related surgical interventions early disease onset		
pANCA (pANCA+/ASCA-)	benign (UC-like) with colonic involvment, non-stricturing, non-penetrating	9, 72, 77	
anti-CBir1	disease located in small bowell, stricturing and/or penetrating early disease onset	68, 69, 81	
anti-OmpC	anti-OmpC disease located in small bowell, stricturing and/or penetrating higher risk for IBD-related surgical interventions		
anti-l2	higher risk for stricturing phenotype higher risk for IBD-related surgical interventions	79	
АМСА	stricturing and/or penetrating higher risk for IBD-related surgical interventions, early disease onset	19, 67, 78, 80	
ACCA	stricturing and/or penetrating higher risk for IBD-related surgical interventions	19, 78, 80	
ALCA	ALCA stricturing and/or penetrating higher risk for IBD-related surgical interventions		
anti-L	nti-L stricturing and/or penetrating strong association with IBD-related surgical interventions		
anti-C	strong association with IBD-related surgery	64	

Biochemia Medica 2013;23(1):xxx-xxx

Similar results were obtained in the paediatric population. Dubinsky *et al.* (81) evaluated associations between anti-I2, anti-OmpC, anti-CBir1 and ASCA immune response and clinical phenotype in 196 paediatric CD patients. Increased frequency of internal penetrating and/or stricturing disease with increasing diversity of immune response was demonstrated, with the highest odds in patients positive for all four antibodies. Also, patients positive for \geq 1 antibody progressed to a complicated disease faster than those negative for all antibodies. These results were further confirmed for the same panel of antibodies in a later study performed on a 796 paediatric CD patients (82).

Data on the association of PAB with the CD phenotype are somewhat conflicting. In the Eastern European IBD cohort, antibody response to PAB was proven to be associated with complicated disease phenotype and extraintestinal manifestations. The presence of PAB was associated with perianal disease and extraintestinal manifestations such as arthritis, ocular or cutaneous manifestations. Also, the presence of PAB IgA antibodies was associated with penetrating disease behaviour (56). On the contrary, in the study of Joosens et al. (57) both PAB patterns were negatively associated with stricturing disease behaviour of CD. In the study conducted on Caucasian and Chinese IBD populations, PAB expression was not associated with stricturing or perforating CD, while in another study, the small differences in PAB prevalence in CD subtypes do not suggest that PAB detection is useful in the discrimination of CD phenotypes (65,83). In a study of PAB and GAB antibodies in paediatric IBD patients, there was a lack of correlation with the clinical phenotype (66).

In contrast to CD, UC has a less heterogeneous disease behaviour but can evolve into a more aggressive phenotype with regard to a higher number of surgical interventions, moderate to severe disease activity or larger disease extent. In the study performed on 366 IBD patients, no relation of pANCA in UC patients or in CD patients was found with disease activity, duration of illness, location, disease extent, previous bowel operations or medical treatment (84). In another study, a tendency of higher prevalence of pANCA+ or pANCA+/ASCA-

x

reactivity in severe UC compared to remission cases according to the Montreal classification was demonstrated, though this difference was not statistically significant. The pANCA-/ASCA- pattern was observed less often in active UC when compared to remission phase although with borderline significance (9).

In other UC cohorts, pANCA expression was significantly associated with a higher relapse rate, more aggressive disease course requiring early colectomy or with the treatment-resistant left-sided disease (85-87). A possible association between pAN-CA and relative resistance to medical therapy in UC patients was also recently documented, with negative pANCA status as an independent positive predictor for response to treatment with infliximab (88).

Recent studies indicated that serological responses may identify patients with higher risk for postoperative complications in patients with UC or IBD-U. Patients who were pANCA-/ASCA+ were shown to have an increased risk for the development of fistulas after surgical intervention compared to patients who were pANCA+/ASCA-, and were also more likely to have their diagnosis changed postoperatively to CD (89). Another study confirmed preoperative ASCA-IgA seropositivity as a predictor of postoperative CD diagnosis in UC and IBD-U patients (90). There is an indication that high levels of pANCA prior to colectomy is significantly associated with the development of postoperative complications in UC patients (91).

In summary, an assessment of serological markers is useful as a predictor of complicated disease behaviour in CD or in predicting postoperative complications in UC or IBD-U patients. The presence of multiple antibodies and the magnitude of the immunological response appear to be the strongest predictors of disease progression.

Use of serologic markers in monitoring disease activity and response to drug therapy

According to the available data, there is no use of serial measurement of IBD serological markers, including ASCA, ALCA, ACCA, anti-OmpC or pANCA in monitoring disease activity (26,27,92). Regarding the association with response to therapy, there was no relationship between ASCA or pANCA and response to therapy in a study conducted on 279 CD patients before starting anti-TNF therapy (infliximab). Although lower response rates were observed for patients with refractory intestinal disease carrying the pANCA+/ASCAcombination, this finding lacked significance (P =0.067) (93). Possible association of pANCA with relative resistance to medical therapy was further documented in a study by Sandborn et al. (87) who found an increased frequency of pANCA in treatment-resistant left-sided ulcerative colitis. The report of a negative pANCA status as an independent positive predictor for response to therapy with infliximab in UC patients supports this (88). Other studies have not found an association between ALCA, ACCA, AMCA, anti-OmpC, anti-I2 or pANCA and treatment in CD (26).

Other aspects of IBD serological markers

Prevalence and diagnostic value of IBD serological markers have shown significant variation among different ethnic or geographic population. For example, in Chinese, Japanese and Iranian CD patients ASCA was shown to be less sensitive comparing to Caucasians. On the other hand, studies conducted on Tunisian, Korean and Brasilian patients yielded prevalences comparable to Caucasian CD patients The prevalence of pANCA was found to be lower in Chinese, Japanese, Korean, Thai and Romanian patients with UC but higher in Mexican-American compared to Caucasian UC patients (26,32). Therefore, these data suggest that ethnic background should be considered when applying IBD serological markers in clinical practice.

Family studies indicated ASCA as potential subclinical biomarker for population in risk for CD, as it has been reported that this antibody is present with significantly higher frequency (20-25%) in unaffected first-degree relatives of CD patients, as compared to general healthy population (0-10%) (94,95). Furthermore, in the retrospective study, ASCA reactivity was found at a median of 38 months before clinical diagnosis in 32% of CD patients (96). In contrast to ASCA, PAB seems to rarely occur in family members of patients with Crohn's disease (50).

pANCA was not proven as a marker of increased susceptibility for disease in first-degree relatives of patients with UC (26). Recent study assessed risk factors for CD in multicase families and a cumulative effect of number of first-degree affected relatives, and number of positive antimicrobial antibodies (ASCA, AMCA, ALCA, ACCA, anti-OmpC, anti-CBir1, Anti-I2) was found (97).

An interesting aspect of IBD-related serologic response is their possible role in bridging the genetic susceptibility and clinical disease. Several studies investigated the association of serological markers with IBD-susceptible gene mutations (26,98). In spite of some inconsistency, more studies found ASCA frequency significantly associated with greater frequency of mutant NOD2/CARD15 alleles and also the genotype-seroreactivity synergism in predicting complicated CD phenotypes (33,59, 72,99). In accordance with this, it is reported that association of other anti-glycan antibodies (ALCA, AMCA, ACCA and ASCA) with NOD/CARD15 mutations in a dose-effect manner is found where more mutations were associated with higher seroreactivity (78,80).

Conclusions

The current diagnostic approach based upon clinical, endoscopic, histological, radiological and biochemical criteria provides a reliable diagnosis in the majority of cases of IBD over other GIT disorders that share similar clinical presentation, as well as differentiation into IBD-subtypes, CD or UC. However, there are certain cases where a significant overlap is present in the results of conventional diagnostic tests, thereby makes differentiation of these two subtypes difficult. It is this particular point in the diagnostic algorithm of IBD where serological testing has the greatest benefit. Due to their lack of sensitivity, serological markers are not advisable for use in the diagnosis of IBD but rather in differentiating CD from UC, particularly with the use of a wide panel of antibodies. According to the growing evidence of an association between the magnitude of serological immune reactivity and specific clinical phenotypes, the most

Biochemia Medica 2013;23(1):xxx-xxx

important clinical utility of serological markers could be in stratifying patients according to risk for aggressive disease phenotype or postoperative complications. Such a "risk score" that would integrate markers of immune response, genetic markers and clinical characteristics might enable the application of personally-tailored therapeutic strategies and better surveillance of patients at risk. At the current time, there is insufficient evidence of usefulness of serological markers in monitoring the treatment of IBD patients.

Potential conflict of interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Danese S, Fiocchi C. Ulcerative Colitis. N Engl J Med 2011; 365:1713-25.
- 2. Podolsky DK. Inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med 2002;347:417-29.
- 3. Wilkins T, Jarvis K, Patel J. Diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease. Am Fam Physician 2011;84:1365-75.
- Abraham C, Cho JH. Inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2066-78.
- 5. Hannauer SB. Inflammatory bowel disease: Epidemiology, pathogenesis, and therapeutic opportunities. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2006;12(Suppl 1):S3-S9.
- 6. Travis SP, Stange EF, Lemann M, Öresland T, Chowers Y, Forbes A, et al. European evidence based consensus on the diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease: current management. Gut 2006;55(Suppl 1):i16-i35.
- Stange EF, Travis SPL, Vermiere S, Beglinger C, Kupcinkas L, Geboes K, et al. European evidence based consensus on the diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease: definitions and diagnosis. Gut 2006;55(Suppl 1):i1-i15.
- 8. Carter MJ, Lobo AJ, Travis SPL. Guidelines for the management of inflammatory bowel disease in adults. Gut 2004;53(Suppl 5):v1-v16.
- Mokrowiecka A, Kumor A, Jakubczyk E, Pietruczuk M, Malecka-Panas E. The application of Montreal classification in different clinical and serological IBD subtypes. Hepatogastroenterology 2010;57:787-93.
- Arai R. Serologic markers: impact on early diagnosis and disease stratification in inflammatory bowel disease. Postgrad Med 2010;122:177-85.
- 11. Tsianos EV, Katsanos K. Do we really understand what immunological disturbances in inflammatory bowel disease mean? World J Gastroenterol 2009;15:521-55.
- Hart AL, Ng SC, Mann E, Al-Hassi HO, Bernardo D, Knight SC. Homing of immune cells: Role in homeostasis and intestinal inflammation. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2010;16:1969–77.
- 13. Mudter J. Innate and adaptive immunity in inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol 2011;17:3178-83.
- 14. Danese S, Fiocchi C. Etiopathogenesis of inflammatory bowel diseases. World J Gastroenterol 2006;12:4807-12.
- Homsak E, Micetic-Turk D, Bozic B. Autoantibodies pAN-CA, GAB and PAB in inflammatory bowel disease: prevalence, characteristics and diagnostic value. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2010;122(Suppl 2):19-25.
- Biochemia Medica 2013;23(1):xxx-xxx

- Mendoza JL, Abreu MT. Biological markers in inflammatory bowel disease: Practical consideration for clinicians. Gastroenterol Clin Biol 2009;33(Suppl 3):S158-73.
- Reumaux D, Sendid B, Poulain D, Duthilleul P, Dewit O, Colombel JF. Serological markers in inflammatory bowel diseases. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2003;17:19–35.
- 18. Dotan N, Altstock RT, Schwarz M, Dukler A. Anti-glycan antibodies as biomarkers for diagnosis and prognosis. Lupus 2006;15:442-50.
- Rieder F, Schleder S, Wolf A, Dirmeier A, Strauch U, Obermeier F, et al. Serum Anti-glycan antibodies predict complicated Crohn's disease behavior: a cohort study. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2010;16:1367-75.
- Sendid B, Colombel JF, Jacquinot PM, Faille C, Fruit J, Cortot A, et al. Specific antibody response to oligomannosidic epitopes in Crohn's disease. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 1996;3:219-26.
- 21. Ukabam SO, Clamp JR, Cooper BT. Abnormal small intestinal permeability to sugars in patients with Crohn's disease of the terminal ileum and colon. Digestion 1983;27:70–4.
- McKenzie H, Parrat D, Main J, Pennington CR. Antigenic heterogeneity of strains of Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Candida albicans recognised by serum antibodies from patients with Crohn's disease. FEMS Microbiol Immunol 1992;89:219–24.
- 23. Standaert-Vitse A, Jouault T, Vandewalle P, Mille C, Seddik M, Sendid B, et al. Candida albicans is an immunogen for anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibody markers of Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2006;130:1764-75.
- Wayne LG, Hollander D, Anderson B, Sramek HA, Vadheim CM, Rotter JI. Immunoglobulin A (IgA) and IgG serum antibodies to mycobacterial antigens in Crohn's disease patients and their relatives. J Clin Microbiol 1992;30:2013–8.
- Nakamura RM, Matsutani M, Barry M. Advances in clinical laboratory tests for inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Chim Acta 2003;335:9-20.
- Prideaux L, De Cruz P, Ng SC, Kamm MA. Serological antibodies in inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2012;18:1340-55.
- 27. Bossuyt X. Serologic markers in inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Chem 2006;52:171-81.
- Sandborn WJ. Serologic markers in inflammatory bowel disease: state of the art. Rev Gastroenterol Disord 2004;4:167-74.

- 29. Desplat-Jego S, Johanet C, Escande A, Goetz J, Fabien N, Olsson N, et al. Update on anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibodies, anti-nuclear associated anti-neutrophil antibodies and antibodies to exocrine pancreas detected by indirect immunofluorescence as biomarkers in chronic inflammatory bowel diseases: results of a multicenter study. World J Gastroenterol 2007;13:2312-8.
- Mokrowiecka A, Daniel P, Slomka M, Majak P, Panas EM. Clinical utility of serological markers in inflammatory bowel disease. Hepatogastroenterology 2009;56:162-6.
- Dotan I, Fishman S, Dgani Y, Schwartz M, Karban A, Lerner A, et al. Antibodies against laminaribioside and chitobioside are novel serologic markers in Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2006;131:366-78.
- 32. Mizoguchi E. New serological biomarkers of inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol 2008;14:5115-24.
- Dotan I. New serologic markers for inflammatory bowel disease diagnosis. Dig Dis 2010;28:418–23.
- Seow CH, Stempak JM, Xu W, Stat P, Lan H, Griffiths AM, et al. Novel anti-glycan antibodies related to inflammatory bowel disease diagnosis and phenotype. Am J Gastroenterol 2009;104:1426-34.
- Cohavy O, Bruckner D, Gordon LK, Misra R, Wei B, Eggena ME, et al. Colonic bacteria express an ulcerative colitis pAN-CA-related protein epitope. Infect Immun 2000;68:1542-8.
- Landers CJ, Cohavy O, Misra R, Yang H, Lin YC, Braun J, Targan SR. Selected loss of tolerance evidenced by Crohn's disease–associated immune responses to auto- and microbial antigens. Gastroenterology 2002;123:689-99.
- Joossens S, Colombel JF, Landers C, Poulain D, Geboes K, Bossuyt X, et al. Anti-outer membrane of porin C and antil2 antibodies in indeterminate colitis. Gut 2006;55:1667-9.
- Sutton CL, Kim J, Yamane A, Dalwadi H, Wei B, Landers C, et al. Identification of a novel bacterial sequence associated with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2000;119:23-31.
- Wei B, Huang T, Dalwadi H, Sutton CL, Bruckner D, Braun J. Pseudomonas fluorescens encodes the Crohn's diseaseassociated l2 sequence and T-cell superantigen. Infect Immun 2002;70:6567–75.
- Lodes MJ, Cong Y, Elson CO, Mohamath R, Landers CJ, Targan SR, et al. Bacterial flagellin is a dominant antigen in Crohn's disease. J Clin Invest 2004;113:1296–306.
- 41. Savige J, Dimech W, Fritzler M, Goeken J, Hagen C, Jennette C, et al. Addendum to the International Consensus Statement on Testing and Reporting of Antineutrophil Cytoplasmic Antibodies. Quality Control Guidelines, Comments, and Recommendations for Testing in Other Autoimmune Diseases. Am J Clin Pathol 2003;120:312-8.
- Kallenberg CGM, Heeringa P, Stegeman CA. Mechanisms of disease: pathogenesis and treatment of ANCA-associated vasculitides. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2006;2:661-70.
- Editorial. Rational use of ANCA in the diagnosis of vasculitis. Rheumatology 2002;41:481-3.
- 44. Saxon A, Shanahan F, Landers C, Ganz T, Targan S. A distinct subset of antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies is associated with inflammatory bowel disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990;86:202-10.

- 45. Rump JA, Schölmerich J, Gross V, Roth M, Helfesrieder R, Rautmann A, et al. A new type of perinuclear anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (p-ANCA) in active ulcerative colitis but not in Crohn's disease. Immunobiology 1990;181:406– 13.
- 46. Billing P, Tahir S, Cifin B, Gagne G, Cobb L, Targan SR, et al. Nuclear localization of the antigen detected by ulcerative colitis-associated perinuclear antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies. Am J Pathol 1995;147:979-87.
- 47. Vidrich A, Lee J, James E, Cobb L, Targan S. Segregation of pANCA antigenic recognition by DNAse treatment of neutrophils: ulcerative colitis, type I autoimmune hepatitis, and primary sclerosing cholangitis. J Clin Immunol 1995;15:293-9.
- 48. Teegen B, Niemann S, Probst C, Schlumberger W, Stöcker W, Komorowski L. DNA-bound lactoferrin is the major target for antineutrophil perinuclear cytoplasmic antibodies in ulcerative colitis. Contemporary Challenges in Autoimmunity: Ann N Y Acad Sci 2009;1173:161-5.
- Stöcker W, Otte M, Ulrich S, Normann D, Finkbeiner H, Stöcker K, et al. Autoimmunity to pancreatic juice in Crohn's disease. Results of an autoantibody screening in patients with chronic inflammatory bowel disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 1987;22(Suppl 139):41-52.
- Seibold F, Mörk H, Tanza S, Müller A, Holzhüter C, Weber P, Scheurlen M. Pancreatic autoantibodies in Crohn's disease: a family study. Gut 1997;40:481-4.
- 51. Roggenbuck D, Hausdorf D, Martinez-Gamboa I, Reinhold D, Büttner T, Jungblut PR, et al. Identification of GP2, the major zymogen granule membrane glycoprotein, as the autoantigen of pancreatic antibodies in Crohn's disease. Gut 2009;58:1620-8.
- Terahara K, Yoshida M, Igarashi S, Nochi T, Soares Pontes G, Hase K, et al. Comprehensive gene expression profiling of Peyer's patch M cells, villous M-like cells, and intestinal epithelial cells. J Immunol 2008;180:7840-6.
- Ohno H, Hase K. Glycoprotein 2 (GP2) grabbing the FimH+ bacteria into M cells for mucosal immunity. Gut Microbes 2010;1:407-10.
- Corr SC, Gahan CC, Hill C. M-cells: origin, morphology and role in mucosal immunity and microbial pathogenesis. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2008;52:2-12.
- 55. Hibi T, Ohara M, Kobayashi K, Brown WR, Toda K, Takaishi H, et al. Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and immunoprecipitation studies on anti-goblet cell antibody using a mucin producing cell line in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 1994;35:224-30.
- 56. Lakatos L, Altorjay I, Szamosi T, Palatka K, Vitalis Z, Tumpek J, et al. Pancreatic autoantibodies are associated with reactivity to microbial antibodies, penetrating disease behavior, perianal disease, and extraintestinal manifestations, but not with NOD2/CARD15 or TLR4 genotype in a Hungarian IBD cohort. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2009;15:365–74.
- Joossens S, Vermeire S, Van Steen K, Godefridis G, Claessens G, Pierik M, et al. Pancreatic autoantibodies in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2004;10:771–7.

Biochemia Medica 2013;23(1):xxx-xxx

- Riis L, Vind I, Vermeire S, Wolters F, Katsanos K, Politi P, et al. The prevalence of genetic and serologic markers in an unselected European population-based cohort of IBD patients. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2007;13:24–32.
- Grzybowska-Chlebowczyk U, Wos H, Sieron AL, Wiecek S, Augusciak-Duma A, Koryciak-Komarska H, Kasznia-Kocot J. Serologic investigation in children with inflammatory bowel disease and food allergy. Mediators Inflamm 2009; doi:10.1155/2009/512695.
- Basta Z, Csi I, Szabo G, Szegedi G. Seroreactovity against Saccharomyces cerevisiae in patients with Crohn's disease and celiac disease. World J Gastroenterol 2003;9:2380–12.
- Granito A, Zauli D, Muratori P, Muratori L, Grassi A, Bortolotti R, et al. Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae and perinuclear anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies in coeliac disease before and after gluten-free diet. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2005;21:881–7.
- Carvalho RS, Abadom V, Dilworth HP, Thompson R, Oliva-Hemker M, Cuffari C. Indeterminate colitis: a significant subgroup of pediatric IBD. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2006;12:258-62.
- 63. Joossens S, Reinisch W, Vermiere S, Sendid B, Poulain D, Peeters M, et al. The value of serologic markers in indeterminate colitis: a prospective follow-up study. Gastroenterology 2002;122:1242-7.
- 64. Rieder F, Schleder S, Wolf A, Dirmeier A, Strauch U, Obermeier F, et al. Association of the novel serologic anti-glycan antibodies anti-laminarin and anti-chitin with complicated Crohn's disease behavior. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2010;16:263– 74.
- 65. Lawrance IC, Hall A, Leong R, Pearce C, Murray K. A Comparative study of goblet cell and pancreatic exocine autoantibodies combined with ASCA and pANCA in Chinese and Caucasian patients with IBD. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2005;11:890–7.
- 66. Kovacs M, Lakatos PL, Papp M, Jacobsen S, Nemes E, Polgar M, et al. Pancreatic autoantibodies and autoantibodies against goblet cells in pediatric patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2012;55:429-35.
- 67. Simondi D, Mengozzi G, Betteto S, Bonardi R, Ghignone RP, Fagoonee S, et al. Antiglycan antibodies as serological markers in the differential diagnosis of inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2008;14:645–51.
- Targan SR, Landers CJ, Yang H, Lodes MJ, Cong Y, Papadakis KA, et al. Antibodies to CBir1 flagellin define a unique response that is associated independently with complicated Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2005;128:2020-8.
- 69. Markowitz J, Kugathasan S, Dubinsky M, Mei L, Crandall W, LeLeiko N, et al. Age of diagnosis influences serologic responses in children with Crohn's disease: a possible clue to etiology? Inflamm Bowel Dis 2009;15:714–9.
- Stöcker W, Otte M, Ulrich S, Normann D, Finkbeiner H, Stöcker K, et al. Autoimmunity to Pancreatic Juice in Crohn's Disease Results of an Autoantibody Screening in Patients with Chronic Inflamm Bowel Dis. Scand J Gastroenterol 1987;22:41-52.
- Biochemia Medica 2013;23(1):xxx-xxx

- Satsangi J, Silverberg MS, Vermeire S, Colombel JF. Montreal classification of inflammatory bowel disease: controversies, consensus, and implications. Gut 2006;55:749–53.
- Schoepfer AM, Schaffer T, Mueller S, Flogerzi B, Vassella E, Seibold-Schmid B, et al. Phenotypic associations of Crohn's disease with antibodies to flagellins A4-Fla2 and Fla-X, ASCA, p-ANCA, PAB, and NOD2 mutations in a Swiss cohort. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2009;15:1358–67.
- 73. Quinton JF, Sendid B, Reumaux D, Duthilleul P, Cortot A, Grandbastien B, et al. Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae mannan antibodies combined with antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibodies in inflammatory bowel disease: prevalence and diagnostic role. Gut 1998;42:788-91.
- 74. Koutroubakis IE, Petinaki E, Mouzas IA, Vlachonikolis IG, Anagnostopoulou E, Castanas E, et al. Anti–saccharomyces cerevisiae mannan antibodies and antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibodies in Greek patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterology 2001;96:449-54.
- Amre DK, Lu SE, Costea F, Seidman EG. Utility of serological markers in predicting the early occurrence of complications and surgery in pediatric Crohn's disease patients. Am J Gastroenterol 2006;101:645-52.
- Forcione DG, Rosen MJ, Kisiel JB, Sands BE. Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibody (ASCA) positivity is associated with increased risk for early surgery in Crohn's disease. Gut 2004;53:1117-22.
- Vasiliauskas EA, Kam LY, Karp LC, Gaiennie J, Yang H, Targan SR. Marker antibody expression stratifies Crohn's disease into immunologically homogeneous subgroups with distinct clinical characteristics. Gut 2000;47:487-96.
- Papp M, Altorjay I, Dotan N, Palatka K, Foldi I, Tumpek J, et al. New serological markers for inflammatory bowel disease are associated with earlier age at onset, complicated disease behavior, risk for surgery, and NOD2/CARD15 genotype in a Hungarian IBD cohort. Am J Gastroenterol 2008;103:665–81.
- 79. Mow WS, Vasiliauskas EA, Lin YC, Fleshner PR, Papadakis KA, Taylor KD, et al. Association of antibody responses to microbial antigens and complications of small bowel Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2004;126:414-24.
- Ferrante M, Henckaerts L, Joossens M, Pierik M, Joossens S, Dotan N, et al. New serological markers in inflammatory bowel disease are associated with complicated disease behaviour. Gut 2007;56:1394-403.
- Dubinsky MC, Lin YC, Dutridge D, Picornell Y, Landers CJ, Farrior S, et al. Serum immune responses predict rapid disease progression among children with Crohn's disease: immune responses predict disease progression. Am J Gastroenterol 2006;101:360–7.
- Dubinsky MC, Kugathasan S, Mei L, Picornell Y, Nebel J, Wrobel I, et al. Increased immune reactivity predicts aggressive complicating Crohn's disease in children. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008;6:1105-11.
- Klebl FH, Bataille F, Huy C, Hofstädter F, Schölmerich J, Rogler G. Association of antibodies to exocrine pancreas with subtypes of Crohn's disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005;17:73-7.

- 84. Oudkerk Pool M, Ellerbroek PM, Ridwan BU, Goldschmeding R, von Blomberg BM, Pena AS, et al. Serum antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibodies in inflammatory bowel disease are mainly associated with ulcerative colitis. A correlation study between perinuclear antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibodies and clinical parameters, medical, and surgical treatment. Gut 1993;34:46-50.
- Høie O, Aamodt G, Vermeire S, Bernklev T, Odes S, Wolters FL, et al. Serological markers are associated with disease course in ulcerative colitis. A study in an unselected population-based cohort followed for 10 years. Journal of Crohn's and Colitis 2008;2:114-22.
- Vecchi M, Bianchi MB, Sinico RA, Radice A, Meucci G, Torgano G, et al. Antibodies to neutrophil cytoplasm in Italian patients with ulcerative colitis: sensitivity, specificity and recognition of putative antigens. Digestion 1994;55:34-9.
- 87. Sandborn WJ, Landers CJ, William BS, Tremaine J, Targan SR. Association of antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies with resistance to treatment of left-sided ulcerative colitis: results of a pilot study. Mayo Clin Proc 1996;71:431-6.
- Jürgens M, Laubender RP, Hartl F, Weidinger M, Seiderer J, Wagner J, et al. Disease activity, ANCA, and IL23R genotype status determine early response to Infliximab in patients with ulcerative colitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105:1811-9.
- Dendrinos KG, Becker JM, Stucch AF, Saubermann LJ, La-Morte W, Farraye FA. Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibodies are associated with the development of postoperative fistulas following illeal pouch-anal anastomosis. J Gastrointest Surg 2006;10:1060–4.
- 90. Melmed GY, Fleshner PR, Bardakcioglu O, Ippoliti A, Vasiliauskas EA, Papadakis KA, et al. Family history and serology predict Crohn's disease after ileal pouch-anal anastomosis for ulcerative colitis. Dis Colon Rectum 2008;51:100-8.
- Fleshner PR, Vasiliauskas EA, Kam LY, Fleshner NE, Gaiennie J, Abreu-Martin MT, Targan SR. High level perinuclear antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (pANCA) in ulcerative colitis patients before colectomy predicts the development of chronic pouchitis after ileal pouch-anal anastomosis. Gut 2001;49:671-7.

- 92. Reumaux D, Colombel JF, Masy E, Duclos B, Heresbach D, Belakhe J, et al. Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic auto-antibodies (ANCA) in ulcerative colitis (UC): no relationship with disease activity. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2000;6:270-4.
- Esters N, Vermeire S, Joossens S, Noman M, Louis E, Belaiche J, at al. Serological markers for prediction of response to anti-tumor necrosis factor treatment in Crohn's disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2002;97:1458–62.
- Sendid B, Quinton JF, Charrier G, Goulet O, Cortot A, Grandbastien B, et al. Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae mannan antibodies in familial Crohn's disease. Am J Gastroenterol 1998;93:1306-10.
- Seibold F, Stich O, Hufnagl R, Kamil S, Scheurlen M. Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibodies in inflammatory bowel disease: a family study. Scand J Gastroenterol 2001;36:196-201.
- 96. Israeli E, Grotto I, Gilburd B, Balicer RD, Goldin E, Wiik A, Shoenfeld Y. Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae and antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies as predictors of inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2005;54:1232-6.
- Joossens M, Van Steen K, Branche J, Sendid B, Rutgeers P, Vasseur F, et al. Familial aggregation and antimicrobial response dose-dependently affect the risk for Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2010;16:58–67.
- Li X, Conklin L, Alex P. New serological biomarkers of inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterology 2008;14:5115-24.
- 99. Dassopoulos T, Frangakis C, Cruz-Correa M, Talor MV, Burek CL, Datta L, Nouvet F. Antibodies to Saccharomyces cerevisiae in Crohn's disease: Higher titers are associated with a greater frequency of mutant NOD2/CARD15 alleles and with a higher probability of complicated disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2007;13:143–51.

14. LABORATORY FINDINGS AND CLINICAL INDICES AS INDICATORS FOR ENDOSCOPIC REMISSION IN LUMINAL CROHN'S DISEASE

Clas-Göran af Björkesten

14.1 INTRODUCTION

Crohn's disease (CD) is a disabling chronic inflammatory bowel disease with a relapsing and remitting course (1,2). Exacerbations are characterised by diarrhoea, abdominal pain and rectal bleeding. The assessment of disease activity has traditionally been based on symptoms and clinical signs. During the era of therapy with anti-tumour necrosis factor alpha antibodies (anti-TNF), a complete disappearance of mucosal ulcerations has been associated with significantly fewer hospitalizations and surgeries in patients receiving scheduled anti-TNF therapy, and a complete mucosal healing has been shown to be the only factor predicting long-term steroid-free remission after initiation with anti-TNF (3-5). Accordingly, determination of inflammatory activity should be essential for the assessment of disease activity marker should be disease specific, reflect disease activity, be usable in every-day clinical practice and identify patients at risk for relapse. No such disease activity markers have been identified so far.

Since endoscopic monitoring of the treatment response in CD is time-consuming, difficult to perform, invasive, expensive and unpleasant for the patient, surrogate biochemical markers are frequently used in assessing disease activity. There have been only a few attempts to develop combined clinical scores consisting of both clinical findings and symptoms and laboratory markers to improve the diagnostic accuracy. This review aims to summarise the literature on the power of indirect disease activity assessment methods detecting endoscopic remission, with a focus on combined scores comprising combinations of both clinical indices and laboratory findings.

14.2 CLINICAL ASSESSMENT OF DISEASE ACTIVITY

The Crohn's Disease Activity Index (CDAI) is the most common index used for assessment of disease activity (6,7). The index consists of eight components, each summed after adjustment with a weighing factor. The components are the following: number of liquid or soft stools each day for seven days (weighing factor 2), abdominal pain, graded 0 (no pain) to 3 (severe pain), each day for seven days (weighing factor 5), general well-being, subjectively assessed from 0 (well) to 4 (terrible) each day for seven days (weighing factor 7), presence of complications, with one point each added for each set of complications: arthralgia/arthritis, iritis/uveitis, erythema nodosum/pyoderma gangrenosum/oral aphtous ulcers, anal complications, other fistulae, fever (weighing factor 20), use of anti-diarrhoea medication (weighing factor 30), presence of palpable abdominal mass, graded 0 (none), 2 (questionable) and 5 (definite) (weighing factor 10), haematocrit of <0.47 in males and <0.42 in females (weighing factor 6), and percentage of deviation from standard weight (weighing factor 1). However, the correlation of the CDAI with ileocolonoscopy findings is weak and it seems to underestimate endoscopically determined inflammatory activity (8-10). The clinical remission with the CDAI is usually set at scores <150 (7). When using this cut-off, the sensitivity of the CDAI to detect endoscopic remission is only 24-36% (11-13). With optimized CDAI cut-offs far below 150, the diagnostic accuracy has been slightly improved, with sensitivities 67-71% and specificities 64-70% (11,13). Even if the CDAI is mainly based on clinical signs and symptoms and therefore in general is regarded a clinical index, it is noteworthy that it also notices the haematocrit. However, compared to the other items in the CDAI, the weighing factor of haematocrit is small.

Due to the complexity of calculating the CDAI it has been suggested that the simpler Harvey-Bradshaw index (HBI) might offer an easier assessment for CD activity (14, 15). The HBI consists only of clinical parameters: general well being (0-4 points), abdominal pain (0-3 points), number of liquid stools per day, palpable abdominal mass (0-3 points), and complications/extraintestinal features (one point for each). For the HBI it has been suggested, that clinical remission would be set at scores ≤ 4 (15).

14.3 ENDOSCOPIC ASSESSMENT OF DISEASE ACTIVITY

Findings in ileocolonoscopy can be scored either by the Crohn's disease endoscopic index of severity (CDEIS), or more easily in clinical practice, by using the simple endoscopic score for Crohn's disease (SES-CD) (16-18). Nevertheless, measuring endoscopic response can be challenging, as there is no consensus on either the SES-CD or CDEIS definition for endoscopic remission or significant response. The most suggested definitions on endoscopic remission for the SES-CD have been a score of 0-2 and 0-3 (9,12,19).

14.4 BIOCHEMICAL MARKERS OF DISEASE ACTIVITY

The most used surrogate markers used to monitor disease activity in CD are C-reactive protein (CRP), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), haemoglobin, haematocrit, white blood cells and albumin. CRP is an acute phase protein produced by the liver in response to tissue damage due to inflammation, infection or injury. Regrettably, its correlation with CD activity has been inconsistent (20-23). A proportion of patients with mildly active disease seem to systemically present low CRP values, which to some extent has been suggested to be a consequence of genetic polymorphism (24). The use of high sensitivity CRP may be a more sensitive method of detecting low-grade inflammatory luminal disease than standard CRP, but it is still in limited use in every-day clinical practice (25). Despite their changes during inflammation, ESR, haemoglobin, haematocrit, white blood cells and albumin are all in one way or another too unspecific and insensitive to alone function as reliable markers of endoscopic remission.

Faecal calprotectin, a neutrophil derived calcium and zinc binding protein, has repeatedly been shown to correlate with both SES-CD scored endoscopy and histological findings in luminal CD. A normal calprotectin concentration has also been found to be a reliable surrogate marker for endoscopically and histologically inactive disease (9,18,25,26). However, there are still open questions regarding the role of calprotectin as a marker of inflammatory activity. Despite the frequently used cut-off values <50 μ g/g or <100 μ g/g for calprotectin to discriminate between active and inactive CD, the optimal cut-off value for endoscopic remission in CD is still somewhat unclear, with suggested values of up to <200 μ g/g for endoscopically inactive disease (10,27). Additionally, a considerable intraindividual variance of calprotectin concentrations in stool samples has been reported in a population of patients with mild to moderate clinical activity (28). There are also study results suggesting that calprotectin concentrations are dependent on the inflamed bowel segment (12).

Lactoferrin is an iron-binding glycoprotein secreted by most mucosal membranes. It is a major component of the secondary granules of polymorphonuclear neutrophils, which are a primary component of the acute inflammatory response (29). Polymorphonuclear neutrophil elastase (PMN-e) is a neutral proteinase normally stored in the azurophil granules of polymorphonuclear neutrophils but released by activation of these cells as a mediator of inflammation (30).

14.5 COMBINING CLINICAL INDICES AND BIOCHEMICAL MARKERS TO DETECT ENDOSCOPIC REMISSION

It is indisputable, that the assessment of CD activity requires a combination of clinical observations, laboratory and endoscopy findings and in certain situations radiological imaging. Studies on the attempts to successfully combine systematically different noninvasive tests and clinical findings and symptoms to assess the presence or absence of endoscopically determined inflammation are rare (11,13). All four combined scores comprising different combinations of clinical indices and laboratory findings found in a literature search are presented below and compared in Table 14.1.

Table 14.1	Diagnostic accuracy of combined scores to discriminate endoscopically active Crohn's
	disease from inactive disease.

	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity	Patients	Measurements	Author
		%	%	п	n	
Comprehensive index ^a	Categorical	79	70	43	43	Langhorst et al. 2008
$HBI + 2 \times ln[Calprotectin (\mu g/g)]^{b}$	10	85	82	64	106 ^e	Björkesten et al. 2012
Calprotectin ($\mu g/g$) + 60 × HBI ^C	155	86	82	64	106 ^e	Björkesten et al. 2012
CRP (mg/l) + $3 \times HBI^{d}$	4	80	59	64	150 ^e	Björkesten et al. 2012

Legend: **a** - A categorical index consisting of the Crohn's disease activity index (CDAI) C-reactive protein (mg/l), calprotectin (µg/ml), lactoferrin (µg/ml) and polymorphonuclear neutrophil elastase (µg/ml). Endoscopically inactive disease was defined as a complete absence of inflammatory lesions in all observed segments of the colon and the terminal ileum; **b** - The Harvey-Bradshaw index combined with 2 × the natural logarithm of faecal calprotectin. Endoscopically inactive disease was defined as SES-CD ≤ 2 ; **c** - Faecal calprotecin combined with 60 × the Harvey-Bradshaw index. Endoscopically inactive disease was defined as SES-CD ≤ 2 ; **d** - C-reactive protein combined with 3 × the Harvey-Bradshaw index. Endoscopically inactive disease was defined as SES-CD ≤ 2 ; **e** - Inflammatory activity was assessed 1–3 times in each patient during follow-up.

14.5.1 COMBINING THE CDAI, CRP, AND THREE STOOL PARAMETERS

Langhorst et al. studied the performance of the **CDAI**, **CRP**, and **three stool parameters** (calprotectin, lactoferrin and polymorphonuclear neutrophil elastase [PMN-e]) at discriminating active inflammation from inactive inflammation in 43 patients with CD (11). Inactive inflammation was defined as a complete absence of inflammatory lesions in all observed segments of the colon and the terminal ileum. Extraintestinal and small bowel involvement was excluded by clinical examination and contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging of the small bowel. Their comprehensive activity index was rated positive when at least two out of the following three conditions were fulfilled: (a) at least two stool parameters were elevated, (b) elevated CRP, and (c) elevated CDAI. CRP >7 mg/l and CDAI >80 were considered elevated whereas stool samples were classified as elevated based on following

optimized cut-off values: Calprotectin >48 μ g/ml, lactoferrin >7.05 μ g/ml, PMN-e \geq 0.062 μ g/ml. The sensitivity for this categorical index was 79% and the specificity 70%, which was superior to either CRP or the CDAI, but still inferior to calprotectin (sensitivity 82%, specificity 80%).

14.5.2 COMBINING THE HBI AND CALPROTECTIN

In an observational follow-up study on 64 anti-TNF treated patients with active luminal CD, with inflammatory activity assessed 1-3 times in each patient during follow-up, the sensitivity for calprotectin was 84% and specificity 74% to discriminate between endoscopically determined remission (SES-CD 0-2) and active disease (SES-CD \geq 3) (13). For the HBI the corresponding sensitivity was 80% and specificity 56%. Further calculations were made to analyze whether the accuracy to identify endoscopically determined inflammation could be improved by combining noninvasive tests and clinical indices. Receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) curves based on the sums of differently emphasized HBI, CDAI, calprotectin, and CRP, assessed at the follow-up control, were constructed. The scores based on the HBI and calprotectin proved consequently to be superior to both other combinations of parameters and calprotectin alone. The highest area under the ROC curve (AUC), 0.900, was obtained when using the score: HBI + $2 \times \ln[\text{Calprotectin}(\mu g/g)]$. The sensitivity for the score was 85% and the specificity was 82%, when using its resulting sum 10 as a cut-off value for endoscopic remission. The sensitivity and specificity of a simplified, nonlogarithmic score in the form of Calprotectin $(\mu g/g) + [60 \times HBI]$ were almost identical, although it had a somewhat lower AUC at 0.880. The differences in diagnostic accuracy between these both scores and calprotectin alone were not statistically significant, though.

14.5.3 COMBINING THE HBI AND CRP

In the follow-up study on 64 anti-TNF treated patients with active luminal CD, the clinical indices and CRP, used alone or in combination, consistently proved to be clearly inferior to calprotectin alone (13). However, the score $CRP + [3 \times HBI]$ slightly improved the identification of endoscopic remission compared with either test used separately, with a sensitivity of 80% and specificity of 59%. The differences between this score and either test separately were not statistically significant either.

14.6 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The increasing need for reliable surrogate methods for discriminating active mucosal inflammation from mucosal healing will guarantee that new combinations, new surrogate markers and new techniques are further studied in the future. On basis of available studies on surrogate markers for mucosal inflammation, focusing on the power of the combination of high sensitivity CRP and faecal calprotectin and/or a clinical index could be a logical consequence. Additionally, radiological imaging, including high-resolution and contrast-enhanced ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging, will probably have more important roles in the future non-invasive assessment of mucosal inflammation (31,32). Another attractive field of upcoming non-conventional, although invasive investigation of colonic inflammatory activity is capsule endoscopy developed for the assessment of the colon (33).

14.7 CONCLUSION

As endoscopy displays direct evidence of mucosal injury, but is time-consuming, invasive and expensive, there is an increasing need for reliable surrogate methods for discriminating active

mucosal inflammation from mucosal healing. Due to the superiority of faecal calprotectin to CRP and clinical indices commonly used in the assessment of disease activity in luminal CD, the use of calprotectin is consecutively increasing. However, as the sensitivity and specificity for calprotectin to detect endoscopic remission at its highest has been around 80%, there have been attempts to develop combined clinical scores consisting of both clinical findings and symptoms and surrogate markers to improve the diagnostic accuracy. These combined scores would be simple and cost-effective screening tools for detecting endoscopic remission in the treatment and surveillance of CD in the future and could partly replace the need for endoscopic monitoring in active luminal CD. However, the studies performed in the subject are very limited and so far no statistical superiority of the combined scores over calprotectin alone has been demonstrated.

LITERATURE:

- 1. Cosnes J, Cattan S, Blain A, Beaugerie L, Carbonnel F, Parc R, et al. Long-term evolution of disease behavior of Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2002;8:244-50.
- 2. Peyrin-Biroulet L, Loftus EV,Jr, Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ. The natural history of adult Crohn's disease in population-based cohorts. Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105:289-97.
- 3. Rutgeerts P, Feagan BG, Lichtenstein GR, Mayer LF, Schreiber S, Colombel JF, et al. Comparison of scheduled and episodic treatment strategies of infliximab in Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2004;126:402-13.
- 4. Isaacs KL. How rapidly should remission be achieved? Dig Dis 2010;28:548-55.
- 5. Baert F, Moortgat L, Van Assche G, Caenepeel P, Vergauwe P, De Vos M, et al. Mucosal healing predicts sustained clinical remission in patients with early-stage Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2010;138:463-8.
- 6. Best WR, Becktel JM, Singleton JW, Kern F,Jr. Development of a Crohn's disease activity index. National cooperative Crohn's disease study. Gastroenterology 1976;70:439-44.
- 7. Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Hanauer SB, Lochs H, Lofberg R, Modigliani R, et al. A review of activity indices and efficacy endpoints for clinical trials of medical therapy in adults with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2002;122:512-30.
- 8. Cellier C, Sahmoud T, Froguel E, Adenis A, Belaiche J, Bretagne JF, et al. Correlations between clinical activity, endoscopic severity, and biological parameters in colonic or ileocolonic Crohn's disease. A prospective multicentre study of 121 cases. The groupe d'etudes therapeutiques des affections inflammatoires digestives. Gut 1994;35:231-5.
- 9. Sipponen T, Kärkkäinen P, Savilahti E, Kolho KL, Nuutinen H, Turunen U, et al. Correlation of faecal calprotectin and lactoferrin with an endoscopic score for Crohn's disease and histological findings. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2008;28:1221-9.
- 10. Sipponen T, Savilahti E, Kolho KL, Nuutinen H, Turunen U, Färkkilä M. Crohn's disease activity assessed by fecal calprotectin and lactoferrin: Correlation with Crohn's disease activity index and endoscopic findings. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2008;14:40-6.
- 11. Langhorst J, Elsenbruch S, Koelzer J, Rueffer A, Michalsen A, Dobos GJ. Noninvasive markers in the assessment of intestinal inflammation in inflammatory bowel diseases: Performance of fecal lactoferrin, calprotectin, and PMN-elastase, CRP, and clinical indices. Am J Gastroenterol 2008;103:162-9.
- 12. Schoepfer AM, Beglinger C, Straumann A, Trummler M, Vavricka SR, Bruegger LE, et al. Fecal calprotectin correlates more closely with the simple endoscopic score for Crohn's disease (SES-CD) than CRP, blood leukocytes, and the CDAI. Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105:162-9.
- 13. af Björkesten CG, Nieminen U, Turunen U, Arkkila P, Sipponen T, Färkkilä M. Surrogate markers and clinical indices, alone or combined, as indicators for endoscopic remission in anti-TNF-treated luminal Crohn's disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 2012;47:528-7.
- 14. Harvey RF, Bradshaw JM. A simple index of Crohn's disease activity. Lancet 1980;315:514.

- 15. Vermeire S, Schreiber S, Sandborn WJ, Dubois C, Rutgeerts P. Correlation between the Crohn's disease activity and Harvey-Bradshaw indices in assessing crohn's disease severity. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010;8:357-63.
- 16. Mary JY, Modigliani R. Development and validation of an endoscopic index of the severity for Crohn's disease: A prospective multicentre study. Groupe d'etudes therapeutiques des affections inflammatoires du tube digestif (GETAID). Gut 1989;30:983-9.
- 17. Daperno M, D'Haens G, Van Assche G, Baert F, Bulois P, Maunoury V, et al. Development and validation of a new, simplified endoscopic activity score for Crohn's disease: The SES-CD. Gastrointest Endosc 2004;60:505-12.
- 18. Sipponen T, Nuutinen H, Turunen U, Färkkilä M. Endoscopic evaluation of Crohn's disease activity: Comparison of the CDEIS and the SES-CD. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2010;16:2131-6.
- 19. Moskovitz DN, Daperno M, Van Assche G, Baert F, Gevers A, Sostegni R, et al. Defining and validating cut-offs for the simple endoscopic score for Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2007;132:S1097.
- 20. Boirivant M, Leoni M, Tariciotti D, Fais S, Squarcia O, Pallone F. The clinical significance of serum C-reactive protein levels in Crohn's disease. J Clin Gastroenterol 1988;10:401-5.
- 21. Andre C, Descos L, Landais P, Fermanian J. Assessment of appropriate laboratory measurements to supplement the Crohn's disease activity index. Gut 1981;22:571-4.
- 22. Brignola C, Lanfranchi GA, Campieri M, Bazzocchi G, Devoto M, Boni P, et al. Importance of laboratory parameters in the evaluation of Crohn's disease activity. J Clin Gastroenterol 1986;8:245-8.
- 23. Niederau C, Backmerhoff F, Schumacher B, Niederau C. Inflammatory mediators and acute phase proteins in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Hepatogastroenterology 1997;44:90-107.
- 24. Carlson CS, Aldred SF, Lee PK, Tracy RP, Schwartz SM, Rieder M, et al. Polymorphisms within the C-reactive protein (CRP) promoter region are associated with plasma CRP levels. Am J Hum Genet 2005;77:64-77.
- 25. Jones J, Loftus EV, Jr, Panaccione R, Chen LS, Peterson S, McConnell J, et al. Relationships between disease activity and serum and fecal biomarkers in patients with Crohn's disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008;6:1218-24.
- 26. Sipponen T, af Björkesten CG, Färkkilä M, Nuutinen H, Savilahti E, Kolho KL. Faecal calprotectin and lactoferrin are reliable surrogate markers of endoscopic response during Crohn's disease treatment. Scand J Gastroenterol 2010;45:325-31.
- 27. von Roon AC, Karamountzos L, Purkayastha S, Reese GE, Darzi AW, Teare JP, et al. Diagnostic precision of fecal calprotectin for inflammatory bowel disease and colorectal malignancy. Am J Gastroenterol 2007;102:803-13.
- 28. Moum B, Jahnsen J, Bernklev T. Fecal calprotectin variability in Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2010;16:1091-2.
- 29. Kayazawa M, Saitoh O, Kojima K, Nakagawa K, Tanaka S, Tabata K, et al. Lactoferrin in whole gut lavage fluid as a marker for disease activity in inflammatory bowel disease: Comparison with other neutrophil-derived proteins. Am J Gastroenterol 2002;97:360-9.
- 30. Poullis A, Foster R, Northfield TC, Mendall MA. Review article: Faecal markers in the assessment of activity in inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2002;16:675-81.
- 31. Ripollés T, Martínez-Pérez MJ, Blanc E, Delgado F, Vizuete J, Paredes JM, et al. Contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEUS) in Crohn's disease: Technique, image interpretation and clinical applications. Insights Imaging 2011;2:639-52.
- 32. Hyun SB, Kitazume Y, Nagahori M, Toriihara A, Fujii T, Tsuchiya K, et al. Magnetic resonance enterocolonography is useful for simultaneous evaluation of small and large intestinal lesions in Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2011;17:1063-72.
- 33. Riccioni ME, Urgesi R, Cianci R, Bizzotto A, Spada C, Costamagna G. Colon capsule endoscopy: Advantages, limitations and expectations. Which novelties? World J Gastrointest Endosc 2012;16:99-107.

LIST OF LECTURERS (alphabetic order):

Gavin Bewick, PhD

NIHR Career Development Fellow Lecturer Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom

Clas-Göran af Björkesten, MD

Helsinki University Central Hospital, Department of Gastroenterology, Helsinki, Finland

Prof. Marko Duvnjak, MD, PhD

Sestre milosrdnice University Hospital Center, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Zagreb, Croatia

Oleg Jadrešin, MD,

Children's Hospital Zagreb, Department of Gastroenterology, Referral Center of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, Zagreb, Croatia

Tamara Čačev, PhD

Ruder Bosković Institute, Department of Molecular Medicine Laboratory of Molecular Oncology, Zagreb, Croatia

Petr Kocna, MD, PhD

Institute of Medical Biochemistry, 1st. Med. Faculty of Charles University, Laboratory of Gastroenterology, Karlovo namesti, Czech Republic

Jasna Leniček Krleža, PhD

Children's Hospital Zagreb, Department of laboratory diagnostics, Zagreb, Croatia

Zrinjka Mišak, MD, PhD

Children's Hospital Zagreb, Department of Gastroenterology, Referral Center of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, Zagreb, Croatia

Prof. Michael Neumaier, PhD

University of Heidelberg Medical Faculty Mannheim University Hospital Mannheim Institute for Clinical Chemistry, Mannheim, Germany

Dragica Radojković, PhD

University of Belgrade Institute of Molecular Genetics and Genetic Engeeniring, Laboratory for molecular biology, Belgrade, Serbia

Andrea Tešija Kuna, PhD

Sestre milosrdnice University Hospital Center, Clinical Institute of Chemistry, Zagreb, Croatia

Prof. Janet Treasure,

King's College London, Institute of Psychiatry, Section of Eating Disorders, London, United Kingdom

Zdislava Vaníčková, PhD

1st. Med. Faculty of Charles University, Institute of Medical Biochemistry, Laboratory of Gastroenterology, Karlovo namesti, Czech Republic

E. Topić *et al.* (editors) / 12th EFLM Continuous Postgraduate Course in Clinical Chemistry: New Trends in Classification and Management of Gastrointestinal Diseases

Publisher

MEDICINSKA NAKLADA 10 000 Zagreb, Vlaška 69

For publisher

Prof. Anđa Raič

Typesetting

Jasna Leniček Krleža, Ph.D.

Cover design

Prof. Topić Elizabeta, Ph.D. Jasna Leniček Krleža, Ph.D.

Printout: 150 copies

Print: MEDICINSKA NAKLADA, Zagreb, November 2012